2015 PACIFIC HALIBUT CATCH SHARING PLAN AND REGULATIONS

As described in Council Operating Procedure 9, the Council solicits proposed changes to the Pacific Halibut Catch Sharing Plan for Area 2A (CSP) (Agenda Item G.1.a, Attachments 1 and 2) and annual fishery regulations at its September meeting. At the November meeting, the Council is scheduled to take final action, after reviewing public and agency comments.

At the September 2014 meeting, the Council adopted for public review a range of non-treaty commercial and recreational allocations for the 2015 CSP and annual fishery regulations (Agenda Item G.1.a, Attachment 3). The allocation alternatives are intended to provide a greater recreational allocation for the California subarea, in response to new information indicating a higher abundance of Pacific Halibut and greater fishery interest in this area than when the CSP was originally adopted. The Council also adopted for public review a range of 2015 recreational fishery options for Washington, Oregon, and California.

As a first step in addressing the recent high harvests of Pacific halibut off Southern Oregon and Northern California, the 2014 CSP established a new management line at the Oregon/California border. The new line resulted in separate Oregon and California subareas with area-specific CSP allocations and management measures (Agenda Item G.1.a, Attachments 1 and 2). The 2014 allocations and management measures in California were intended to reduce recreational harvest of Pacific halibut by 40 to 60 percent of the average harvest from 2008-2012, approximately 9,000 to 13,000 pounds (see the <u>November 2013 Council meeting minutes</u>). The expectation of catch for 2014, based on the adopted season structure for California, was approximately 14,000 pounds. Preliminary catch data through July 2014, as discussed at the September Council meeting, is approximately 28,000 pounds. As a result, the Council adopted for public review options for more restrictive season structures for California in 2015.

Under Agenda Item G.1, the Council should adopt final 2015 CSP allocations and fishery regulations from the range adopted at the September Council meeting. The National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) will provide an analysis of the allocation alternatives (Agenda Item G.1.b, Supplemental NMFS Report 1) and the 2014 Environmental Assessment, which evaluates the continuing implementation of the CSP in Area 2A (Agenda Item G.1.b, NMFS Report 2, electronic only). NMFS also recommended minor changes to the 2015 CSP and regulations (Agenda Item G.1.b, NMFS Report 3) and provided a report on catches in the 2014 Pacific halibut fisheries (Agenda Item G.1.b, NMFS Report 4).

Public input on the allocation and recreational fishery options was solicited in a Council Newsletter article from September 2014 and on a website blog (Agenda Item G.1.a, Attachment 3). Public comments received by the advance briefing book deadline are included in the reference materials. The Washington and Oregon Departments of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW and ODFW, respectively) also solicited public input and subsequently prepared agency recommendations for Council consideration (Agenda Item G.1.b, WDFW Report and Agenda Item G.1.b, ODFW Report).

Council Action:

- 1. Adopt final proposed changes for the 2015 Pacific halibut CSP, as necessary.
- 2. Adopt final proposed changes for the 2015 annual fishery regulations, as necessary.

Reference Materials:

- 1. Agenda Item G.1.a, Attachment 1: 2014 Pacific Halibut Catch Sharing Plan for Area 2A.
- 2. Agenda Item G.1.a, Attachment 2: Visual Representation of the 2014 Pacific Halibut Catch Sharing Plan for Area 2A.
- 3. Agenda Item G.1.a, Attachment 3: Council Blog Summarizing Proposed Changes to the 2015 Pacific Halibut Catch Sharing Plan and Annual Fishery Regulations.
- 4. Agenda Item G.1.b, Supplemental NMFS Report 1: National Marine Fisheries Service Report on Pacific Halibut Catch Sharing Plan Changes for 2015.
- 5. Agenda Item G.1.b, NMFS Report 2: Environmental Assessment and Regulatory Impact Review of Continuing Implementation of the Catch Sharing Plan for Pacific Halibut in Area 2A, 2014-2016 (electronic only).
- 6. Agenda Item G.1.b, NMFS Report 3: NMFS recommended changes for Catch Sharing Plan and Regulation changes for 2015.
- 7. Agenda Item G.1.b, NMFS Report 4: Report on the 2014 Pacific Halibut Fisheries in Area 2A.
- 8. Agenda Item G.1.b, WDFW Report: Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife Report on Proposed Changes to the Catch Sharing Plan and 2015 Annual Regulations.
- 9. Agenda Item G.1.b, WDFW Report 2: Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife Report on Pacific Halibut Catch Sharing Plan Changes.
- 10. Agenda Item G.1.b, ODFW Report: Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife Report on Proposed Changes to the Pacific Halibut Catch Sharing Plan for the 2015 Fishery.
- 11. Agenda Item G.1.c, Public Comment.

Agenda Order:

a. Agenda Item Overview

Kelly Ames

- b. Reports and Comments of Advisory Bodies and Management Entities
- c. Public Comment
- d. **Council Action**: Adopt Final Changes to the 2015 Pacific Halibut Catch Sharing Plan and Annual Fishery Regulations

PFMC 10/23/14

2014 PACIFIC HALIBUT CATCH SHARING PLAN FOR AREA 2A

(a) FRAMEWORK

This Plan constitutes a framework that shall be applied to the annual Area 2A total allowable catch (TAC) approved by the International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) each January. The framework shall be implemented in both IPHC regulations and domestic regulations (implemented by NMFS) as published in the *Federal Register*.

(b) ALLOCATIONS

This Plan allocates 35 percent of the Area 2A TAC to U.S. treaty Indian tribes in the State of Washington in subarea 2A-1, and 65 percent to non-Indian fisheries in Area 2A. The allocation to non-Indian fisheries is divided into four shares, with the Washington sport fishery (north of the Columbia River) receiving 36.6 percent, the Oregon sport fishery receiving 30.7 percent, the California sport fishery receiving 1.0 percent, and the commercial fishery receiving 31.7 percent. Allocations within the non-Indian commercial and sport fisheries are described in sections (e) and (f) of this Plan. These allocations may be changed if new information becomes available that indicates a change is necessary and/or the Pacific Fishery Management Council takes action to reconsider its allocation recommendations. Such changes will be made after appropriate rulemaking is completed and published in the *Federal Register*.

(c) SUBQUOTAS

The allocations in this Plan are distributed as subquotas to ensure that any overage or underage by any one group will not affect achievement of an allocation set aside for another group. The specific allocative measures in the treaty Indian, non-Indian commercial, and non-Indian sport fisheries in Area 2A are described in paragraphs (d) through (f) of this Plan.

(d) TREATY INDIAN FISHERIES

Thirty-five percent of the Area 2A TAC is allocated to 13 treaty Indian tribes in subarea 2A-1, which includes that portion of Area 2A north of Point Chehalis, WA (46°53.30' N. lat.) and east of 125°44.00' W. long. The treaty Indian allocation is to provide for a tribal commercial fishery and a ceremonial and subsistence fishery. These two fisheries are managed separately; any overages in the commercial fishery do not affect the ceremonial and subsistence fishery. The commercial fishery is managed to achieve an established subquota, while the ceremonial and subsistence fishery is managed for a year-round season. The tribes will estimate the ceremonial and subsistence harvest expectations in January of each year, and the remainder of the allocation will be for the tribal commercial fishery.

(1) The tribal ceremonial and subsistence fishery begins on January 1 and continues through December 31. No size or bag limits will apply to the ceremonial and subsistence fishery, except that when the tribal commercial fishery is closed, treaty Indians may take and retain not more than two halibut per day per person for subsistence purposes. Ceremonial

fisheries shall be managed by tribal regulations promulgated inseason to meet the needs of specific ceremonial events. Halibut taken for ceremonial and subsistence purposes may not be offered for sale or sold.

(2) The tribal commercial fishery season dates will be set within the season dates determined by the IPHC and implemented in IPHC regulations. The tribal commercial fishery will close when the subquota is taken. Any halibut sold by treaty Indians during the commercial fishing season must comply with IPHC regulations on size limits for the non-Indian fishery.

(e) NON-INDIAN COMMERCIAL FISHERIES

The non-Indian commercial fishery is allocated 31.7 percent of the non-Indian share of the Area 2A TAC for a directed halibut fishery and an incidental catch fishery during the salmon troll fishery. The non-Indian commercial allocation is approximately 20.6 percent of the Area 2A TAC. Incidental catch of halibut in the primary directed sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA will be authorized if the Washington sport allocation exceeds 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) as described in section (e)(3) of this Plan. The structuring and management of these three fisheries is as follows.

(1) Incidental halibut catch in the salmon troll fishery.

Fifteen percent of the non-Indian commercial fishery allocation is allocated to the salmon troll fishery in Area 2A as an incidental catch during salmon fisheries. The quota for this incidental catch fishery is approximately 3.1 percent of the Area 2A TAC. The primary management objective for this fishery is to harvest the troll quota as an incidental catch during the April-June salmon troll fishery. The secondary management objective is to harvest the remaining troll quota as an incidental catch during the remainder of the salmon troll fishery.

- (i) The Council will recommend landing restrictions at its spring public meeting each year to control the amount of halibut caught incidentally in the troll fishery. The landing restrictions will be based on the number of incidental harvest license applications submitted to the IPHC, halibut catch rates, the amount of allocation, and other pertinent factors, and may include catch or landing ratios, landing limits, or other means to control the rate of halibut harvest. NMFS will publish the landing restrictions annually in the *Federal Register*, along with the salmon management measures.
- (ii) Inseason adjustments to the incidental halibut catch fishery.

(A) NMFS may make inseason adjustments to the landing restrictions, if requested by the Council Chairman, as necessary to assure that the incidental harvest rate is appropriate for salmon and halibut availability, does not encourage target fishing on halibut, and does not increase the likelihood of exceeding the quota for this fishery. In determining whether to make such inseason adjustments, NMFS will consult with the applicable state representative(s), a representative of the Council's Salmon Advisory Sub-Panel, and Council staff.

(B) Notice and effectiveness of inseason adjustments will be made by NMFS in accordance with paragraph (f)(5) of this Plan.

- (iii) If the overall quota for the non-Indian, incidental commercial troll fishery has not been harvested by salmon trollers during the April-June fishery, additional landings of halibut caught incidentally during salmon troll fisheries will be allowed in July and will continue until the amount of halibut that was initially available as quota for the troll fishery is taken or until the end of the season date for commercial halibut fishing determined by the IPHC and implemented in IPHC regulation. Landing restrictions implemented for the April-June salmon troll fishery will apply for as long as this fishery is open. Notice of the July opening of this fishery will be announced on the NMFS hotline (206) 526-6667 or (800) 662-9825. Halibut retention in the salmon troll fishery will be allowed after June only if the opening has been announced on the NMFS hotline.
- (iv) A salmon troller may participate in this fishery or in the directed commercial fishery targeting halibut, but not in both.
- (v) Under the Pacific Coast groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.330, fishing with salmon troll gear is prohibited within the Salmon Troll Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area (YRCA). The Salmon Troll YRCA is an area off the northern Washington coast and is defined by straight lines connecting latitude and longitude coordinates. Coordinates for the Salmon Troll YRCA are specified in groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.70(c) and in salmon regulations at 50 CFR 660.405(c).

(2) Directed fishery targeting halibut.

Eighty-five percent of the non-Indian commercial fishery allocation is allocated to the directed fishery targeting halibut (e.g., longline fishery) in southern Washington, Oregon, and California. The allocation for this directed catch fishery is approximately 17.5 percent of the Area 2A TAC. This fishery is confined to the area south of Subarea 2A-1 (south of Point Chehalis, WA; 46°53.30' N. lat.). This fishery may also be managed with closed areas designed to protect overfished groundfish species. Any such closed areas will be described annually in federal halibut regulations published in the *Federal Register* and the coordinates will be specifically defined at 50 CFR 660.71 through 660.74. The commercial fishery opening date(s), duration, and vessel trip limits, as necessary to ensure that the quota for the non-Indian commercial fisheries is not exceeded, will be determined by the IPHC and implemented in IPHC regulations. If the IPHC determines that poundage remaining in the quota for the non-Indian commercial fisheries is insufficient to allow an additional day of directed halibut fishing, the remaining halibut will be made available for incidental catch of halibut in the fall salmon troll fisheries (independent of the incidental harvest allocation).

(3) Incidental catch in the sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis.

If the Area 2A TAC is greater than 900,000 lb (408.2 mt), the primary directed sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis will be allocated the Washington sport allocation that is in excess of 214,110 lb (97.1 mt), provided a minimum of 10,000 lb (4.5 mt) is available (i.e., the Washington sport allocation is 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) or greater). If the amount above 214,110 lb (97.1 mt) is less than 10,000 lb (4.5 mt), then the excess will be allocated to the Washington sport subareas according to section (f) of this Plan. The amount of halibut allocated to the sablefish fishery will be shared as follows: up to 70,000 lb of halibut to the primary sablefish fishery north of Pt. Chehalis. Any remaining allocation will be distributed to the Washington sport fishery among the four subareas according to the sharing described in the Plan, Section (f)(1).

The Council will recommend landing restrictions at its spring public meeting each year to control the amount of halibut caught incidentally in this fishery. The landing restrictions will be based on the amount of the allocation and other pertinent factors, and may include catch or landing ratios, landing limits, or other means to control the rate of halibut landings. NMFS will publish the landing restrictions annually in the Federal Register.

Under Pacific Coast groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.230, fishing with limited entry fixed gear is prohibited within the North Coast Commercial Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area (YRCA) and the Non-Trawl Rockfish Conservation Area (RCA). The North Coast Commercial Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area YRCA is an area off the northern Washington coast, overlapping the northern part of North Coast Recreational YRCA. The Non-Trawl RCA is an area off the Washington coast. These closed areas are defined by straight lines connecting latitude and longitude coordinates. Coordinates for the North Coast Commercial YRCA are specified in groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.70(b). Coordinates for the Non-Trawl RCA are specified in groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.73.

(4) Commercial license restrictions/declarations.

Commercial fishers must choose either (1) to operate in the directed commercial fishery in Area 2A and/or retain halibut caught incidentally in the primary directed sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA or (2) to retain halibut caught incidentally during the salmon troll fishery. Unless otherwise required by IPHC regulations, commercial fishers must obtain an individual vessel license for each commercial fishery: (1) to operate in the directed commercial fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA; or (2) to retain halibut caught incidentally in the primary sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA; or (3) to retain halibut caught incidentally during the salmon troll fishery. Commercial fishers wishing to operate in both the directed commercial fishery in Area 2A and/or retain halibut caught incidentally in the primary directed sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA may not obtain a vessel license to retain halibut caught incidentally during the salmon troll season. Commercial fishers operating in the directed halibut fishery must send their vessel license application to the IPHC postmarked no later than April 30, or the first weekday in May, if April 30 falls on a weekend, in order to obtain a vessel license to fish for halibut in Area 2A. Unless otherwise required by IPHC regulations, commercial fishers operating in the primary sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA who seek to retain a vessel license to retain fishers operating in the primary sablefish fishery north of point May, if April 30 falls on a weekend, in order to obtain a vessel license to fish for halibut in Area 2A. Unless otherwise required by IPHC regulations, commercial fishers operating in the primary sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA who seek to retain incidentally caught halibut must

send their vessel license application to the IPHC postmarked no later than March 15, or the first weekday following March 15, if March 15 falls on a weekend, in order to obtain a vessel license to retain incidentally caught halibut in Area 2A. Unless otherwise required by IPHC regulations, commercial fishers operating in the salmon troll fishery who seek to retain incidentally caught halibut must send their vessel license application to the IPHC postmarked no later than March 15, or the first weekday following March 15, if March 15 falls on a weekend, in order to obtain a vessel license to retain incidentally caught halibut in Area 2A. Fishing vessels licensed by IPHC to fish commercially in Area 2A are prohibited from operating in the sport fisheries in Area 2A.

(f) SPORT FISHERIES

The non-Indian sport fisheries are allocated 68.3 percent of the non-Indian share, which is approximately 44.4 percent of the Area 2A TAC. The allocation is further divided as subquotas among seven geographic subareas.

(1) <u>Subarea management</u>. The sport fishery is divided into seven sport fishery subareas, each having separate allocations and management measures as follows.

(i) Washington inside waters (Puget Sound) subarea.

This sport fishery subarea is allocated 23.5 percent of the first 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 32 percent of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) and 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) (except as provided in section (e)(3) of this Plan). This subarea is defined as all U.S. waters east of the mouth of the Sekiu River, as defined by a line extending from 48°17.30' N. lat., 124°23.70' W. long. north to 48°24.10' N. lat., 124°23.70' W. long., including Puget Sound. The structuring objective for this subarea is to provide a stable sport fishing opportunity and maximize the season length. To that end, the Puget Sound subarea may be divided into two regions with separate seasons to achieve a fair harvest opportunity within the subarea. Due to inability to monitor the catch in this area inseason, fixed seasons, which may vary and apply to different regions within the subarea, will be established preseason based on projected catch per day and number of days to achievement of the quota. Inseason adjustments may be made, and estimates of actual catch will be made postseason. The fishery will open in April or May and continue until a dates established preseason (and published in the sport fishery regulations) when the quota is predicted to be taken, or until September 30, whichever is earlier. The Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife will develop recommendations to NMFS on the opening date and weekly structure of the fishery each year. The daily bag limit is one fish per person, with no size limit.

(ii) Washington north coast subarea.

This sport fishery subarea is allocated 62.2 percent of the first 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 32 percent of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) and 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) (except as provided in section (e)(3) of this Plan). This subarea is defined as all U.S. waters west of the mouth of the Sekiu River, as defined above in paragraph (f)(1)(i), and north of the Queets River

(47°31.70' N. lat.). The management objective for this subarea is to provide a quality recreational fishing opportunity during May and June. The fishery will open on the first Thursday between May 9 and 15, and continue 2 days per week (Thursday and Saturday) in May for two weeks, with a quota management closure scheduled for the third week. If sufficient quota remains, the fishery will reopen on the following Thursday or Saturday. Any openings after the quota management closure will be scheduled to allow adequate public notice of any inseason action before each opening.

No sport fishing for halibut is allowed after September 30. If the fishery is closed prior to September 30, and there is insufficient quota remaining to reopen for another fishing day, then any remaining quota may be transferred inseason to another Washington coastal subarea by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. The daily bag limit in all fisheries is one halibut per person with no size limit.

Recreational fishing for groundfish and halibut is prohibited within the North Coast Recreational Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area (YRCA). The North Coast Recreational YRCA is a C-shaped area off the northern Washington coast and is defined by straight lines connecting latitude and longitude coordinates. Coordinates for the North Coast Recreational YRCA are specified in groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.70(a) and will be described annually in federal halibut regulations published in the *Federal Register*.

(iii) Washington south coast subarea.

This sport fishery is allocated 12.3 percent of the first 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 32 percent of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) and 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) (except as provided in section (e)(3) of this Plan. This subarea is defined as waters south of the Queets River (47°31.70' N. lat.) and north of Leadbetter Point (46°38.17' N. lat.). The structuring objective for this subarea is to maximize the season length, while maintaining a quality fishing experience. The south coast subarea quota will be allocated as follows: 10% or 2,000 pounds, whichever is less, will be set aside for the nearshore fishery with the remaining amount allocated to the primary fishery. During days open to the primary fishery and seaward of the 30-fm line lingcod may be taken, retained and possessed, when allowed by groundfish regulations. The fishery will open on the first Sunday in May. The primary fishery will be open two days per week, Sunday and Tuesday, in all areas, except where prohibited, and will remain open for three consecutive Sundays and Tuesdays before a management closure the following week to tally the catch. If the primary quota is projected to be obtained sooner than expected the management closure may occur earlier. If there is sufficient quota remaining following the management closure the fishery would continue two days per week, Sunday and/or Tuesday, until the quota for the primary fishery season is reached or September 30, whichever is earlier. If there is insufficient quota remaining to reopen the primary fishery for another fishing day, the remaining primary fishery quota will be added to the nearshore quota. The nearshore fishery takes place, in the area from 47°31.70' N. lat. south to 46°58.00' N. lat. and east of a boundary line approximating the 30 fathom depth contour as defined by the following coordinates:

47°31.70′ N.lat, 124°37.03′ W. long; 47°25.67′ N. lat, 124°34.79′ W. long; 47°12.82′ N. lat, 124°29.12′ W. long; 46°58.00′ N. lat, 124°24.24′ W. long.

During the primary season the nearshore fishery will be open seven days per week. Subsequent to the closure of the primary fishery, the nearshore fishery will continue seven days per week until the remaining quota is projected to be taken. If the fishery is closed prior to September 30, and there is insufficient quota remaining to reopen the nearshore areas for another fishing day, then any remaining quota may be transferred inseason to another Washington coastal subarea by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit.

Recreational fishing for groundfish and halibut is prohibited within two YRCA's off Washington's southern coast. The South Coast Recreational YRCA and the Westport Offshore YRCA are defined by straight lines connecting latitude and longitude coordinates. Coordinates for these Recreational YRCAs are specified in groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.70 (d) and (e) and will be described annually in federal halibut regulations published in the *Federal Register*. (iv) Columbia River subarea.

This sport fishery subarea is allocated 2.0 percent of the first 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 4.0 percent of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) and 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) (except as provided in section (e)(3) of this Plan). This subarea is also allocated an amount equal to the contribution from the Washington sport allocation from the Oregon sport allocation. This subarea is defined as waters south of Leadbetter Point, WA (46°38.17' N. lat.) and north of Cape Falcon, OR (45°46.00' N. lat.). The Columbia River subarea seasons are as follows:

- **a.** A nearshore fishery is allocated 10 percent or 1,500 pounds of the Columbia River subarea allocation, whichever is less, to allow incidental halibut retention on groundfish trips in the area shoreward of the boundary line approximating the 30 fathom (55 m) depth contour extending from Leadbetter Point, WA (46°38.17' N. lat., 124°15.88' W. long.) to the Washington-Oregon border (46°16.00' N. lat., 124°15.88' W. long.) and from there, connecting to the boundary line approximating the 40 fathom (73 m) depth contour in Oregon. Coordinates will be specifically defined at 50 CFR 660.71 through 660.74. The nearshore fishery will be open Monday through Wednesday following the opening of the early season all-depth fishery, until the nearshore allocation is taken or September 30, whichever is earlier. Taking, retaining, possessing or landing halibut on groundfish trips is only allowed in the nearshore area on days not open to all-depth Pacific halibut fisheries. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit.
- **b.** The remaining Columbia River subarea allocation will be allocated such that 80 percent is reserved for an early season all-depth fishery beginning in May

and 20 percent reserved for a late season all-depth fishery beginning in August. The early season all-depth_fishery will open on the first Thursday in May or May 1 if it is a Friday, Saturday or Sunday, 4 days per week, Thursday through Sunday until the early season portion of the subarea allocation is taken. The fishery will reopen for the late season all-depth fishery on the first Thursday in August and continue 4 days per week, Thursday-Sunday until the remainder of the subarea quota has been taken, or until September 30, whichever is earlier. The early and late seasons will run continuously, unless closed due to quota attainment. Any remaining early season all depth quota will automatically be available to the late season alldepth fishery. Subsequent to the closure, if there is insufficient quota remaining in the Columbia River subarea for another fishing day, then any remaining quota may be transferred inseason to another Washington and/or Oregon subarea by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. Any remaining quota would be transferred to each state in proportion to its contribution. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit. No groundfish may be taken and retained, possessed or landed, except sablefish and Pacific cod when allowed by groundfish regulations, if halibut are on board the vessel.

(v) Oregon central coast subarea.

This subarea extends from Cape Falcon (45°46.00' N. lat.) to Humbug Mountain, Oregon (42°40.50' N. lat.) and is allocated the Oregon sport allocation minus any amount of pounds needed to contribute to the Oregon portion of the Columbia River subarea quota. If the overall 2A TAC is 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater, the structuring objectives for this subarea are to provide two periods of fishing opportunity in Spring and in Summer in productive deeper water areas along the coast, and provide a period of fishing opportunity in the summer for nearshore waters. If the overall 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt), the structuring objectives for this subarea are to provide a period of fishing opportunity beginning in Spring in productive deeper water areas along the coast, and provide a period of fishing opportunity in nearshore waters. Any poundage remaining unharvested in the Spring all-depth subquota will be added to either the Summer all-depth sub-quota or the nearshore subquota based on need, determined via joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS and ODFW. If the 2A TAC exceeds 700,000 pounds, any poundage that is not needed to extend the inside 40-fathom (73 m) fishery through October 31 will be added to the Summer all-depth season if it can be used, and any poundage remaining unharvested from the Summer all-depth fishery will be added to the inside 40-fathom (73 m) fishery subquota, if it can be used. If inseason it is determined via joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS and ODFW, that the combined all-depth and inside 40-fathom (73 m) fisheries will not harvest the entire quota to the subarea, quota may be transferred inseason to another subarea south of Leadbetter Point, WA by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, unless otherwise specified, with no size limit. During days open to all-depth halibut fishing, no groundfish may be taken and retained, possessed or landed, except sablefish and Pacific cod when allowed by groundfish regulations, if halibut are on board the vessel.

Recreational fishing for groundfish and halibut is prohibited within the Stonewall Bank YRCA. The Stonewall Bank YRCA is an area off central Oregon, near Stonewall Bank, and is defined by straight lines connecting latitude and longitude coordinates. Coordinates for the Stonewall Bank YRCA are specified in groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.70 (f) and will be described annually in federal halibut regulations published in the *Federal Register*.

ODFW will sponsor a public input process shortly after the IPHC annual meeting to develop recommendations to NMFS on the open dates for each season each year. The three seasons for this subarea are as follows.

A. The first season (nearshore fishery) opens July 1, 7 days per week, only in waters inside the 40-fathom (73 m) curve. The fishery continues until the subquota is taken, or until October 31, whichever is earlier and is allocated 12 percent of the subarea quota if the 2A TAC is above 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater or 25 percent of the subarea quota if the 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt). Any overage in the all-depth fisheries would not affect achievement of allocation set aside for the inside 40-fathom (73 m) curve fishery.

B. The second season (Spring fishery) is an all-depth fishery with two potential openings and is allocated 61 percent of the subarea quota if the TAC is 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater, or 73 percent of the subarea quota if the subarea if the 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt). Fixed season dates will be established preseason for the first Spring opening and will not be modified inseason except if the combined Oregon all-depth Spring and Summer season total quotas are estimated to be achieved. Recent year catch rates will be used as a guideline for estimating the catch rate for the Spring fishery each year. The number of fixed season days established will be based on the projected catch per day with the intent of not exceeding the subarea subquota for this season. The first opening will be structured for 2 days per week (Friday and Saturday) if the season is for 4 or fewer fishing days. The fishery will be structured for 3 days per week (Thursday through Saturday) if the season is for 5 or more fishing days. The fixed season dates will occur in consecutive weeks starting the second Thursday in May (if the season is 5 or more fishing days) or second Friday in May (if the season is 4 or fewer fishing days), with possible exceptions to avoid adverse tidal conditions. If, following the "fixed" dates, quota for this season remains unharvested, a second opening will be held. If it is determined appropriate through joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS and ODFW, fishing may be allowed on one or more additional days. Notice of the opening(s) will be announced by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. The fishery will be open every other week on Thursday through Saturday except that week(s) may be skipped to avoid adverse tidal conditions. The potential open Thursdays through Saturdays will be identified preseason. The fishery will continue until there is insufficient quota for an additional day of fishing or July 31, whichever is earlier if the 2A TAC is 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater. If the 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) the fishery will continue until there is

insufficient quota for an additional day of fishing or October 31, whichever is earlier.

C. The last season (summer fishery) is an all-depth fishery that begins on the first Friday in August and is allocated 25 percent of the subarea quota if the 2A TAC is 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater. If the 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) then 0 percent of the subarea quota will be allocated to this season. The fishery will be structured to be open every other week on Friday and Saturday except that week(s) may be skipped to avoid adverse tidal conditions. The fishery will continue until there is insufficient quota remaining to reopen for another fishing day or October 31, whichever is earlier. The potential open Fridays and Saturdays will be identified preseason. If after the first scheduled open period, the remaining Cape Falcon to Humbug Mountain entire season quota (combined alldepth and inside 40-fathom (73 m) quotas) is 60,000 lb (27.2 mt) or more, the fishery will re-open on every Friday and Saturday (versus every other Friday and Saturday), if determined to be appropriate through joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS, and ODFW. The inseason action will be announced by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. If after the Labor Day weekend, the remaining Cape Falcon to Humbug Mountain entire season quota (combined alldepth and inside 40-fathom (73 m) quotas) is 30,000 lb (13.6 mt) or more and the fishery is not already open every Friday and Saturday, the fishery will re-open on every Friday and Saturday (versus every other Friday and Saturday), if determined to be appropriate through joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS, and ODFW. After the Labor Day weekend, the IPHC, NMFS, and ODFW will consult to determine whether increasing the Oregon Central Coast bag limit to two fish is warranted with the intent that the quota for the subarea is taken by September 30. If the quota is not taken by September 30, the season will remain open, maintaining the bag limit in effect at that time, through October 31 or quota attainment, whichever is earlier. The inseason action will be announced by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline.

(vi) Southern Oregon Subarea

This sport fishery is allocated 2.0 percent of the Oregon Central Coast Subarea allocation. This area is defined as the area south of Humbug Mountain, OR ($42^{\circ} 40.50'$ N. lat.) to the Oregon/California Border ($42^{\circ} 00.00'$ N. lat.). This fishery will open May 1, seven days per week until the subquota is taken or October 31, whichever is earlier. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person with no size limit.

(vii) California subarea.

This sport fishery subarea is allocated 1.0 percent of the non-Indian allocation. This area is defined as the area south of the Oregon/California Border (42° 00.00' N. lat.), including all California waters. The structuring objective for this subarea is to provide anglers the opportunity to fish in a fixed season that is open from May 1 through July 31 and September 1 through October 31. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit. Due to inability to monitor the catch in this area inseason, a fixed season will

be established preseason by NMFS based on projected seasonal catch; no inseason adjustments will be made, and estimates of actual catch will be made post season.

- (2) <u>Port of landing management</u>. All sport fishing in Area 2A will be managed on a "port of landing" basis, whereby any halibut landed into a port will count toward the quota for the subarea in which that port is located, and the regulations governing the subarea of landing apply, regardless of the specific area of catch.
- (3) <u>Possession limits</u>. The sport possession limit on land in Washington is two daily bag limits, regardless of condition, but only one daily bag limit may be possessed on the vessel. The sport possession limit on land in Oregon is three daily bag limits, regardless of condition, but only one daily bag limit may be possessed on the vessel. The sport possession limit on land in California and on the vessel is one daily bag limit, regardless of condition.
- (4) <u>Ban on sport vessels in the commercial fishery</u>. Vessels operating in the sport fishery for halibut in Area 2A are prohibited from operating in the commercial halibut fishery in Area 2A. Sport fishers and charterboat operators must determine, prior to May 1 of each year, whether they will operate in the commercial halibut fisheries in Area 2A which requires a commercial fishing license from the IPHC. Sport fishing for halibut in Area 2A is prohibited from a vessel licensed to fish commercially for halibut in Area 2A.
- (5) <u>Flexible inseason management provisions</u>.
 - (i) The Regional Administrator, NMFS Northwest Region, after consultation with the Chairman of the Pacific Fishery Management Council, the IPHC Executive Director, and the Fisheries Director(s) of the affected state(s), or their designees, is authorized to modify regulations during the season after making the following determinations.
 - (A) The action is necessary to allow allocation objectives to be met.
 - (B) The action will not result in exceeding the catch limit for the area.
 - (C) If any of the sport fishery subareas north of Cape Falcon, OR are not projected to utilize their respective quotas by September 30, NMFS may take inseason action to transfer any projected unused quota to another Washington sport subarea.
 - (D) If any of the sport fishery subareas south of Leadbetter Point, WA are not projected to utilize their respective quotas by their season ending dates, NMFS may take inseason action to transfer any projected unused quota to another Oregon sport subarea.
 - (ii) Flexible inseason management provisions include, but are not limited to, the following:

- (A) Modification of sport fishing periods;
- (B) Modification of sport fishing bag limits;
- (C) Modification of sport fishing size limits;
- (D) Modification of sport fishing days per calendar week; and
- (E) Modification of subarea quotas.
- (iii) Notice procedures.
 - (A) Inseason actions taken by NMFS will be published in the *Federal Register*.
 - (B) Actual notice of inseason management actions will be provided by a telephone hotline administered by the Northwest Region, NMFS, at 206-526-6667 or 800-662-9825 (May through October) and by U.S. Coast Guard broadcasts. These broadcasts are announced on Channel 16 VHF-FM and 2182 kHz at frequent intervals. The announcements designate the channel or frequency over which the notice to mariners will be immediately broadcast. Since provisions of these regulations may be altered by inseason actions, sport fishermen should monitor either the telephone hotline or U.S. Coast Guard broadcasts for current information for the area in which they are fishing.
- (iv) Effective dates.
 - (A) Inseason actions will be effective on the date specified in the <u>Federal</u> <u>Register</u> notice or at the time that the action is filed for public inspection with the Office of the Federal Register, whichever is later.
 - (B) If time allows, NMFS will invite public comment prior to the effective date of any inseason action filed with the *Federal Register*. If the Regional Administrator determines, for good cause, that an inseason action must be filed without affording a prior opportunity for public comment, public comments will be received for a period of 15 days after of the action in the *Federal Register*.
 - (C) Inseason actions will remain in effect until the stated expiration date or until rescinded, modified, or superseded. However, no inseason action has any effect beyond the end of the calendar year in which it is issued.
- (v) Availability of data. The Regional Administrator will compile, in aggregate form, all data and other information relevant to the action being taken and will make them available for public review during normal office hours at the Northwest Regional Office, NMFS, Sustainable Fisheries Division, 7600 Sand Point Way NE, Seattle, WA.

(6) <u>Sport fishery closure provisions</u>.

The IPHC shall determine and announce closing dates to the public for any subarea in which a subquota is estimated to have been taken. When the IPHC has determined that a subquota has been taken, and has announced a date on which the season will close, no person shall sport fish for halibut in that area after that date for the rest of the year, unless a reopening of that area for sport halibut fishing is scheduled by NMFS as an inseason action, or announced by the IPHC.

(g) PROCEDURES FOR IMPLEMENTATION

Each year, NMFS will publish a proposed rule with any regulatory modifications necessary to implement the Plan for the following year, with a request for public comments. The comment period will extend until after the IPHC annual meeting, so that the public will have the opportunity to consider the final Area 2A TAC before submitting comments. After the Area 2A TAC is known, and after NMFS reviews public comments, NMFS will implement final rules governing the sport fisheries. The final ratio of halibut to Chinook to be allowed as incidental catch in the salmon troll fishery will be published with the annual salmon management measures. Sources:

77 FR 16740 (March 22, 2012)	73 FR 12280 (March 7, 2008)	60 FR 14651 (March 20, 1995)
76 FR 14300 (March 16, 2011)	72 FR 11792 (March 14, 2007)	59 FR 22522 (May 2, 1994)
75 FR 13024 (March 18, 2010)	71 FR 10850 (March 3, 2006)	58 FR 17791 (April 6, 1993)
74 FR 11681 (March 19, 2009)	70 FR 20304 (April 19, 2005)	
	69 FR 24524 (May 4, 2004)	
	68 FR 10989 (March 7, 2003)	
	67 FR 12885 (March 20, 2002)	
	66 FR 15801 (March 21, 2001)	
	65 FR 14909 (March 20, 2000)	
	64 FR 13519 (March 19, 1999)	
	63 FR 13000 (March 17, 1998)	
	62 FR 12759 (March 18, 1997)	
	61 FR 11337 (March 20, 1996)	

VISUAL REPRESENTATION OF THE 2014 PACIFIC HALIBUT CATCH SHARING PLAN FOR AREA 2A

The following attachment contains a visual representation of the 2014 Area 2A Catch Sharing Plan (CSP) for Pacific Halibut, which was developed by agency staff. The diagram is an interpretation only and the Federal regulations and CSP should be relied upon for the official record.



^a CEY = Constant Exploitable Yield

^b TAC = Total Allowable Catch

^c O26 = includes halibut 26 inches and over in total length

^d The IBQ amount is 130,000 lb legal-size (net weight) halibut through 2014, reduced to 100,000 lb in 2015 (50 CFR 660, Subpart C §660.55 dated August 13, 2013, page 86)



Legend

- IPHC regulations which are published in 79 FR 13906 include: Area 2A catch limit (960,000 lb), Non-treaty directed commercial S. of Pt. Chehalis (168,137 lb), Non-treaty incidental catch salmon troll fishery (29,671 lb), Non-treaty incidental catch sablefish fishery N. of Pt. Chehalis (14,274 lb), Treaty Indian commercial (307,500 lb), Treaty Indian ceremonial and subsistence (28,500 lb), Sport N. of Columbia River (214,110 lb), Sport S. of Columbia River (197,808 lb)
- A. Previous year's catch estimate
- B. Tribal allocation minus the Ceremonial and Subsistence estimate
- C. Incidental halibut in the sablefish fishery If 2A TAC is > 900,000 lb then the primary sablefish fishery N. of Pt. Chehalis will be allocated the WA sport allocation that is in excess of 214,110 lb If the amount above 214,110 lb is < 10,000 lb or greater than 70,000 lb, the excess will be allocated back to the WA sport areas.
- D. WA-Puget Sound

23.5% of the first 130,845 lb allocated to WA sport plus, 32% of the WA sport allocation between 130,845 and 224,110 lb

E. WA-North Coast

62.2% of the first 130,845 lb allocated to WA sport plus, 32% of the WA sport allocation between 130,845 and 224,110 lb

F. WA-South Coast

12.3% of the first 130,845 lb allocated to WA sport plus, 32% of the WA sport allocation between 130,845 and 224,110 lb

G. WA-Columbia River

2% of the first 130,845 lb allocated to WA sport plus, 4% of the WA sport allocation between 130,845 and 224,110 lb The amount was 5,947.5 lbs in 2014.

- H. OR-Columbia River equivalent to what WA contributes (5,947.5 lb)
- I. OR-Central Coast and Southern Oregon OR Sport Allocation minus contribution to Columbia River
- J. WA-South coast allocation minus what is reserved for the nearshore
- K. 10% or 2,000 lb, whichever is less is reserved for a nearshore fishery
- L. 10% or 1,500 lb, whichever is less is reserved for a nearshore fishery, the remainder to the all-depth seasons
- M. 2% of the Central Oregon Coast allocation is deducted from the spring all-depth allocation and set-aside for the Southern Oregon Subarea

COUNCIL BLOG SUMMARIZING PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE 2015 PACIFIC HALIBUT CATCH SHARING PLAN AND ANNUAL FISHERY REGULATIONS

At the September meeting, the Council considered proposed changes to the 2015 Pacific halibut regulations and the Catch Sharing Plan (CSP) for Area 2A. The Council adopted for public review a range of seven non-treaty commercial and recreational fishery allocation options intended to provide for a greater recreational allocation for the California subarea, in response to new information indicating a higher abundance of Pacific halibut and greater fishery interest in this area than when the CSP was originally adopted. Recreational fishery options for Washington, Oregon, and California were also adopted for public review. Details of the options are described below.

The Council is scheduled to take final action on proposed changes for the 2015 Area 2A halibut fisheries at the November 14-19, 2014 Council meeting in Costa Mesa, California. Public comment on the options can be submitted to <u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>. Those comments received by Friday, October 17 will be included in the advanced briefing materials, which are mailed to Council members and advisory bodies. Comments received after October 17 but before November 4 will be handed out on the first day of the meeting.

Changes to the Non-Treaty CSP Allocations

Description of the Allocation Alternatives

The Council adopted the following range of non-treaty commercial and recreational allocations. Allocations under Alternatives 2-5 are related to the level of the Area 2A Total Allowable Catch (TAC).

	Status Quo Alt 1		Alt 2			Alt 3		Alt 4		Alt 5		
			Opti	on A	Opt	tion B						
						Portion of		Portion of		Portion of		Portion of
			2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC
			≤1 M. Ib	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. lb	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. lb	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. lb	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. lb	> 1 M. lb
WA Sport:	36.60%	36.60%	36.60%	36.60%	36.60%	18.5-25.9%	35.93%	35.60%	35.60%	35.27%	35.27%	34.93%
OR Sport:	30.70%	30.70%	30.70%	30.70%	30.70%	15.5-21.7%	30.03%	29.70%	29.70%	29.37%	29.37%	29.03%
CA Sport:	1.00%	3.00%	3.00%	4.00%	3.00%	30-50%	3.00%	4.00%	4.00%	5.00%	5.00%	6.00%
Commercial:	31.70%	29.70%	29.70%	28.70%	29.70%	16-22.4%	31.03%	30.70%	30.70%	30.37%	30.37%	30.03%

Status Quo: The non-treaty allocation is apportioned according to the 2014 CSP: Washington sport (36.60%), Oregon sport (30.70%), California sport (1.00%), and commercial (31.70%).

Alternative 1: Maintain allocations as described in the CSP (Status Quo), except increase the California sport allocation by two percent, for a total California sport allocation of three percent, by reducing the non-treaty commercial fishery share.

Alternative 2, Option A: Same allocations as described in Alternative 1 when the 2A TAC is one million pounds or less. When the 2A TAC is above one million pounds, the California sport allocation would increase by an additional one percent, for a total California sport allocation of four percent, by reducing the non-treaty commercial fishery share.

Alternative 2, Option B: Same allocations as described in Alternative 1 when the 2A TAC is one million pounds or less. When the 2A TAC is greater than one million pounds, the first one million pounds of the 2A TAC shall be distributed according to the Alternative 1 allocations. For the portion of the 2A TAC that exceeds one million pounds, the California sport allocation would increase to 30-50 percent of the non-treaty share, and allocation percentages for the non-treaty commercial and recreational (Washington and Oregon) would be reduced to remain proportional to the status quo non-treaty shares.

Alternative 3: Increase the California sport allocation by two percent, for a total California sport allocation of three percent, when the 2A TAC is less than one million pounds by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations (i.e., Washington sport, Oregon sport, and commercial). When the 2A TAC is greater than one million pounds, the first one million pounds of the 2A TAC shall be distributed according to the Alternative 3 allocations. For the portion of the 2A TAC that exceeds one million pounds, the California sport allocation would increase to four percent of the non-treaty share by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations.

Alternative 4: Increase the California sport share by three percent, for a total allocation of four percent, when the 2A TAC is less than one million pounds by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations. When the 2A TAC is greater than one million pounds, the first one million pounds of the 2A TAC shall be distributed according to the Alternative 4 allocations. For the portion of the 2A TAC that exceeds one million pounds, the California sport allocation would increase to five percent of the non-treaty share by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations.

Alternative 5: Increase the California sport share by four percent, for a total allocation of five percent, when the 2A TAC is less than one million pounds by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations. When the 2A TAC is greater than one million pounds, the first one million pounds of the 2A TAC shall be distributed according to the Alternative 5 allocations. For the portion of the 2A TAC that exceeds one million pounds, the California sport allocation would increase to six percent of the non-treaty share by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations.

Maximum Limits to the California Sport Allocation

After adopting the CSP allocations from the range described above, the Council will then decide whether to instate a maximum limit on the California sport allocation.

Status Quo: No maximum limit on the California sport allocation.

Maximum Limit A: Include a maximum limit on the California sport allocation of 75,000 pounds in an effort to not strand pounds. This limit may be combined with Alternatives 1, 2A, or 2B described in the table above. Any amount above 75,000 pounds would remain in the non-treaty commercial fishery share.

Maximum Limit B: Include a maximum limit on the California sport allocation of 50,000 pounds in an effort to not strand pounds. This limit may be combined with Alternatives 3 - 5 described in the table above. Any amount above 50,000 pounds would remain in the Washington sport, Oregon sport, and commercial fisheries in proportion to their respective shares under the Alternative.

Washington Recreational Fisheries, as summarized from the WDFW Report

Columbia River Nearshore Allocation Option

1. Reduce the nearshore set aside from 1,500 pounds to 500 pounds.

Rationale: The amount of halibut caught in the nearshore fishery was very low in 2014. The proposed allocation amount would still accommodate catches in the nearshore area when the all-depth fishery is closed.

Columbia River Season Allocation Option

2. Manage the fishery to one season by removing the early (80 percent) and late season (20 percent) splits.

Rationale: Since 2008, fishing effort has significantly declined during the late season off Washington and Oregon. Managing to one season in the early period will ensure the quota is available during the peak of halibut fishing effort and allow the all-depth fishery to continue uninterrupted.

Columbia River Nearshore Days of the Week Option

3. Increase the number of days that the nearshore area is open from Monday through Wednesday to Monday through Friday. This would include two days (Thursday and Friday) when both the nearshore and all-depth fisheries are open.

Rationale: Increasing the number of days per week is expected to increase attainment of nearshore quota and provide greater groundfish retention.

Oregon Recreational Fisheries, as summarized from the **ODFW Report**

Options for the Columbia River and Southern Oregon Subarea Allocation

1. Increase the Southern Oregon subarea allocation; reduce the Oregon contribution to the Columbia River allocation.

No Action	Alternative 1	Alternative 2	
equal to WA contribution	75% of WA contribution	50% of WA contribution	
	96%	96%	
61%	63%	63%	
25%	25%	25%	
12%	12%	12%	
2%	4%	4%	
	equal to WA contribution 61% 25% 12%	equal to WA contribution75% of WA contribution 96%61%63%25%25%12%12%	

Shaded cells are percentages of the Central Oregon Coast allocation

Rationale: In recent years the Columbia River allocation has not been attained and reallocating the quota would increase overall attainment of the Oregon sport quota.

Columbia River and Central Oregon Subareas

2. Groundfish Retention Options

Status Quo: During all-depth Pacific halibut days, most species may not be taken along with Pacific halibut except for salmon, sablefish, Pacific Cod, tuna, and offshore pelagic species

Alternative 1: All groundfish, with the exception of rockfish and lingcod, could be retained during all-depth halibut days

Alternative 2: Same as Status Quo but also include other flatfish species

Rationale: The proposed groundfish retention options are intended to increase utilization and reduce regulatory discards while staying within the overfished species limits for groundfish (e.g., yelloweye rockfish).

Central Coast Subarea

3. All-Depth Seasons

No Action: The spring all-depth season opens the second Thursday in May, three days per week (Thursday –Saturday), until the quota is caught. Weeks can be skipped due to adverse tides. The summer all-depth season opens the first Friday in August, two days per week (Friday and Saturday), every other week until the quota is attained.

Alternative 1a: Combine the spring and summer all-depth quotas and seasons. Open May 1, every other Friday and Saturday, until the entire all-depth quota has been attained.

Alternative 1b: The same as Alternative 1a, except begin on the first weekend in May, which avoids dates with large negative tides, especially in the spring.

Rationale: The proposed options are designed to extend the season, avoid negative tides, and provide halibut opportunities prior to salmon and tuna.

Southern Oregon Subarea

4. Season Dates

No Action: Open May 1, seven days per week, until the quota is attained

Alternative 1: Open June 1, seven days per week, until the quota is attained

Alternative 2: Open July 1, seven days per week, until the quota is attained

Rationale: The proposed options are designed to provide a greater chance of halibut opportunities later in the summer, when salmon opportunity slows.

California Recreational Fisheries, as summarized from a Council motion

1. Season Dates and Inseason Action

No Action: A fixed season that is open from May 1 through July 31 and September 1 through October 31. No inseason adjustments will be made.

Alterative 1: Revise the season length so that the fishery is open for one month during the timeframe May 1 through October 31. Selection of the month would occur under final action in November. Inseason adjustments may be made.

Alterative 2: Revise the season length so that the season is open for a 15 consecutive day period during the timeframe May 1 through October 31. Selection of the 15 consecutive day period would occur under final action. Inseason adjustments may be made.

The Council also provided the following guidance to NMFS: In establishing the California sport fixed season, NMFS should work with CDFW to use a formula similar to that used in the Puget Sound area, which is to calculate a projected catch per day and number of days to achieve the subarea quota.

NMFS Recommended, as summarized from NMFS Report 2

1. Amend language for the directed commercial fishery to allow earlier transfer of unused quota to the salmon troll fishery. Current language refers to the "fall salmon troll fisheries"; however, salmon regulations do not have a defined "fall" fishery. The goal of this change is to allow flexibility for inseason transfer of the unused portion of the directed commercial halibut allocation. 2. In the CSP and regulations, update references to Northwest Region and Northwest Administrator to West Coast Region and West Coast Administrator due to the recent merger and name change.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND REGULATORY IMPACT REVIEW FOR CONTINUING IMPLEMENTATION OF THE CATCH SHARING PLAN FOR PACIFIC HALIBUT IN AREA 2A, 2014-2016

Lead Agency	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Marine Fisheries Service West Coast Regional Office
	Seattle, Washington
Responsible Official	William W. Stelle, Jr
-	Regional Administrator
	NMFS West Coast Regional Office
For Further	Sarah Williams
Information Contact	National Marine Fisheries Service
	7600 Sand Point Way, NE
	Seattle, WA 98115
	(206) 526-6150
	March 2014

Abstract: The Northern Pacific Halibut Act of 1982 at 16 U.S.C. 773c provides that the Secretary of Commerce shall have general responsibility to carry out the Halibut Convention between the United States and Canada and that the Secretary shall adopt such regulations as may be necessary to carry out the purposes and objectives of the Convention and the Halibut Act. Section 773c(c) also authorizes the regional fishery management council having authority for the geographic area concerned to develop regulations governing the Pacific halibut catch in U.S. Convention waters that are in addition to, but not in conflict with, regulations of the International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC). Accordingly, NMFS adopted in 1995 a long-term catch sharing plan to allocate the total allowable catch (TAC) of Pacific halibut between treaty Indian and non-Indian harvesters, and among non-Indian commercial and sport fisheries in IPHC statistical Area 2A (off Washington, Oregon, and California). In each of the intervening years between 1995 and the present, minor revisions to the Plan have been made to adjust for the changing needs of the fisheries.

This EA analyzes the effects on the environment of the continued implementation of the Catch Sharing Plan in 2014 through 2016, and updates the affected environment sections for all listed species that occur in Area 2A.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0 PURPOSE AND NEED FOR ACTION	
1.1 How This Document is Organized	4
1.2 Purpose and Need	
1.3 Public Participation	
2.0 ALTERNATIVES, INCLUDING THE PROPOSED ACTION	5
2.1 Alternatives to be Analyzed	5
3.0 AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT - THE AREA 2A HALIBUT FISHERIES	6
3.1 Physical Environment	6
California Current System.	6
Topography	7
Climate Shifts	7
Habitat	8
3.2 Biological Environment	
Pacific Halibut	
Other Affected Species	
Sablefish	
Salmon	
Marine Mammals	
Seabirds	
Salmon	
3.3 Human Environment	
3.3.1 Pacific Halibut Fishery Overview	
Area 2A Fisheries	
3.3.2 Tribal Fisheries	
3.3.3 Non-Tribal Commercial Fisheries	
3.3.4 Sport Fishery in Washington	
WA Inside Waters (Puget Sound) Subarea	
WA North Coast Subarea	
WA South Coast Subarea	
3.3.5 Sport Fishery in Columbia River Subarea	
3.3.6 Sport Fishery in Oregon	
3.3.7 Sport Fishery Southern Oregon (south of Humbug Mountain) and in California.	
4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES OF THE ALTERNATIVES	
4.1 Physical Impacts of the Alterantives	
4.2 Biological Impacts of the Alternatives	
4.3 Socio-Economic Impacts of the Alternatives	
4.4 Cumulative Effects	
5.0 OTHER APPLICABLE LAW	
5.1 Endangered Species Act	
5.2 Marine Mammal Protection Act	
5.3 Migratory Bird Treaty Act and EO 13186	
5.4 Paperwork Reduction Act	54

5.5 C	Coastal Zone Management Act	54
5.6 E	EO 12898 (Environmental Justice)	54
5.7 E	EO 13132 (Federalism)	55
5.8 E	EO 13175 (Consultation and Coordination with Indian Tribal Governments)	55
6.0 I	REGULATORY FLEXIBILITY ACT AND EO 12866 (Regulatory Impact Review)	56
7.0 I	LIST OF PREPARERS	62
8.0 I	REFERENCES	68

1.0 PURPOSE AND NEED FOR ACTION

1.1 How This Document is Organized

This document is an Environmental Assessment and Regulatory Impact Review (EA/RIR) for the continued implementation of the Pacific Halibut Catch Sharing Plan (Plan) and annual management measures for halibut fishing off the U.S. West Coast for the years 2014-2016.

- Section 1 provides the "Purpose and Need" for this action.
- Section 2 describes the alternatives.
- Section 3 describes the physical, biological, and socio-economic environment of Pacific halibut and of West Coast halibut fisheries that could be affected by the alternatives.
- Section 4 is an analysis of the potential effects of the alternatives considered on the human environment.
- Section 5 addresses the consistency of the preferred alternative with laws other than the National Environmental Policy Act.
- Section 6 contains the RIR/IRFA.
- Section 7 provides the persons and agencies consulted and addresses comments received.
- Section 8 provides a bibliographic reference for this document.
- Appendix A provides the 2014 Plan.
- Appendix B is a report on the 2013 Pacific halibut fisheries in Area 2A.
- Appendix C is a list of prior NEPA analysis completed on the Area 2A halibut fishery and Plan changes.

1.2 Purpose and Need

NMFS' purpose for this action is to understand the effects of the implementation of the Plan and annual management measures during 2014-2016 in light of a changing environment. The need for this action is to address the recent ESA-listing of three rockfish species in Puget Sound.

The Northern Pacific Halibut Act of 1982 at 16 U.S.C. 773c provides that the Secretary of Commerce (Secretary) shall have general responsibility to carry out the Halibut Convention between the United States and Canada and that the Secretary shall adopt such regulations as may be necessary to carry out the purposes and objectives of the Convention and the Halibut Act. The International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) is responsible for drafting annual regulations, conducting the annual halibut survey, and producing stock assessments. The stock assessment produces a range of total allowable catch (TAC) amounts, which are presented to the U.S. and Canadian Commissioners who in consultation with members of the public decide on the final TAC for each management area. Section 773c(c) also authorizes the regional fishery management council having authority for the geographic area concerned to develop regulations governing the Pacific halibut catch in U.S. Convention waters that are in addition to, but not in conflict with, regulations of the IPHC. Accordingly, catch sharing plans to allocate the total allowable catch (TAC) of Pacific halibut between treaty Indian and non-Indian harvesters, and among non-Indian commercial and sport fisheries in IPHC statistical Area 2A (off Washington, Oregon, and California) have been developed each year since 1988 by the Council in accordance with the Halibut Act. In 1995, NMFS implemented a Council-recommended long-term Catch Sharing Plan (Plan) [60 FR 14651, March 20, 1995]. In each of the intervening years between 1995 and the present, minor revisions to the Plan have been made to adjust for the changing needs of the fisheries.

The revisions made to the Plan since 1995 have generally been very minor and have had minor environmental impacts. NMFS issued an EA and FONSI for the initial adoption of the long term Plan in 1995. Since then, in several years NMFS has concluded that the annual changes to the Plan were covered by existing NEPA analysis. NMFS issued EAs and FONSIs for changes to the Plan in 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2005. Since 2005, changes to the Plan have been sufficiently minor that NMFS has concluded they were covered by existing NEPA analyses (see appendix C). However, in 2010, three species of rockfish were listed under the Endangered Species Act (ESA) in the Puget Sound/Georgia Basin area. Bocaccio was listed as endangered, canary and yelloweye rockfish were listed as threatened. Because this represents new information about the affected environment for the implementation of the Plan, NMFS is evaluating the effects of this change to the affected environment and the potential effects of continued implementation of the Plan on listed rockfish. Information about the impacts of the fishery on listed rockfish is limited, and new information is likely to be forthcoming in the next several years as monitoring improves. For this reason, and because the proposed action for the ESA section 7 consultation on implementation of the Plan is limited to three years (2014-2016) in duration, the proposed action for this analysis is three years (2014-2016).

1.3 Public Participation

The Council's annual Plan process for considering changes to the Plan is as follows: each year, the states of Washington, Oregon, and California, and the halibut treaty tribes meet with participants in the fishery to review halibut management under the Plan. If any of the states or the tribes wish to propose changes to the Plan, their representatives propose those changes to the Council at its September meeting. The Council adopts alternatives for public review at its September meeting. Following this meeting, the states have public meetings on the range of alternatives. At the November meeting, the Council, with input from the public makes a final recommendation on Plan changes. Following the November Council meeting, NMFS publishes a proposed rule describing the Plan changes and then a final rule implementing the IPHC regulations early the next year. The final rule also contains the sport fishing regulations in Area 2A that are in addition to the IPHC regulations, and approves the Plan.

2.0 ALTERNATIVES, INCLUDING THE PROPOSED ACTION

As discussed above in Section 1.3, the states of Washington, Oregon, and California developed proposed revisions to the Plan for 2014 and the Council adopted proposals for public review at its September 2013 meeting. The Council made its final recommendations on Plan changes at its November meeting and transmitted those changes to NMFS on December 19, 2013. None of the Plan changes recommended by the Council for the 2014 fishery required an EA and are therefore not the focus of this analysis. Rather, this analysis considers the effects of the implementation of the Plan during 2014-2016 in light of the new rockfish listings. The effects of the implementation of the Plan are in part dependent on the amount of the Area 2A TAC set by the IPHC in a particular year. Setting the TAC is not part of this proposed action, however, the Alternatives described here take into account a range of TAC values to capture the likely range of effects of the implementation of the Plan from 2014-2016.

2.1 Alternatives to be Analyzed

Alternative 1 – No Action/Status Quo: the 2013 Plan and implementing regulations as described in the final rule (78 FR 16423, March 15, 2013), implemented for 2014-2016.

Alternative 2 (Preferred) – Continuing implementation of the Plan in 2014 through 2016. This alternative applies the 2014 Plan to a range of TACs from 2004-2014, to provide a potential range of subarea

allocations likely to occur over the next three years. As discussed above, NMFS anticipates minor changes to the Plan on an annual basis and anticipates that this Alternative will capture the range of environmental effects that are likely to occur with such changes. More significant changes might require additional NEPA analysis. As in the past, this determination will be made each year as the Council develops its recommendations for changes to the Plan.

3.0 AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT - THE AREA 2A HALIBUT FISHERIES

This section of the document describes the existing fishery and the resources that would be affected by the alternatives. The physical environment is discussed in Section 3.1, the biological characteristics of Pacific halibut and stocks interacting with the Area 2A halibut fishery are discussed in Section 3.2, and the socioeconomic or human environment is discussed in Section 3.3.



3.1 Physical Environment

California Current System. In the North Pacific

Ocean, the large, clockwise-moving North Pacific

Gyre circulates cold, sub-arctic surface water eastward across the North Pacific, splitting at the North American continent into the northward-moving Alaska Current and the southward-moving California Current (Figure 3.2). Along the U.S. West Coast, the surface California Current flows southward through the U.S. West Coast EEZ, management Area 2A for Pacific halibut. The California Current is known as

an eastern boundary current, meaning that it draws ocean water along the eastern edge of an oceanic current gyre. Along the continental margin and beneath the California Current flows the northward-moving California Undercurrent. Influenced by the California Current system and coastal winds, waters off the U.S. West Coast are subject to major nutrient upwelling, particularly off Cape Mendocino (Bakun, 1996). Shoreline topographic features such as Cape Blanco, Point Conception and bathymetric features such as banks, canyons, and other submerged features, often create large-scale



Figure 3.1.1 General circulation and major current systems of the North Pacific Ocean. Source: NMFS

Figure 3.1 IPHC regulatory areas. Source: IPHC

current patterns like eddies, jets, and squirts. Currents off Cape Blanco, for example, are known for a current "jet" that drives surface water offshore to be replaced by upwelling sub-surface water (Barth, et al, 2000). One of the better-known current eddies off the West Coast occurs in the Southern California Bight, between Point Conception and Baja California (Longhurst, 1998), wherein the current circles back on itself by moving in a northward and counterclockwise direction just within the Bight. The influence of these lesser current patterns and of the California Current on the physical and biological environment varies seasonally (Lynn and Simpson, 1987) and through larger-scale climate variation, such as El Nino-La Nina or Pacific Decadal Oscillation (Longhurst, 1998).

Topography. Physical topography off the U.S. West Coast is characterized by a relatively narrow continental shelf. The 200 m depth contour shows a shelf break closest to the shoreline off Cape Mendocino, Point Sur, and in the Southern California Bight and widest from central Oregon north to the Canadian border as well as off Monterey Bay. Deep submarine canyons pocket the EEZ, with depths greater than 4,000 m



Figure 3.3 Bathymetric map of the US West Coast EEZ; 200 m, 2,000 m, and 4,000 m contours shown.

common south of Cape Mendocino. See Figure 3.3.

Climate Shifts. The physical dynamics and biological productivity of the California Current ecosystem have shown a variety of responses to both short- and long-scale changes in climate. These climate shifts may affect recruitment and abundance of Pacific halibut. El Niños and La Niñas are examples of short-scale climate change, six-month to two-year disruptions in oceanic and atmospheric conditions in the Pacific region. An El Niño is a climate event with trends like a slowing in Pacific Ocean equatorial circulation, resulting in warmer sea surface conditions and decreased coastal upwelling. Conversely, La Niñas are short-scale climate shifts of two to three decades in duration are often called "Pacific (inter)Decadal Oscillation" or "PDO" in scientific literature. These long-scale climate shift events tend to show relatively cooler ocean temperatures in the Gulf of Alaska and Bering Sea ecosystems and relatively warmer temperatures in the California Current ecosystem, or a reverse trend of relatively warm temperatures in the north and cooler temperatures in the south (Mantua et al., 1997.)

Periods of warmer or cooler ocean conditions and the event of shifting from warm to cool or vice versa can all have a wide array of effects on marine species abundance. Ocean circulation varies during these different climate events, affecting the degree to which nutrients from the ocean floor mix with surface waters. Periods of higher nutrient mixing tend to have higher phytoplankton (primary) productivity, which can have positive ripple effects throughout the food web. In addition to changes in primary production, climate shifts may affect zooplankton (secondary) production in terms of increasing or decreasing abundance of the zooplankton biomass as a whole or of particular zooplankton species. Again, these changes in secondary production ripple in effect through the food web (Francis et al., 1998.) Upper trophic level species depend on different lower order species for their diets, so a shift in abundance of one type of prey species will often result in a similar shift in an associated predator species. This shifting interdependency affects higher order species, like Pacific halibut, in different ways at different life stages. In other words, some climate conditions may be beneficial to the survival of larvae of a particular species but may have no effect on an adult of that same species.

Public awareness of climate events like PDO, coupled with the relatively dramatic El Nino events may create the perception that climate is the most significant contributor to marine species abundance. In an analysis of marine fish productivity in the Northeast Pacific Ocean, Hollowed, Hare, and Wooster found that links between marine fish recruitment and climate shifts were more clear for conservatively managed species (Hollowed, et al., 2001). For example, population data on Pacific halibut seems to show a link between climate and recruitment. Climatic regimes and weather strongly influence Pacific halibut recruitment in the year of spawning, with recruitment tending to be higher during positive PDO events (Clark and Hare, 2002.)

Habitat. Habitat in Area 2A has been categorized in the Pacific Coast Groundfish Fishery Management Plan (FMP) into seven major habitat types. These habitat categories include all waters from the mean higher high water line, and the upriver extent of saltwater intrusion in river mouths, along the coasts of Washington, Oregon, and California seaward to the boundary of the U.S. EEZ. This approach focuses on ecological relationships among species and between the species and their habitat, reflecting an ecosystem approach in defining habitat. The seven habitat categories are as follows:

1. Estuarine - Those waters, substrates and associated biological communities within bays and estuaries of the EEZ, from mean higher high water level (MHHW, which is the high tide line) or extent of upriver saltwater intrusion to the respective outer boundaries for each bay or estuary as defined in 33 CFR 80.1102 through 80.1395 (Coast Guard lines of demarcation).

2. Rocky Shelf - Those waters, substrates, and associated biological communities living on or within ten meters (5.5 fathoms) overlying rocky areas, including reefs, pinnacles, boulders and cobble, along the continental shelf, excluding canyons, from the high tide line MHHW to the shelf break (~200 meters or 109 fathoms).

3. Nonrocky Shelf - Those waters, substrates, and associated biological communities living on or within ten meters (5.5 fathoms) overlying the substrates of the continental shelf, excluding the rocky shelf and canyon composites, from the high tide line MHHW to the shelf break (~200 meters or 109 fathoms).

4. Canyon - Those waters, substrates, and associated biological communities living within submarine canyons, including the walls, beds, seafloor, and any outcrops or landslide morphology, such as slump scarps and debris fields.

5. Continental Slope/Basin - Those waters, substrates, and biological communities living on or within 20 meters (11 fathoms) overlying the substrates of the continental slope and basin below the shelf break (~200 meters or 109 fathoms) and extending to the westward boundary of the EEZ.

6. Neritic Zone - Those waters and biological communities living in the water column more than ten meters (5.5 fathoms) above the continental shelf.

7. Oceanic Zone - Those waters and biological communities living in the water column more than 20 meters (11 fathoms) above the continental slope and abyssal plain, extending to the westward boundary of the EEZ.

Longline gear in the groundfish fisheries has been shown to have little impact on habitat, and the halibut fishery is shorter in duration and in geographic scope than the groundfish fishery. The longline gear used by the halibut commercial and tribal fisheries may come in contact with the bottom habitat.

3.2 Biological Environment

This section describes the species that may be directly or indirectly affected by the alternatives. They are divided into three groups. First, this section describes Pacific halibut, the species directly subject to the alternatives evaluated in this EA. Second, this section reviews species that may be incidentally affected, because they are caught incidentally in Pacific halibut fisheries (coastal and Puget Sound rockfish, green sturgeon, salmon), or conversely because the fisheries targeting other species but have an incidental catch allowance of Pacific halibut (sablefish and salmon). Finally, this section describes various legally protected species covered by the Endangered Species Act (marine mammals, turtles, eulachon, salmon, listed seabirds), Marine Mammal Protection Act, and the Migratory Bird Treaty Act. With respect to incidentally affected species, this section discusses canary and yelloweye rockfish that live along the coast, which are two of the seven overfished species managed under rebuilding plans through the Pacific Coast Fishery Management Plan. The remaining five overfished species (i.e., cowcod, darkblotched, Pacific ocean perch, petrale sole, and bocaccio) are not discussed here because they are not caught in substantial numbers or do not occur in the same area as the halibut fishery. The Puget Sound rockfish species listed under the ESA (i.e., bocaccio, canary, and yelloweye) have been determined to be separate species from the overfished stocks on the coast, and therefore, are discussed separately in the Protected Species section below with the remaining ESA-listed West Coast species (i.e. marine mammals, sea turtles, salmon, and seabirds).

Pacific Halibut

Pacific halibut (*Hippoglossus stenolepis*) range from Hokkaido, Japan to the Gulf of Anadyr, Russia on the Asiatic Coast and from Nome, Alaska to Santa Barbara, California on the North American (Pacific) Coast. They are among the largest teleost fishes in the world, measuring up to 8 ft (2.4 m). With flat, diamond-shaped bodies, Pacific halibut are able to migrate long distances.

The major spawning grounds for Pacific halibut are in the north Pacific Ocean within the Gulf of Alaska and Bering Sea (IPHC 1998.) During spawning, which generally occurs from November to March, halibut move into deep water, where the eggs are fertilized. As shown in Figure 3.4, the eggs develop into larvae and grow, drifting slowly upward in the water column. During development, the larvae drift great distances with the ocean currents around the northeast Pacific Ocean in a counterclockwise direction (IPHC 1998.) Young fish then settle to the bottom in the shallow feeding areas. Following two to three

years in the nursery areas, young halibut generally counter migrate, moving into more southerly and easterly waters, including Area 2A. Because Area 2A includes the southern most range of Pacific halibut and the major spawning grounds are north and west of Area 2A, the population of halibut in Area 2A is significantly smaller than in other areas of its range. Pacific halibut reach maturity at approximately 8 years for males and 12 years for females. The average age of Pacific halibut in the commercial fishery in Area 2A was 11.5 in 2012 (IPHC 2012).

Adult halibut are demersal, living on or near the bottom. They prefer water temperatures ranging from 3 to 8 degrees Celsius and are generally caught between 90 and 900 feet (27 and 274 m), but have been caught as deep as 1,800 ft (549 m) (IPHC 1998.) Adult halibut prey on cod, sablefish, pollock, rockfish, sculpins, flatfish, sand lance, herring, octopus, crab, and clams (IPHC 1998.) Adult halibut are not generally preyed upon by other species due to their size, active nature and bottom dwelling habits.



Other Affected Species

Figure 3.4 Life cycle of Pacific halibut. Source: IPHC

This section discusses sablefish, yelloweye and canary

rockfish on the coast, and salmon, because these are the species that have the largest interaction with the halibut fisheries. The Pacific halibut fishery commonly intercepts rockfish and sablefish, as they are found in similar habitat to Pacific halibut and are easily caught with longline gear. Management of overfished rockfish species in halibut fisheries includes no retention of canary and yelloweye rockfish in the sport fishery coastwide and trip limits for the directed halibut fishery.

Sablefish

Sablefish tend to co-occur with Pacific halibut, favoring similar depths and bottom habitat. The Pacific halibut fishery commonly intercepts rockfish and sablefish because they co-occur and are easily caught with longline gear. To account for incidental catch of Pacific halibut in management Area 2A, the sablefish primary fishery has a catch allowance for Pacific halibut during certain years, as described in Section 3.3 Human Environment. For example, in 2013, 21,410 lbs were allocated to longliners in the sablefish primary fishery out of a total Area 2A quota of 990,000 lbs (see Table 3.7).

Sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) are abundant in the north Pacific, from Honshu Island, Japan, north to the Bering Sea, and southeast to Cedros Island, Baja California. There are at least three genetically distinct populations off the West Coast of North America: one south of Monterey characterized by slower growth rates and smaller average size, one that ranges from Monterey to the U.S./Canada border that is characterized by moderate growth rates and size, and one ranging off British Columbia and Alaska characterized by fast growth rates and large size. Large adults are uncommon south of Point Conception (Hart 1973, Love 1991, McFarlane & Beamish 1983a, McFarlane & Beamish 1983b, NOAA 1990). Adults are found as deep as 1,900 m, but are most abundant between 200 and 1,000 m (Beamish &
McFarlane 1988, Kendall & Matarese 1987, Mason et al. 1983). Off southern California, sablefish were abundant to depths of 1,500 m (MBC 1987). Adults and large juveniles commonly occur over sand and mud (McFarlane & Beamish 1983a, NOAA 1990) in deep marine waters. They were also reported on hard-packed mud and clay bottoms near submarine canyons (MBC 1987).

Spawning occurs annually in the late fall through winter in waters greater than 300 m (Hart 1973, NOAA 1990). Sablefish are oviparous with external fertilization (NOAA 1990). Eggs hatch in about 15 days (Mason et al. 1983, NOAA 1990) and are demersal until the yolk sac is absorbed (Mason et al. 1983). After the yolk sac is absorbed, the age-0 juveniles become pelagic. Older juveniles and adults are benthopelagic. Larvae and small juveniles move inshore after spawning and may rear for up to four years (Boehlert & Yoklavich 1985, Mason et al. 1983). Older juveniles and adults inhabit progressively deeper waters. The best estimates indicate that 50% of females are mature at 5-6 years (24 inches), and 50% of males are mature at 5 years (20 inches).

Sablefish larvae prey on copepods and copepod nauplii. Pelagic juveniles feed on small fishes and cephalopods, mainly squids (Hart 1973, Mason et al. 1983). Demersal juveniles eat small demersal fishes, amphipods, and krill (NOAA 1990). Adult sablefish feed on fishes like rockfishes and octopus (Hart 1973, McFarlane & Beamish 1983a). Larvae and pelagic juvenile sablefish are heavily preyed upon by sea birds and pelagic fishes. Juveniles are eaten by Pacific cod, Pacific halibut, lingcod, spiny dogfish, and marine mammals, such as Orca whales (Cailliet et al. 1988, Hart 1973, Love 1991, Mason et al. 1983, NOAA 1990). Sablefish compete with many other co-occurring species for food, mainly Pacific cod and spiny dogfish (Allen 1982).

Salmon

This section discusses salmon stocks in general; salmon species listed under the ESA and addressed in the BiOp are further discussed under the Protected Species section below.

Salmon are targeted with recreational hook and line and commercial troll gear off all three West Coast states. The commercial salmon troll fishery does have incidental catch of Pacific halibut and an allocation of halibut in the Plan. Commercial salmon fisheries also have incidental catch of groundfish, including yellowtail rockfish, canary rockfish, lingcod, and sablefish. Pacific halibut are caught incidentally off Washington and Oregon, while groundfish are caught off all three states. In the commercial troll fishery, Pacific halibut and rockfish may be retained in accordance with annual landing restrictions and halibut may be retained in accordance with the allocation in the Plan.

There are five species of salmon off the Pacific coast: Chinook, coho, chum, pink, and sockeye. Salmon are anadromous, spending from one to several years (depending on the species) in the ocean before returning to the freshwater stream where they were born to spawn. Pacific salmon species die after spawning. While in the ocean, salmon may migrate hundreds to thousands of miles, but generally stay within 20 miles of shore. Most juvenile salmon whose natal streams lie north of Cape Blanco in southern Oregon migrate northward to British Columbia, the Gulf of Alaska, or Bering Sea. Many Puget Sound Chinook and some coho spend a majority of their ocean phase in or near Puget Sound. Juvenile salmon from drainages south of Cape Blanco tend to migrate in a southwesterly direction. Timing of chinook returning to coastal waters depends on the runs (winter, spring, summer, and fall) inhabiting the area. Few sockeye salmon runs occur in the western United States and little is known about their ocean migration, including listed Snake River and Lake Ozette runs. Migration patterns of Hood Canal summer chum and lower Columbia River chum are largely unknown. Most pink salmon adults return to streams between mid-July and late September and are rarely observed in or south of the Columbia River.

Many naturally spawning salmonid populations have declined as a result of reduced freshwater productivity from drought conditions; habitat loss and degradation; inadequate riverine passage and flows because of hydropower, agriculture, logging, and other developments; overfishing; increased predation and competition with hatchery fish; declines in freshwater productivity related to drought; and declines in marine productivity related to climate conditions. While naturally spawning salmon comprise a minority of the harvest, these declines have necessitated reduced harvests throughout the Council management area in Washington, Oregon and California. Chinook or king salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) and coho or silver salmon (O. kisutch) are the main species caught in Council-managed ocean salmon fisheries. In odd-numbered years, catches of pink salmon (O. gorbuscha) can also be significant, primarily off Washington and Oregon. Chum and sockeye are rarely caught in Council management areas, although these stocks pass through Pacific Coast waters off Washington on their way to inshore areas where they support major fisheries. Chinook and coho caught in Council fisheries originate from rivers ranging from the United States/Canada border to the south near Point Conception, California, with rare occurrences as far south as Los Angeles. California usually records the largest Chinook landings for both commercial and recreational fisheries, although in 2001, Oregon recorded Chinook landings greater than California did. Coho are a prohibited species in California fisheries, and Washington usually records the greatest coho landings for both recreational and commercial fisheries (PFMC, 2002a).

Off the North Washington coast, two of the Council's salmon management groups may be found in the same waters as Pacific halibut, Washington coastal salmon runs and Puget Sound salmon runs. Washington coastal salmon runs consist of all fall, summer, and spring stocks from coastal streams north of the Columbia River through the western Strait of Juan de Fuca. Puget Sound salmon runs consist of all fall, summer, and spring stocks originating from U.S. tributaries to Puget Sound and the eastern Strait of Juan de Fuca. These two management groups include both natural and hatchery stocks. And, salmon originating from both Washington coastal and Puget Sound streams tend to contribute primarily to British Columbia and Southeast Alaska salmon fisheries, with only minor effects on the stocks from U.S. West Coast salmon fisheries. (PFMC, 2000)

Yelloweye Rockfish-along the coast

Yelloweye rockfish along the coast are not listed under the ESA but are managed as an overfished species with a rebuilding plan under the Groundfish FMP. The Pacific halibut fishery commonly intercepts rockfish, as they are found in similar habitat to Pacific halibut and are easily caught with longline gear. They are commonly caught with Pacific halibut and are prohibited in the sport fishery coastwide. Management measures to reduce the incidental catch of yelloweye rockfish in halibut fisheries are discussed in Section 3.3 Human Environment.

Yelloweye rockfish *(Sebastes ruberrimus)* range from the Aleutian Islands, Alaska to northern Baja California; they are common from central California northward to the Gulf of Alaska (Eschmeyer et al. 1983, Hart 1973, Love 1991, Miller & Lea 1972, O'Connell & Funk 1986). Yelloweye rockfish occur in water 25-550 m deep. Yelloweye rockfish are bottom dwelling, generally solitary and sedentary, rocky reef fish, found either on or just over reefs (Eschmeyer et al. 1983, Love 1991, O'Connell & Funk 1986). Boulder areas in deep water (>180 m) are the most densely-populated habitat type, and juveniles prefer shallow-zone broken-rock habitat (O'Connell & Carlile 1993). They also reportedly occur around steep cliffs and offshore pinnacles (Rosenthal et al. 1982). The presence of refuge spaces is an important factor affecting their occurrence (O'Connell & Carlile 1993).

Yelloweye rockfish are ovoviviparous and give birth to live young in June off Washington (Hart 1973). The age of first maturity is estimated at 6 years, and all are estimated to be mature by 8 years (Echeverria 1987). Yelloweye rockfish can grow to 91 cm (Eschmeyer et al. 1983, Hart 1973). Males and females probably grow at the same rates (Love 1991, O'Connell & Funk 1986). The growth rate of yelloweye

rockfish levels off at approximately 30 years of age (O'Connell & Funk 1986). Yelloweye rockfish can live to be 114 years old (Love 1991, O'Connell & Funk 1986). Yelloweye rockfish are a large predatory reef fish that usually feeds close to the bottom (Rosenthal et al. 1988). They have a widely varied diet, including fish, crabs, shrimps and snails, rockfish, cods, sand lances and herring (Love 1991). Yelloweyes have been observed underwater capturing smaller rockfish with rapid bursts of speed and agility. Off Oregon the major food items of the yelloweye rockfish include cancroid crabs, cottids, righteye flounders, adult rockfishes, and pandalid shrimps (Steiner 1978).

Canary Rockfish-along the coast

Canary rockfish along the coast are not listed under the ESA but are managed as an overfished species with a rebuilding plan under the Groundfish FMP. The Pacific halibut fishery commonly intercepts rockfish, as they are found in similar habitat to Pacific halibut and are easily caught with longline gear. Canary rockfish is commonly caught with Pacific halibut and is prohibited in halibut sport fishery coastwide. Management measures to reduce the incidental catch of canary rockfish in halibut fisheries are discussed in Section 3.3 Human Environment.

Canary rockfish (*Sebastes pinniger*) are found between Cape Colnett, Baja California, and southeastern Alaska (Boehlert 1980, Boehlert & Kappenman 1980, Hart 1973, Love 1991, Miller & Lea 1972, Richardson & Laroche 1979). There is a major population concentration of canary rockfish off Oregon (Richardson & Laroche 1979). Canary primarily inhabit waters 91-183 m deep (Boehlert & Kappenman 1980). In general, canary rockfish inhabit shallow water when they are young and deep water as adults (Mason 1995). Adult canary rockfish are associated with pinnacles and sharp drop-offs (Love 1991). Canary rockfish tend to be more mobile than yelloweye rockfish and have been known to congregate in schools. Canary rockfish are most abundant above hard bottoms (Boehlert & Kappenman 1980). In the southern part of its range, the canary rockfish seems to be a reef-associated species (Boehlert 1980). In central California, newly settled canary rockfish are first observed at the seaward, sand-rock interface and farther seaward in deeper water (18-24 m).

Canary rockfish are ovoviviparous and have internal fertilization (Boehlert & Kappenman 1980, Richardson & Laroche 1979). Off California, canary rockfish spawn from November-March and from January-March off Oregon and Washington (Hart 1973, Love 1991, Richardson & Laroche 1979). The age of 50% maturity of canary rockfish is 9 years; nearly all are mature by age 13. The maximum length canary rockfish grow to is 76 cm (Boehlert & Kappenman 1980, Hart 1973, Love 1991). Canary rockfish primarily prey on planktonic creatures, such as krill, and occasionally on fish (Love 1991). Canary rockfish feeding increases during the spring-summer upwelling period when euphausiids are the dominant prey and the frequency of empty stomachs is lower (Boehlert et al. 1989).

Protected Species

Protected species fall under four legal mandates: the Endangered Species Act of 1973 (ESA), the Marine Mammal Protection Act of 1972 (MMPA), the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA), and Executive Order 13186 (Responsibilities of Federal Agencies to Protect Migratory Birds). These laws are explained further in Chapter 5.0.

NMFS prepared a biological opinion (BiOp) for this action. The BiOp evaluates the effects of the halibut fishery and the continued implementation of the Catch Sharing Plan (Plan) for 2014-2016 on listed species. Further, NMFS is working with USFWS to evaluate the effects of the implementation of the Plan on seabirds and other FWS species. The USFWS completed a BiOp on the groundfish fishery (USFWS 2012) and conclusions from that BiOp are used here to discuss possible effects to seabirds due

to similarities between halibut and groundfish fishing gear and areas. This section discusses all the species in Table 3.1. The proposed action was determined to have No Effect on eulachon.

The ESA protects species in danger of extinction throughout all or a significant part of their range and mandates the conservation of the ecosystems on which they depend. "Species" is defined by the ESA to mean a species, a subspecies, or—for vertebrates only—a distinct population. Under the ESA, a species is listed as "endangered" if it is in danger of extinction throughout a significant portion of its range and "threatened" if it is likely to become an endangered species within the foreseeable future throughout all, or a significant part, of its range. The following species occur off the West Coast and/or in Puget Sound and are subject to the conservation and management requirements of the ESA:

]	Fable 3.1. West Coast Endangered Species
	MARINE MAMMALS
Endangered:	Sperm whale (<i>Physeter macrocephalus</i>)
	Humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae)
	Blue whale (Balaenoptera musculus)
	Fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus)
	Southern Resident Killer whale (Orcinus orca)
	Sei whale (Balaenoptera borealis borealis)
	North Pacific right whales (Eubalaena japonica)
Threatened:	Guadalupe fur seal (Arctocephalus townsendi)
	Southern sea otter (Enhydra lutris) California Stock
	SEABIRDS
Endangered:	Short-tail albatross (Phoebastria (Diomedea) albatrus)
	California brown pelican (Pelecanus occidentalis)
	California least tern (Sterna antillarum browni)
Threatened:	Marbled murrelet (Brachyramphs marmoratus)
	SEA TURTLES
Endangered:	Green turtle (Chelonia mydas)
	Leatherback turtle (Dermochelys coriacea)
	Olive ridly turtle (Lepidochelys olivacea)
Threatened:	Loggerhead turtle (Caretta caretta)
	SALMON
Endangered:	Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha)
_	Sacramento River Winter; Upper Columbia Spring
	Sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka)
	Snake River
	Steelhead trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss)
	Southern California Coast
	Coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch)
	Central California Coast

Threatened:	Coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch)						
	Lower Columbia River, Southern Oregon/Northern						
	California; Oregon Coast						
	Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha)						
	Snake River Fall, Spring, and Summer; Puget Sound;						
	Lower Columbia; Upper Willamette; Central Valley						
	Spring; California Coastal						
	Chum salmon (Oncorhynchus keta)						
	Hood Canal Summer; Columbia River						
	Sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka)						
	Ozette Lake						
	Steelhead trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss)						
	Puget Sound, South-Central California, Central						
	California Coast, Southern California Coast, Snake River						
	Basin, Lower Columbia, California Central Valley,						
	Upper Willamette, Upper and Middle Columbia River,						
	Northern California						
	OTHER						
Endangered:	Puget Sound distinct population segment of bocaccio (Sebastes						
	paucispinis)						
Threatened:	Puget Sound distinct population segment of canary rockfish						
	(Sebastes pinniger)						
	Puget Sound distinct population segment of yelloweye rockfish						
	(Sebastes ruberrimus)						
	Southern distinct population segment of eulachon (Columbia river						
	smelt)(<i>Thaleichthys pacificus</i>)						
	Southern distinct population segment of North American green sturgeon (<i>Acipenser medirostris</i>)						
	stargeon (responser mean osn'is)						
1							

The Federal MMPA guides marine mammal species protection and conservation policy. Under the MMPA, on the West Coast NMFS is responsible for the management of cetaceans and pinnipeds, while the USFWS manages sea otters. Stock assessment reports review new information every year for strategic stocks and every three years for non-strategic stocks. (Strategic stocks are those whose human-caused mortality and injury exceeds the potential biological removal.) Marine mammals, whose abundance falls below the optimum sustainable population, are listed as "depleted" according to the MMPA. The following West Coast species are listed as depleted under the MMPA: Northern fur seal (*Callorhinus ursinus*) Eastern Pacific Stock, and Killer whale (*Orcinus orca*) Eastern North Pacific Southern Resident Stock.

Fisheries that interact with marine mammal species listed as depleted, threatened, or endangered may be subject to management restrictions under the MMPA and ESA. NMFS publishes an annual list of fisheries in the *Federal Register* separating commercial fisheries into one of three categories based on the level of serious injury and mortality of marine mammals occurring incidentally in that fishery. The categorization of a fishery in the list of fisheries determines whether participants in that fishery are subject to certain provisions of the MMPA, such as registration, observer coverage, and take reduction plan requirements. Pacific halibut fisheries are in Category III, denoting a remote likelihood of, or no known, serious injuries or mortalities to marine mammals.

The USFWS is the primary Federal agency responsible for seabird conservation and management. Four species found off the West Coast are listed under the ESA, listed in the table above. In 2002, the USFWS classified several seabird species that occur off the Pacific Coast as "Species of Conservation Concern."

These species include: black-footed albatross (*Phoebastria nigripes*), ashy storm-petrel (*Oceanodroma homochroa*), gull-billed tern (*Sterna nilotica*), elegant tern (*Sterna elegans*), arctic tern (*Sterna paradisaea*), black skimmer (*Rynchops niger*), and Xantus's murrelet (*Synthliboramphus hypoleucus*).

Marine Mammals and Sea Turtles

The waters off Washington, Oregon, and California (WOC) support a wide variety of marine mammals and turtles. The BiOp evaluated the effects of the halibut fishery on marine mammals and sea turtles (Blue Whales, Fin Whales, Humpback Whales, Northern Pacific Right Whales, Sei Whales, Sperm Whales, Southern Resident (SR) Killer Whales, Guadalupe Fur Seals, Green Sea Turtles, Olive Ridley Sea Turtles, Loggerhead Sea Turtles, and Leatherback Sea Turtles).

Fin whales have been detected year round off California (Dohl et al. 1983), Oregon and Washington (Moore et al. 1998). Sperm whales are also found year-round off California (Dohl et al. 1983, Barlow 1995, Forney et al. 1995) and are seen in Washington and Oregon waters every season except winter (Green et al. 1992). The U.S. west coast is an important feeding area in the summer and fall for the eastern North Pacific stock of blue whales (Carretta et al. 2013). In the winter and spring, most of the blue whales from this stock migrate south to the Gulf of California and on the Costa Rica Dome (Carretta et al. 2013). Humpback whales of the California/Oregon/Washington stock feed off the U.S. west coast, with winter migratory destinations in coastal waters of Mexico and Central America (Carretta et al. 2013). In recent years, humpback whales are sighted with increasing frequency in the inside waters of Washington, including Puget Sound (primarily during the fall and spring); however, occurrence in the inside waters are off Washington, Oregon, and California (Allen and Angliss 2013, Carretta et al. 2013).

The Southern Resident (SR) killer whales regularly occur in the inland waters of Washington and British Columbia, Canada during late spring, summer, and early fall (NMFS 2008). During these seasons, the whales are occasionally observed along the outer coast where they typically travel along the southern coast of Vancouver Island and are occasionally sighted as far west as Tofino and Barkley Sound. The range of Southern Residents throughout the rest of the year is not well known. As the fall progresses, the Southern Residents are seen less frequently in inland waters and they are thought to remain in coastal waters for the winter and spring. Although sightings on the outer coast are extremely limited, researchers have confirmed that they have traveled as far south as central California (NMFS 2008; Hanson et al. 2013) and as for north as southeast Alaska (one sighting occurred in Chatham Strait, AK, J. Ford pers. comm.). In recent years, several sightings or acoustic detections have been obtained off the Washington and Oregon coasts for these whales in the winter and spring (NWFSC unpubl. data, Hanson et al. 2013).

Green sea turtles, loggerhead sea turtles, and olive ridley sea turtles rarely occur in Area 2A. Leatherback sea turtles occur north of central California during summer and fall and are also known to occur in the north Pacific and in waters off central California.

In recent years, humpback whales have been sighted with increasing frequency in the inside waters of Washington, including Puget Sound (primarily during the fall and spring); however, occurrence in the inside waters remains uncommon. Occurrence of Guadalupe fur seals, sei whales, and North Pacific right whales are rare off Washington, Oregon, and California. Humpback whales and sperm whales were sighted during the IPHC survey but did not interact with the survey. There are no reported interactions of halibut fisheries and marine mammals or sea turtles.

Eulachon

Eulachon are found in the eastern north Pacific Ocean from northern California to southwest Alaska and into the southeastern Bering Sea. The southern DPS of eulachon was listed as threatened under the ESA in 2010 (75 FR 13012). The eulachon southern DPS is defined from the Mad River in northern California, north to the Skeena River in British Columbia. Eulachon are an anadromous fish. Adults migrate from the ocean to freshwater creeks and rivers where they spawn from late winter through early summer. The offspring hatch and migrate back to the ocean to forage until maturity. Once juvenile eulachon enter the ocean, they move from shallow nearshore areas to deeper areas over the continental shelf. There is little information available about eulachon movements in nearshore marine areas and the open ocean. Eulachon are rarely encountered by longline gear.

Seabirds

Over a hundred species of seabirds occur in waters off the West coast within the EEZ. These species include: loons, grebes, albatross, fulmars, petrels, shearwaters, storm-petrels, pelicans, cormorants, frigate birds, phalaropes, skuas, jaegers, gulls, kittiwakes, skimmers, terns, guillemots, murrelets, auklets, and puffins. The migratory range of these species includes commercial fishing areas; fishing also occurs near the breeding colonies of many of these species.

No formal analysis has been conducted on the halibut fishery and interactions with sea birds. However, the US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) completed a Biological Opinion (USFWS 2012) on the groundfish fishery on the west coast and due to the similarities between halibut fisheries and groundfish fisheries chapter 4 uses some of the conclusions from that BiOp to discuss possible impacts of the halibut fishery on seabirds.

ESA-listed endangered seabirds that co-occur in Area 2A include short-tailed albatross (*Phoebastria albatrus*), California least tern (*Sterna antillarum browni*), and Marbled murrelet (*Brachyramphus marmoratus*), but of those, only short-tailed albatross is known to interact with the groundfish fishery (USFWS 2012).

Short-tailed albatross are large, pelagic seabirds with long, narrow wings adapted for soaring just above the water surface. At-sea sightings since the 1940s indicate that short-tailed albatross are distributed widely throughout their historic foraging range in the temperate and subarctic North Pacific Ocean. A recent compilation of at-sea seabird survey data and albatross telemetry data across the EEZs of California through Washington found that short-tailed and black-footed albatrosses had similar distributions; both were widely distributed but most abundant north of 36° N (Guy et al., 2012). Juveniles and sub-adults are prevalent off the west coasts of Canada and the U.S. (Environment Canada 2008). In late September, large flocks of short-tailed albatross have been observed over the Bering Sea canyons (Piatt et al. 2006). These are the only known concentrations of this species away from their breeding islands. Short-tailed albatross forage extensively along continental shelf margins, spending the majority of time within national EEZs, particularly the U.S. (off Alaska), Russia, and Japan, rather than over international waters (Suryan et al. 2007a, Suryan et al. 2007b).

Interactions between seabirds and fishing operations are wide-spread and have led to conservation concerns in many fisheries throughout the world. Abundant food in the form of offal (discarded fish and fish processing waste) and bait attract birds to fishing vessels. Seabirds are often taken by longline gear, like the kind used in Pacific halibut fisheries. Around longline vessels, seabirds forage for offal and bait that has fallen off hooks at or near the water's surface and are attracted to baited hooks near the water's surface during the setting of gear. If a bird becomes hooked while feeding on bait or offal, it can be dragged underwater and drowned.

Vessel operators are not required to document the incidental take of seabirds in logbooks, but sightings forms where fishermen can record sightings of seabirds are provided by port samplers when requested. In lieu of an assessment of the commercial longline halibut fleet, IPHC has conducted seabird research on their stock assessment surveys in Area 2A which charter commercial longline vessels and use similar gear and deployment methods.

Besides entanglement in fishing gear, seabirds may be indirectly affected by commercial fisheries in various ways. Change in prey availability may be linked to directed fishing and the discarding of fish and offal. Vessel traffic may affect seabirds when it occurs in and around important foraging and breeding habitat and increases the likelihood of bird storms. In addition, seabirds may be exposed to at-sea garbage dumping and the diesel and oil discharged into the water associated with commercial fisheries. The California current system supports a diverse array of seabird species. Species found on the west coast include resident species and transitory species (migrating or foraging). All the California Current system seabirds are highly mobile and require an abundant food source to support their high metabolic rates.

ESA-listed seabirds are known to be hooked or entangled in fishing gear. Incidental take of short-tailed albatross is expected to occur from interactions with trawl cables or longline hooks, however take of other listed seabirds is not expected as discussed below. A yearly average of 0.8 short-tailed albatross is anticipated to be taken by all fishing conducted under the PCGFMP. Vessel traffic associated with groundfish fishing activities will occur in areas where California least tern are found. The recovery plan for the least tern does not identify interactions with vessel activity as a threat to the species. Although vessel traffic may directly affect the species, it is not likely to adversely affect them. Marbled murrelet distribution overlaps to some extent with fisheries conducted under the PCGFMP and areas where vessels transit. The effects of vessel transit on foraging and loafing murrelets are not measurable. Murrelets are vulnerable to gillnets which may be used in the open access groundfish fisheries south of 38° north latitude and from line gear used coastwide in the open access and recreational fisheries. There has been no reported mortality of marbled murrelets in west coast groundfish fisheries. Single interactions with marbled murrelet were reported in the groundfish trawl sector in 2001 and 2002 but were listed as "boarded vessel only", meaning the bird was seen on the vessel but did not interact with the gear. Therefore, any impacts to marbled murrelets are expected to be minor. Given that the commercial and tribal halibut fisheries use similar gear and operate in similar areas to the portions of the groundfish fishery that use longline gear, but with much shorter seasons, any impacts to albatross from the halibut fishery are most likely less than impacts from the groundfish fishery. Also, given the very low mortality estimate, it is unlikely that any halibut fishery would have that level of bird mortality in just one year. In addition, there have been no seabird interactions reported in the halibut fishery

Salmon

Many Pacific coast salmon species have been listed as endangered or threatened under the ESA (Table 3.1). Salmon caught in the U.S. West Coast fishery have life cycle ranges that include coastal streams and river systems from central California to Alaska and oceanic waters along the U.S. and Canada seaward into the north central Pacific Ocean, including Canadian territorial waters and the high seas. Some of the more critical portions of these ranges are the freshwater spawning grounds and migration routes. Salmonid species on the west coast have experienced declines in abundance over the last several decades to human induced and natural factors. Given the complexity of the salmon life cycle no single factor is responsible for this decline rather multiple factors have influenced the decline. Water diversions, including logging and urban development have significantly altered fish habitat quantity and quality; and natural environmental conditions including floods and drought have reduced already limited habitat.

Finally, salmon are an important species in commercial and recreational fisheries. During periods of decreased habitat availability, the impacts of fishing on native stocks may be heightened. Commercial fishing on unlisted, healthier stock has caused adverse impacts to weaker stocks of salmon, and illegal high seas driftnet fishing in past years may have also been partially responsible for declines in salmon abundance.

Specifically in halibut fisheries, it is likely that salmon are encountered in the commercial and tribal longline halibut fisheries, however, this catch is estimated to be relatively small compared to the salmon population. The Puget Sound tribal commercial fishery reported catch of one salmon in 2012, and salmon catch occurs in halibut recreational fisheries. Estimates of incidental salmon catch in recreational halibut fisheries vary by state due to differences in sampling programs. California had no records of halibut being landed with salmon when the trip was a salmon-targeted trip but does not have records for halibutdirected fishing trips. CDFW staff indicated that the recreational halibut fishery in Northern California occurs in a different area than the recreational salmon fishing areas, and therefore, salmon bycatch in the recreational halibut fishery has likely been minimal. Some salmon bycatch occurs in Washington halibut recreational fisheries, and dockside samplers ask for salmon species information. Bycatch of coho and Chinook salmon was reported by WDFW in the coastal recreational halibut fishery; however, estimates for salmon bycatch in Puget Sound were unavailable. ODFW reported Chinook and coho salmon catch in their recreational halibut fisheries. Salmon may be retained in the halibut recreational fishery in Oregon. There are no data for Washington or Oregon that identify which stocks of coho or Chinook salmon have historically been landed; therefore, there is no way to determine if those fish are ESA-listed or not. Due to the low bycatch rates and because it is unlikely that all of the salmon bycatch is from ESA-listed stocks, impacts to listed salmon species have likely been minor.

Green Sturgeon

NMFS listed the Southern DPS of North American green sturgeon (Southern DPS green sturgeon) as threatened under the ESA in 2006 (71 Fed. Reg. 17757, April 7, 2006). There are at least two DPS however, the northern DPS is not listed under the ESA. The southern DPS consists of populations originating from coastal watershed south of the Eel River, in northern California, with spawning confirmed in the Sacramento River system. Although the geographic distribution of Southern DPS green sturgeon is broad, the available habitat is limited. NMFS identified the reduction of spawning habitat to a limited area of the Sacramento River as the principal factor for the species' decline.

The following information applies to green sturgeon in general. Green sturgeon have a complex anadromous life history. They spend more time in the ocean than any other sturgeon. The majority of green sturgeon are thought to spawn in the Klamath River, but spawning also occurs in the Sacramento and Rogue rivers. First spawning occurs at 15 years for males and 17 years for females. Female green sturgeon are thought to spawn only every 5 years. Adults migrate into rivers to spawn from April to July with a May to June peak. Eggs are spawned among rocky bottom substrates and juveniles spend 1 to 4 years in freshwater. After green sturgeon enter the ocean, they appear to make northern migrations indicated from very limited tag information. Green sturgeon concentrate in coastal estuaries, particularly the Columbia River estuary and coastal Washington estuaries during the late summer and early fall. Neither feeding nor spawning occurs in association with these concentrations, and there is no information about how much of the population is in these concentrations each year or whether this varies. Productivity is likely reduced because of restriction of spawning to one area in the mainstem Sacramento River and continuing impacts to the remaining spawning habitat. The largest factor in the decline of the Southern DPS of green sturgeon is the reduction of spawning area.

Retention of green sturgeon in fisheries is prohibited along the coast, but some incidental catch has occurred. There are no records of green sturgeon catch in the treaty tribal halibut fisheries in Washington

or in the directed non-tribal halibut commercial fishery. There are occasional records of green sturgeon catch in the Washington and Oregon recreational fisheries; however, these catches were minor, 0 to 3 per year, with no encounters occurring in most years. No data are available on the halibut fisheries in California.

Puget Sound rockfish – Canary, yelloweye, and bocaccio

The Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPSs of yelloweye rockfish and canary rockfish are listed under the ESA as threatened, and bocaccio are listed as endangered (75 Fed. Reg. 22276, April 28, 2010). These DPSs include all yelloweye rockfish, canary rockfish, and bocaccio found in waters of Puget Sound, the Strait of Georgia, and the Strait of Juan de Fuca east of Victoria Sill.

Sub-adult and adult yelloweye rockfish, canary rockfish, and bocaccio typically utilize habitats with moderate to extreme steepness, complex bathymetry, and rock and boulder-cobble complexes (Love et al. 2002). Within Puget Sound proper, each species has been documented in areas of high relief rocky and non-rocky substrates such as sand, mud, and other unconsolidated sediments (Miller and Borton 1980; Washington 1977). Yelloweye rockfish remain near the bottom and have small home ranges, while some canary rockfish and bocaccio have larger home ranges, move long distances, and spend time suspended in the water column (Love et al. 2002). Adults of each species are most commonly found between 131 to 820 feet (40 to 250 m) (Love et al. 2002; Orr et al. 2000).

Life history traits of yelloweye rockfish, canary rockfish, and bocaccio suggest generally low levels of inherent productivity because they are long-lived, mature slowly, and have sporadic episodes of successful reproduction (Drake et al. 2010; Tolimieri and Levin 2005).

Despite some limitations of our knowledge of past abundance and specific current viability parameters, characterizing the viability of yelloweye rockfish, canary rockfish, and bocaccio includes their severely reduced abundance from historic times, which in turn hinders productivity and diversity. Spatial structure for each species has also likely been compromised because of the lack of mature fish of each species distributed throughout their historic range within the DPSs (Drake et al. 2010).

The recreational halibut fishery in Puget Sound, the tribal commercial fishery, and the IPHC research survey may interact with Puget Sound listed rockfish.

3.3 Socio-economic Environment

The socio-economic environment section is divided into sub-sections, describing fishery management and fishery sectors for Pacific halibut. Section 3.3.1 provides an overview of fisheries that catch Pacific halibut as either a target species or incidentally. The subsequent sub-sections, 3.3.2 through 3.3.7, describe, respectively, the tribal fishery, the non-tribal commercial fishery, and the sport fisheries along the West Coast.

3.3.1 Pacific Halibut Fishery Overview

The Pacific halibut fishery is managed by the IPHC. The federal governments of Canada and the United States (US) adopt domestic regulations to manage the portions of the fishery in their respective waters. The IPHC, responsible for the health of the Pacific halibut resource, conducts extensive stock assessments to ensure that the health and size of the population is correctly estimated. The IPHC then decides on total removals of Pacific halibut in all management areas off the US and Canada at their annual meeting. Domestic allocations and consequent management measures are the responsibility of the individual

federal governments. For the US in Area 2A, NMFS West Coast Region is responsible for allocation and management with close coordination with the Pacific Fishery Management Council (Council) and the Washington, Oregon, and California state agencies (Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife, and California Department of Fish and Wildlife). The allocation of Pacific halibut within Area 2A is described in the Catch Sharing Plan (Plan) developed by the Council and adopted by NMFS. The allocations in the Plan are described below.

Area 2A Fisheries

The Pacific halibut fisheries in Area 2A are allocated a small percentage, less than 4%, of the overall TAC (Table 3.2). The Plan details allocations within the Area 2A TAC. The Plan allocates 35 percent of the Area 2A TAC to Washington treaty Indian tribes in Subarea 2A-1 and 65 percent to non-Indian fisheries in Area 2A. The allocation to non-treaty fisheries is divided into four shares, with the Washington sport fishery (north of the Columbia River) receiving 36.6 percent, the Oregon sport fishery receiving 30.7 percent, the California sport fishery receiving 1 percent and the commercial fishery receiving 31.7 percent (Figure 3.5). The California allocation is new for



the 2014 fishery. The commercial fishery is further divided into two sectors: a directed (traditional longline) commercial fishery that is allocated 85 percent of the 31.7 percent (26.95 percent of the nontreaty harvest), and an incidental (troll salmon) commercial fishery that is allocated 15 percent of the 31.7 percent (4.75 percent of the non-treaty harvest). The directed commercial fishery in Area 2A is confined to southern Washington (south of Pt. Chehalis, or 46°53'18" N. lat.), Oregon, and California. When the Area 2A TAC is above 900,000 lb, longline vessels participating in the sablefish primary fishery north of Pt. Chehalis, WA, are permitted to retain some amounts of halibut taken incidentally in that fishery. The allocation is the amount that the Washington sport fishery is above 214,100 lbs provided at least 10,000 lbs are available. The Plan also divides the sport fisheries into seven geographic areas, each with separate allocations, seasons, and bag limits. A license from the IPHC is required to participate in the non-treaty commercial Pacific halibut fishery. There are three types of commercial halibut licenses in Area 2A: 1) a direct commercial license, 2) commercial license for incidental halibut catch during the sablefish primary fishery north of Pt. Chehalis, WA and 3) a commercial license for incidental halibut catch during the salmon troll fishery. Fishers may have both a directed commercial license and sablefish fishery/incidental halibut license, but not all three, and the incidental license for the salmon troll fishery may not be combined with any other license for halibut. The number of IPHC licenses issued for Area 2A in recent years are shown in Table 3.5.

The non-treaty directed commercial fishery in Area 2A is confined to south of Point Chehalis, Washington (46°53'18" N. lat.), Oregon, and California. The number of Area 2A licenses issued for the directed commercial fishery have ranged from a low of 147 in 2011 and 2012 to a high of 298 in 2006 (Table 3.5). The directed commercial licenses previously allowed longline vessels to retain halibut caught incidentally north of Point Chehalis during the primary sablefish season when the TAC in Area 2A was above 900,000 lbs. Area 2A licenses issued for the incidental salmon troll fishery have ranged from a low of 132 in 2009 392 in 2005. In Area 2A, 2013 federal regulations permitted the incidental salmon troll fishery to retain 1 halibut (minimum 32" total length) per 3 Chinook, plus 1 extra halibut, with a maximum of 15 incidental halibut landed per trip.

Table 3.2. II	Table 3.2. IPHC TAC for all management areas and Area 2A TAC.									
Year	TAC for all IPHC areas (lb)	Area 2A TAC (lb)	% of Total TAC							
2004	76,505,000	1,480,000	1.93%							
2005	73,820,000	1,330,000	1.80%							
2006	69,860,000	1,380,000	1.97%							
2007	65,170,000	1,340,000	2.06%							
2008	60,400,000	1,220,000	2.01%							
2009	54,080,000	950,000	1.75%							
2010	50,670,000	810,000	1.6%							
2011	41,070,000	910,000	2.22%							
2012	33,450,000	989,000	2.95%							
2013	31,028,000	990,000	3.19%							
2014	27,515,000	960,000	3.5%							

The Plan allocations for all fisheries allocated through the plan from 2004-2014 are shown in Table 3.3. Catches by group for 2004-2013 are shown in Table 3.4.

	0004			0007	0000		0040	0011	0010	0010	
Year	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014
2A TAC	1,480,000	1,330,000	1,380,000	1,340,000	1,220,000	950,000	810,000	910,000	989,000	990,000	960,00
Allocations											
Tribal	543,000	490,500	508,000	494,000	427,000	332,500	283,500	318,500	346,150	346,500	336,00
Tribal C&S	19,400	38,000	36,000	33,000	30,000	29,000	30,428	25,300	24,500	32,200	28,500
Tribal Commercial	523,600	452,500	472,000	461,000	397,000	303,500	253,072	293,200	321,650	314,300	307,50
Nontribal	937,000	839,500	872,000	846,000	793,000	617,500	526,500	591,500	642,850	643,500	624,00
Commercial	297,029	266,122	276,424	268,182	251,381	195,748	166,901	187,506	203,783	203,990	197,80
Directed	252,475	226,203	234,960	227,955	213,674	166,385	141,865	159,380	173,216	173,390	168,13
Incidental Troll	44,554	39,918	41,464	40,227	37,707	29,362	25,035	28,126	30,568	30,600	29,67
Sable Incidental	70,000	70,000	70,000	70,000	70,000	11,895	0	0	21,173	21,410	14,274
WA Sport	272,942	237,257	249,152	239,636	220,238	214,110	192,699	216,489	214,110	214,110	214,11
Puget Sound	76,220	64,800	68,607	65,562	59,354	57,393	50,542	58,155	57,393	57,393	57,393
North Coast	126,857	115,437	119,244	116,199	109,991	108,030	101,179	108,792	108,030	108,030	108,03
South Coast	61,565	50,146	53,952	50,907	44,700	42,739	35,887	43,500	42,739	42,740	42,739
Columbia River	14,241	13,747	21,170	20,378	18,762	15,735	13,436	15,418	11,895	11,895	11,89
OR/CA Sport	297,029	266,122	276,424	268,182	251,381	195,748	166,901	187,506	203,783	203,990	191,56
Central OR	282,178	251,264	254,310	246,727	231,271	180,088	153,548	172,505	191,780	191,979	185,62
Southern OR	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	2,339
South of Humbug	8,911	7,984	8,293	8,045	7,541	5,872	5,007	5,625	6,056	6,063	N/A
California Sport	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	6,240

TRIBAL INDIAN	2004 558.000	2005 489,000	2006	2007 468,400	2008 426.879	2009 333,814	2010 276,390	2011 354,216	2012 387,261	2013 342,003
Commercial	520,000	453,000	476.000	468,400	426.879	303,386	251.090	328,916	355,061	313,503
Ceremonial and Subsistence	38,000	36,000	33,000	,		30,428	25,300	25,300	32,200	28,500
NON-TRIBAL	980,853	822,834	772,049	795,659	759,836	696,093	565,146	594,071	677,199	585,704
COMMERCIAL	357,000	346,000	335,000	294,500	272,236	194,525	161,187	193,883	219,265	215,388
Troll	43,000	42,000	34,000	24,000	16,685	11,310	28,627	25,753	35,255	30,388
Directed	246,000	236,000	236,000	224,500	220,590	177,800	132,560	168,130	179,000	173
Sablefish Incidental	68,000	68,000	65,000	46,000	34,961	5,415	0	0	5,010	12,000
SPORT	623,853	476,834	437,049	501,159	487,600	501,568	403,959	400,188	457,934	363,848
WA Sport	236,629	225,896	227,664	211,070	230,554	265,924	209,612	194,697	225,331	149,941
OR/CA Sport	372,463	235,907	187,666	269,805	239,147	222,906	183,536	194,213	222,059	207,439
WA Inside Waters	49,577	62,370	63,375	45,415	83,304	114,050	71,801	45,856	77,385	95,351
WA North Coast	124,229	108,149	105,805	114,489	106,852	102,782	95,014	103,741	105,479	107,856
WA South Coast	62,823	55,377	58,484	51,166	40,398	39,595	34,554	45,100	42,467	42,085
Columbia River	14,761	15,031	21,719	20,284	17,899	12,738	10,811	11,278	10,544	6,468
Early Season	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	11,266	8,552	8,782	6,499	4,725
Late Season	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	1,472	2,259	2,496	4,045	1,743
OR Central Coast	186,209	235,071	183,689	264,378	225,107	182,960	155,567	170,010	191,535	194,484
Inside 40 fathoms	2,028	5,540	8,419	8,652	11,833	8,227	12,927	24,451	37,413	22,248
Spring (May-June)	145,541	165,238	109,410	133,090	119,656	122,403	112,500	114,752	111,269	145,167
Summer (August- October)	38,640	64,293	65,860	122,636	93,618	52,330	30,140	30,807	42,853	27,069
OR S. of Humbug/CA	45	836	3,977	5,427	14,040	36,704	25,401	24,203	30,524	50,229

Table 3.5. IPHC Lice	Table 3.5. IPHC Licenses issued for Area 2A.									
Year	Directed Fishery ^{1/}	Incidental Catch in Salmon Troll	Charterboat							
2003	260 ^{1/}	323	127							
2004	215 ^{1/}	344	138							
2005	216 ^{1/}	392	148							
2006	298	224	140							
2007	225	292	142							
2008	296	135	139							
2009	238	132	140							
2010	233	233	140							
2011	147	233	140							
2012	147	316	141							
2013	149	332	127							

1/ Includes licenses for vessels retaining halibut caught incidentally in the primary sablefish fishery north of Pt. Chehalis, WA.

3.3.2 Tribal Fisheries

Thirteen western Washington tribes possess treaty fishing rights to halibut, including the four tribes that possess treaty fishing rights to groundfish. The majority of the tribes fish inside Puget Sound. Specific halibut allocations for the treaty Indian tribes began in 1986. The tribes did not harvest their full allocation until 1989, when the tribal fleet had developed to the point that it could harvest the entire Area 2A TAC. In 1993, judicial confirmation of treaty halibut rights occurred and treaty entitlement was established at 50 percent of the harvestable surplus of halibut in the tribes' combined U&A fishing grounds. Tribal allocations are divided into a tribal commercial component and the year-round ceremonial and subsistence (C&S) component. Tribal allocations and catches are shown in Tables 3.4 and 3.5 above. The Tribes manage their allocation jointly based on a management plan.

The tribes' management plan has varied over the years. As an example, in 2013 a sub-TAC of 346,500 lbs (35% of the Area 2A TAC) was allocated to tribal fisheries. The tribes estimated that 32,200 lbs would be used for ceremonial and subsistence (C&S) fisheries and the remaining 314,300 lbs were allocated to the commercial fishery. The tribal management plan contains provisions for both unrestricted fisheries with no landing limits and restricted fisheries with limits as well as a late season fishery or mop-up fishery that can be set up to have no landing limits or with limits, toward the end of the season.

3.3.3 Non-Tribal Commercial Fisheries

The commercial fishery allocations in the Plan have been divided into two components since 1995: a directed commercial fishery (e.g., the traditional longline fishery) and an incidental halibut catch in the salmon troll fishery. The directed commercial fishery is restricted to the area south of Point Chehalis, WA. Table 3.6 below shows the quotas and catches. An allocation for incidental halibut retention in the sablefish fishery comes from the Washington sport allocation and is only available in years when the TAC is above 900,000 lb. Between 2004-2014 only the 2010 and 2011 2A TACs were below that minimum.

Several closed areas limit the geographic area open to the non-tribal commercial fisheries. Since 2003, non-tribal commercial vessels operating in the directed commercial fishery for halibut in Area 2A, including retention of incidental halibut during the sablefish primary fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA, have been required to fish offshore of a mandatory closed area, known as the Rockfish Conservation Area (RCA), which extends along the coast from the U.S./Canada border south to 40°10' N. lat. The large depth-based RCA was implemented to protect certain overfished groundfish species. Salmon troll vessels that fish for salmon inside the RCA may not fish for groundfish or halibut in the RCA. The RCA boundaries are eastern and western boundary lines created by drawing straight lines between a series of latitude/longitude coordinates. Coordinates for the boundaries approximate specific depth contours. The boundaries have not changed since 2012. In 2014, the boundaries are as follows: Between the U.S./Canada border and 40°10' N. lat the western boundary is defined by a line approximating the 100 fm depth contour. The eastern boundary is defined as follows: Between the U.S./Canada border and 46°16' N. lat., the boundary is the shoreline. Between 46°16' N. lat. and 43°00' N. lat, the boundary is the line approximating the 30 fm depth contour. Between 43°00' N. lat and 42°00' N. lat, the boundary is the line approximating the 20 fm depth contour. Between 42°00' N. lat and 40°10' N. lat the boundary is the 20 fm depth contour. Salmon trollers may fish within the RCA and retain halibut caught incidentally, but may not retain most groundfish species caught within the RCA.

Beginning in 2002, participants in the commercial fishery (both incidental in the sablefish primary fishery and salmon troll fishery) voluntarily began fishing outside of the North Coast Recreational Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area (YRCA). Beginning in 2007, participants in the primary sablefish fishery were prohibited from fishing within the North Coast Commercial YRCA, an area that partially overlaps

the North Coast Recreational YRCA. In 2007, participants in the salmon troll fishery were prohibited from fishing within the Salmon Troll YRCA, an area within the North Coast Recreational YRCA. In 2009, the Westport Offshore YRCA was added as a closed area for the recreational halibut fishery in the Washington south coast subarea.

The directed commercial fishery for halibut is a longline fishery with the majority of the landings going into Oregon. This fishery is a derby style fishery and is open for ten hours per open period until the quota is taken or there is not enough quota to open the fishery for one more open period. Because of the effort and TAC over the last 7 years, the fishery has been open 1 to 4 days for the season. The typical gear configuration consists of a "skate," which is made up of a mainline, gangions, and hooks. Typical bait is herring, octopus, salmon, or some combination of the three. The gangions are approximately 3 to 4 feet long with a hook attached to the end. The typical gear is set up with a 1,800-foot skate with 100 size 16/0 hooks at an 18-foot spacing (IPHC 1998). Several skates may be connected depending on a number of factors, including size of the fishing ground and the likelihood of snagging on the bottom (IPHC 1998).

The sablefish primary fishery operates from the US/Canada Border to Southern California. This fishery uses mostly longline gear, with some vessels using pot gear. Halibut retention in the sablefish primary fishery is only allowed North of Pt. Chehalis, Washington and only with permits endorsed for and using longline gear. The primary fishery is open April 1-October 31 of each year. The primary fishery is a quota fishery with each vessel assigned to one of three quota levels or tiers, which allocate a specified amount of sablefish. This fishery is managed by the Council under the Pacific Coast Groundfish Fishery Management Plan.

Salmon are targeted with troll gear off all three West Coast states. The ocean commercial salmon fishery is managed under the Salmon Fishery Management Plan and regulations setting seasons and other management measures are developed by the Council and implemented by NMFS on an annual basis. The Council manages commercial fisheries in the Exclusive Economic Zone (3-200 miles offshore), while the states manage commercial fisheries in state waters (0-3 miles). The West Coast salmon fisheries primarily harvest Chinook or king salmon and coho or silver salmon. Pink salmon are landed in odd-numbered years. The salmon troll fishery has an incidental catch of Pacific halibut and groundfish, including yellowtail rockfish. Halibut are caught incidentally off Washington and Oregon, while groundfish are caught off all three states.

ounds).	Non-tribal commercia		statistics (dressed	a weight in
Year	Fishery	Quota	Catch	Days Open
2004	Directed	252,475	246,000	4
	Incidental – Salmon	44,554	42,798	90
	Incidental – Sable	70,000	67,837	184
2005	Directed	226,203	236,000	4
	Incidental – Salmon	39,918	42,110	99
	Incidental – Sable	70,000	68,013	176
2006	Directed	234,960	236,000	3
	Incidental – Salmon	41,464	34,375	199
	Incidental – Sable	70,000	64,624	184
2007	Directed	227,955	224,515	4

	-			
	Incidental – Salmon	43,667	23,446	199
	Incidental – Sable	70,000	45,780	184
2008	Directed	213,238	22,590	4
	Incidental – Salmon	37,707	18,960	199
	Incidental - Sablefish	70,000	39,728	184
2009	Directed	166,385	177,800	2
	Incidental – Salmon	29,362	11,310	199
	Incidental - Sablefish	11,895	5,415	184
2010	Directed	141,865	132,560	1
	Incidental – Salmon	25,035	28,627	47
	Incidental - Sablefish	n/a	n/a	n/a
2011	Directed	159,380	168,130	2
	Incidental – Salmon	28,126	25,753	166
	Incidental - Sablefish	n/a	n/a	184
2012	Directed	173,216	179,000	2
	Incidental – Salmon	30,568	35,255	64
	Incidental - Sablefish	21,173	5,010	184
2013	Directed	173,390	173,000	2
	Incidental – Salmon	30,600	30,388	102
	Incidental - Sablefish	21,410	12,000	184

3.3.4 Sport Fishery in Washington

Sport fishing for halibut in Washington is divided into four subareas for management and catch allocation purposes: WA Inside Waters (Puget Sound) subarea, WA North Coast subarea, WA South Coast subarea, and Columbia River subarea (which is shared with Oregon). The WA Inside Waters Subarea includes all waters east of the Sekiu River mouth and includes Puget Sound, most of the Strait of Juan De Fuca, the San Juan Islands area, Hood Canal and Admiralty Inlet. The WA North Coast Subarea is the area west of the Sekiu River mouth and north of the Queets River. The WA South Coast Subarea lies to the south of Queets River and north of Leadbetter Point, WA. The Columbia River subarea lies between Leadbetter Point and Cape Falcon, Oregon, and is shared with Oregon. The allocations for this subarea are derived from both the Washington and Oregon sport allocations.

WA Inside Waters (Puget Sound) Subarea

To recreationally catch halibut in Washington inside waters a catch card is required. The number of catch record cards issued is used as the estimate of the number of individuals who fish for halibut in this area. Starting in late 2006 cards that had a place to record halibut landings became optional. From 2006-2011, an average of 352,354 cards were issued that allowed halibut to be reported and an average of 1,598 cards returned with halibut landings recorded. The estimated catch of halibut in this area is shown in Table 3.7. The vast majority of the halibut catch in inside waters is taken by private boat anglers. Most of the Washington inside waters sport catch of halibut is taken in the Strait of Juan de Fuca. In 2002, provisions were added to the Plan to allow the Puget Sound subarea to be divided into two regions with two seasons,

the boundaries of the regions are not specified in the Plan. Since that time, WDFW recommends season dates for the Eastern Region (East of Low Point) and the Western Region (West of Low Point).

Table 3.7	Table 3.7. Seasons, restrictions, and catches of halibut in Washington Inside waters.										
YEAR	SEASON	BAG LIMIT	SIZE LIMIT	DAYS OPEN	QUOTA (lb)	ACTUAL CATCH (lb)					
2003	Eastern Region: 5/8 - 7/18 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	52	63,278	68,300					
	Western Region: 5/22 - 8/1 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	52							
2004	Eastern Region: 5/6 - 7/14 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	50	76,220	49,577					
	Western Region: 5/27 - 8/14 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	58							
2005	Eastern Region: 4/14 – 6/20 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	50	64,800	62,370					
	Western Region: 5/26 – 7/31 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	49							
2006	Eastern Region: 4/9 – 6/18 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	51	68,607	63,376					
	Western Region: 5/25 – 8/5 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	53							
2007	Eastern Region: 4/9 – 6/16 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	49	65,562	45,415					
	Western Region: 5/24 – 8/3 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	52							
2008	Eastern Region: 4/10 – 6/13 (Thur-Mon)	1	none	65	59,354	83,304					
	Western Region: 5/22 – 7/21 (Thur-Mon)	1	none	61							
2009	Eastern Region: 4/23 – 6/5 (Thur-Mon)	1	none	54	57,393	114,050					
	Western Region: 5/21-7/3 (Thur-Mon)	1	none	44							
2010	Eastern Region: 5/1-22 (Thur-Sat) 5/28-30 (Fri-Sun)	1	none	13	50,542	71,801					

Western Region: 5/28-30 (Fri-Sun) 6/3-6/19 (Thur-Sat)	1	none	12		
Eastern Region: 5/5-5/29 (Thur-Sat)	1	none	12	58,155	45,856
Western Region: 5/26-6/18 (Thur-Sat)	1	none	13		
5/29 (Sun)					
Eastern Region: 5/3-5/19 (Thu-Sat)	1	none	17	57,393	77,385
524-5/28 (Thu-Mon) 5/31-6/2 (Thu-Sat)					
Western Region: 5/24-5/28 (Thu-Mon)	1	none	17		
	5/28-30 (Fri-Sun) 6/3-6/19 (Thur-Sat) Eastern Region: 5/5-5/29 (Thur-Sat) Western Region: 5/26-6/18 (Thur-Sat) 5/29 (Sun) Eastern Region: 5/3-5/19 (Thu-Sat) 5/24-5/28 (Thu-Mon) 5/31-6/2 (Thu-Sat) Western Region:	5/28-30 (Fri-Sun) 1 6/3-6/19 (Thur-Sat) 1 Eastern Region: 1 5/5-5/29 (Thur-Sat) 1 Western Region: 1 5/26-6/18 (Thur-Sat) 1 5/29 (Sun) 1 Eastern Region: 1 5/3-5/19 (Thu-Sat) 1 5/3-5/19 (Thu-Sat) 1 5/31-6/2 (Thu-Sat) 1 Western Region: 1 5/24-5/28 (Thu-Mon) 1 5/24-5/28 (Thu-Mon) 1	5/28-30 (Fri-Sun) 1 none 6/3-6/19 (Thur-Sat) 1 none Eastern Region: 1 none 5/5-5/29 (Thur-Sat) 1 none Western Region: 1 none 5/26-6/18 (Thur-Sat) 1 none 5/29 (Sun) 1 none Eastern Region: 1 none 5/3-5/19 (Thu-Sat) 1 none 5/3-5/19 (Thu-Sat) 1 none 5/31-6/2 (Thu-Sat) 1 none 5/24-5/28 (Thu-Mon) 1 none	5/28-30 (Fri-Sun) 1 none 12 6/3-6/19 (Thur-Sat) 1 none 12 Eastern Region: 1 none 12 5/5-5/29 (Thur-Sat) 1 none 12 Western Region: 1 none 13 5/26-6/18 (Thur-Sat) 1 none 13 5/29 (Sun) 1 none 17 5/3-5/19 (Thu-Sat) 1 none 17 5/3-5/19 (Thu-Sat) 1 none 17 5/31-6/2 (Thu-Mon) 1 none 17 5/24-5/28 (Thu-Mon) 1 none 17	5/28-30 (Fri-Sun) 1 none 12 6/3-6/19 (Thur-Sat) 1 none 12 Eastern Region: 1 none 12 5/5-5/29 (Thur-Sat) 1 none 12 Western Region: 1 none 13 5/26-6/18 (Thur-Sat) 1 none 13 5/29 (Sun) 1 none 13 Eastern Region: 1 none 17 5/3-5/19 (Thu-Sat) 1 none 17 5/3-5/28 (Thu-Mon) 1 none 17 5/31-6/2 (Thu-Sat) 1 none 17 Vestern Region: 1 none 17 5/24-5/28 (Thu-Mon) 1 none 17

Figure 3.6. The Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area (YRCA) is a "C"-shaped area closed to recreational halibut and groundfish fishing off Washington's North Coast.

Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area

Washington's	s North Coast.					
2013	Eastern Region:	1	none	12	57,393	95,351
2013	5/2-5/4 & 5/16-5/18	1	none	12	- , , - , - , - , - , - , - , - , - , -	<i>y</i> 5,551
	(Thu-Sat)					
	5/23-5/26 (Thu-Sun)					
	5/30-5/31 (Thu-Fri)					
	Western Region:	1	none	8		
	5/23-5/26 (Thu-Sun)	1	none	0		
	5/30-6/1 (Thu-Sat)					
	6/8 (Sat)					
		~				



In 2002, the halibut "hotspot," an area with high interception of halibut in the sport fishery, was extended roughly 4 miles south. Participants in the halibut sport fishery in IPHC Area 2A reported that waters south of the historic halibut hotspot had a high incidence of yelloweye rockfish interception. Because yelloweye rockfish is an overfished species and its

retention has been prohibited in WA recreational fisheries since 2002, the mandatory closure for the halibut sport fishery in Area 2A was extended to protect yelloweye rockfish. In 2003, this area was adjusted from a rectangular shaped area to an L-shaped area during January and February and to a C-

shaped area for the remainder of the year to further protect yelloweye rockfish. Called the Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area, or YRCA, this C-shaped area off the northern Washington coast is designated as a mandatory closed area to recreational halibut and groundfish fishing and is a designated as a voluntary closure for the limited entry fixed gear sablefish fleet and salmon trollers (Figure 3.6). Starting in 2007, Washington's North Coast sport fishery was managed with both an all-depth and a nearshore fishery. The intent of creating a nearshore fishery was to test a fishery in areas with a lower expected halibut catch rate. Once there was not enough quota remaining to open the all-depth fishery for another day, the nearshore fishery was opened for a few more days. This season structure remained from 2008 to 2013. The Council approved changes for the 2014 fishery that removed the nearshore provisions from the Plan because they were seldom used.

Table 3.8	Table 3.8. Seasons, restrictions, and catches of halibut in the Washington North Coast area.									
YEAR	SEASON	BAG LIMIT	SIZE LIMIT	DAYS OPEN	QUOTA (lb)	ACTUAL CATCH (lb)				
2003	5/1 - 5/17 (Tue - Sat) 5/23 - 5/24 6/18 - 6/21 8/9	1	none	20	113,915	109,738				
2004	5/11 - 5/20 (Tue - Sat) 5/29 6/15 - 6/19	1	none	14	126,857	124,229				
2005	5/10 - 5/18 (Tue - Sat) 6/16, 6/18	1	none	9	115,437	108,149				
2006	5/1 – 5/17 (Sun-Thurs), 5/1 – 5/17 (inshore)	1	none	13 <u>17</u> 17	53,952	58,484				
2007	5/1 – 5/8 (Sun-Thurs), 5/1 – 5/8 (inshore)	1	none	6 <u>6</u> 6	116,199	114,489				
2008	5/1 – 6/17 (Sun, Thurs) 6/23 – 8/30 (nearshore)	1	None	48 70	109,991	106,852				

2009	5/3-5/12 (Sun, Tue) 5/17-6/28(Sun) Nearshore: 5/7-6/27 (Thur-Sat), 7/2-9/27 (Thur-Sun)	1	None	43	108,030	102,782
2010	5-13-5/22 (Thu-Sat) 6/3, 6/5. 6/19	1	None	9	101,179	95,014
2011	5/12-21 (Thu-Sat) 6/2,4,16,30	1	None	10	108,792	103,741
2012	5/10, 12, 17, 19, 31, 6/2, 14	1	None	7	108,030	105,479
2013	5/9, 11, 16, 18	1	None	4	108,030	107,856

WA South Coast Subarea

Beginning in 2007 this subarea was divided into a nearshore and primary fishery with separate allocations. In 2013, the nearshore fishery was allocated 10% of the subarea quota or 2,000 lb whichever is less and was open 7 days per week when the primary fishery is open (Table 3.9). The nearshore fishery operates in waters east of a boundary line approximating the 30 fm depth contour. Recreational fishing for halibut is prohibited within two YRCA's off Washington's southern coast: the South Coast Recreational YRCA and the Westport Offshore YRCA. The Westport YRCA was implemented in 2009 for both the halibut and groundfish fisheries. Recreational groundfish and halibut fishing often share the same closed areas because the fisheries overlap therefore using the same closed areas makes for ease of public understanding, and for ease of enforcement.

Table 3.9	. Seasons, restrictions, and catches	of halibut i	n the Washir	ngton Soutl	h Coast subarea.	
YEAR	SEASON	BAG LIMIT	SIZE LIMIT	DAYS OPEN	QUOTA (lb)	ACTUAL CATCH (lb)
2003	5/1 - 6/26 (Sun-Thurs), 6/27 - 9/30 5/1 - 9/30 (inshore) Total	1	none	41 97 <u>153</u> 153	48,623 <u>available amt.</u> 48,623	43,253
2004	5/2 - 7/3 (Sun-Thurs), 5/2 - 7/3 (inshore) Total	1	none	45 <u>63</u> 63	61,565 <u>available amt.</u> 61,565	62,823
2005	5/1 – 5/30 (Sun-Thurs), 5/1 – 5/30, 7/15-9/30 (inshore) Total	1	none	30 <u>108</u> 108	50,146 <u>available amt.</u> (57,034) ^{3/}	55,546
2006	2006 5/1 – 5/17 (Sun-Thurs), 5/1 – 5/17 (inshore) Total		none	13 <u>17</u> 17	53,952 <u>available amt.</u> 53,952	58,483
2007	5/1 – 5/8 (Sun-Thurs), 5/1 – 5/8 (inshore) Total	1	none	6 <u>6</u> 6	50,907 <u>available amt.</u> 50,907	51,166

2008	5/1 – 6/17 (Sun, Thurs) 6/23 – 8/30 (nearshore)	1	None	48 70	40,230 4,470	40,239 158
	Total				44,700	40,397
2009	5/3-5/12 (Sun, Tue) 5/17-6/28(Sun) Nearshore: 5/7-6/27 (Thur-Sat), 7/2-9/27 (Thur-Sun)	1	None	43	42,739	39,595
2010	5/2-5/23 (Sun & Tue) 5/3-9/30 (Nearshore, 7 days a week)	1	None	158	35,887	34,554
2011	5/1-5/17 (Sun & Tue) 5/3-7/31 (Nearshore, 7 days a week)	1	None	96	46,129	45,100
2012	5/6, 8, 13, 15, 20 5/6-6/8 (Nearshore, 7 days a week)	1	None	36	42,739	42,467
2013	5/5, 7, 12, 14, 19 5/5-5/19 (Nearshore, 7 days a week)	1	None	18	42,740	42,085

3.3.5 Sport Fishery in Columbia River Subarea

This subarea was broken out from the southern Washington subarea in 1995 and includes the area from Leadbetter Point, WA, to Cape Falcon, OR. Table 3.10 shows the catches in this subarea. To date, most of the sport catch in this subarea has been landed in Ilwaco, WA. Between 2002-2004, a minimum size restriction was imposed of 32 in. or greater in length to make the size restriction for this area compatible with those in other subareas in Oregon. In 2005 the minimum size restriction was removed.

Table 3.10). Seasons, restrictions, a	nd catches of	f halibut in th	ne Columbia R	liver subarea.	
YEAR	SEASON	BAG LIMIT	SIZE LIMIT	DAYS OPEN	QUOTA (lb)	ACTUAL CATCH (lb)
2003	5/1 - 9/30	1	32" 1/	153	11,923	10,008
2004	5/1 - 7/25	1	32" 1/	86	14,241	14,761
2005	5/1 - 6/12, 9/15-30	1	none	59	13,747	15,031
2006	5/1 – 5/27 (7 days/wk), 8/4 – 9/3 (Fri-Sun)	1	none	42	21,170	21,720
2007	5/1 – 5/26 (7 days/wk) 8/3 – 8/12, 8/24 - 8/26, 9/1 (Fri-Sun)	1	none	36	20,378	20,601
2008	5/1 – 6/1 (7 days/wk) 8/1, 2, 22, 23, 29	1	None	37	18,762	17,899
2009	5/1-5/29 (Fri-Sun) 8/7-9/27 (Fri-Sun)	1	None	37	15,735	12,738
2010	5/1-6/25 (Thu-Sat) 8/6-9/26 (Fri-Sun)	1	None	48	13,436	10,811

2011	5/5-6/4 (Thu-Sat)	1	None	40	15,418	11,278
	8/5-9/30 (Fri-Sun)					
2012	5/3-7/14 (Thu-Sat)	1	None	60	11,895	10,544
	8/3-9/30 (Fri-Sun)					
2013	5/3-7/28 (Fri-Sun)	1	None	52	11,895	10,152
	8/2-9/30 (Fri-Sun)					
1/ First ha	libut taken of 32" or greater	r in length				

3.3.6 Sport Fishery in Oregon

Sport fishing for halibut in Oregon is divided into three subareas for management and catch allocation purposes: Columbia River subarea (which is shared with Washington), Central Coast subarea, and the new Southern Oregon subarea that was created for the 2014 fishery. Oregon fisheries in the Southern Oregon subarea before 2014 are described in the next section. ODFW has been monitoring the sport halibut fishery since 1987. The data from the ODFW sampling program and history of regulations are shown in Table 3.11. Up until 1989, the entire Oregon coast was managed as a single unit. Beginning in 1989 (and continuing to date), the area north of Cape Falcon was included in the Columbia River subarea. The 1995 long-term revisions of the Plan defined the



major Oregon sport fishery management areas as the Oregon central coast area from Cape Falcon south to the Siuslaw River, and the south coast area from the Siuslaw River to the California border. There were several other changes from 1999 to 2003. Since 2004, there has been one Oregon-only sub-area, the Central Coast, from Cape Falcon to Humbug Mountain. This subarea is divided into a nearshore, spring and summer fishery. The nearshore fishery was previously open 7 days per week from May through October. However, the length of the season has been decreasing in the last several years due to increased effort and the presence of halibut in the area. The nearshore fishery is no longer simply an incidental fishery.

Beginning in 2005, a yelloweye rockfish conservation area (YRCA) near Stonewall Banks was established as an area closed to sport halibut fishing. This area was closed to sport halibut fishing to protect yelloweye rockfish, an overfished groundfish species that is commonly caught with longline gear. However, sport fishing vessels trolling for salmon in this closed area in 2005 were permitted to retain halibut. Beginning in 2006, sport fishing vessels trolling for salmon were no longer permitted to retain halibut caught while fishing in the closed area. In 2007, this area was named the Stonewall Bank YRCA.

Figure 3.7. The Stonewall Bank Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area (YRCA) is closed to recreational halibut fishing off Oregon's Central Coast.

Table 3.11.	Oregon sport seasons, days o	pen, and c	atch.			
YEAR	SEASON	BAG LIMIT	SIZE LIMIT (inches)	TOTAL DAYS OPEN	QUOTA ^{1/} (lb)	ACTUAL CATCH (lb)
2003						
North Central Coast	5/1 - 10/31 (7days/wk) ^{1/} 5/8-10, 5/15-17, 6/19-21 8/1-2, 8/8-9	1 1	$32^{2/}$ $32^{2/}$	184 9	19,797 156,835	1,110 88,385
	8/22-10/18 (Fri-Sat)	1	32 ^{2/}	22	57,660 (125,815) ^{<u>4</u>/}	60,751
South Central Coast	5/8-10, 5/15-17, 6/19-21 ^{3/}	1	32 ^{2/}	9	<u>14,609</u>	<u>14,904</u>
	Total				248,901	165,150
2004	5/1 - 10/31 (7days/wk) ^{5/}	$1(2)^{18/}$	32 ^{2/}	184	22,574	2,022
Central Coast	5/13-15, 5/20-22, 5/27-29, 6/10-12, 6/25-26, 7/10, 7/24 8/6-7, 8/20-21, 9/3-4, 9/17- 18 (Fri-Sat), 9/24-26, 10/1- 3, 10/8-10, 10/15-17, 10/22- 24, 10/29-31 (Fri-Sun)	1	32 ^{2/}	16	194,703	186,209
	Total	1(2) ^{<u>6</u>/}	32 ^{2/}	26	$\frac{(73,395)^{7/}}{282,178}$	<u>38,144</u> 226,375
2005	5/1 - 10/17 (7days/wk) ^{5/}	1	none	170	$(10,101)^{\underline{9}}$	5,540
Central Coast	5/12-14, 5/19-21, 6/2-4, 6/9-11, 6/30-7/2, 7/14-16, 7/28-30 (Thu-Sat) 8/5-7, 8/12-14, 8/19-21, 8/26-28, 9/2-4, 9/9-11,	1	none	21	(165,239) ^{10/}	165,239
	9/16-18, 9/23-25, 9/30-10/2, 10/7-9, 10/14-16, 10/21-23, 10/28-30 (Fri-Sun) ⁷ Total	1	none	39	<u>(69,924)^{8/}</u> (245,264) ^{8/}	64,293 235,071
2006	5/1 – 9/21 (7days/wk) ^{5/}	1	none	144	(10,345) ^{11/}	8,419
Central Coast	5/11-13, 5/18-20, 5/25-27, 6/1-3, 6/8-10, 6/22-24, 7/6-8 (Thu-Sat) 8/4-6, 8/18-20, 9/1-3, (every	1	none	21	(183,690) ^{11/}	183,690
	other week Fri-Sun), 9/8-10,9/15-17(Fri-Sun) ^{24/}	$1(2)^{\underline{12}}$	none	15	<u>(60,275)^{11/}</u>	<u>65,859</u>
	Total				254,310	257,968

Table 3.11.	Oregon sport seasons, days o	pen, and c	atch.			
2007	$5/1 - 9/20 (7 days/wk)^{5/2}$	1	none	143	19,738	8,600
Central Coast	5/10-12, 5/17-19, 5/24-26, 5/31-6/2, 6/7-9, 6/21-23, 7/5-7, 7/19-21 (Thu-Sat) 8/3-5 (every other week Fri-	1	none	24	(133,090) ^{13/}	133,090
	Sun), 8/10-12, 8/17-19, 8/24-26, 8/31-9/2, 9/7-9, 9/14-16 (Fri-Sun) ^{26/}	1(2) ^{<u>14</u>/}	none	21	<u>(93,899)^{13/}</u> 246,727	<u>122,636</u> 264,326
	Total					
2008	$5/1 - 9/28 (7 \text{ days/wk})^{5/2}$	1	None	151	18,502	11,610
Central Coast	5/8-10, 15-17, 22-23, 29-31, 6/12-14, 26-28, 7/10-12, 24- 26	1	None	23	159,557	119,656 ^{28/}
	8/1-3, 8-10. 15-17, 22-24, 29-31	1		15	93,113 ^{<u>16/</u>}	93,619
	9/13, 14, 20, 21	2 <u>15/</u>		4		
	9/27	1		1		
	Total				231,271	224,885
2009	5/1-8/9 (7 days/week) ^{_5/}	1	None	101	14,407	8,227
	5/14-16, 21-23. 28-30, 6/4- 6. 18-20, 7/2-4			18	124,261	122,403
	8/7-9			3	43,278 ^{17/}	52,330
2010	5/1-7/17 (7 days/week) ^{5/}			78	12,284	12,927
	5/13-15, 20-22, 6/3-5			9	105,948	112,500
	8/6-7			2	28,765 ^{18/}	30,140
2011	5/1-7/6, 8/13-10/31 (7 days/week) ^{5/}			147	26,945 ^{19/}	24,451
	5/12-14, 26-28, 6/2-4, 9-11, 23-25			15	115,578	114,752
	8/5-6			2	41,843 ^{19/}	30,807

Table 3.11. Oregon sport seasons, days open, and catch.									
2012	5/1-6/22 (7 days a week), 9/24-10/31 ^{5/}		122	37,800	37,413				
	5/10-12, 17-19, 24-26, 5/31- 6/2, 14-16, 29-30		17	120,821 ^{20/}	111,269				
	8/3-4, 17-18		4	47,639	42,853				
2013	5/2-7-26 (Thu-Sat) ^{5/}		38	23,038	22,248				
	5/9-11, 16-18, 5/30-6/1, 6- 8, 20-22		16	120,947	145,167				
	8/2-3		2	24,565 ^{21/}	27,069				

1/ This season applies to the area inside 30 fathoms.

 $\frac{\hat{2}}{3}$ First halibut taken of 32" or greater in length

- Beginning in 2000, the inside-30-fathom fishery was combined for the North Central and South Central Coast subareas. Catch and number of open days reported under North Central subarea. The balance of halibut remaining from the May all-depth fishery in the North Central and South Central
- subareas, 68,155 lbs, was added to the August all-depth fishery quota of 57,660 lbs to get a revised quota of 125,815 lbs.
- This season applies to the area inside 40 fathoms.
- The bag limit changed from 1 fish to 2 fish per person on 9/22/04.
- The balance of halibut remaining from the Spring all-depth fishery, 8,494 lb, was added to the Summer all-depth fishery quota of 64,901 lb to get a revised quota of 73,395 lb.
- 8/ The balance of halibut remaining from the Spring all-depth fishery, 8,133 lb, plus 10,000 lb from the inside 40-fm fishery, was added to the Summer all-depth fishery quota of 57,791 lb, and then 6,000 lb was transferred to the Columbia River subarea to get a revised Summer all-depth fishery quota of 69,924 lb. Because 6,000 lb was transferred to the Columbia River subarea, the Central Coast subarea quota is reduced from 251,264 lb to 245,264 lb.
- 9/ 10,000 lb of halibut quota was transferred from the original 20,101 lb inside 40-fm fishery quota to the Summer all-depth fishery quota to get a revised quota of 10,101 lb.
- 10/ 8,133 lb of halibut quota was transferred from the original 173,372 lb Spring all-depth fishery quota to the Summer all-depth fishery quota to get a revised quota of 165,239 lb.
- 11/ The Spring all-depth fishery overage of 8,216 lb was deducted from the amount available to the Summer depth fishery, revising the initial quota available to 50,275 lb. On 9/6/06, 10,000 lb was transferred from the Summer allinside 40-fm fishery to the Summer all-depth fishery bringing the revised inside 40-fm quota to 10,345 lb and the revised Summer all-depth quota to 60,275 lb.
- 12/ Beginning 9/8/06, the Summer all-depth fishery opened every Friday-Sunday with a two-fish bag limit because the remaining quota for the combined all-depth and inside 40-fm fishery was 31,267 lb (i.e., greater than 30,000 lb after September 3, as stated in the Plan and regulations).
- 13/ The Spring all-depth fishery was under its quota of 170,242 lb by 37,152 lb. The initial Summer all-depth season quota of 56,747 lb was revised by the 37,152 lb remaining from the Spring fishery. As a result, 93,899 lb was initially available to the Summer all-depth fishery.
- 14/ Beginning 8/10/07, the Summer all-depth fishery opened every Friday-Sunday because the remaining quota for the combined all-depth and inside 40-fm fishery was 94,707 lb (i.e., greater than 60,000 lb after August 5, as stated in the Plan and regulations). Beginning 9/14/07, the Summer all-depth fishery was changed from a onefish to a two-fish bag limit with the intent that the subarea quota be taken by September 30, in accordance with the CSP and regulations.
- 15/ Beginning 9/13/08 the fishery operated under a 2 fish bag limit because the remaining quota was greater than 60,000 after August 5, as stated in the CSP and regulations.
- 16/ The remaining quota of 39,921 was added to the pounds available to the Summer all-depth fishery.
 17/ The initial Summer all-depth season quota of 41,420 lb was revised by the 1,858 lb remaining from the Spring fishery. As a result, 43,278 lb was initially available to the Summer all-depth fishery.
 18/ The original summer quota of 35,316lb was reduced to 28,756lb due to a 6,552 overage in the Spring fishery.
- 19/ The initial Summer all-depth season quota of 43,126 lbs was revised by the 826 lbs underage from the Spring fishery and the 2,108 lbs overage from the early part of the Nearshore fishery. As a result, 41,843 lbs was initially available to the Summer all-depth fishery. The Summer all-depth fishery was open August 5-6 (Friday-Saturday) and resulted in an estimated catch of 30,807 lbs. The fishery was closed on August 7. The remaining 11,037 lbs were added to the nearshore fishery quota resulting in a revised nearshore quote of 24,837 lbs. (the

initial 13,800 lbs. plus the 11,037 from the Summer all-depth rollover). The nearshore fishery is still open at the

- briefing book deadline and is expected to remain open until October 31. The spring all depth underage was allocated 5,000 lbs to the inside 40-fathom fishery and 4,552 to the summer all depth fishery. However, because the final inside 40-fathom fishery landed 4,858 lbs over the revised quota 20/this amount was taken from the summer all depth.
- 21/The nearshore fishery closed with a 790 lb underage which was added to the summer quota, the Spring fishery closed with a 24,220 overage which was subtracted from the Summer quota, leaving 24,565 lb available to the Summer fishery.

3.3.7 Sport Fishery in Southern Oregon (south of Humbug Mountain) and in California

The sport fishery for Pacific halibut in the area south of Humbug Mountain, Oregon and in California is a non-target fishery with incidental catches of Pacific halibut primarily occurring in the Shelter Cove area during groundfish fisheries. Unlike the other sub-areas, the South of Humbug Mt. subarea has had fixed season lengths (May 1-Oct 31, prior to 2004 through Sept 30), regardless of harvest (1999-2013 2A Catch Sharing Plans). Harvests in the South of Humbug Mt. subarea were of little concern to halibut fisheries managers prior to 2011 since reported harvests were minimal relative to the quota (zero lbs. in most years). However, that changed in 2011, because Oregon landings alone exceeded the quota that year (Table 3.12), and fishery managers `became aware of potentially substantial landings in California waters. In response, the Council created a South of Humbug Workgroup and Policy Committee to analyze the fishery and recommend any changes necessary to keep the area within its quota. Based on the advice of both groups the Council recommended several changes to the recreational fishery in the South of Humbug area beginning in 2014 in order to address a pattern of quota exceedances in this subarea. The Council recommendation would split the existing subarea, which includes portions of both southern Oregon and northern California, into two state-specific subareas. This change will allow each state to use the most effective available management tools to keep the catch within their respective quotas. The existing Oregon/California sport fishery allocation of 31.7 percent of the non-tribal allocation would be split into a 1 percent California sport fishery allocation and a 30.7 percent Oregon sport fishery allocation. The new California subarea would be open to fishing from May-July and September-October, with the month of August closed as a quota management measure. The State of Oregon would monitor and manage the Southern Oregon subarea in season to avoid exceeding the quota.

Table 3.12	Table 3.12. South of Humbug, Oregon, and California sport seasons, days open, and catch.								
YEAR	SEASON	BAG LIMIT	SIZE LIMIT (inches)	TOTAL DAYS OPEN	QUOTA (lb)	ACTUAL CATCH (lb)			
2003	5/1 - 9/30 (7 days/wk)	1	32	153	7,860				
2004	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	32	184	8,911	45			
2005	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	7,984	836			
2006	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	8,293	3,977			
2007	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	8,045	5,427			
2008	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	7,541	14,040			
2009	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	5,872	36,704			
2010	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	5,007	25,401			
2011	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	5,625	24,203			
2012	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	6,056	30,254			
2013	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	6,063	50,229			

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES OF THE ALTERNATIVES

This section examines the environmental consequences that could be expected to result from the implementation of each alternative.

Therefore, this section will consider the environmental effects of maintaining the No Action/status quo 2013 Plan and annual management measures and Alternative 2, the continuing implementation of the annual management measures and Plan approximated by applying the 2014 Plan to the range of TACs from 2004-2014.

This section forms the analytic basis for the comparison of issues across the alternatives. The potential of each alternative to affect one or more components of the human environment is discussed in this section; direct and indirect effects of the alternatives are discussed in this analysis. Direct effects are caused by an action and occur at the same time and place as the action, while indirect effects occur later in time and/or further removed in distance from the direct effects (40 CFR 1508.8).

The following items are not included in this analysis because the alternatives do not have an effect on them: ocean and coastal habitats and essential fish habitat, public health or safety, biodiversity and ecosystem function, unique characteristics of the geographic area (e.g., proximity to historic or cultural resources), parklands, prime farmlands, wetlands, wild and scenic rivers, or ecological critical areas, highways, significant cultural, scientific, or historical resources. While the gear used in halibut fisheries does have contact with ocean and coastal habitat and EFH the gear interactions with those habitats are minimal because the fisheries use longline gear, which has limited contact on the ocean floor, are short in duration, limited in geographic scope, and comply with closed areas. The alternatives do not have an effect on the terrestrial resources and unique characteristics because the implementation of the Plan does not impact resources on land. The implementation of the Plan will not affect biodiversity or ecosystem function because the fishery is subject to marine protected areas in state waters and

several types of closed areas in federal waters that help protect vulnerable benthic habitat and protect rockfish, which are bycatch in halibut fisheries. Further, the alternatives will not affect non-target species to a degree that predator –prey relationships are impacted because the bycatch of those species is managed for the sustainability of those species. For example, overfished rockfish bycatch in the halibut fishery is managed through the Council's groundfish process and the bycatch is accounted for in the rebuilding plans, which takes into account the long term sustainability of those species.

To analyze Alternative 2, it is necessary to see the resulting Plan allocations for all subareas given each TAC amount from 2004-2014. Table 4.1 shows the subarea allocations resulting from the TAC amounts from 2004-2014 applied to the 2014 Plan from lowest to highest TAC.

Table 4.1. Alternative 1, 2013 Plan and allocations and Alternative 2 2014 Plan applied to the range of TACs from 2004-2014. For ease of comparison the range of TACs under Alternative 2 have been arranged lowest to highest with the year the TAC was implemented at the top.

	20	13 TAC with 2	2013 05P (Alt T) and Z	014 CSP p				-2014 (All 2)		
	Alternative 1						Alternative	2				
Year	2013	2010	2011	2009	2014	2012	2013	2008	2005	2007	2006	2004
2A TAC	990,000	810,000	910,000	950,000	960,000	989,000	990,000	1,220,000	1,330,000	1,340,000	1,380,000	1,480,000
Allocations												
Tribal	346,500	283,500	318,500	332,500	336,000	346,150	346,500	427,000	465,500	469,000	483,000	518,000
Tribal C&S	32,200	28,500	28,500	28,500	28,500	28,500	28,500	28,500	28,500	28,500	28,500	28,500
Tribal Commercial	314,300	255,000	290,000	304,000	307,500	317,650	318,000	398,500	437,000	440,500	454,500	489,500
Nontribal	643,500	526,500	591,500	617,500	624,000	642,850	643,500	793,000	864,500	871,000	897,000	962,000
Commercial	203,990	166,901	187,506	195,748	197,808	203,783	203,990	251,381	274,047	276,107	284,349	304,954
Directed	173,390	141,865	159,380	166,385	168,137	173,216	173,391	213,674	232,940	234,691	241,697	259,211
Incidental Troll	30,600	25,035	28,126	29,362	29,671	30,568	30,598	37,707	41,107	41,416	42,652	45,743
Sable Incidental	21,410	0	0	11,895	14,274	21,173	21,411	70,000	70,000	70,000	70,000	70,000
WA Sport	214,110	192,699	216,489	214,110	214,110	214,110	214,110	220,238	246,407	248,786	258,302	282,092
Puget Sound	57,393	50,542	58,155	57,393	57,393	57,393	57,393	59,354	67,728	68,490	71,535	79,148
North Coast	108,030	101,179	108,792	108,030	108,030	108,030	108,030	109,991	118,365	119,127	122,172	129,785
South Coast	42,740	35,887	43,500	42,739	42,739	42,739	42,739	44,700	53,074	53,835	56,880	64,493
Columbia River	11,895	10,182	12,085	11,895	11,895	11,895	11,895	12,385	14,479	14,669	15,430	17,334
OR/CA Sport	203,990	161,636	181,591	189,573	191,568	197,355	197,555	243,451	265,402	267,397	275,379	295,334
Central OR	191,979	156,544	175,548	183,625	185,621	191,407	191,607	237,258	258,162	260,062	267,664	286,667
Southern OR	6,063	1,972	2,212	2,314	2,339	2,412	2,414	2,989	3,253	3,277	3,373	3,612
California	N/A	5,265	5,915	6,175	6,240	6,429	6,435	7,930	8,645	8,710	8,970	9,620

2013 TAC with 2013 CSP (Alt 1) and 2014 CSP plan applied to TAC amounts 2004-2014 (Alt 2)

4.1 Physical Impacts of the Alternatives

Physical impacts generally associated with fishery management actions are effects resulting from changes in the physical structure of the benthic environment because of fishing practices (e.g. gear effects and fish processing discards). Although halibut fishing activity affects the physical environment, neither alternative detailed in this EA is expected to have notable or measurable effects on the physical environment, either individually or cumulatively.

Fishing for halibut is only permitted with hook-and-line gear, which may affect habitat by snagging on rocks, corals and other objects during gear retrieval. Line retrieval may upend smaller rocks and break hard corals, while leaving soft corals unaffected. Invertebrates and other lightweight objects may also be dislodged during fishing for halibut (Johnson, 2002).

Beginning in 2003, non-tribal commercial vessels operating in the directed commercial fishery and vessels retaining halibut incidentally caught in the sablefish primary fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA, were required to fish outside of a mandatory closed area, known as the Rockfish Conservation Area (RCA), that extends along the coast from the U.S./Canada border south to 40°10' N.lat. This closed area will continue under either alternative. Therefore, the RCA will continue to provide protection to overfished species habitat because it restricts the use of gear that may cause damage to habitat. Several new closed areas have been created since the first longterm Plan was implemented in 1995, and it is anticipated that more could be created to address any new overfished species or to address protection of listed rockfish in Puget Sound. If new closed areas are implemented, the effects of hook-and-line gear on habitat within the newly closed area will decrease because fishing would not occur in those areas, decreasing the gear interactions with habitat. Although the effects of longline (or any prohibited gear) gear on habitat outside of the closed area should increase as fishing would be concentrated in those areas, the shift in fishing effort will be dispersed throughout the remaining open areas. However, this fishing dispersement may not be as effective if the future closed areas as so large or are in prime fishing locations such that the remaining fishing areas are decreased or not in areas where fishing is likely to occur.

Because both the directed commercial and tribal commercial fisheries are short in duration, limited in geographic scope, and because the directed commercial, and incidental sablefish and salmon troll fisheries (if retaining halibut) must comply with closed areas, impacts to the physical environment will be minimal and any impacts have been minimized to the extent practicable. The directed commercial fishery has been open 1-4 days in the last 5 years and the tribal commercial fishery has been steadily decreasing the number of open days over the last 5 years and was open only 4 days in 2013.

There is no meaningful difference between the physical effects of the two alternatives. At the lower end of the range in Alternative 2, the Plan allocations and resulting number of fishing days for the commercial, recreational, and tribal, fisheries would be less than at the higher end of the range. However, because the differences in the Plan allocations between Alternative 1 and Alternative 2 are not substantially different there would no change to general fishing practices, gears used in any of the fisheries, and the impacts to the physical environment.

4.2 Biological Impacts of the Alternatives

The biological impacts generally associated with fishery management actions are effects resulting from: 1) harvest of fish stocks that may result in changes in food availability to predators, changes in population structure of target fish stocks, and changes in community structure; 2) entanglement and/or entrapment of non-target organisms in active or inactive fishing gear; and 3) major shifts in the abundance and composition of the marine community as a result of fishing pressure.

In this section, the alternatives are examined for their potential effects on the biological environment. The primary areas where implementation of the Plan and the annual management measures affect the environment are the effects of shifting allowable halibut fishing areas and the speed at which halibut quotas are attained on: 1) the portion of the Pacific halibut stock occurring in Area 2A; 2) overfished groundfish stocks, particularly yelloweye and canary rockfish; 3) threatened and endangered species; and 4) seabirds.

Table 4.2 Effects of t	Table 4.2 Effects of the Alternatives on the Biological Environment								
	Effects on Area 2A Pacific Halibut	Effects on Yelloweye and/or Canary Rockfish on the WA, OR, CA coast	Effects on Threatened and Endangered Species in Area 2A (marine mammals, Puget Sound rockfish, green sturgeon, sea turtles)	Effects on Seabirds					
Alternative 1 (Status quo/No Action) Maintain 2013 Plan, resulting allocations, and management measures.	Distribution of halibut catch within Area 2A does not have a meaningful effect on the overall halibut population because Area 2A is at the southern end of the range of Pacific halibut and TAC for Area 2A is a very small proportion of the coastwide TAC. Also, there are no halibut spawning or nursery grounds in Area 2A.	Recreational fishing for groundfish would continue to be prohibited in closed areas. Retention of yelloweye and canary rockfish would continue to be prohibited coastwide. Bycatch of yelloweye and canary in the halibut fishery is taken into account through the implementation of the 2013-2014 groundfish regulations, consistent with rebuilding plans, which take into account the long term rebuilding of the species.	Status quo fishery is not expected to have a significant effect on marine mammals, sea turtles, and salmon. Status quo fishery may negatively impact Puget sound rockfish, Puget Sound and lower Columbia River Chinook, and green sturgeon since these are bycatch in the fishery.	Status quo would not alter the intensity of halibut fishing or the effects of the halibut fishery on seabirds. Seabirds may be impacted by longline gear, however, no seabird interactions have been reported in halibut fisheries.					
Alternative 2 Continuing implementation of the Plan, examining a range of TACs from 2004-2014 with 2014 Plan applied.	Subarea quotas would be smaller or larger than for status quo depending on the Area 2A TAC, correspondingly, seasons and catch of halibut in subareas would be smaller or larger. Catch off California coast will likely be somewhat lower than in past years due to the August closure, but will likely be closer to the subarea quota than in past years. In terms of the status and health of the overall Pacific halibut population, no appreciable difference from Alternative 1.	No measureable difference from Alternative 1. If new conservation areas are designated for the protection of any species, overfished or listed, they would be implemented reducing the effects on those species.	No measureable difference from Alternative 1 because impacts from TAC and Plan/allocation changes are not substantially different from 2013 impacts	No measureable difference from Alternative 1 because impacts from TAC and Plan/allocation changes are not substantially different from 2013 impacts					

4.2.1 Alternative 1 and Alternative 2

Effects of the Alternatives on the Halibut Population within Area 2A

The halibut population in Area 2A is a small portion of the overall halibut stock off northern North America. Annual halibut harvest amounts are set by the IPHC, which has a long history of conservative halibut management and the Plan is implemented in accordance with those harvest amounts. Area 2A halibut are thought to be adults who have migrated from more northern spawning and nursery grounds. Because the halibut population in Area 2A is mostly adults who are not spawning in the area, fishing in Area 2A, within the amount of the Area 2A TAC set by the IPHC, has little effect on the overall population. This means there is little difference to the overall halibut population due to fishing effort changes in Area 2A subareas between Alternative 1 and Alternative 2.

The Plans subarea allocations and resulting number of fishing days and intensity of fishing varies with the amount of the annual TAC. As described above, the TAC is set by the IPHC and is not part of the proposed action. The subarea allocations described under Alternative 2 are intended to capture the potential range of allocations within Area 2A that are likely to occur over the next several years with the continued implementation of the Plan (Table 4.1). The subarea allocations at the low end of range would allow for less fishing days than allocations at the higher end of the range. However, the difference in the number of open days would have little or no impact on the halibut stock because the allocations would be managed consistent with the overall TAC, which is a sustainable harvest level for the entire stock. Halibut retention in the sablefish primary fishery is allowed only when Area 2A TAC is at least 900,000 lbs; this opportunity would be allowed in 2 of the 10 TAC levels considered under Alternative 2. In those years, halibut caught in the sable fish primary fishery would have to be discarded rather than landed. Prohibition of retention does not substantially decrease the catch of halibut in the sablefish primary fishery because halibut are still encountered; it simply restricts the ability to land the halibut that are caught. The current discard mortality rate for halibut used by the NMFS Northwest Fisheries Science Center is 16% (Jannot et al 2013) for the longline sablefish primary fishery. This mortality rate applies every year regardless of whether there is a Plan allocation for this fishery. Halibut and sablefish co-occur, and fishing intensity may be greater when retention of halibut is allowed. However, because the Plan would continue to allocate halibut using the most recent TAC, the halibut resource would not be negatively impacted by the continued implementation of the Plan. Neither alternative will have any effect on the amount of halibut taken in Area 2A, as they do not affect the amount of the TAC. While the allocations to the subareas are slightly different under the two alternatives, their effects on the halibut population are expected to be very similar. Halibut in Area 2A are very mobile therefore differences in the distribution of the catch within Area 2A are not expected to have different effects on the halibut population.

Effects of the Alternatives on Overfished Yelloweye and Canary Rockfish Stocks along the coast

On September 21, 2004 (69 FR 56550), NMFS published a proposed rule to implement the Pacific coast groundfish harvest specifications and management measures for 2005-2006. This rule implemented large depth-based closures along the coast to protect rockfish called Rockfish Conservation Areas (RCA). Different RCAs apply to the commercial and recreational groundfish fisheries and are also used by halibut fisheries. The commercial halibut fishery must comply with the commercial RCA used in the groundfish commercial fishery. The recreational halibut fishery must comply with the same recreational Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Areas (YRCA) used in the recreational groundfish fisheries in each state. However, the recreational halibut fishery does not use the groundfish recreational RCA that runs along the coast because state regulations

allow halibut fishing within the boundaries of the groundfish recreational RCA. Finally, the taking and retaining of canary and yelloweye rockfish is prohibited in the recreational halibut fishery coastwide.

Under Alternative 1, recreational halibut fisheries would be prohibited from taking and retaining yelloweye and canary rockfish along the coast. Alternative 1 would neither increase nor decrease opportunities for canary and/or yelloweye rockfish interception and discard over interception rates expected from implementing the halibut regulations. The RCA would continue to protect rockfish along the coast, including canary and yelloweye and other overfished groundfish species, from commercial halibut fisheries interception in depths where they commonly occur. Under Alternative 2, recreational fishing for halibut would be as described for Alternative 1.

Under Alternative 2, at the higher end of the TAC range, more fishing days would be permitted than at the lower end of the range because the change in subarea allocations. Lower allocations could allow halibut anglers to achieve their halibut quota at a faster rate. If the halibut quota is attained at a faster rate, anglers may spend less time operating in waters where overfished groundfish species are vulnerable to incidental catch in the halibut fishery. Thus, there may be some modest reduction in incidental yelloweye and canary rockfish catch at the lower subarea allocations under Alternative 2 if the Area 2A TAC is at the lower end of the range in one or more of the years covered by the proposed action.

Neither alternative is expected to have much, if any, effect on groundfish species, including yelloweye and canary rockfish, because in addition to prohibiting retention of these species and complying with closed areas, bycatch of these species in halibut fisheries is managed consistent with the groundfish FMP, rebuilding plans for the overfished species, and the species specific Annual Catch Limit (ACL). Therefore, while the number of fishing days for the halibut fishery may change according to the Plan under different allocation amounts, any impacts on groundfish would be taken into account through the groundfish management process and would be within the parameters of the applicable rebuilding plans and ACLs for the rockfish species impacted.

Effects of the Alternatives on Threatened and Endangered Species

Sea turtles, eulachon, marine mammals

Green sea turtles, loggerhead sea turtles, and olive ridley sea turtles rarely occur in the Area 2A and therefore are not likely to be encountered by halibut fishing. In the eastern North Pacific, green sea turtles commonly occur off the southwest coast of the U.S., which is further south than halibut fisheries generally operate. Recreational fishing for halibut operates as far south as northern California, the commercial fishery operates mainly in Oregon, and tribal commercial fisheries operate only in Washington. Leatherback sea turtles occur north of central California during the summer and fall, but there are no records of interactions with halibut fisheries.

While eulachon are found in areas where halibut fishing occurs, they are primarily impacted by trawl gear which is not a gear used in any halibut fisheries along the coast and no bycatch of eulachon has been reported in the halibut fisheries, therefore no impacts are anticipated to eulachon from halibut fisheries.

The marine mammals discussed here occur along the coast, but no interactions between vessels operating in the directed commercial, tribal, or recreational fishery have been reported. Because the directed commercial fishery uses longline gear with which there are no records of marine mammal interaction and has been open for only 1-4 days per year for the last several years, no effects are expected to marine mammals. Similarly, the tribal fishery open days have been

decreasing over the last 5 years with the fishery being open 5 days in 2013. Based on bycatch records, there are no documented interactions of marine mammals or sea turtles with vessels or gear from the halibut fishery.

There is no meaningful difference between the effects to listed species of the two alternatives. Neither alternative is expected to have any measureable effect on listed marine mammals, eulachon, or sea turtles because the vessel traffic, fishing effort, gear presence, and schedule of the halibut fishery is anticipated to continue under either alternative similarly to past levels over the broad expanse of the West Coast and inland waters of Washington.

Green sturgeon

Uncertainty exists regarding the number of green sturgeon captured in the Pacific halibut fisheries in the past, because consistent methods of monitoring green sturgeon catch have not been implemented in most of the fisheries. Bycatch monitoring for green sturgeon has varied by fishery sector and area, but it has been the most consistent in the recreational fisheries. The available data show occasional encounters of 1 to 3 green sturgeon a year (ODFW pers. comm), with no green sturgeon encounters in most years. All of the documented encounters were in the recreational fishery. It is uncertain at this time if catches of green sturgeon occurred in the tribal fisheries and the non-treaty directed commercial fishery because of a lack of encounters or a lack of consistent monitoring for green sturgeon encounters. However, based on the gear types used in the fisheries (e.g., longline, troll, hook-and-line), the limited spatial overlap with green sturgeon, and the limited fishing seasons, we would expect bycatch of green sturgeon encounters in these fisheries to be similar to or less than what has been recorded for the recreational fisheries. As Alternative 1 is the 2013 status quo fishery, impacts to green sturgeon under Alternative 1 would be expected to be the same as these past levels.

Under Alternative 2, the higher allocations at higher potential TAC levels would result in more fishing days than at the lower allocations. Lower allocations could allow halibut anglers to achieve their halibut quota at a faster rate. If the halibut quota is attained at a faster rate, anglers may spend less time operating in waters where green sturgeon occur and are vulnerable to incidental catch in the halibut fishery. Thus, there may be some modest reduction in incidental green sturgeon catch at the lower end of the range under Alternative 2. However, the range of allocations described under Alternative 2 is not significantly different from the range of allocations that has occurred during the time when past bycatch monitoring has occurred; therefore, the impact on green sturgeon is not expected to be significantly different from that described above under either alternative.

Puget Sound rockfish

The sport and tribal fisheries in Puget Sound impact Puget Sound yelloweye, canary, and bocaccio rockfish. The recreational and non-treaty directed commercial fisheries on the coast will not have an effect on these species because they do not operate in the area where these species reside and therefore, interactions between these species and any fisheries operating on the coast is unlikely.

Halibut recreational fishing uses gear and bait that catch yelloweye and canary rockfish and bocaccio. Historically, many anglers would target halibut and rockfish at the same time, however, current regulations prohibit retention of yelloweye and canary coastwide in the halibut fishery, and bocaccio is prohibited in the halibut sport fishery in Washington. Even though retention is not allowed some unintentional catch may occur. WDFW has estimated that anglers targeting halibut have caught some yelloweye and canary rockfish. There is some uncertainty regarding these estimates because they are based on dockside interviews with a subset of

fishermen and does not include anglers whose trips originated from a marina. Additionally, identification of rockfish by species is poor with only 5 percent of anglers able to identify bocaccio, 12 percent able to identify canary, and 31 percent able to identify yelloweye (Sawchuck 2012). WDFW estimates that between 2003 and 2013, 0 to 7 yelloweye were caught, 0 to 5 canary, and 0 bocaccio were caught. Washington state regulations require all rockfish be released however the mortality rate of released rockfish is relatively high. WDFW estimates that listed rockfish bycatch from anglers targeting halibut is low relative to fishers target salmon or bottomfish due to the short halibut season.

There has been little systematic bycatch data recording in the tribal halibut fisheries. However, given the fishing gear, timing, and areas fished it is anticipated that these species may be encountered by the tribal fishery in Puget Sound. Yelloweye rockfish are primarily associated with the bottom, which makes them susceptible to longline baits compared to some other rockfish species, such as canary rockfish and bocaccio. Canary rockfish are semi-pelagic rockfish, meaning that some fish spend time suspended in the water column and can move long distances. These factors likely make them less susceptible to longline baits that are deployed at or very near the bottom. Bocaccio are semi-pelagic rockfish, meaning they can spend time suspended in the water column and also move long distances. These factors likely make them less susceptible to longline baits that are deployed at or very near the bottom.

Under Alternative 2, the higher allocations under the higher TACs in the range would likely result in more fishing days than at the lower allocations. Lower allocations could allow halibut anglers to achieve their halibut quota at a faster rate. If the halibut quota is attained at a faster rate, anglers may spend less time operating in waters where ESA-listed groundfish species are vulnerable to incidental catch in the halibut fishery. Thus, there may be some modest reduction in incidental yelloweye and canary rockfish catch at the lower end of the range under Alternative 2.

The Plan allocates a portion of the 2A TAC to the tribes, but any further management is based on a tribal agreement that is outside of the Plan. Under both alternatives, vessel traffic, fishing effort, gear presence, and schedule of the halibut fishery is anticipated to continue similar to past levels over the broad expanse of the West Coast and inland waters of Washington and therefore, the effects from Alternative 1 are similar to past effects and the effects of Alternative 2. Bycatch estimates for the 3 listed species were very low compared to the populations and would have a small impact on each species' abundance.

Canary were determined to be less susceptible to longline baits set at or near the bottom because of their semi-pelagic life history. Yelloweye rockfish were determined to be consistently caught in previous Canadian and WDFW research surveys; however, they have been rarely caught in the most recent surveys. Yelloweye are primarily associated with the bottom, which makes them susceptible to longline baits compared to canary and bocaccio. No bycatch of bocaccio was reported in the Canadian and WDFW surveys conducted in Puget Sound. Bocaccio are semi-pelagic making them less susceptible to longline baits deployed at or near the bottom. Given each species susceptibility and bycatch estimates, the halibut fishery would have a small impact on each species' abundance.

Salmon

Halibut bottom longline gear rarely catches salmonids (NMFS, 1999). Therefore, neither of the alternatives is expected to have any measurable effects on threatened or endangered salmon stocks. All 5 species of salmon off the Pacific coast, Chinook, coho, chum, pink, and sockeye occur in Area 2A. Neither alternative provides for changes in halibut fishing gear or in the

intensity of the non-treaty commercial, tribal, or recreational fisheries. The timing of any fisheries that encounter salmon is also not expected to measurably change under either alternative.

The salmon troll fishery has an allocation for incidental harvest of halibut that is anticipated to continue under either alternative and any impacts to listed salmon species from that fishery are covered under the BiOps for the salmon fishery. The allocation of halibut to the salmon troll fishery does not have an effect on any salmon stocks because changes in the allocation of halibut to this fishery do not affect fishing effort for salmon only the amount of incidental halibut that may be retained. Any listed salmon that are caught in the salmon troll fishery are managed through the Council's salmon management process and would not be affected by the continued implementation of the Plan.

Salmon are much more far-ranging than rockfish; thus, they are less likely to be affected by minor shifts in areas of fishing effort concentration that would occur across the range of Plan allocations. Similar to halibut, salmon will be protected from harvest while they are migrating through the Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Areas along the coast but will become available to harvest as soon as they leave that area.

Effects of the Alternatives on Seabirds

No formal analysis has been conducted on the halibut fishery and interactions with sea birds. However, the US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) completed a Biological Opinion on the groundfish fishery on the West Coast and due to the similarities between halibut fisheries and groundfish fisheries we use some of the analysis from that BiOp here to discuss possible impacts of the halibut fishery on seabirds.

ESA-listed endangered seabirds that co-occur in Area 2A include short-tailed albatross (Phoebastria albatrus), California least tern (Sterna antillarum browni), and Marbled murrelet (Brachyramphus marmoratus), but of those, only short-tailed albatross is known to interact with the groundfish fishery (USFWS 2012). For that reason, the remainder of this discussion is devoted to short-tailed albatross. The US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) issued a Biological Opinion on the Pacific Coast groundfish fishery and its impacts on seabirds and terrestrial listed species managed by USFWS (USFWS 2012). This BiOp concluded that the impacts of the groundfish fishery on albatross are relatively low. This BiOp evaluated longline and trawl groundfish gear, however trawl gear is not used in the halibut fishery. Given that the commercial and tribal halibut fisheries use similar gear and operate in similar areas to the longline groundfish fishery but with much shorter seasons, the impacts to albatross from the halibut fishery is most likely less than impacts from the groundfish fishery. Additionally, under either Alternative impacts to seabirds are most likely very low because even at the upper end of the Alternative 2 TAC range the commercial and tribal fisheries would be less intense than the groundfish fishery that use longline gear. It is anticipated that with continued implementation of the Catch Sharing Plan halibut fishery will continue to operate in the areas it previously and currently operates in and with similar gear and timing. There have been no seabird interactions reported in the halibut fishery. Therefore, because neither alternative alters the intensity of the recreational or commercial halibut fisheries, and because the impacts will be less than the minor impacts associated with the groundfish fishery, the continued implementation of the Plan will have little effect on seabirds.

4.3 Socio-Economic Impacts of the Alternatives

The socio-economic impacts generally associated with fishery management actions are effects resulting from: 1) changes in harvest availability and processing opportunities that may result in unstable income opportunities; 2) changes to access privileges associated with license limitation and individual quota systems; 3) fishing season timing or structure restrictions that may improve or reduce the safety of fishing activity; and 4) fishing season timing or structure restrictions that may or may not take into account the social and cultural needs of fishery participants. Of these elements, proposed revisions to the Plan under Alternative 1 and the range of changes seen under Alternative 2 and implementing halibut regulations would not affect access privileges, fishery participant safety, and socio-cultural needs of participants. Effects resulting from changes in harvest availability and processing opportunities are discussed below.

In this section, the range of Plan allocations under Alternative 2 and the continued implementation of the Plan and annual management measures are examined for their potential socio-economic effects. The primary areas where the allocations and Plan revisions could affect fishing industries and communities are: 1) on harvest and income opportunities and 2) on the costs to vessels participating in the fishery. In addition to these industry and community effects, alternative Plan revisions could affect the management of the fishery and enforcement of regulatory measures. Table 4.2 details these effects in a matrix format.

Table 4.2 Effects of the Alternatives on the Socio-Economic Environment								
	Effects on Harvest and Income Opportunities	Effects on Cost of Participating in Fishery	Effects on Management and Enforcement					
Alternative 1 (Status quo/No Action) Maintain 2013 Plan, resulting allocations, and management measures.	None. This alternative has been in place since 2013; harvest and income opportunities would not change.	None. This alternative has been in place since 2013; cost to participants would not change.	None. This alternative has been in place since 2013; effects on management and enforcement would not change.					
Alternative 2 Continuing implementation of the Plan and annual management measures, examining a range of TACs from 2004-2014.	Not substantially different than Alternative 1. At lower allocations, income and harvest opportunities would be slightly reduced compared to the higher end of the range. The Plan changes over this time have a slight effect on harvest income but are marginal compared to any changes in TAC.	Cost to fishery participants of materials, fuel, etc. could be slightly different than under Alternative 1. At higher allocations, it would be marginally more costly to participate than Alt. 1 because more fishing days would be allowed, increasing operating costs. Costs would be marginally less at lower allocations.	Not substantially different from Alternative 1 because Plan changes and the range of allocations would not require change from Status Quo in enforcement or management.					

4.3.1 Alternative 1 and Alternative 2

Effects on Fishery Participant Harvest and Income Opportunities

In 2013, 608 vessels were issued IPHC licenses to retain halibut. IPHC issues licenses for the directed commercial fishery in Area 2A (149 licenses in 2013); incidental halibut caught in the salmon troll fishery (332 licenses in 2013); and the charterboat fleet (127 licenses in 2013). No vessel may participate in more than one of these three fisheries per year.
The number of charterboats in Northern California, Oregon, and Washington that were involved in groundfish trips including halibut during 2010 was 161 (NMFS 2012). Of the 161 charterboat vessels, 89 vessels fished in either the Columbia River or Central Oregon fisheries. This suggests that 60 percent of the IPHC charterboat license holders may have been affected by the 2013 regulations.

In 2010, charterboat vessels undertook about 5500 directed halibut trips. The highest charterboat rate found on the internet was \$285 per angler trip. Using this rate suggests that charterboat halibut rate revenues were on the order of \$1.6 million. This estimate does not include revenues associated with halibut caught in conjunction with salmon, bottomfish, or other recreational trips. According to Pacific Marine Fisheries Commission PacFIN data, commercial vessels including tribal vessels landed halibut with a value of \$7.1 million. 2013 data, essentially complete through November 2013, shows commercial landings, worth \$5.9 million.

Alternative 1 has been in place since 2013. Therefore, there would be no change in the effects on fishery participant harvest or income opportunities.

Under Alternative 2, the impact to harvest and income opportunities comes from changes in the allocation. The Plan changes implemented each year are not substantially different from year to year and therefore, have little effect on harvest and income opportunities. Annual subarea allocations under Alternative 2 that are greater than Alternative 1 would provide more harvest and income opportunities, while lower allocations would provide slightly less harvest and income opportunities. Again, the subarea allocations would vary because of the amount of the Area 2A TAC, which is not part of this action.

The major effect of halibut management on small entities will be from the TAC decisions made by IPHC, as stated above this is not part of the proposed action. As discussed above, changes that are anticipated under Alternative 2 are very minor, as has been the case in the past several years, and such changes are not expected to result in more than minor changes to the effects of implementation on the Plan on small entities. There are no large entities involved in the halibut fisheries; therefore, implementation of the Plan will not have a disproportionate negative effect on small entities versus large entities.

Effects on Cost of Participating in the Fishery

Alternative 1 (No Action) is the Plan and implementing regulations in place in 2013. The costs of operating in the fishery include crew (if used), materials, fuel, and any fees paid to a processor. The IPHC licenses required to participate in halibut fisheries are free and are anticipated to remain this way.

Cost to fishery participants of crew, materials, fuel, etc. could be slightly different under some of the allocations under Alternative 2 compared to Alternative 1. At the higher end of the range, it would be marginally more costly to participate than under Alternative 1 because more fishing days would be allowed, increasing operating costs. Costs at the lower end of the range would be marginally less than Alternative 1 because the TAC under Alternative 1 (990,000 lbs, Alt 1) is only slightly higher than the lowest TAC of the range (810,000 lbs) (Table 4.1).

Effects on Management and Enforcement

Alternative 1 and Alternative 2 both involve implementing the Plan through annual regulations that NMFS adopts through the rulemaking process. Alternative 2 is intended to include minor

changes to the Plan, which could include minor changes to management measures. The halibut regulations for Area 2A are enforced by federal and state enforcement personnel, and this would continue to occur regardless of the alternatives selected.

4.4 Cumulative Effects

A cumulative effects analysis is required by the Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ) (40 CFR part 1508.7). The purpose of a cumulative effects analysis is to consider the combined effects of many actions on the human environment over time that would be missed if each action were evaluated separately. CEQ guidelines recognize that it is not practical to analyze the cumulative effects of an action from every conceivable perspective, but rather, the intent is to focus on those effects that are truly meaningful. A formal cumulative impact assessment is not necessarily required as part of an EA under NEPA as long as the significance of cumulative impacts has been considered (U.S. EPA 1999). The following addresses the significance of the expected cumulative impacts as they relate to the halibut fishery.

In Chapter 3 (Description of the Affected Environment), the resources affected by the proposed action are identified and are carried forward here for the cumulative effects analysis. Those resources are:

- Physical environment
- Biological Environment, including:
 - Pacific halibut
 - o Sablefish
 - Yelloweye and canary rockfish
 - Threatened and endangered species
 - o Seabirds
- Socioeconomic Environment

4.4.1 Geographical and Temporal Boundaries

The analysis of impacts focuses on the annual implementation of the Plan in Area 2A. The core geographic scope for each of the resources is Area 2A which includes the state coastal and Federal waters off Washington, Oregon, and California. For socioeconomic issues, the core geographic boundaries are defined as those fishing communities directly involved in the harvest or processing of the managed resources, which occur in Washington, Oregon, and California.

The temporal scope of past and present actions for the potentially affected resources is focused on actions that have occurred after the implementation of the Plan, focusing on the 2014-2016 timeframe. The temporal scope of future actions for all affected resources extends into the foreseeable future up to 10 years.

4.4.2 Actions Other than the Proposed Action

4.4.2.1 Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Future Actions

Fishery-related Actions

The management of the annual halibut Area 2A TAC through the Plan has resulted in the sustainable management of halibut and other affected species. To the degree with which this regulatory regime is effectively implemented, the cumulative impacts of past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future Federal fishery management actions on the affected resources should generally be associated with sustainable long-term outcomes.

The past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions include the annual review of the Plan by Washington, Oregon, California, and tribal managers, and minor changes to the Plan. Each year since the Plan was implemented in 1995, there have been minor changes to respond to the needs of the fisheries. This review and implementation process is anticipated to continue into the foreseeable future.

The IPHC conducts an annual stock assessment survey to assess the health of the halibut stock in all its regulatory areas. This survey provides the IPHC with the necessary information to conduct stock assessments and aid in the sustainable management of halibut along the coast from California to Alaska. It is anticipated that this survey will continue.

Of the past, proposed, and reasonably foreseeable future actions that are expected to also affect Area 2A, the most notable is any action that would substantially change the allocations in the Plan. The Council does not have anything scheduled on this topic. However, given recent increases in halibut catches in some areas the Council could examine changes to the Plan in the future. More than minor changes to the Plan are not included in the Alternatives considered here, and would likely require additional NEPA analysis.

Further, action to implement Pacific Coast groundfish fishery management measures occur every other year. Although halibut is not included in the Pacific Coast groundfish complex for management purposes, it has a life history similar to other large flatfish managed within this complex and is caught as bycatch in commercial and recreational groundfish fisheries. Fishing for halibut, both commercial and recreational, occurs in the same waters and affects the same habitats as fishing for Pacific Coast groundfish. The effects of the 2013-2014 groundfish specifications and management measures have been described and analyzed by Council staff in an Environmental Impact Statement, September 2012 (PFMC 2012). Actions considered in this EA on Pacific halibut management are not expected to have effects on the environment that, when considered in combination with groundfish specifications and management measures, measurably alter the effects of the groundfish specifications and management measures. The preferred alternative is intended to minimize the direct and incidental take of groundfish in the recreational fishery for halibut, while allowing anglers access to the annual halibut quota.

PFMC and NMFS continue to work together on various actions. All of these actions are expected to increase benefits from the fishery and are not expected to appreciably interact with the action considered here, except as noted in the following list. Details on trawl actions are available on the PFMC website (http://www.pcouncil.org/groundfish/fishery-management-plan/trailing-actions/). The main actions are as follows:

Gear Issues (under PFMC consideration, deliberations delayed) -- Gear issues include multiple gears on a trip, gear modifications to increase efficiency, and restrictions on areas in which gears may be used. Consideration on this issue has been delayed until June 2014. To date, none of the issues effect halibut; however, halibut are bycatch in trawl fisheries, so impacts to halibut must be taken into account when those decisions are made.

Rockfish Conservation Area Rule – The Council approved several changes to the trawl RCA to open up previously closed areas. An Environmental Assessment is being conducted in conjunction with this action. It is not anticipated that this action will have impacts on halibut.

Non-fishing Actions

Non-fishing activities that introduce chemical pollutants, sewage, changes in water temperature, salinity, dissolved oxygen, and suspended sediment into the marine environment pose a risk to all of the identified affected resources. Human-induced non-fishing activities tend to be localized in nearshore areas and marine project areas where they occur. Examples of these activities include, but are not limited to, agriculture, port maintenance, coastal development, marine transportation, marine mining, dredging, and the disposal of dredged material. Wherever these activities co-occur, they are likely to work additively or synergistically to decrease habitat quality and may indirectly constrain the sustainability of the managed resources, non-target species, and protected resources. Decreased habitat suitability would tend to reduce the tolerance of these species to the impacts of fishing effort. Mitigation of this outcome through regulations that would reduce fishing effort could then negatively impact human communities. The overall impact to the affected species and their habitats on a population level is unknown, but likely neutral to low negative, since a large portion of these species have a limited or minor exposure to these local non-fishing perturbations.

NMFS reviews these types of effects through the review processes required by Section 404 of the Clean Water Act and Section 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act, for certain activities that are regulated by Federal, state, and local authorities. The jurisdiction of these activities is in "waters of the U.S." and includes both river and marine habitats.

For many of the proposed non-fishing activities to be permitted under other Federal agencies (such as offshore energy facilities, etc.), those agencies would conduct examinations of potential impacts on the affected resources. While the Magnuson-Stevens Act (50 CFR 600.930) does not have jurisdiction over the halibut fishery, it does impose an obligation for other Federal agencies to consult with the Secretary of Commerce on actions that may adversely affect EFH. The Pacific Fishery Management Council is engaged in this review process by making comments and recommendations on any Federal or state action that may affect habitat, including EFH, for their managed species and by commenting on actions likely to substantially affect habitat, including EFH.

In addition, under the Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act (Section 662), "whenever the waters of any stream or other body of water are proposed or authorized to be impounded, diverted, the channel deepened, or the stream or other body of water otherwise controlled or modified for any purpose whatever, including navigation and drainage, by any department or agency of the U.S., or by any public or private agency under Federal permit or license, such department or agency first shall consult with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), Department of the Interior, and with the head of the agency exercising administration over the wildlife resources of the particular state wherein the" activity is taking place. This act provides another avenue for review of actions by other Federal and state agencies that may impact resources that NMFS manages in the reasonably foreseeable future. In addition, NMFS and the USFWS share responsibility for implementing the ESA. ESA requires NMFS to designate "critical habitat" for any species it lists under the ESA (i.e., areas that contain physical or biological features essential to conservation, which may require special management considerations or protection) and to develop and implement recovery plans for threatened and endangered species. The ESA provides another avenue for NMFS to review actions by other entities that may impact endangered and protected resources whose management units are under NMFS' jurisdiction.

The effects of climate on the biota of the California Current ecosystem have been recognized for some time. The El Niño/Southern Oscillation (ENSO) is widely recognized to be the dominant mode of interannual variability in the equatorial Pacific, with impacts throughout the rest of the Pacific basin and the globe. During the negative (El Niño) phase of the ENSO cycle, jet stream

winds are typically diverted northward, often resulting in increased exposure of the west coast of the U.S. to subtropical weather systems. The impacts of these events to the coastal ocean generally include reduced upwelling winds, deepening of the thermocline, intrusion of offshore (subtropical) waters, dramatic declines in primary and secondary production, poor recruitment, reduced growth and survival of many resident species (such as salmon and groundfish), and northward extensions in the range of many tropical species. Concurrently, top predators such as seabirds and pinnipeds often exhibit reproductive failure. In addition to interannual variability in ocean conditions, the North Pacific seems to exhibit substantial interdecadal variability, which is referred to as the Pacific (inter) Decadal Oscillation (PDO).

Within the California Current itself, Mendelssohn, et al. (2003) described long-term warming trends in the upper 50 to 75 m of the water column. Recent paleoecological studies from marine sediments have indicated that the 20th century warming trend in the California Current has exceeded natural variability in ocean temperatures over the last 1,400 years. Statistical analyses of past climate data have improved our understanding of how climate has affected North Pacific ecosystems and associated marine species productivities. Our ability to predict future impacts on the ecosystem stemming from climate forcing events remains poor at best.

4.4.3 Summary of the Cumulative Effects of the Alternatives

This section summarizes the preceding analyses of environmental consequences.

Physical environment

Alternative 1 would have negligible effects on the physical environment because while longline gear may impact bottom habitat by dragging or snagging on the bottom, the impacts will be minimal due to the short duration and limited geographic scope of the fishery. The directed commercial and tribal fisheries are only open 1-4 days per year. Further, the tribal fishery operates only in Washington and the majority of the directed commercial fishery operates in waters off the Oregon coast. Because the gear, areas, and timing are not anticipated to change under Alternative 2, the effects to the physical environment are likely to also be negligible.

Pacific halibut

Alternative 1 would have negligible effects on halibut because the continuing implementation of the Plan and distribution of halibut catch within Area 2A does not have a meaningful effect on the overall halibut population. This is because Area 2A is at the southern end of the range of Pacific halibut, and the TAC for Area 2A is a very small proportion of the coastwide TAC. Also, there are no halibut spawning or nursery grounds in Area 2A, so individuals caught here are not likely to contribute to the overall population. Because the Plan changes and distribution of catch are not anticipated to change under Alternative 2, the effects to Pacific halibut are likely to also be negligible.

Overfished yelloweye and canary rockfish

Alternative 1 would have negligible effects on yelloweye and canary because bycatch of these species in halibut fisheries is accounted for through the Groundfish FMP, which manages these species consistent with their rebuilding plans and for meeting long-term sustainability goals. Halibut fisheries also comply with closed areas along the coast designed to minimize the bycatch of yelloweye and canary rockfish. Because the management of yelloweye and canary under the groundfish FMP, and closed areas that apply to halibut, are not anticipated to change under Alternative 2, the effects to yelloweye and canary rockfish are likely to also be negligible.

Threatened and endangered species

Alternative 1 would have low negative effects on Puget Sound Chinook, lower Columbia River Chinook, Puget Sound bocaccio, yelloweye and canary rockfish, and green sturgeon because it is likely these species are caught as bycatch in the halibut fishery. The impacts are low because the bycatch of these species is expected to be minor compared to the overall population levels. For the remaining listed species in the action area, Alternative 1 would have negligible effects on marine mammals, sea turtles, eulachon, and the remaining listed salmon species because these species rarely interact with halibut fisheries and this is unlikely to change. Because the gear, areas, and timing are not anticipated to change in a manner that would affect the species caught as bycatch in any halibut fishery under Alternative 2, the effects to threatened and endangered species are likely to also be low negative or negligible depending on the species.

Seabirds

Alternative 1 would have negligible effects on seabirds because no seabird interactions have been reported in the halibut fishery and this alternative would not alter the intensity, gear used, structure, or timing of the fishery. Because the gear, areas, and timing are not anticipated to change under Alternative 2, the effects to seabirds are likely to also be negligible.

Socioeconomics

The primary socioeconomic issue for the halibut fishery is changes in the annual TAC, which is not part of this action. Allocations under Alternative 1 may have a slight effect on harvest income but are marginal compared to any changes in TAC. Therefore, Alternative 1 would have negligible effects on costs associated with participation in this fishery because the implementation of the Plan does not affect the TAC. Because the allocations under Alternative 2 are not substantially different from the allocations under Alternative 1, the effects on costs and income are likely to also be negligible.

•	-	
	Alt. 1	Alt. 2
Physical environment	negligible	Same as Alt 1
Pacific Halibut	negligible	Same as Alt 1
Yelloweye and Canary rockfish	negligible	Same as Alt 1
Threatened and Endangered Species	Negligible (marine mammals, eulachon, sea turtles, salmon) and low negative (Puget Sound Chinook, lower Columbia river Chinook, rockfish and green sturgeon)	Same as Alt 1
Seabirds	negligible	Same as Alt 1
Socioeconomics	negligible	Same as Alt 1

Table 4.3: Summary of the Environmental Consequences of the Alternatives.

Therefore, when this proposed action is considered in conjunction with all the other pressures placed on fisheries by past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions, it is not expected to result in any significant impacts, positive or negative. Based on the information and analyses presented in this document, there are no significant cumulative effects associated with the action proposed.

5.0 OTHER APPLICABLE LAW

5.1 Endangered Species Act

Section 7(a)(2) of the Endangered Species Act, as amended, requires that federal agencies "shall, in consultation with and with the assistance of the Secretary [of Commerce or Interior], insure that any action authorized, funded, or carried out by such agency ... is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered species, or result in the destruction or adverse modification of habitat of such species...." Based on this section of the law (Section 7), action agencies consult with NMFS (for marine species) or FWS (for terrestrial and freshwater species) in cases where a "major construction activity" (which is considered equivalent to the "major federal action" standard under NEPA) could "jeopardize the continued existence" of an endangered species. For fishery management actions in federal waters, NMFS is both the action and consulting agency (although different divisions fulfill these two roles).

NMFS initiated consultation on August 16, 2013, on the continued implementation of the Plan for Area 2A and the annual management measures for 2014-2016. In the biological opinion the Regional Administrator determined that the implementation of the Catch Sharing Plan for 2014-2016 is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of Puget Sound yelloweye rockfish, Puget Sound canary rockfish, Puget Sound bocaccio, Puget Sound Chinook, Lower Columbia River Chinook, and green sturgeon. It is not expected to result in the destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat for green sturgeon or result in the destruction or adverse modification of proposed critical habitat for Puget Sound yelloweye rockfish, canary rockfish, bocaccio. In addition, the opinion concluded that the implementation of the Plan is not likely to adversely affect marine mammals, the remaining listed salmon species and sea turtles, and is not likely to adversely affect critical habitat for Southern resident killer whales, stellar sea lions, leatherback sea turtles, any listed salmonids, and humpback whales. Further, the Regional Administrator determined that implementation of the Catch Sharing Plan will have no effect on southern eulachon, this determination was made in a letter dated March 12, 2014.

Protected species listed under the ESA are discussed at section 3.2 of this document, with the effects of the alternatives to the actions considered in this document discussed at 4.2.

5.2 Marine Mammal Protection Act

The Marine Mammal Protection Act (MMPA) of 1972 and the ESA are the principle federal laws guiding marine mammal species protection and conservation policy in the United States. Under the MMPA, NMFS is responsible for the management and conservation of 153 stocks of whales, dolphins, porpoise, seals, sea lions, and fur seals while the FWS is responsible for walrus, sea otters, and the West Indian manatee.

Section 118 of the MMPA requires that NMFS publish, at least annually, a list of fisheries placing all U.S. commercial fisheries into one of three categories describing the level of incidental serious injury and mortality of marine mammals in each fishery, with Category I having the highest level of injury and mortality. Definitions of the fishery classification criteria for Categories I, II, and III fisheries are found in the implementing regulations for Section 118 of the MMPA (50 CFR part 229.) Pacific halibut fisheries in Area 2A are considered Category III fisheries, which means that the annual mortality and serious injury of a marine mammal stock by the fishery is less than or equal to 1% of the potential biological removal (PBR) level.

Under the MMPA, marine mammals whose abundance falls below the optimum sustainable population level (usually regarded as 60% of carrying capacity or maximum population size) can be listed as "depleted." Populations or species listed as threatened or endangered under the ESA are automatically considered depleted under the MMPA. Species listed as threatened or

endangered under the ESA are listed in Table 3.1 and discussed in Section 3.2; species listed as depleted under the MMPA are discussed in Section 3.2.

Based on its Category III status, to the extent incidental take of these protected species are occurring in the Pacific halibut fisheries in Area 2A these are well under their annual PBR levels. Neither alternative discussed above, is likely to affect the incidental mortality levels of species protected under the MMPA.

5.3 Migratory Bird Treaty Act and EO 13186

The Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) of 1918 was enacted to end the commercial trade of migratory birds and their feathers that, by the early years of the 20th century, had diminished populations of many native bird species. The Act states that it is unlawful to take, kill, or possess migratory birds and their parts (including eggs, nests, and feathers) and is a shared agreement between the United States, Canada, Japan, Mexico, and Russia to protect a common migratory bird resource. The Migratory Bird Treaty Act prohibits the directed take of seabirds. Seabirds are discussed in more detail in Section 3.2, with the effects of the alternatives on seabirds discussed in Section 4.

Effects on seabirds are expected to be minor under either alternative because seabirds there are no records of seabird interactions and halibut fisheries. Neither alternative is expected to increase the existing level of effect on seabirds of Area 2A Pacific halibut fisheries. NMFS has begun informal discussions with USFWS regarding seabirds and all other USFWS managed species.

5.4 Paperwork Reduction Act

Neither alternative contains a collection of information and are, therefore, not subject to the requirements of the Paperwork Reduction Act, 44 U.S.C. 3501 <u>et seq</u>.

5.5 Coastal Zone Management Act

Section 307(c)(1) of the Federal Coastal Zone Management Act (CZMA) of 1972 requires all federal activities that directly affect the coastal zone be consistent with approved state coastal zone management programs to the maximum extent practicable.

The proposed action is consistent to the maximum extent practicable with applicable enforceable policies of State coastal zone management programs. This determination has been submitted to the responsible state agencies for review under section 307(c)(1) of the CZMA by forwarding a copy of this EA to each of the relevant state agencies.

5.6 EO 12898 (Environmental Justice)

EO 12898 obligates Federal agencies to identify and address "disproportionately high adverse human health or environmental effects of their programs, policies, and activities on minority and low-income populations in the United States" as part of any overall environmental impact analysis associated with an action. NOAA guidance, NAO 216-6, at Section 7.02, states that "consideration of EO 12898 should be specifically included in the NEPA documentation for decision-making purposes." Agencies should also encourage public participation, especially by affected communities during scoping, as part of a broader strategy to address environmental justice issues. The proposed action will not result in disproportionate adverse impacts to low income and minority communities.

5.7 EO 13132 (Federalism)

Executive Order 13132 enumerates eight "fundamental federalism principles." The first of these principles states "Federalism is rooted in the belief that issues that are not national in scope or significance are most appropriately addressed by the level of government closest to the people." In this spirit, the Executive Order directs agencies to consider the implications of policies that may limit the scope of or preempt states' legal authority. Preemptive action having such "federalism implications" is subject to a consultation process with the states; such actions should not create unfunded mandates for the states; and any final rule published must be accompanied by a "federalism summary impact statement."

The Council and IPHC processes offer many opportunities for states (through their agencies, Council appointees, consultations, and meetings) to participate in the formulation of management measures. This process encourages states to institute complementary measures to manage fisheries under their jurisdiction that may affect federally managed stocks.

Neither alternative would have federalism implications subject to EO 13132.

5.8 EO 13175 (Consultation and Coordination with Indian Tribal Governments)

Executive Order 13175 is intended to ensure regular and meaningful consultation and collaboration with tribal officials in the development of federal policies that have tribal implications, to strengthen the United States government-to-government relationships with Indian tribes, and to reduce the imposition of unfunded mandates on Indian tribes.

The Secretary of Commerce recognizes the sovereign status and co-manager role of Indian tribes over shared Federal and tribal fishery resources. At Section 302(b)(5), the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act reserves a seat on the Council for a representative of an Indian tribe with federally recognized fishing rights from California, Oregon, Washington, or Idaho.

The U.S. government formally recognizes that thirteen Washington Tribes have treaty rights to fish for Pacific halibut. In general terms, the quantification of those rights is 50 percent of the harvestable surplus of Pacific halibut available in the tribes' usual and accustomed (U and A) fishing areas (described at 50 CFR 300.64). Each of the treaty tribes has the discretion to administer their fisheries and to establish their own policies to achieve program objectives. Accordingly, tribal allocations and regulations, including the proposed changes to the Plan, have been developed in consultation with the affected tribe(s) and, insofar as possible, with tribal consensus. For 2014, the treaty tribes made no proposed revisions to the Plan.

6.0 REGULATORY FLEXIBILITY ACT AND EO 12866 (Regulatory Impact Review)

In order to comply with Executive Order (EO) 12866 and the Regulatory Flexibility Act (RFA), this document also serves as a Regulatory Impact Review (RIR). The RIR and Initial Regulatory Flexibility Analysis (IRFA) have many aspects in common with each other and with EAs. Much of the information required for the RIR and IRFA analyses has been provided above in the EA. Table 6.1 identifies where previous discussions relevant to the EA and IRFA/RIR may be found in this document. The following RIR and IRFA was completed for the 2014 Halibut annual management measures and Catch Sharing Plan.

RIR Elements of Analysis	Corresponding Sections in EA	IRFA Elements of Analysis	Corresponding Sections in EA
Description of management objectives	1.2	Description of why actions are being considered	1.2
Description of the Fishery	3.0	Statement of the objectives of, and legal basis for actions	1.2
Statement of the Problem	1.2	Description of projected reporting, recordkeeping and other compliance requirements of the proposed action	4.3
Description of each selected alternative	2.0	Identification of all relevant Federal rules	5.0
An economic analysis of the expected effects of each selected alternative relative to status quo	4.3		

Table 6.1 Regulatory Impact Review and Regulatory Flexibility Analysis

6.1 Regulatory Impact Review

The RIR is designed to determine whether the proposed action could be considered a "significant regulatory action" according to E.O. 12866. E.O. 12866 tests whether or not an action would be a "significant regulatory action", and identifies the expected outcomes of the proposed management alternatives. An action may be considered "significant" if it is expected to: 1) Have an annual effect on the economy of \$100 million or more or adversely affect in a material way the economy, a sector of the economy, productivity, competition, jobs, the environment, public health or safety, or state, local, or tribal governments or communities; 2) Create a serious inconsistency or otherwise interfere with action taken or planned by another agency; 3) Materially alter the budgetary impact of entitlement, grants, user fees, or loan programs or the rights and obligations of recipients thereof; or 4) Raise

NMFS Guidance on RFA

NMFS has provided guidance as to how the regulatory flexibility analysis relates to other analyses and other applicable law. (source: "Operational Guidelines, Fishery Management Plan Process" National Marine Fisheries Service, Silver Spring MD, March 1, 1995, Appendix I.2.d.)

"The RFA requires that the agency identify and consider alternatives that minimize the impacts of a regulation on small entities, but it does not require that the agency select the alternative with the least net cost. Section 606 of the RFA clearly states that the requirements of a regulatory flexibility analysis do not alter standards otherwise applicable by law. Executive Order 12866 requires that agencies provide an assessment of the potential costs and benefits of a "significant" action, including an explanation of the manner in which the regulatory action is consistent with a statutory mandate and, to the extent permitted by law, promotes the President's priorities and avoids undue interference with State, local, and tribal governments in the exercise of their governmental function (section 6(a)(3)(B)(ii)). However, the Executive Order also requires agencies to adhere to the requirements of the RFA and other applicable law (section 6(a)(3)). In short, when either the regulatory flexibility analysis or the RIR conflict with a statutory mandate (e.g., the Magnuson Act), the resulting decision must conform to the statute."

novel legal or policy issues arising out of legal mandates, the President's priorities, or the principles set forth in this Executive Order. Based on the economic analyses found in Section 4.3, this action is not significant under E.O. 12866.

6.2 Initial Regulatory Flexibility Analysis

When an agency proposes regulations, the RFA requires the agency to prepare and make available for public comment an Initial Regulatory Flexibility Analysis (IRFA) that describes the impact on small businesses, non-profit enterprises, local governments, and other small entities. The IRFA is to aid the agency in considering all reasonable regulatory alternatives that would minimize the economic impact on affected small entities. To ensure a broad consideration of impacts on small entities, NMFS has prepared this IRFA without first making the threshold determination whether this proposed action could be certified as not having a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities. NMFS must determine such certification to be appropriate if established by information received in the public comment period.

1) <u>A description of the reasons why the action by the agency is being considered</u>. Since 1995, the Council has annually reviewed its Pacific halibut Area 2A Catch Sharing Plan (Plan) to determine whether there are changes needed to the Plan's fishery management directives for the upcoming fishing year. As described above in Sections 1.2 and 1.3, options for revising the Plan are developed in public meetings conducted by the states of Washington, Oregon, and California, and then reviewed and finalized as recommended changes from the Council. The Council first considers changes to the Plan at its

September meeting, then finalizes those changes at its November meeting. Council recommendations are reviewed and aired by NMFS in the <u>Federal Register</u>, making them available for public review and comment. The action considered in this EA/RIR/IRFA is

being considered because of a fundamental change in the effected environment due to the ESA listing of several rockfish species in Puget Sound. Further, this action is being considered to analyze the ongoing implementation of the Council's Catch Sharing Plan (Plan) and annual management measures. The preferred alternative is to continue the annual implementation of the Plan and the annual management measures. The preferred alternative is intended to equitably allocate halibut to tribal, commercial, and recreational users while ensuring the long term sustainable yield of the stock.

2) <u>A succinct statement of the</u> <u>objectives of, and legal basis for, the</u> <u>proposed rule</u>.

The Northern Pacific Halibut Act of 1982 at 16 U.S.C. 773c provides that the Secretary of Commerce (Secretary) shall have general responsibility to carry out the Halibut Convention between the United States and Canada and that the Secretary shall adopt such

Requirements of an IRFA

The Regulatory Flexibility Act (5 U.S.C. 603) states that: (b) Each initial regulatory flexibility analysis required under this section shall contain--(1) a description of the reasons why action by the agency is being considered: (2) a succinct statement of the objectives of, and legal basis for, the proposed rule; (3) a description of and, where feasible, and estimate of the number of small entities to which the proposed rule will apply; (4) a description of the projected reporting, recordkeeping and other compliance requirements of the proposed rule, including an estimate of the classes of small entities which will be subject to the requirement and the type of professional skills necessary for preparation of the report or record; (5) an identification, to the extent practicable, of all relevant Federal rules which may duplicate, overlap, or conflict with the proposed rule. (c) Each initial regulatory flexibility analysis shall also contain a description of any significant alternatives to the proposed rule which accomplish the stated objectives of applicable statutes and which minimize any significant economic impact of the proposed rule on small entities. Consistent with the stated objectives of applicable statutes, the analysis shall discuss significant alternatives such as--(1) the establishment of differing compliance or reporting requirements or timetables that take into account the resources available to small entities: (2) the clarification, consolidation, or simplification of compliance and reporting requirements under the rule for such small entities; (3) the use of performance rather than design standards; and

(4) an exemption from coverage of the rule, or any part thereof, for such small entities.

regulations as may be necessary to carry out the purposes and objectives of the Convention and the Halibut Act. Section 773c(c) also authorizes the regional fishery management council having authority for the geographic area concerned to develop regulations governing the Pacific halibut catch in U.S. Convention waters that are in addition to, but not in conflict with, regulations of the International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC). Accordingly, catch sharing plans to allocate the total allowable catch (TAC) of Pacific halibut between treaty Indian and non-Indian harvesters, and among non-Indian commercial and sport fisheries in IPHC statistical Area 2A (off Washington, Oregon, and California) have been developed each year since 1988 by the Council in accordance with the Halibut Act. In 1995, NMFS implemented a Councilrecommended long-term Catch Sharing Plan (Plan) [60 FR 14651, March 20, 1995]. In each of the intervening years between 1995 and the present, minor revisions to the Plan have been made to adjust for the changing needs of the fisheries 3) <u>A description of and, where feasible, and estimate of the number of small entities to</u> which the proposed rule will apply;

Under the RFA, the term small entities includes small businesses, small organizations, and small governmental jurisdictions.

<u>Small businesses</u>. The SBA has established size criteria for all major industry sectors in the US, including fish harvesting and fish processing businesses. A business involved in fish harvesting is a small business if it is independently owned and operated and not dominant in its field of operation (including its affiliates) and if it has combined annual receipts, not in excess of \$19.0 million for all its affiliated operations worldwide. A seafood processor is a small business if it is independently owned and operated, not dominant in its field of operation, and employs 500 or fewer persons on a full-time, part-time, temporary, or other basis, at all its affiliated operations worldwide. A business involved in both the harvesting and processing of seafood products is a small business if it meets the \$4.0 million criterion for fish harvesting operations. A wholesale business servicing the fishing industry is a small business if it employs 100 or fewer persons on a full-time, part-time, temporary, or other basis, at all its affiliated. For marinas and charter/party boats, a small business is one with annual receipts, not in excess of \$7.0 million.

<u>Small organizations</u>. The RFA defines a small organization as any nonprofit enterprise that is independently owned and operated and is not dominant in its field.

<u>Small governmental jurisdictions</u>. The RFA defines small governmental jurisdictions as governments of cities, counties, towns, townships, villages, school districts, or special districts with populations of less than 50,000.

In determining the potential universe of entities subject to this rule, we must consider those entities to which this rule applies. Although many small and large nonprofit enterprises track fisheries management issues on the West Coast, the proposed changes to the Plan, codified regulations and annual management measures will not directly affect those enterprises. Similarly, although many fishing communities are small governmental jurisdictions, no direct regulations for those governmental jurisdictions will result from this proposed rule. However, this rule directly affects charterboat operations, and participants in the non-treaty directed commercial fishery off the coast of Washington, Oregon, and California.

Specific data on the economics of halibut charter operations is unavailable. However, in January 2004, the Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission (PSMFC) completed a report on the overall West Coast charterboat fleet. In surveying charterboat vessels concerning their operations in 2000, the PSMFC estimated that there were about 315 charterboat vessels in operation off Washington and Oregon. In 2000, IPHC licensed 130 vessels to fish in the halibut sport charter fishery. Comparing the total charterboat fleet to

the 130 and 142 IPHC licenses in 2000 and 2007, respectively, approximately 41 to 45 percent of the charterboat fleet could participate in the halibut fishery. The PSMFC has developed preliminary estimates of the annual revenues earned by this fleet and they vary by size class of the vessels and home state. Small charterboat vessels range from 15 to 30 feet and typically carry 5 to 6 passengers. Medium charterboat vessels range from 31 to 49 feet in length and typically carry 19 to 20 passengers. (Neither state has large vessels of greater than 49 feet in their fleet.) Average annual revenues from all types of recreational fishing, whalewatching and other activities ranged from \$7,000 for small Oregon vessels to \$131,000 for medium Washington vessels. These data confirm that charterboat vessels qualify as small entities under the Regulatory Flexibility Act.

Commercial harvest vessels in West Coast fisheries are generally considered "small vessels" unless they are associated with a catcher-processor company or affiliated with a large shorebased processing company. Catcher-processors cannot target halibut or keep halibut as bycatch. NOAA is unaware that any "large" seafood processing companies are affiliated with any of the IPHC permit holders.

This analysis continues the main conclusions developed in previous analyses that charterboats and the non-treaty directed commercial fishing vessels are small businesses (See 77 FR 5477 (Feb 3, 2012 and 76 FR 2876 (Jan 18, 2011). In 2013 (The most recent data available), the IPHC issues licenses for: the directed commercial fishery in Area 2A (149 licenses in 2013); incidental halibut caught in the salmon troll fishery (332 licenses in 2013); and the charterboat fleet (127 licenses in 2013). No vessel may participate in more than one of these three fisheries per year. A similar situation may occur for charterboat vessels, The number of charter boats in Northern California, Oregon, and Washington that were involved in groundfish trips including halibut during 2010 was 161 (FEIS Table 3-31). Of these, 89 vessels fished in either the Columbia River or Central Oregon fisheries. This suggests that 60 percent of the IPHC charterboat license holders may be affected by these regulations.

4) <u>A description of the projected reporting, recordkeeping and other compliance</u> requirements of the proposed rule, including an estimate of the classes of small entities which will be subject to the requirement and the type of professional skills necessary for preparation of the report or record.

There are no projected reporting, recordkeeping or other compliance requirements associated with this final rule.

5) <u>An identification, to the extent practicable, of all relevant Federal rules which may duplicate, overlap, or conflict with the proposed rule.</u>

No duplicative requirements have been identified.

6) A description of any alternatives to the proposed rule which accomplish the stated objectives of applicable statutes and which minimizes the significant economic impacts of the proposed rule on small entities.

There were no significant alternatives to the propose rule that would minimize any significant impact on small entities.

7.0 COMPLIANCE WITH THE NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ACT (NEPA)

7.1 Person and Agencies Consulted

Sarah Williams, Sarah Biegel, Kevin Duffy; all of NMFS' West Coast Region.

For copies of this Environmental Assessment contact Sarah Williams 7600 Sand Point Way NE, Bldg 1 Seattle, WA 98115 (206) 526-4646

7.2 Finding of No Significant Impact

Finding of No Significant Impact for the Environmental Assessment regarding

CONTINUING IMPLEMENTATION OF THE CATCH SHARING PLAN FOR PACIFIC HALIBUT IN AREA 2A, 2014-2016

March 2014

The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Administrative Order 216-6 (May 20, 1999) contains criteria for determining the significance of the impacts of a proposed action. In addition, the Council on Environmental Quality regulations at 40 C.F.R. §1508.27 state that the significance of an action should be analyzed both in terms of "context" and "intensity." Each criterion listed below is relevant to making a finding of no significant impact and has been considered individually, as well as in combination with the others. The significance of this action is analyzed based on the NAO 216-6 criteria and CEQ's context and intensity criteria. These include:

1) Can the proposed action reasonably be expected to jeopardize the sustainability of any target species that may be affected by the action?

<u>Response</u>: The proposed action would not jeopardize the sustainability of Pacific halibut because the Catch Sharing Plan (Plan) allocations do not affect the overall Total Allowable Catch (TAC) of halibut. The TAC is determined through the International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) process and is based on the most recent halibut stock assessment information. This determination is supported by the information presented in section 4.2.1.

2) Can the proposed action reasonably be expected to jeopardize the sustainability of any non-target species?

<u>Response</u>: The proposed action would not jeopardize the sustainability of any non-target species affected by the action because incidental catch of non-target species is regulated

either through state and Federal regulations for sport fisheries or through Federal regulations for groundfish and salmon fisheries that incidentally take halibut. Yelloweye and canary are two overfished species that are caught in halibut fisheries. These species are managed through the Council's groundfish process consistent with rebuilding plans that take into account any bycatch of these species in halibut fisheries. Also, retention of these species is prohibited in the sport fishery coastwide, and closed areas in both state and Federal waters provide protection to habitat where these species are most abundant. For salmon and sablefish bycatch, regulations are in place to limit the incidental take of salmon and groundfish in halibut directed fisheries.

3) Can the proposed action reasonably be expected to cause substantial damage to the ocean and coastal habitats and/or essential fish habitat as defined under the Magnuson-Stevens Act and identified in FMPs?

<u>Response</u>: The proposed action would not cause substantial damage to the ocean, coastal habitats, or essential fish habitat because of the gear, limited geographic scope, and limited duration of the fisheries coupled with the closed areas already in use for both the recreational and commercial fisheries.

The halibut fishery primarily uses longline gear. This gear does contact the seafloor but current measures limit amount of time and the area that this gear is in contact with ocean and coastal habitats and EFH. Further, halibut fisheries must comply with the groundfish closed areas for both the recreational and commercial fisheries. These closed areas are designed to protect rockfish and their habitat. Washington, Oregon, and California also have areas within state waters that are closed to halibut fishing (see sections 3.3.3-3.3.6). Finally, the directed commercial and tribal fisheries are open only a few days per year resulting in limited gear contact with bottom habitat. Therefore, impacts to habitat from this gear have been minimized to the extent practicable.

4) Can the proposed action be reasonably expected to have a substantial adverse impact on public health or safety?

<u>Response</u>: The proposed action would have no impact on public health or safety. Since impacts on public health or safety are not expected, they were not further evaluated in the EA.

5) Can the proposed action reasonably be expected to adversely affect endangered or threatened species, marine mammals, or critical habitat of these species?

<u>Response</u>: The proposed action is not expected to adversely affect endangered or threatened species or marine mammals. The effects of the fishery on marine mammals and sea turtles are minor because these species are either not likely to occur in the same areas as the halibut fishery or not likely to interact with the fishery, there are no recorded interactions of the halibut fishery with any marine mammal or sea turtle species. No effects are expected on eulachon because eulachon are too small to be encountered by halibut gear. Salmon are expected to be caught in halibut fisheries but in small numbers, and many of the fish caught are likely from unlisted stocks. Therefore, effects to listed salmon are expected to be minimal. Puget Sound rockfish and green sturgeon are likely taken as bycatch in halibut fisheries, but the impact to these species is likely to be minor because the amount of bycatch is expected to be small over the duration of the proposed action. NMFS is in consultation with the US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) to determine the effects of the Area 2A Catch Sharing Plan on listed seabirds. However, at this time impacts to seabirds are expected to be minor based on the USFWS BiOp on the groundfish fishery, which concluded that the continued implementation of the sablefish fishery, that uses similar gear and areas as the halibut fishery, was not likely to result in jeopardy to short-tailed albatross. (see section 4.2).

6) Can the proposed action be expected to have a substantial impact on biodiversity and/or ecosystem function within the affected area (e.g., benthic productivity, predator-prey relationships, etc.)?

<u>Response</u>: The proposed action would have no impact on biodiversity and/or ecosystem function within the affected area. No impacts are anticipated because the proposed action makes minor changes to the halibut fishery that do not alter the level of fishing effort or the geographic distribution of effort compared to No Action. Additionally, halibut fisheries do not use trawl gear and therefore, have minimal bycatch or impact on benthic habitat. The proposed action will not have significant impacts on predator-prey relationships because the halibut fishery is managed to ensure sustainability of the halibut stock and does not affect other species in a manner that would change any predator-prey relationship (see section 4.1).

7) Are significant social or economic impacts interrelated with natural or physical environmental effects?

<u>Response</u>: This action would have no significant interrelated social or economic impacts because there are no significant natural or physical environmental effects. A summary of the socioeconomic and environmental impacts of the alternatives can be found in section 4.7 of the EA.

8) Are the effects on the quality of the human environment likely to be highly controversial?

<u>Response</u>: No, the effects on the human environment from this action are not expected to be controversial. No scientific controversy is anticipated because the Plan and the annual management measures are developed through the Council process with public input through Council meetings and state-sponsored meetings and outreach. NMFS and the Council do not determine the TAC but apply the Plan allocations to the TAC after it has been approved by the IPHC. Therefore, any scientific controversy would likely be handled at the IPHC level during deliberations on the stock assessment or the survey, both of which are conducted by the IPHC. In 2013, the IPHC established new scientific and management review boards with the goal of providing more public input and transparency into the scientific and management processes (see section 4).

9) Can the proposed action reasonably be expected to result in substantial impacts to unique areas, such as historic or cultural resources, park land, prime farmlands, wetlands, wild and scenic rivers or ecologically critical areas?

<u>Response:</u> There will be no impacts on unique areas, such as proximity to historic or cultural resources, parklands, prime farmlands, wetlands, wild and scenic rivers, or ecological critical areas. This activity would occur in the marine environment and has no direct effect on the biophysical component of the terrestrial environment (see section 4.0).

10) Are the effects on the human environment likely to be highly uncertain or involve unique or unknown risks?

<u>Response</u>: The effects on the human environment from the proposed action are neither unique nor unknown. No impacts are anticipated that are highly uncertain or involve unique or unknown risks because the proposed action is the ongoing implementation of the Plan and annual management measures and Plan changes over the last 10 years have been mostly minor adjustments to respond to the needs of the fishery and this is expected to continue. Additionally, the CSP has been in place since 1996, and changes since then have been minor. There were no uncertain effects or unique or unknown risks identified during the development of alternatives for the proposed action, nor did any surface during preparation of the required environmental documentation (see section 4.0).

11) Is the proposed action related to other actions with individually insignificant, but cumulatively significant impacts?

<u>Response</u>: The proposed action is not anticipated to have cumulatively significant impacts. This action is not anticipated to set a precedent for future actions because the continued implementation of the Plan and any future changes will continue to be evaluated each year by the Council and any changes made in previous years can be revised for future years (see section 4.4).

12) Is the proposed action likely to adversely affect districts, sites, highways, structures, or objects listed in or eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places or may cause loss or destruction of significant scientific, cultural, or historical resources?

<u>Response</u>: No impacts to districts, sites, highways, structures, or objects listed in or eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places are expected to occur. Additionally, no impacts are expected that may cause loss or destruction of significant cultural, scientific, or historical resources. The changes to the Plan are developed in collaboration with tribal managers, and the Plan is implemented within the TAC amounts that are designed for long-term sustainability of the halibut resource (see section 4.1).

13) Can the proposed action reasonably be expected to result in the introduction or spread of a non-indigenous species?

<u>Response</u>: Activities under the proposed action will not involve the transport of nonindigenous species and therefore, this issue is not discussed in the EA. The fishing vessels participating in the proposed action would not increase the risk of introduction through ballast water or hull fouling. Disposition of the catch does not include any translocation of living marine resources, nor use of any nonindigenous species as bait.

14) Is the proposed action likely to establish a precedent for future actions with significant effects or represents a decision in principle about a future consideration?

<u>Response</u>: This action would not set a precedent for future actions because the changes to the Plan for 2014 and the continued implementation of the Plan are evaluated each year by the Council and any changes done in previous years can be revised for future years (see section 3.3).

15) Can the proposed action reasonably be expected to threaten a violation of Federal, State, or local law or requirements imposed for the protection of the environment?

<u>Response</u>: This action would not threaten any Federal, state, or local law or requirement for the protection of the environment. The Plan and annual management measures are developed in cooperation with tribal and state managers, and the NMFS Office of Law Enforcement.

Chapter 6 of the EA describes potentially applicable cross-cutting mandates and the proposed action would be implemented to comply with these laws and executive orders for the protection of the environment.

16) Can the proposed action reasonably be expected to result in cumulative adverse effects that could have a substantial effect on the target species or non-target species?

<u>Response</u>: The proposed action is not expected to result in adverse effects or in cumulative adverse impacts. Halibut fisheries are managed in a sustainable manner consistent with the Halibut Act and other applicable law, and are evaluated every year through the IPHC stock assessment and the Council's review of the Plan. Therefore, any expected impacts to halibut may be addressed on an annual basis through changes to the Plan. Any affects to the non-target species from implementation of the Plan discussed in this EA (sablefish, yelloweye and canary rockfish, and salmon) are expected to be negligible because these species are managed through separate processes which account for bycatch in the halibut fisheries and are not anticipated to be affected by Plan implementation. Any effects to seabirds are expected to be negligible because there have been no reported interactions between halibut fisheries and seabirds. There are no cumulative effects that would create further impacts to any listed species (see section 4.4).

DETERMINATION

In view of the information presented in this document and the analysis contained in the 2014 final EA, it is hereby determined that the proposed action will not significantly impact the quality of the human environment. In addition, all beneficial and adverse impacts of the proposed action have been addressed to reach the conclusion of no significant impacts. Accordingly, preparation of an EIS for this action is not necessary.

Deputy Regional Administrator, NOAA Fisheries, West Coast Region

Date

7.3 Comments received on the Environmental Assessment

NMFS received one comment on the EA. This comment addressed the Catch Sharing Plan allocation for incidental take of halibut in the salmon troll fishery and recommended the allocation for the directed commercial halibut fishery be decreased and the incidental allocation to the salmon troll fishery be increased. The proposed action does not address allocations in the Catch Sharing Plan but rather focuses on the ongoing implementation of the Catch Sharing Plan; therefore, this comment is not addressed here.

8.0 **REFERENCES**

Allen, M.J. and G.B. Smith. 1988. Atlas and zoogeography of common fishes in the Bering Sea and northeastern Pacific. NOAA, NMFS Tech. Rep. 66: 151p.

Allen, M.J. 1982. Functional structure of soft-bottom fish communities of the southern California shelf. Ph.D. Dissertation. University of California, San Diego, California. 577p.

Allen, B. M., and R. P. Angliss. 2013. Alaska marine mammal stock assessments, 2012. U.S. Dep. Commer., NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFSAFSC- 245, 282 p

Austin, O.L. 1949. The Status of Steller's Albatross. Pacific Science 3: 283-295. Environment Canada, 2008. Recovery Strategy for the Short-tailed Albatross (Phoebastria albatrus) and the Pink-footed Shearwater (Puffinus creatopus) in Canada [Final]. Species at Risk Act Recovery Strategy Series. Environment Canada, Ottawa. vii + 44 pp.

Bakun, A. 1996. Patterns in the ocean : ocean processes and marine population dynamics. La Jolla, CA: California Sea Grant College System, NOAA in cooperation with Centro de Investigaciones Biológicas del Noroeste.

Barlow, J. 1995. The abundance of cetaceans in California waters. Part I: Ship surveys in summer and fall of 1991. Fish. Bull. 93:1-14.

Barth, J.A., S.D. Pierce and R.L. Smith. 2000. A separating coastal upwelling jet at Cape Blanco, Oregon and its connection to the California Current System. DEEP-SEA RESEARCH PART II-TOPICAL STUDIES IN OCEANOGRAPHY 47 (5-6): 783-810.

Beamish, R.J. and G.A. McFarlane. 1988. Resident and dispersal behavior of adult sablefish (Anoplopoma fimbria) in the slope waters off Canada's West Coast. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 45: 152-164.

Boehlert, G.W., M.M. Yoklavich, and D.B. Chelton. 1989. Time series of growth in the genus Sebastes from the northeast Pacific ocean. Fish. Bull. 87: 791-806.

Boehlert, G.W. and M.Y. Yoklavich. 1985. Larval and juvenile growth of sablefish Anoplopoma fimbria as determined from otolith increments. Fish. Bull. 83: 475-481.

Boehlert, G.W. 1980. Size composition, age composition, and growth of canary rockfish, Sebastes pinniger, and splitnose rockfish, S. diploproa, from the 1977 rockfish survey. Mar. Fish. Rev. 42: 57-63.

Boehlert, G.W. and R.F. Kappenman. 1980. Variation of growth with latitude in two species of rockfish (Sebastes pinniger and S. diploproa) from the northeast Pacific ocean. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 3: 1-10.

Cailliet, G.M., E.K. Osada, and M. Moser. 1988. Ecological studies of sablefish in Monterey Bay. Calif. Dept. Fish and Game 74: 133-153.

Carretta et al. 2013. U.S. Pacific Marine Mammal Stock Assessments: 2012. NOAA-TM-NMFS-SWFSC-504. 384 p.

Clark, W.G. and S.R. Hare. 2002. Effects of climate and stock size on recruitment and growth of Pacific halibut. N AM J FISH MANAGE 22 (3): 852-862.

Clark, W.G. 2003. A method of estimating the sex composition of commercial landings from setline survey data. IPHC online publication (http://www.iphc.washington.edu/halcom/research/sa/papers/puresex.pdf).

Culver, Brian. 2002. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. December 10, 2002, personal communication.

Culver, Michele, 2004. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, October 22, 2004, personal communication.

Dohl, T. P., R. C. Guess, M. L. Duman, and R. C. Helm. 1983. Cetaceans of central and northern California, 1980-83: Status, abundance, and distribution. Final Report to the Minerals Management Service, Contract No. 14-12-0001-29090. 284p.Echeverria, T. 1987. Thirty-four species of California rockfishes: Maturity and seasonality of reproduction. Fish. Bull. 85: 229-240.

Drake J. S., E. A. Berntson, J. M. Cope, R. G. Gustafson, E. E. Holmes, P. S. Levin, N. Tolimieri, R. S. Waples, S. M. Sogard, and G. D. Williams. 2010. Status review of five rockfish species in Puget Sound, Washington: bocaccio (Sebastes paucispinis), canary rockfish (S. pinniger), yelloweye rockfish (S. ruberrimus), greenstriped rockfish (S. elongatus), and redstripe rockfish (S. proriger). U.S. Dept. Commer., NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-108, 234 p.

Eschmeyer, W.N., E.S. Herald, and H. Hammon. 1983. A field guide to Pacific Coast fishes of North America. Houghton Mifflin, Boston, Massachussetts. 336p.

Fisheries and Agriculture Organization (FAO), United Nations. 2002. The International Plan of Action for Reducing Incidental Catch of Seabirds in Longline Fisheries. http://www.fao.org/fi/ipa/incide.asp, as viewed on December 9, 2002.

Forney, K. A., J. Barlow, and J. V. Carretta. 1995. The abundance of cetaceans in California waters. Part II: Aerial surveys in winter and spring of 1991 and 1992. Fish. Bull. 93:15-26.

Francis R.C., S.R. Hare, A.B. Hollowed, W.S. Wooster. 1998. Effects of interdecadal climate variability on the oceanic ecosystems of the NE Pacific. FISHERIES OCEANOGRAPHY 7 (1): 1-21.

Green, G. A., J. J. Brueggeman, R. A. Grotefendt, C. E. Bowlby, M. L. Bonnell, K. C. Balcomb, III. 1992. Cetacean distribution and abundance off Oregon and Washington, 1989-1990. Ch. 1 In: J. J. Brueggeman (ed.). Oregon and Washington Marine Mammal and Seabird Surveys. Minerals Management Service Contract Report 14-12-0001-30426.

Guy, T.J., S.L. Jennings, R.M. Suryan, E.F. Melvin, M.A. Bellman, L.T. Ballance, B.A. Blackie, D.A. Croll, T. Deguchi, T.O. Geernaert, R.W. Henry, M. Hester, K.D. Hyrenbach, J. Jahncke, M.A. Kappes, K. Ozaki, J. Roletto, F. Sato, W.J. Sydeman, J.E. Zamon. 2013. Overlap of North Pacific albatrosses with the U.S. west coast groundfish and shrimp fisheries. Fisheries Research 147: 222-234.

Hanson, M. B., R. W. Baird, J. K. B. Ford, J. Hempelmann-Halos, D. M. Van Doornik, J. R. Candy, C. K. Emmons, G. S. Schorr, B. Gisborne, K. L. Ayres, S. K. Wasser, K. C. Balcomb, K. Balcomb-Bartok, J. G. Snewa, M. J. Ford. 2010. Species and stock identification of prey consumed by endangered southern resident killer whales in their summer range. Endangered Species Research. Volume 11, pages 69 to 82.

Hanson, M. Bradley, C.K. Emmons, E.J. Ward, J.A. Nystuen, and M.O. Lammers. 2013. Assessing the coastal occurrence of endangered killer whales using autonomous passive acoustic recorders. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 134(5): 3486-3495.

Hart, J.L. 1973. Pacific Fishes of Canada. Bull. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada 180: 730p.

Hoag, S., G. Peltonen and L. Sadorus. 1993. Regulations of the Pacific Halibut Fishery, 1977-1992. IPHC Technical Report No. 27.

Hoag, S., R. Meyer, G. St-Pierre and D. McCaughran. 1983. The Pacific Halibut Resource and Fishery in Regulatory Area 2 - I. Management and Biology. IPHC Scientific Report No. 67.

Hollowed, A.B., S.R. Hare, W.S. Wooster. 2001. Pacific Basin climate variability and patterns of Northeast Pacific marine fish production. Progress in Oceanography 49 (1-4): 257-282.

IPHC. 1998. The Pacific Halibut: Biology, Fishery and Management. IPHC Technical Report No. 40.

IPHC. 2002. Pacific Halibut fishery Regulations.

Jannot, J.A., M.A. Bellman, M. Mandrup, N.B. Riley, and J. McVeigh. 2013. Pacific Halibut Bycatch in U.S. West Coast Groundfish Fisheries (2002-2012)

Johnson, Korie, 2002. A Review of National and International Literature on the Effects of Fishing on Benthic Habitats. National Marine Fisheries Service, Silver Spring, Maryland. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-F/SPO-57.

Kendall, A.W. and A.C. Matarese. 1987. Biology of eggs, larvae, and epipelagic juveniles of sablefish, Anoplopoma fimbria, in relation to their potential use in management. Mar. Fish. Rev. 49: 1-13.

Longhurst. 1998. Ecological geography of the sea. San Diego: Academic Press.

Love, M. S., M. M. Yoklavich, and L. Thorsteinson. 2002. The rockfishes of the Northeast Pacific. University of California Press, Berkeley, California.

Love, M.S. 1991. Probably more than you want to know about the fishes of the Pacific coast. Really Big Press, Santa Barbara, California. 215p.

Lynn, R.J. and J.J. Simpson. 1987. The California Current System: The seasonal variability of its physical characteristics. J. Geophys. Res. 92(C12): 12947-12966.

Mantua, N.J., S.R. Hare, Y. Zhang, et al. 1997. A Pacific interdecadal climate oscillation with impacts on salmon production BULLETIN OF THE AMERICAN METEOROLOGICAL SOCIETY 78 (6): 1069-1079.

Mason, J.E. 1995. Species trends in sport fisheries, Monterey Bay, California, 1959-86. Mar. Fish. Rev. 57: 1-16.

Mason, J.C., R.J. Beamish, and G.A. McFarlane. 1983. Sexual maturity, fecundity, spawning, and early life history of sablefish (Anoplopoma fimbria) in waters off the Pacific coast of Canada. In Proc. Int. Sablefish Symp. Alaska Sea Grant College Program, University of Alaska. Anchorage, Alaska. p. 137-141.

MBC Applied Environmental Sciences. 1987. Ecology of Important Fisheries Species Offshore California. Minerals Management Service, Pacific Outer Continental Shelf Region. Washington, D.C. MMS 86-0093: 252p.

McFarlane, G.A. and R.J. Beamish. 1983a. Biology of adult sablefish (Anoplopoma fimbria) in waters off western Canada. In Proc. Int. Sablefish Symp. Alaska Sea Grant College Program, University of Alaska. Anchorage, Alaska. p. 59-80.

McFarlane, G.A. and R.J. Beamish. 1983b. Preliminary observations on the juvenile biology of sablefish (Anoplopoma fimbria) in waters off the West Coast of Canada. In Proc. Int. Sablefish Symp. Alaska Sea Grant College Program, University of Alaska. Anchorage, Alaska. p. 119-135.

Melvin, E., K. Dietrich, K. Van Wormer and T. Geernaert. 2002. The Distribution of Seabirds on Alaskan Longline Fishing Grounds: 2002 Data Report. Washington Sea Grant and International Pacific Halibut Commission.

Miller, D.J. and R.N. Lea. 1972. Guide to the coastal marine fishes of California. Calif. Dept. Fish and Game, Fish. Bull. 157: 249p.

Miller, B. S., and S. F. Borton. 1980. Geographical distribution of Puget Sound fishes: Maps and data source sheets. Univ. of Washington Fisheries Research Institute, 3 vols.

Moore, S. E., K. M. Stafford, M. E. Dahlheim, C. G. Fox, H. W. Braham, J. J. Polovina, and D. E. Bain. 1998. Seasonal variation in reception of fin whale calls at five geographic areas in the North Pacific. Mar. Mamm. Sci. 14(3):617-627

NMFS. 1995. Environmental Assessment and Regulatory Impact Review of Allocation of Pacific Halibut in Area 2A in 1995 and Beyond.

NMFS. 1999. Biological Opinion: Fishing Conducted under the Pacific Coast Groundfish Fishery Management Plan for the California, Oregon, and Washington Groundfish Fishery.

NMFS. 2008. Final Recovery Plan for Southern Resident Killer Whales (Orcinus orca). National Marine Fisheries Service, Northwest Region, Seattle, Washington.

NMFS. 2012. Biological Opinion: Fishing Conducted under the Pacific Coast Groundfish Fishery Management Plan for the California, Oregon, and Washington Groundfish Fishery.

NMFS. 2002. "Program to Reduce Seabird Incidental Take in Alaska's Longline Fisheries," http://www.fakr.noaa.gov/protectedresources/seabirds.html, as viewed on December 9, 2002.

NMFS. 2003. Assessment of Seabird Bycatch in the Pacific Coast Groundfish and Pacific Halibut Longline Fisheries of the Northwest Region.

NOAA. 2002. Website of Pacific Marine Environmental Laboratory's Tropical Atmosphere Ocean project, as viewed on July 19, 2002. http://www.pmel.noaa.gov/tao/elnino/el-nino-story.html

NOAA. 1990. West coast of North America coastal and ocean zones strategic assessment: Data atlas. U.S. Dep. Commer. NOAA. OMA/NOS, Ocean Assessments Division, Strategic Assessment Branch. Invertebrate and Fish Volume.

O'Connell, V.M. and D.W. Carlile. 1993. Habitat-specific density of adult yelloweye rockfish Sebastes ruberrimus in the eastern Gulf of Alaska. Fish. Bull. 91: 304-309.

O'Connell, V.M. and F.C. Funk. 1986. Age and growth of yelloweye rockfish (Sebastes ruberrimus) landed in southeastern Alaska. In Proc. Int. Rockfish Symposium. Alaska Sea Grant College Pgm., Anchorage, Alaska. 87-2: 171-185.

Orr, J. W., M. A. Brown, and D. C. Baker. 2000. Guide to Rockfishes (Scorpaenidae) of the Genera Sebastes, Sebastolobus, and Adelosebastes of the Northeast Pacific Ocean, Second Edition. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-AFSC-117. Available at: http://www.afsc.noaa.gov/race/media/publications/archives/pubs2000/techmemo117.pdf.

Pacific Fishery Management Council (PFMC). April 2002b. Environmental Assessment for the Proposed 2002 Management Measures for the Ocean Salmon Fishery Managed Under the Pacific Coast Salmon Plan.

PFMC. March 2012. Review of 2012 Ocean Salmon Fisheries.

PFMC (Pacific Fishery Management Council) and NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service). 2012. Proposed Harvest Specifications and Management Measures for the 2013-2014 Pacific Coast Groundfish Fishery and Amendment 21-2 to the Pacific Coast Fishery Management Plan, Final Environmental Impact Statement. Pacific Fishery Management Council, Portland, OR. September 2012.

Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission (PSMFC). January 2004. West Coast Charter Boat Survey Summary Report – 2000.

PSMFC. April 2004. Identification of Essential Fish Habitat for the Pacific Groundfish FMP – Prepared by MRAG Americas, Inc., TerraLogic GIS, Inc., NMFS Northwest Science Center and Region. (PFMC April 2004, Exhibit C.6.b, Attachment 1.)

Richardson, S.L. and W.A. Laroche. 1979. Development and occurrence of larvae and juveniles of the rockfishes Sebastes crameri, Sebastes pinniger, and Sebastes helvomaculatus (Family Scorpaenidae) off Oregon. Fish. Bull. 77: 1-46.

Robinson, Michele. 2002. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. December 9 & 11, 2002, personal communication.

Rosenthal, R.J., V. Moran-O'Connell, and M.C. Murphy. 1988. Feeding ecology of ten species of rockfishes (Scorpaenidae) from the Gulf of Alaska. Calif. Dept. Fish and Game 74: 16-36.

Rosenthal, R.J., L. Haldorson, L.J. Field, V. Moran-O'Connell, M.G. LaRiviere, J. Underwood, and M.C. Murphy. 1982. Inshore and shallow offshore bottomfish resources in the southeastern Gulf of Alaska (1981-1982). Alaska Dept. Fish and Game. Juneau, Alaska. 166p.

Steiner, R.E. 1978. Food habits and species composition of neritic reef fishes off Depoe Bay, Oregon. M.S. Thesis. Oregon State University, Corvallis, Oregon. 59p.

Steward, I.J. and S. Martell. 2013. Assessment of the Pacific halibut stock at the end of the 2013.

Suryan, R.M., K.S. Dietrich, E.F. Melvin, G.R. Balogh, F. Sato, and K. Ozaki. 2007b. Migratory routes of short-tailed albatross: use of exclusive economic zones of North Pacific Rim countries and spatial overlap with commercial fisheries in Alaska. Biological Conservation 137: 450-460.

Tolimieri, N. and P. S. Levin. 2005. The roles of fishing and climate in the population dynamics of bocaccio rockfish. Ecological Applications 15: 458-468.

Trumble, R., G. St-Pierre and I. McGregor. 1991. Evaluation of Pacific Halibut Management for Regulatory Area 2A. Part I. Review of the Pacific Halibut Fishery in Area 2A. IPHC Scientific Report 74.

USFWS. 2012. Biological opinion regarding the effects of the continued operation of the Pacific coast groundfish fishery as governed by the Pacific coast groundfish fishery management plan and implementing regulations at 50 CFR part 660 by NMFS on California least tern, southern sea otter, bull trout, marbeled murrelet, and short-tailed albatross. FWS 01EOFW00-2012-F-0086.

Appendix A 2014 Catch Sharing Plan 2014 PACIFIC HALIBUT CATCH SHARING PLAN FOR AREA 2A

(a) FRAMEWORK

This Plan constitutes a framework that shall be applied to the annual Area 2A total allowable catch (TAC) approved by the International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) each January. The framework shall be implemented in both IPHC regulations and domestic regulations (implemented by NMFS) as published in the *Federal Register*.

(b) ALLOCATIONS

This Plan allocates 35 percent of the Area 2A TAC to U.S. treaty Indian tribes in the State of Washington in subarea 2A-1, and 65 percent to non-Indian fisheries in Area 2A. The allocation to non-Indian fisheries is divided into four shares, with the Washington sport fishery (north of the Columbia River) receiving 36.6 percent, the Oregon sport fishery receiving 30.7 percent, the California sport fishery receiving 1.0 percent, and the commercial fishery receiving 31.7 percent. Allocations within the non-Indian commercial and sport fisheries are described in sections (e) and (f) of this Plan. These allocations may be changed if new information becomes available that indicates a change is necessary and/or the Pacific Fishery Management Council takes action to reconsider its allocation recommendations. Such changes will be made after appropriate rulemaking is completed and published in the *Federal Register*.

(c) SUBQUOTAS

The allocations in this Plan are distributed as subquotas to ensure that any overage or underage by any one group will not affect achievement of an allocation set aside for another group. The specific allocative measures in the treaty Indian, non-Indian commercial, and non-Indian sport fisheries in Area 2A are described in paragraphs (d) through (f) of this Plan.

(d) TREATY INDIAN FISHERIES

Thirty-five percent of the Area 2A TAC is allocated to 13 treaty Indian tribes in subarea 2A-1, which includes that portion of Area 2A north of Point Chehalis, WA (46°53.30' N. lat.) and east of 125°44.00' W. long. The treaty Indian allocation is to provide for a tribal commercial fishery and a ceremonial and subsistence fishery. These two fisheries are managed separately; any overages in the commercial fishery do not affect the ceremonial and subsistence fishery is managed to achieve an established subquota, while the ceremonial and subsistence fishery is managed for a year-round season. The tribes will estimate the ceremonial and subsistence harvest expectations in January of each year, and the remainder of the allocation will be for the tribal commercial fishery.

- (1) The tribal ceremonial and subsistence fishery begins on January 1 and continues through December 31. No size or bag limits will apply to the ceremonial and subsistence fishery, except that when the tribal commercial fishery is closed, treaty Indians may take and retain not more than two halibut per day per person for subsistence purposes. Ceremonial fisheries shall be managed by tribal regulations promulgated inseason to meet the needs of specific ceremonial events. Halibut taken for ceremonial and subsistence purposes may not be offered for sale or sold.
- (2) The tribal commercial fishery season dates will be set within the season dates determined by the IPHC and implemented in IPHC regulations. The tribal commercial fishery will close when the subquota is taken. Any halibut sold by treaty Indians during the commercial fishing season must comply with IPHC regulations on size limits for the non-Indian fishery.

(e) NON-INDIAN COMMERCIAL FISHERIES

The non-Indian commercial fishery is allocated 31.7 percent of the non-Indian share of the Area 2A TAC for a directed halibut fishery and an incidental catch fishery during the salmon troll fishery. The non-Indian commercial allocation is approximately 20.6 percent of the Area 2A TAC. Incidental catch of halibut in the primary directed sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA will be authorized if the Washington sport allocation exceeds 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) as described in section (e)(3) of this Plan. The structuring and management of these three fisheries is as follows.

(1) <u>Incidental halibut catch in the salmon troll fishery</u>.

Fifteen percent of the non-Indian commercial fishery allocation is allocated to the salmon troll fishery in Area 2A as an incidental catch during salmon fisheries. The quota for this incidental catch fishery is approximately 3.1 percent of the Area 2A TAC. The primary management objective for this fishery is to harvest the troll quota as an incidental catch during the April-June salmon troll fishery. The secondary management objective is to harvest the remaining troll quota as an incidental catch during the salmon troll fishery.

- (i) The Council will recommend landing restrictions at its spring public meeting each year to control the amount of halibut caught incidentally in the troll fishery. The landing restrictions will be based on the number of incidental harvest license applications submitted to the IPHC, halibut catch rates, the amount of allocation, and other pertinent factors, and may include catch or landing ratios, landing limits, or other means to control the rate of halibut harvest. NMFS will publish the landing restrictions annually in the *Federal Register*, along with the salmon management measures.
- (ii) Inseason adjustments to the incidental halibut catch fishery.

(A) NMFS may make inseason adjustments to the landing restrictions, if requested by the Council Chairman, as necessary to assure that the incidental harvest rate is appropriate for salmon and halibut availability, does not encourage target fishing on halibut, and does not increase the likelihood of exceeding the quota for this fishery. In determining whether to make such inseason adjustments, NMFS will consult with the applicable state representative(s), a representative of the Council's Salmon Advisory Sub-Panel, and Council staff.

(B) Notice and effectiveness of inseason adjustments will be made by NMFS in accordance with paragraph (f)(5) of this Plan.

- (iii) If the overall quota for the non-Indian, incidental commercial troll fishery has not been harvested by salmon trollers during the April-June fishery, additional landings of halibut caught incidentally during salmon troll fisheries will be allowed in July and will continue until the amount of halibut that was initially available as quota for the troll fishery is taken or until the end of the season date for commercial halibut fishing determined by the IPHC and implemented in IPHC regulation. Landing restrictions implemented for the April-June salmon troll fishery will apply for as long as this fishery is open. Notice of the July opening of this fishery will be announced on the NMFS hotline (206) 526-6667 or (800) 662-9825. Halibut retention in the salmon troll fishery will be allowed after June only if the opening has been announced on the NMFS hotline.
- (iv) A salmon troller may participate in this fishery or in the directed commercial fishery targeting halibut, but not in both.
- (v) Under the Pacific Coast groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.330, fishing with salmon troll gear is prohibited within the Salmon Troll Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area (YRCA). The Salmon Troll YRCA is an area off the northern Washington coast and is defined by straight lines connecting latitude and longitude coordinates. Coordinates for the Salmon Troll YRCA are specified in groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.70(c) and in salmon regulations at 50 CFR 660.405(c).

(2) <u>Directed fishery targeting halibut</u>.

Eighty-five percent of the non-Indian commercial fishery allocation is allocated to the directed fishery targeting halibut (e.g., longline fishery) in southern Washington, Oregon, and California. The allocation for this directed catch fishery is approximately 17.5 percent of the Area 2A TAC. This fishery is confined to the area south of Subarea 2A-1 (south of Point Chehalis, WA; 46°53.30' N. lat.). This fishery may also be managed with closed areas designed to protect overfished groundfish species. Any such closed areas will be described

annually in federal halibut regulations published in the *Federal Register* and the coordinates will be specifically defined at 50 CFR 660.71 through 660.74. The commercial fishery opening date(s), duration, and vessel trip limits, as necessary to ensure that the quota for the non-Indian commercial fisheries is not exceeded, will be determined by the IPHC and implemented in IPHC regulations. If the IPHC determines that poundage remaining in the quota for the non-Indian commercial fisheries is insufficient to allow an additional day of directed halibut fishing, the remaining halibut will be made available for incidental catch of halibut in the fall salmon troll fisheries (independent of the incidental harvest allocation).

(3) Incidental catch in the sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis.

If the Area 2A TAC is greater than 900,000 lb (408.2 mt), the primary directed sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis will be allocated the Washington sport allocation that is in excess of 214,110 lb (97.1 mt), provided a minimum of 10,000 lb (4.5 mt) is available (i.e., the Washington sport allocation is 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) or greater). If the amount above 214,110 lb (97.1 mt) is less than 10,000 lb (4.5 mt), then the excess will be allocated to the Washington sport subareas according to section (f) of this Plan. The amount of halibut allocated to the sablefish fishery will be shared as follows: up to 70,000 lb of halibut to the primary sablefish fishery north of Pt. Chehalis. Any remaining allocation will be distributed to the Washington sport fishery among the four subareas according to the Plan, Section (f)(1).

The Council will recommend landing restrictions at its spring public meeting each year to control the amount of halibut caught incidentally in this fishery. The landing restrictions will be based on the amount of the allocation and other pertinent factors, and may include catch or landing ratios, landing limits, or other means to control the rate of halibut landings. NMFS will publish the landing restrictions annually in the Federal Register.

Under Pacific Coast groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.230, fishing with limited entry fixed gear is prohibited within the North Coast Commercial Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area (YRCA) and the Non-Trawl Rockfish Conservation Area (RCA). The North Coast Commercial Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area YRCA is an area off the northern Washington coast, overlapping the northern part of North Coast Recreational YRCA. The Non-Trawl RCA is an area off the Washington coast. These closed areas are defined by straight lines connecting latitude and longitude coordinates. Coordinates for the North Coast Commercial YRCA are specified in groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.70(b). Coordinates for the Non-Trawl RCA are specified in groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.73.

(4) Commercial license restrictions/declarations.

Commercial fishers must choose either (1) to operate in the directed commercial fishery in Area 2A and/or retain halibut caught incidentally in the primary directed sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA or (2) to retain halibut caught incidentally during the salmon troll fishery. Unless otherwise required by IPHC regulations, commercial fishers must obtain an individual vessel license for each commercial fishery: (1) to operate in the directed commercial fishery in Area 2A; or (2) to retain halibut caught incidentally in the primary sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA; or (3) to retain halibut caught incidentally during the salmon troll fishery. Commercial fishers wishing to operate in both the directed commercial fishery in Area 2A and/or retain halibut caught incidentally in the primary directed sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA may not obtain a vessel license to retain halibut caught incidentally during the salmon troll season. Commercial fishers operating in the directed halibut fishery must send their vessel license application to the IPHC postmarked no later than April 30, or the first weekday in May, if April 30 falls on a weekend, in order to obtain a vessel license to fish for halibut in Area 2A. Unless otherwise required by IPHC regulations, commercial fishers operating in the primary sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA who seek to retain incidentally caught halibut must send their vessel license application to the IPHC postmarked no later than March 15, or the first weekday following March 15, if March 15 falls on a weekend, in order to obtain a vessel license to retain incidentally caught halibut in Area 2A. Unless otherwise required by IPHC regulations, commercial fishers operating in the salmon troll fishery who seek to retain incidentally caught halibut must send their vessel license application to the IPHC postmarked no later than March 15, or the first weekday following March 15, if March 15 falls on a weekend, in order to obtain a vessel license to retain incidentally caught halibut in Area 2A. Fishing vessels licensed by IPHC to fish commercially in Area 2A are prohibited from operating in the sport fisheries in Area 2A.

(f) SPORT FISHERIES

The non-Indian sport fisheries are allocated 68.3 percent of the non-Indian share, which is approximately 44.4 percent of the Area 2A TAC. The allocation is further divided as subquotas among seven geographic subareas.

(1) <u>Subarea management</u>. The sport fishery is divided into seven sport fishery subareas, each having separate allocations and management measures as follows.

(i) Washington inside waters (Puget Sound) subarea.

This sport fishery subarea is allocated 23.5 percent of the first 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 32 percent of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) and 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) (except as provided in section (e)(3) of this Plan). This subarea is defined as all U.S. waters east of the mouth of the Sekiu River, as defined by a line extending from 48°17.30' N. lat., 124°23.70' W. long. north to 48°24.10' N. lat., 124°23.70' W. long., including Puget Sound. The structuring objective for this subarea is to provide a stable sport fishing opportunity and maximize the season length. To that end, the Puget Sound subarea may be divided into two regions with separate

seasons to achieve a fair harvest opportunity within the subarea. Due to inability to monitor the catch in this area inseason, fixed seasons, which may vary and apply to different regions within the subarea, will be established preseason based on projected catch per day and number of days to achievement of the quota. Inseason adjustments may be made, and estimates of actual catch will be made postseason. The fishery will open in April or May and continue until a dates established preseason (and published in the sport fishery regulations) when the quota is predicted to be taken, or until September 30, whichever is earlier. The Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife will develop recommendations to NMFS on the opening date and weekly structure of the fishery each year. The daily bag limit is one fish per person, with no size limit.

(ii) Washington north coast subarea.

This sport fishery subarea is allocated 62.2 percent of the first 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 32 percent of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) and 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) (except as provided in section (e)(3) of this Plan). This subarea is defined as all U.S. waters west of the mouth of the Sekiu River, as defined above in paragraph (f)(1)(i), and north of the Queets River (47°31.70' N. lat.). The management objective for this subarea is to provide a quality recreational fishing opportunity during May and June. The fishery will open on the first Thursday between May 9 and 15, and continue 2 days per week (Thursday and Saturday) in May for two weeks, with a quota management closure scheduled for the third week. If sufficient quota remains, the fishery will reopen on the following Thursday or Saturday. Any openings after the quota management closure will be scheduled to allow adequate public notice of any inseason action before each opening.

No sport fishing for halibut is allowed after September 30. If the fishery is closed prior to September 30, and there is insufficient quota remaining to reopen for another fishing day, then any remaining quota may be transferred inseason to another Washington coastal subarea by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. The daily bag limit in all fisheries is one halibut per person with no size limit.

Recreational fishing for groundfish and halibut is prohibited within the North Coast Recreational Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area (YRCA). The North Coast Recreational YRCA is a C-shaped area off the northern Washington coast and is defined by straight lines connecting latitude and longitude coordinates. Coordinates for the North Coast Recreational YRCA are specified in groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.70(a) and will be described annually in federal halibut regulations published in the *Federal Register*.

(iii) Washington south coast subarea.

This sport fishery is allocated 12.3 percent of the first 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 32 percent of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) and 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) (except as provided in section (e)(3) of this Plan. This subarea is defined as waters south of the Queets River (47°31.70' N. lat.) and north of Leadbetter Point (46°38.17' N. lat.). The structuring objective for this subarea is to maximize the season length, while maintaining a quality fishing experience. The south coast subarea quota will be allocated as follows: 10% or 2,000 pounds, whichever is less, will be set aside for the nearshore fishery with the remaining amount allocated to the primary fishery. During days open to the primary fishery and seaward of the 30-fm line lingcod may be taken, retained and possessed, when allowed by groundfish regulations. The fishery will open on the first Sunday in May. The primary fishery will be open two days per week, Sunday and Tuesday, in all areas, except where prohibited, and will remain open for three consecutive Sundays and Tuesdays before a management closure the following week to tally the catch. If the primary quota is projected to be obtained sooner than expected the management closure may occur earlier. If there is sufficient quota remaining following the management closure the fishery would continue two days per week, Sunday and/or Tuesday, until the quota for the primary fishery season is reached or September 30, whichever is earlier. If there is insufficient quota remaining to reopen the primary fishery for another fishing day, the remaining primary fishery quota will be added to the nearshore quota. The nearshore fishery takes place, in the area from 47°31.70' N. lat. south to 46°58.00' N. lat. and east of a boundary line approximating the 30 fathom depth contour as defined by the following coordinates:

47°31.70′ N.lat, 124°37.03′ W. long; 47°25.67′ N. lat, 124°34.79′ W. long; 47°12.82′ N. lat, 124°29.12′ W. long; 46°58.00′ N. lat, 124°24.24′ W. long.

During the primary season the nearshore fishery will be open seven days per week. Subsequent to the closure of the primary fishery, the nearshore fishery will continue seven days per week until the remaining quota is projected to be taken. If the fishery is closed prior to September 30, and there is insufficient quota remaining to reopen the nearshore areas for another fishing day, then any remaining quota may be transferred inseason to another Washington coastal subarea by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit.

Recreational fishing for groundfish and halibut is prohibited within two YRCA's off Washington's southern coast. The South Coast Recreational YRCA and the Westport Offshore YRCA are defined by straight lines connecting latitude and longitude coordinates. Coordinates for these Recreational YRCAs are specified in groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.70 (d) and (e) and will be described annually in federal halibut regulations published in the *Federal Register*.

(iv) Columbia River subarea.

This sport fishery subarea is allocated 2.0 percent of the first 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 4.0 percent of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) and 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) (except as provided in section (e)(3) of this Plan). This subarea is also allocated an amount equal to the contribution from the Washington sport allocation from the Oregon sport allocation. This subarea is defined as waters south of Leadbetter Point, WA (46°38.17' N. lat.) and north of Cape Falcon, OR (45°46.00' N. lat.). The Columbia River subarea seasons are as follows:

- **a.** A nearshore fishery is allocated 10 percent or 1,500 pounds of the Columbia River subarea allocation, whichever is less, to allow incidental halibut retention on groundfish trips in the area shoreward of the boundary line approximating the 30 fathom (55 m) depth contour extending from Leadbetter Point, WA (46°38.17' N. lat., 124°15.88' W. long.) to the Washington-Oregon border (46°16.00' N. lat., 124°15.88' W. long.) and from there, connecting to the boundary line approximating the 40 fathom (73 m) depth contour in Oregon. Coordinates will be specifically defined at 50 CFR 660.71 through 660.74. The nearshore fishery will be open Monday through Wednesday following the opening of the early season all-depth fishery, until the nearshore allocation is taken or September 30, whichever is earlier. Taking, retaining, possessing or landing halibut on groundfish trips is only allowed in the nearshore area on days not open to all-depth Pacific halibut fisheries. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit.
- b. The remaining Columbia River subarea allocation will be allocated such that 80 percent is reserved for an early season all-depth fishery beginning in May and 20 percent reserved for a late season all-depth fishery beginning in August. The early season all-depth_fishery will open on the first Thursday in May or May 1 if it is a Friday, Saturday or Sunday, 4 days per week, Thursday through Sunday until the early season portion of the subarea allocation is taken. The fishery will reopen for the late season all-depth fishery on the first Thursday in August and continue 4 days per week, Thursday-Sunday until the remainder of the subarea quota has been taken, or until September 30, whichever is earlier. The early and late seasons will run continuously, unless closed due to quota attainment. Any remaining early season all-depth fishery. Subsequent to the closure, if there is insufficient quota remaining in the Columbia River subarea for another fishing day, then

any remaining quota may be transferred inseason to another Washington and/or Oregon subarea by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. Any remaining quota would be transferred to each state in proportion to its contribution. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit. No groundfish may be taken and retained, possessed or landed, except sablefish and Pacific cod when allowed by groundfish regulations, if halibut are on board the vessel.

(v) Oregon central coast subarea.

This subarea extends from Cape Falcon (45°46.00' N. lat.) to Humbug Mountain, Oregon (42°40.50' N. lat.) and is allocated the Oregon sport allocation minus any amount of pounds needed to contribute to the Oregon portion of the Columbia River subarea quota. If the overall 2A TAC is 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater, the structuring objectives for this subarea are to provide two periods of fishing opportunity in Spring and in Summer in productive deeper water areas along the coast, and provide a period of fishing opportunity in the summer for nearshore waters. If the overall 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt), the structuring objectives for this subarea are to provide a period of fishing opportunity beginning in Spring in productive deeper water areas along the coast, and provide a period of fishing opportunity in nearshore waters. Any poundage remaining unharvested in the Spring all-depth subquota will be added to either the Summer all-depth sub-quota or the nearshore subquota based on need, determined via joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS and ODFW. If the 2A TAC exceeds 700,000 pounds, any poundage that is not needed to extend the inside 40-fathom (73 m) fishery through October 31 will be added to the Summer all-depth season if it can be used, and any poundage remaining unharvested from the Summer alldepth fishery will be added to the inside 40-fathom (73 m) fishery subquota, if it can be used. If inseason it is determined via joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS and ODFW, that the combined all-depth and inside 40-fathom (73 m) fisheries will not harvest the entire quota to the subarea, quota may be transferred inseason to another subarea south of Leadbetter Point, WA by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, unless otherwise specified, with no size limit. During days open to alldepth halibut fishing, no groundfish may be taken and retained, possessed or landed, except sablefish and Pacific cod when allowed by groundfish regulations, if halibut are on board the vessel.

Recreational fishing for groundfish and halibut is prohibited within the Stonewall Bank YRCA. The Stonewall Bank YRCA is an area off central Oregon, near Stonewall Bank, and is defined by straight lines connecting latitude and longitude coordinates. Coordinates for the Stonewall Bank YRCA are specified in groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.70 (f) and will be described annually in federal halibut regulations published in the *Federal Register*.
ODFW will sponsor a public input process shortly after the IPHC annual meeting to develop recommendations to NMFS on the open dates for each season each year. The three seasons for this subarea are as follows.

A. The first season (nearshore fishery) opens July 1, 7 days per week, only in waters inside the 40-fathom (73 m) curve. The fishery continues until the subquota is taken, or until October 31, whichever is earlier and is allocated 12 percent of the subarea quota if the 2A TAC is above 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater or 25 percent of the subarea quota if the 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt). Any overage in the all-depth fisheries would not affect achievement of allocation set aside for the inside 40-fathom (73 m) curve fishery.

B. The second season (Spring fishery) is an all-depth fishery with two potential openings and is allocated 61 percent of the subarea quota if the TAC is 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater, or 73 percent of the subarea quota if the subarea if the 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt). Fixed season dates will be established preseason for the first Spring opening and will not be modified inseason except if the combined Oregon all-depth Spring and Summer season total quotas are estimated to be achieved. Recent year catch rates will be used as a guideline for estimating the catch rate for the Spring fishery each year. The number of fixed season days established will be based on the projected catch per day with the intent of not exceeding the subarea subquota for this season. The first opening will be structured for 2 days per week (Friday and Saturday) if the season is for 4 or fewer fishing days. The fishery will be structured for 3 days per week (Thursday through Saturday) if the season is for 5 or more fishing days. The fixed season dates will occur in consecutive weeks starting the second Thursday in May (if the season is 5 or more fishing days) or second Friday in May (if the season is 4 or fewer fishing days), with possible exceptions to avoid adverse tidal conditions. If, following the "fixed" dates, quota for this season remains unharvested, a second opening will be held. If it is determined appropriate through joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS and ODFW, fishing may be allowed on one or more additional days. Notice of the opening(s) will be announced by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. The fishery will be open every other week on Thursday through Saturday except that week(s) may be skipped to avoid adverse tidal conditions. The potential open Thursdays through Saturdays will be identified preseason. The fishery will continue until there is insufficient quota for an additional day of fishing or July 31, whichever is earlier if the 2A TAC is 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater. If the 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) the fishery will continue until there is insufficient quota for an additional day of fishing or October 31, whichever is earlier.

C. The last season (summer fishery) is an all-depth fishery that begins on the first Friday in August and is allocated 25 percent of the subarea quota if the 2A TAC is 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater. If the 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) then 0 percent of the subarea quota will be allocated to this season. The fishery will be structured to be open every other week on Friday and Saturday except that week(s) may be skipped to avoid adverse tidal conditions. The fishery will continue until there is insufficient quota remaining to reopen for another fishing day or October 31, whichever is earlier. The potential open Fridays and Saturdays will be identified preseason. If after the first scheduled open period, the remaining Cape Falcon to Humbug Mountain entire season quota (combined all-depth and inside 40-fathom (73 m) quotas) is 60,000 lb (27.2 mt) or more, the fishery will re-open on every Friday and Saturday (versus every other Friday and Saturday), if determined to be appropriate through joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS, and ODFW. The inseason action will be announced by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. If after the Labor Day weekend, the remaining Cape Falcon to Humbug Mountain entire season quota (combined all-depth and inside 40-fathom (73 m) quotas) is 30,000 lb (13.6 mt) or more and the fishery is not already open every Friday and Saturday, the fishery will re-open on every Friday and Saturday (versus every other Friday and Saturday), if determined to be appropriate through joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS, and ODFW. After the Labor Day weekend, the IPHC, NMFS, and ODFW will consult to determine whether increasing the Oregon Central Coast bag limit to two fish is warranted with the intent that the quota for the subarea is taken by September 30. If the quota is not taken by September 30, the season will remain open, maintaining the bag limit in effect at that time, through October 31 or quota attainment, whichever is earlier. The inseason action will be announced by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline.

(vi) Southern Oregon Subarea

This sport fishery is allocated 2.0 percent of the Oregon Central Coast Subarea allocation. This area is defined as the area south of Humbug Mountain, OR (42° 40.50' N. lat.) to the Oregon/California Border (42° 00.00' N. lat.). This fishery will open May 1, seven days per week until the subquota is taken or October 31, whichever is earlier. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person with no size limit.

(vii) California subarea.

This sport fishery subarea is allocated 1.0 percent of the non-Indian allocation. This area is defined as the area south of the Oregon/California Border (42° 00.00' N. lat.), including all California waters. The structuring objective for this subarea is to provide anglers the opportunity to fish in a fixed season that is open from May 1 through July 31 and September 1 through October 31. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit. Due to inability to monitor the catch in this area inseason, a fixed season will be established preseason by NMFS based on projected seasonal catch; no inseason adjustments will be made, and estimates of actual catch will be made post season.

- (2) <u>Port of landing management</u>. All sport fishing in Area 2A will be managed on a "port of landing" basis, whereby any halibut landed into a port will count toward the quota for the subarea in which that port is located, and the regulations governing the subarea of landing apply, regardless of the specific area of catch.
- (3) <u>Possession limits</u>. The sport possession limit on land in Washington is two daily bag limits, regardless of condition, but only one daily bag limit may be possessed on the vessel. The sport possession limit on land in Oregon is three daily bag limits, regardless of condition, but only one daily bag limit may be possessed on the vessel. The sport possession limit on land in California and on the vessel is one daily bag limit, regardless of condition.
- (4) <u>Ban on sport vessels in the commercial fishery</u>. Vessels operating in the sport fishery for halibut in Area 2A are prohibited from operating in the commercial halibut fishery in Area 2A. Sport fishers and charterboat operators must determine, prior to May 1 of each year, whether they will operate in the commercial halibut fisheries in Area 2A which requires a commercial fishing license from the IPHC. Sport fishing for halibut in Area 2A is prohibited from a vessel licensed to fish commercially for halibut in Area 2A.
- (5) <u>Flexible inseason management provisions</u>.
 - (i) The Regional Administrator, NMFS Northwest Region, after consultation with the Chairman of the Pacific Fishery Management Council, the IPHC Executive Director, and the Fisheries Director(s) of the affected state(s), or their designees, is authorized to modify regulations during the season after making the following determinations.
 - (A) The action is necessary to allow allocation objectives to be met.
 - (B) The action will not result in exceeding the catch limit for the area.
 - (C) If any of the sport fishery subareas north of Cape Falcon, OR are not projected to utilize their respective quotas by September 30, NMFS may take inseason action to transfer any projected unused quota to another Washington sport subarea.
 - (D) If any of the sport fishery subareas south of Leadbetter Point, WA are not projected to utilize their respective quotas by their season

ending dates, NMFS may take inseason action to transfer any projected unused quota to another Oregon sport subarea.

- (ii) Flexible inseason management provisions include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - (A) Modification of sport fishing periods;
 - (B) Modification of sport fishing bag limits;
 - (C) Modification of sport fishing size limits;
 - (D) Modification of sport fishing days per calendar week; and
 - (E) Modification of subarea quotas.
- (iii) Notice procedures.
 - (A) Inseason actions taken by NMFS will be published in the *Federal Register*.
 - (B) Actual notice of inseason management actions will be provided by a telephone hotline administered by the Northwest Region, NMFS, at 206-526-6667 or 800-662-9825 (May through October) and by U.S. Coast Guard broadcasts. These broadcasts are announced on Channel 16 VHF-FM and 2182 kHz at frequent intervals. The announcements designate the channel or frequency over which the notice to mariners will be immediately broadcast. Since provisions of these regulations may be altered by inseason actions, sport fishermen should monitor either the telephone hotline or U.S. Coast Guard broadcasts for current information for the area in which they are fishing.
- (iv) Effective dates.
 - (A) Inseason actions will be effective on the date specified in the <u>Federal Register</u> notice or at the time that the action is filed for public inspection with the Office of the Federal Register, whichever is later.
 - (B) If time allows, NMFS will invite public comment prior to the effective date of any inseason action filed with the *Federal Register*. If the Regional Administrator determines, for good cause, that an inseason action must be filed without affording a prior opportunity for public comment, public comments will be

received for a period of 15 days after of the action in the *Federal Register*.

- (C) Inseason actions will remain in effect until the stated expiration date or until rescinded, modified, or superseded. However, no inseason action has any effect beyond the end of the calendar year in which it is issued.
- (v) Availability of data. The Regional Administrator will compile, in aggregate form, all data and other information relevant to the action being taken and will make them available for public review during normal office hours at the Northwest Regional Office, NMFS, Sustainable Fisheries Division, 7600 Sand Point Way NE, Seattle, WA.

(6) <u>Sport fishery closure provisions</u>.

The IPHC shall determine and announce closing dates to the public for any subarea in which a subquota is estimated to have been taken. When the IPHC has determined that a subquota has been taken, and has announced a date on which the season will close, no person shall sport fish for halibut in that area after that date for the rest of the year, unless a reopening of that area for sport halibut fishing is scheduled by NMFS as an inseason action, or announced by the IPHC.

(g) PROCEDURES FOR IMPLEMENTATION

Each year, NMFS will publish a proposed rule with any regulatory modifications necessary to implement the Plan for the following year, with a request for public comments. The comment period will extend until after the IPHC annual meeting, so that the public will have the opportunity to consider the final Area 2A TAC before submitting comments. After the Area 2A TAC is known, and after NMFS reviews public comments, NMFS will implement final rules governing the sport fisheries. The final ratio of halibut to Chinook to be allowed as incidental catch in the salmon troll fishery will be published with the annual salmon management measures.

77 FR 16740 (March 22, 2012)	73 FR 12280 (March 7, 2008)	60 FR 14651 (March 20, 1995)
76 FR 14300 (March 16, 2011)	72 FR 11792 (March 14, 2007)	59 FR 22522 (May 2, 1994)
75 FR 13024 (March 18, 2010)	71 FR 10850 (March 3, 2006)	58 FR 17791 (April 6, 1993)
74 FR 11681 (March 19, 2009)	70 FR 20304 (April 19, 2005)	
	69 FR 24524 (May 4, 2004)	
	68 FR 10989 (March 7, 2003)	
	67 FR 12885 (March 20, 2002)	
	66 FR 15801 (March 21, 2001)	
	65 FR 14909 (March 20, 2000)	
	64 FR 13519 (March 19, 1999)	
	63 FR 13000 (March 17, 1998)	
	62 FR 12759 (March 18, 1997)	
	61 FR 11337 (March 20, 1996)	

Appendix B NMFS Report on 2013 Halibut fisheries. This report was presented at the 2014 Annual IPHC meeting January 2014.

REPORT ON THE 2013 PACIFIC HALIBUT FISHERIES IN AREA 2A (12/27/2013)

The 2013 Area 2A total allowable catch (TAC) of 990,000 lbs set by the International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) was allocated as follows:

Treaty Tribes	346,500 lbs (35%)
Non-Tribal Total	643,500 lbs (65%)
Non-Tribal Commercial	225,400 lbs
Washington Sport	214,110 lbs
Oregon/California Sport	203,990 lbs

All weights in this report are net weight (gutted, head-off, and without ice and slime.) The structure of each fishery and the resulting harvests are described below. Refer to the table at the end of this report for the catches by the tribal, commercial and recreational fisheries.

NON-TRIBAL COMMERCIAL FISHERIES

A quota of 225,400 lbs (31.7% of the non-tribal share + 21,410 lbs for incidental halibut catch in the sablefish primary fishery) was allocated to two fishery components: 1) a directed longline fishery targeting on halibut south of Point Chehalis, WA; and 2) an incidental catch fishery during the salmon troll fisheries off Washington, Oregon, and California. An additional 21,410 lbs were allocated to an incidental catch fishery in the sablefish primary fishery for vessels using longline gear north of Point Chehalis, WA. This allowance for the sablefish primary fishery is only available in years when the overall Area 2A TAC exceeds 900,000 lbs and is taken from the portion of the Washington sport allocation that is above 214,110, as long as the amount is at least 10,000 lbs.

Incidental halibut catch in the salmon troll fishery

A quota of 30,600 lbs of Pacific halibut (15% of the non-tribal commercial fishery allocation) was allocated to the non-tribal commercial salmon troll fishery in Area 2A as incidental catch during salmon troll fisheries. During the development of the 2013 Catch Sharing Plan (CSP) the management objective for this fishery was changed from May-June to April-June. This change was made in anticipation of the 2014 pre-May salmon fisheries not for the 2013 fisheries. Therefore, in 2013 halibut retention was allowed beginning May 1, even though the CSP had already been amended to reflect the April-June timing.

If any of the allocation for this fishery remains after June 30, the fishery may continue to retain incidentally caught halibut in the salmon troll fisheries until the quota is taken. The final catch ratio established preseason by the Council at the April 2013 meeting was one halibut (minimum 32 inches) per three Chinook landed by a salmon troller, except that one halibut could be landed without meeting the ratio requirement, and no more than 15 halibut could be landed per open period. Fishing with salmon troll gear is prohibited within the Salmon Troll Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area (YRCA) off the northern Washington Coast. Additionally, the "C-shaped" North Coast Recreational YRCA off Washington is designated as an area to be avoided (a voluntary closure) by salmon trollers.

- Halibut retention was permitted in the salmon troll fisheries began on May 1, 2013, with the following ratio: 1 halibut per each 3 Chinook, except that 1 halibut may be landed without meeting the ratio requirement, and no more than 15 halibut may be possessed or landed per trip.
- Beginning August 1, 2013, the ratio was changed to 1 halibut per each 3 Chinook, expect that 1 halibut may be landed without meeting the ratio requirement, and no more than 5 halibut may be possessed or landed per trip. The goal of this change was to extend the opportunity through the summer.
- As of August 10, 2013, 30,388 lbs were landed.
- The fishery closed on August 8 in the area north of Cape Falcon, Oregon, and on August 10 in the area south of Cape Falcon, Oregon.

Directed fishery targeting on halibut

A quota of 173,390 lbs (85% of the non-tribal commercial fishery allocation) was allocated to the directed longline fishery targeting on halibut in southern Washington, Oregon, and California. The fishery was confined to the area south of Subarea 2A-1 (south of Point Chehalis, WA; 46°53.30' N. lat.). In addition, there are closed areas along the coast defined by depth contours. Between the U.S./Canada border and 40°10' N. lat the western boundary is defined by a line approximating the 100 fm depth contour. The eastern boundary is defined as follows: Between the U.S./Canada border and 46°16' N. lat., the boundary is the shoreline. Between 46°16' N. lat. and 43°00' N. lat, the boundary is the line approximating the 30 fm depth contour. Between 43°00' N. lat and 42°00' N. lat the boundary is the line approximating the 20 fm depth contour.

One-day fishing periods of 10 hours in duration were scheduled every other week by the IPHC starting June 26, 2013. A 32 inch minimum size limit with the head on was in effect for all openings. Vessel landing limits per fishing period based on vessel length were imposed by IPHC during all openings as shown in the following table. Vessels choosing to operate in this fishery could not land halibut in the incidental catch salmon troll fishery, nor operate in the recreational fishery.

Vessel Class/Size	June 26 Opening	July 10 Opening
A 0 - 25 ft.	755 lbs	250 lbs
B 26 - 30 ft.	945 lbs	315 lbs
C 31 - 35 ft.	1,510 lbs	505 lbs
D 36 - 40 ft.	4,165 lbs	1,390 lbs
E 41 - 45 ft.	4,480 lbs	1,495 lbs
F 46 - 50 ft.	5,365 lbs	1,790 lbs
G 51 - 55 ft.	5,985 lbs	1,995 lbs

2013 fishing period limits (dressed weight, head-off without ice and slime in pounds) by
vessel size.

Vessel Class/Size		June 26 Opening	July 10 Opening	
Н	56+ ft.	9,000 lbs	3,000 lbs	

- The June 26 directed commercial fishery resulted in a catch of about 118,000 lbs, leaving approximately 55,390 lbs.
- The July 10 directed commercial opening resulted in an approximate catch of 55,000 lbs. The fishery closed following the July 10 opening.

Incidental halibut catch in the sablefish primary longline fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA

A quota of 21,410 lbs was allocated to the limited entry sablefish primary fishery in Area 2A as an incidental catch during the sablefish primary fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA. The sablefish primary season is open from April 1 to October 31, although incidental halibut retention was not permitted until May 1. Vessels with a groundfish limited entry permit endorsed for both longline gear and with a sablefish tier were permitted to retain up to 75 lbs (dressed weight) of halibut per 1,000 lbs (dressed weight) of sablefish and up to 2 additional halibut in excess of the landing limit ratio. The fishery is confined to an area seaward of a boundary line approximating the 100-fm depth contour. Fishing is also prohibited in the North Coast Commercial YRCA, an area off the northern Washington coast. In addition, the "C-shaped" North Coast Recreational YRCA off Washington is designated as an area to be avoided (a voluntary closure) by commercial longline sablefish fishermen.

• This fishery closed on October 31 with an estimated catch of 12,000 lbs.

SPORT FISHERIES (Non-tribal)

418,100 lbs (68.3% of non-tribal share, minus 21,410 lbs allocated to the sablefish primary fishery from the Washington sport allocation) was allocated between sport fisheries in the Washington area (36.6%) and Oregon/California (31.7%). The allocations were further subdivided as quotas among six geographic subareas as described below. Unless otherwise noted the daily bag limit in all subareas was one halibut of any size, per person, per day.

Washington Inside Waters Subarea (Puget Sound and Straits of Juan de Fuca). This area was allocated 57,393 lbs (23.5% of the first 130,845 lbs allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 32% of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 and 224,110 lbs). Due to inability to monitor the catch in this area inseason, a fixed season was established preseason based on projected catch per day and number of days to achieve the sub-quota. The Puget Sound eastern sub-area, east of Low Point, was open for two 3-day periods on May 2-4 and May 16-18 (Thursday-Saturday), one 4-day period on May 23-26, Thursday-Sunday, and one 2-day period on May 30-31 (Thursday-Friday). The fishing season in western Puget Sound (west of 123°49.50' W. long., Low Point) is open May 23-26, Thursday-Sunday, and May 30-June 1, Thursday-Saturday and one day on Saturday June 8.

• The estimates for total catch in this area are not yet available.

<u>Northern Washington Coastal Waters Subarea</u> (landings in Neah Bay and La Push). The coastal area off Cape Flattery to Queets River was allocated 108,030 lbs (62.2% of the first 130,845 lbs allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 32% of the Washington sport allocation between 130,945 lbs and 224,110 lbs). The fishery was open for four days (May 9, 11, 16, 18, 2013). The "C-shaped" North Coast Recreational YRCA, southwest of Cape Flattery, was closed to sport halibut fishing.

• The estimated total catch for this area is 107,856 lbs, leaving 174 lbs.

Washington South Coast Subarea (landings in Westport)

The area from the Queets River to Leadbetter Point was allocated 42,740 lbs (12.3% of the first 130,845 lbs allocated to the Washington sport fishery and 32% of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 and 224,110 lbs). This subarea operates with a primary fishery and a nearshore fishery. The primary fishery was open May 5, 7, 12, 14, 19, and closed after the 19th. The nearshore fishery was open every day between May 5 and 19, 2013.

The nearshore fishery occurs in waters between the Queets River and 47°25.00' N. lat. south to 46°58.00' N. lat., and east of 124°30.00' W. long. The south coast subarea quota was allocated as follows: 2,000 lbs to the nearshore fishery and the remaining lbs (40,740 lbs) to the primary fishery.

• The estimated total catch for this area is 42,085 lbs, leaving 653 lbs.

Columbia River Subarea (Leadbetter Point to Cape Falcon)

This sport fishery subarea was allocated 11,895 lbs, consisting of 2.0% of the first 130,845 lbs allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 4.0% of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 lbs and 224,110 lbs, minus 21,410, (which is the amount allocated to incidental take in the sablefish primary fishery), and an equal amount from the Oregon/California sport allocation.

The fishery opened May 3 and closed September 30, 2013.

- The early fishery was open May 3 to July 28 with an estimated catch of 4,725 lbs.
- Catch during the early season resulted in underage of 4,791 lbs, which was added to the late season quota, for a revised late season quota of 7,170 lbs.
- The late season fishery opened August 2 and continued until September 30.
- Through September 30 the estimated late season total catch is 1,743 lbs.

Oregon Central Coast Subarea (Cape Falcon to Humbug Mountain).

This sport fishery subarea was allocated 191,979 lbs (97% of the Oregon/California sport allocation.

Three seasons were set for this subarea: 1) a restricted depth (inside 40-fm) fishery commenced on May 2 and continued 3 days a week (Thursday-Saturday) until July 26; 2) a fixed Spring season in all depths that was open on May 9-11, 16-18, May 30-June 1, 6-8, 20-22, and; 3) a Summer season in all depths that was open on August 2-3.

- The inside 40-fathom fishery closed on July 26 with an estimated total catch of 22,248 lbs. This was a 790 lbs underage which was added to the summer quota.
- The fixed Spring all-depth season closed on June 22 with an estimated total catch of 145,167 lbs. This resulted in an overage of 24,220 lbs which was deducted from the summer quota.
- The initial Summer all-depth season quota of 47,995 lbs, was revised by the 790 lbs nearshore underage and the 24,220 lbs spring overage resulting in a revised summer quota of 24,565 lbs.
- The Summer all-depth fishery was open August 2-3, and resulted in an estimated catch of

27,069 lbs. This was a 2,504 lbs overage.

• The summer fishery closed on August 3rd.

South of Humbug Mountain, Oregon and off the California Coast Subarea

This sport fishery was allocated 6,063 lbs (3.0% of the Oregon/California quota). This area had a pre-set season of 7 days per week from May 1 to October 31.

• This season is scheduled to remain open through October 31. No total catch estimates are available for this fishery.

TRIBAL FISHERIES

346,500 lbs (35% of the Area 2A TAC) was allocated to tribal fisheries. The tribes estimated that 32,200 lbs would be used for ceremonial and subsistence (C&S) fisheries and the remaining 314,300 lbs were allocated to the commercial fishery. The 2013 management plan was based on a court-order, to use the 2000 season plan, updated to reflect the current allocation and management measures. It contains provisions for both unrestricted fisheries with no landing limits and restricted fisheries with limits as well as a late season or mop-up fishery that can be set up to have no landing limits or with limits, toward the end of the season.

The unrestricted fishery began at noon on March 23 and lasted 48 hours. The unrestricted fishery landed 221,463 lbs in 309 landings.

The restricted fishery had two openers with each tribe choosing to participate in one or the other. The first began at noon on April 3 and lasted 36 hours. This fishery was managed with a landing limit of 500 lbs/vessel/day. A makeup restricted fishery was setup on April 15 for 36 hours and with a landing limit of 500 lbs/vessel/day for those tribes that did not participate in the earlier opener. There was a total of 74,667 lbs taken in 259 landings during both restricted fisheries.

The first late season fishery (mop-up fishery) took place at noon on May 8 and continued for 12 hours. This late season fishery had a landing limit of 150 lbs. The fishery landed 5,783 lbs in 54 landings. A second late season fishery took place on June 6 for 12 hours with a landing limit of 200 lbs. The fishery landed 3,572 lbs in 25 landings. A third late season fishery opened on July 13 and continued for 12 hours with a 200 lb landing limit. This fishery landed 471 lbs in 7 landings.

The remaining 8,344 lbs of halibut was allocated by mutual agreement of the halibut tribes to the Quinault Indian Nation to harvest in a special fishery for the 2013 canoe journey that Quinault was hosting this year. The special fishery landed 7,547 lbs in 3 landings.

In all, Treaty tribal fisheries harvested 313,503 lbs in 657 landings. This was an underage of 797 lbs below the commercial allocation. The C&S fishery will continue through December 31 and tribal estimates of catch will be reported by the tribes in January 2014.

Fishery	Dates Held	Pounds Landed	# of Landings
Unrestricted	March 23-25 (48 hr.)	221,463 lbs	309 landings
Restricted, 500 lbs/vessel/day	April 3-4 and April 15- 16 (36 hr.)	74,667 lbs	259 landings

Late Season (Mop Up)	May 8, June 6, July 13 (12 hr.)	9,826 lbs	86 landings
Special Fishery	July 22-Aug. 3	7,547 lbs	3 landings
Total		313,503 lbs	657 landings

2013 Area 2A TAC and Catc	(Preliminary data as of 12/27/2013)				
		Inseason			
		Revised			% of Quota
	Quota	Quota	Catch		Taken
TRIBAL INDIAN	346,500		313,503		90.5
Commercial	314,300		313,503		99.7
Ceremonial and Subsistence	32,200			*	0.0
NON-TRIBAL	643,500		585,704		91.0
COMMERCIAL	225,400		215,388		95.6
Troll	30,600		30,388		99.3
Sablefish incidental	21,410		12,000		56.0
Directed	173,390		173,000		99.8
SPORT	418,100		363,848		87.0
WA Sport	214,110		149,941		70.0
OR/CA Sport	203,990		207,439		101.7
WA Inside Waters	57,393			*	0.0
WA North Coast	108,030		107,856		99.8
WA South Coast	42,740		42,085		98.5
Columbia River	11,895		6,468		54.4
Early Season	9,516		4,725		49.7
Late Season	2,379	7,170	1,743		24.3
OR Central Coast	191,979		194,484		101.3
Inside 40 fathoms	23,038		22,248		96.6
Spring (May-June)	120,947		145,167		120.0
Summer (August- October)	47,995	24,565	27,069		110.2
OR S. of Humbug/CA	6,063	21,000	12,955	%	213.7
TOTAL	990,000		899,207		90.8
* Complete data not available					
% Estimate of Oregon catch only, California catch estimate not yet available.					

Appendix C

List of past NEPA analysis completed each year for Area 2A Catch Sharing Plan changes.

CE	EA	Memo	Notes	
[fishery	[fishery	to file		
year]	year]	[fishery		
2013		year]	CF.	
2015			<u>CE:</u>	Adjust the season for halibut retention in the salmon troll fishery;
			•	Adjust the season structure in the Columbia River subareas spring
				fishery;
			•	Adjust allocation percentages in the Oregon Central Coast subarea nearshore, spring, and summer fisheries.
				nearshole, spring, and summer rishertes.
2012			CE:	
			•	Adjust the season structure in the Washington South Coast subarea;
			•	Adjust the Oregon contribution to the Columbia River subarea and
				the subarea allocation split between the spring and summer
			•	fisheries; Adjust allocation percentages in the Oregon Central Coast subarea
				spring and nearshore fisheries and;
			•	Adjust Oregon Central Coast subarea language regarding the
				movement of quota from the spring fishery to the summer and
2011			CF.	nearshore fisheries within the Oregon Central Coast subarea.
2011			<u>CE:</u>	Adjust the Oregon Central Coast subarea spring and summer
				fishery subquota percentages.
			•	Specify that the definitions of closed areas set forth in the
				groundfish regulations will apply to the non-Indian directed halibut commercial fishery.
			•	Update all references to groundfish regulation coordinates and direct readers to groundfish regulations for depth contour
				coordinates
			•	Modify codified regulations at 50 CFR 300.63 in paragraph (e),
				replace the description of the groundfish RCA with specific
				reference to the closed areas and depth contours in the groundfish regulations.
			•	In the codified regulations at 50 CFR 300.63 remove coordinates
				and insert reference groundfish regulation coordinates.
			•	In the codified regulations at 50 CFR 300.63 update all references
				to the groundfish regulations to reflect changes made as a result of the groundfish regulation restructure occurring through the Trawl
				Individual Quota program.
			•	In the codified regulations at 50 CFR 300.64 add "receipt and
				possession" to the list of management measures that treaty Indian fishers must comply with.
2010			CE:	nshers must compry with.
2010			•	Adjust Washington South Coast Subarea primary season
			•	Specify that the Washington South Coast subarea nearshore area

CE EA Memo to file Notes [fishery year] [fishery year] will be open seven days per week. • Revise the northern and western boundaries of the Washin nearshore area. • Specify that in the Washington South Coast subarea seaw	
year] year] [fishery year] will be open seven days per week. • Revise the northern and western boundaries of the Washin nearshore area. • Specify that in the Washington South Coast subarea seaw	
 will be open seven days per week. Revise the northern and western boundaries of the Washi nearshore area. Specify that in the Washington South Coast subarea seaw 	
 Revise the northern and western boundaries of the Washi nearshore area. Specify that in the Washington South Coast subarea seaw 	
nearshore area.Specify that in the Washington South Coast subarea seaw	
Specify that in the Washington South Coast subarea seaw	ngton
	1 6 1
20 fm line on days when the primery fishery is onen ret	
30-fm line, on days when the primary fishery is open, retulingcod is allowed.	
 Change the open days in the Oregon Central Coast subard 	a all
depth fishery from three days per week to two days per w	
2009 <u>Memo to the file:</u>	
Remove the provision to divide the Washington North Coast s	subarea
quota between May and June;	
Set the Washington North Coast subarea as a 2-day per week	fishery;
Thursday and Saturday;	
Revise the June re-opening date in the Washington North Coa	st subarea
to the first Thursday in June;	
• Clarify that the nearshore set-aside in the Washington South C subgraphics 10 percent of the subguote, or 2,000 pounds, which	
subarea is 10 percent of the subquota, or 2,000 pounds, which less;	evel 18
 Set the Washington South Coast subarea to open the first Sum 	dav in
May and continue to be open on Sundays and Tuesdays in Ma	
that beginning on the third week in May the fishery would be	open on
Sunday only until the quota for the primary season is reached	
Set the nearshore fishery in the Washington South Coast suba	
day per week fishery, open Thursday, Friday, Saturday and Su	ınday,
during and after the primary season;	1 fishing
Specify that in addition to the South Coast YRCA, recreationation for groundfish and halibut will be prohibited in the Westport	-
YRCA;	JIISHOIC
 Set the Columbia River subarea spring fishery as a 3-day per subarea 	week
fishery, open Thursday, Friday and Saturday, until 70 percent	
subarea allocation is taken or until the third Sunday in July, w	
is earlier;	
Specify that in the Oregon Central Coast subarea Pacific cod	
retained with a halibut on the vessel during the all-depth open	
Add the Nooksack tribe to the definition of "Treaty Indian trib	
Add the Nooksack tribal fishing area boundaries federal regul Add the Westerrt VBCA to the federal regulations as an area	ations;
Add the Westport YRCA to the federal regulations as an area prohibited to recreational halibut fishing.	
$2008^{\underline{I}} \qquad \underline{Memo \ to \ the \ file \ for:}$	
With to the file for: Washington North Coast Subarea Sport Fishery	
• For the June fishery: a) revise the opening date; b) sp	ecify that
the Saturday offshore opener is contingent upon avail	
quota; and c) provide flexibility in the date that the la	te June
fishery reopens.	
Washington South Coast Subarea Sport Fishery	1
 For the primary season: a) in 2008 retain the opening May 1. Beginning in 2009, open the fishery on May 	
Sunday; otherwise, open on the first Sunday following	
and b) decrease the number of days the fishery will b	
from 5 to 2 days per week (Sunday and Tuesday).	- r

CE	EA	Memo	Notes
[fishery	[fishery	to file	
year]	year]	[fishery	
year]	year]	[fishery year]	 For the nearshore fishery: a) revise the set aside from 5 percent to 10 percent of the South Coast quota, which would be used to provide a northern nearshore fishery after the offshore fishery has closed; and b) decrease the number of days the nearshore-only fishery would be open from 7 to 4 days per week (Friday-Sunday and Tuesday). NMFS editorial changes to clean-up outdated language In section (b) Allocations, remove language referring to the 25,000 lb tribal allocation resulting from the U.S. v. Washington case. This paragraph required 25,000 lb dressed weight of halibut to be transferred from the non-treaty Area 2A halibut allocation to the treaty allocation in Area 2A-1 each year for eight years from 2000-2007, for a total transfer of 200,000 lb. Because this total transfer of 200,000 pounds is complete, this language is no longer necessary in the CSP. In section (f) Sport Fisheries, the number of sport subareas is revised from seven to six. In 2004, the Oregon Central Coast, previously two subareas-North Central and South Central, joined into one Central Coast subarea. Since 2004, there have been six sport subareas instead of seven. In section (f) of the CSP and in 50 CFR 300.63 (c)(2)(v) of the regulations, language regarding flexible inseason management for sport fisheries is revised. As mentioned in the other areas of the CSP, unused quota can be moved inseason both north of Cape Falcon, OR, and south of Leadbetter Point, WA, to modify quota in Area 2A sport fisheries. Therefore, the phrase "north of Cape Falcon, OR" is removed from the phrase "north of Cape Falcon, OR" is removed from the phrase "modification of subarea quotas" so that this language is
2007			consistent with practice and with other language in the CSP allowing all sport subarea quotas to be revised inseason. CE for:
			 For the Washington North Coast subarea June sport fishery: constrain the fishery to two specific nearshore areas on the first Tuesday and Thursday following June 17; reopen the fishery in the entire north coast subarea for one day on the first Saturday following June 17; if sufficient quota remains, reopen the entire subarea for one day on the first Thursday following on June 24, otherwise, reopen the nearshore areas on the first Thursday following June 24 for up to four days per week (Thursday-Sunday) until the quota is taken. For the Washington South Coast subarea sport fishery, set aside 5% of the South Coast quota for the nearshore fishery once the primary fishery has closed and set the nearshore fishery as a two day per week fishery, open Fridays and Saturdays. CE noted that 2007-2008 groundfish FEIS covered changes to the CSP to
2006			 implement additional closed areas (Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Areas, or YRCAs) off the coast of Washington affecting commercial and sport halibut fisheries. CE noted NMFS technical edits. <u>CE for:</u> For non-treaty commercial fisheries, change to annual domestic Area 2A halibut management measures to revise the eastern, inshore boundary of a

СЕ	EA	Memo	Notes
[fishery	[fishery	to file	
year]	year]	[fishery	
		year]	 closed area from 27-fm to 30-fm. The original area closure to non-treaty commercial halibut fishing was previously analyzed in the EA for 2003 (January 2003) and found to have no significant impact. The proposed area closure to non-treaty commercial halibut fishing was also analyzed in the EIS for the 2004 Pacific coast groundfish fishery (December 2003). For Washington sport fisheries: revise the process by which the public is notified of inseason shifts of halibut quota between Washington sport subareas; revise the process by which the public is notified of Puget Sound subarea fishing dates, and; make minor revisions to season start dates in the Washington North Coast and South Coast subareas. For Oregon sport fisheries: combine the North Central and South Central Coast subareas; revise the process by which "additional fishing days" are set for the Spring and Summer fisheries once the initial fixed fishing days have occurred in the Spring fishery and if the quota has not been achieved; extend the season duration south of Humbug Mountain to October 31; clarify Federal halibut season regulations so that they provide better protection for overfished groundfish species by stating that halibut possession is prohibited in waters closed to halibut fishing for the protection of groundfish, make halibut nearshore fishing area regulations consistent with Council recommendations for groundfish nearshore
			fishing area regulations.
2005	2005		 CE for: For the Washington South Coast subarea sport fishery, close to fishing in all depths when there is insufficient quota remaining for an additional fishing day, yet allow the fishery in the nearshore area to remain open if there is any additional quota that may be used in that subarea. For the Columbia River subarea sport fishery, increase Oregon's contribution to the subarea quota so that it equals Washington's contribution, by weight (a shifting of 0.16% of the Area 2A quota). For the Oregon Central Coast subarea sport fishery, add Thursdays to the Friday-Saturday pre-set open dates for the Oregon Central Coast Spring fishery; add Sundays to the Friday-Saturday open dates for the Oregon Central Coast Summer fishery; allow the Oregon Central Coast Summer fishery to be opened for additional dates if 60,000 lb remains in the combined nearshore and all-depth Central Coast quota after the first scheduled Summer fishery subareas, simplify inseason process used to transfer quota between subareas. EA for: Implementation of a new Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area off the central Oregon. Prohibition of groundfish retention in Oregon sport fisheries for halibut. Elimination of the minimum length requirement for halibut in sport fisheries south of Leadbetter Point, Washington.
2004			 <u>CE for</u>: For non-treaty commercial fisheries, change to annual domestic Area 2A halibut management measures to revise the eastern, inshore boundary of a closed area from 27-fm to 30-fm. The original area closure to non-treaty commercial halibut fishing was previously analyzed in the EA for 2003 (January 2003) and found to have no significant impact. The proposed area closure to non-treaty commercial halibut fishing was also analyzed in

CE	EA	Memo	Notes
[fishery year]	[fishery year]	to file [fishery	
year j	yeary	year]	
			 the EIS for the 2004 Pacific coast groundfish fishery (December 2003). For Washington sport fisheries: revise the process by which the public is notified of inseason shifts of halibut quota between Washington sport subareas; revise the process by which the public is notified of Puget Sound subarea fishing dates, and; make minor revisions to season start dates in the Washington North Coast and South Coast subareas. For Oregon sport fisheries: combine the North Central and South Central Coast subareas; revise the process by which "additional fishing days" are set for the Spring and Summer fisheries once the initial fixed fishing days have occurred in the Spring fishery and if the quota has not been achieved; extend the season duration south of Humbug Mountain to October 31; clarify Federal halibut season regulations so that they provide better protection for overfished groundfish species by stating that halibut possession is prohibited in waters closed to halibut fishing for the protection of groundfish, make halibut nearshore fishing area regulations consistent with Council recommendations for groundfish nearshore fishing area regulations.
2003	2003		 CE for: For non-treaty commercial fisheries, in years when halibut quota is available to the primary longline sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis, Washington (46°53'18" N. lat.,) set aside 70,000 lb of halibut. For the Oregon North Central and South Central sport fishery sub-areas, the season end date would extend from September 30 to October 31; where the fishing seasons are referred to as "May" or "May-June" and "August" or "August-September," the CSP would be amended to refer to those seasons as "Spring" and "Summer," respectively; and revise language to allow flexible quota transfers pre- and inseason to ensure the same number of all-depth fishing days in the north central and south central subareas. For Washington and Oregon sport fisheries, revise CSP language on Washington flexible inseason from any one sport fishery to any other sport fishery, regardless of whether the transfer is made to the subarea projected to have the fewest number of sport fishing days in the calendar year; and revise CSP language on Oregon flexible inseason management provisions sport fisheries. EA for: Divide the Washington North Coast sub-area sport quota such that 78 percent of the quota for that sub-area is available to a May fishery and 22 percent is available for a late June fishery. Revise the YRCA closed area within the Washington North Coast sport fishery sub-area.
	2002		commercial fishery for halibut to fish offshore of 100 fm. <u>EA for</u> :
			 For Washington sport fisheries, separate the Puget Sound sub-area into two regions with two separate season start dates. For Oregon sport fisheries, allow anglers to retain up to two halibut on land.

СЕ	EA	Memo	Notes
[fishery	[fishery	to file	Troles
year]	year]	[fishery	
J]		year]	
	2001		EA 1 for:
			• Incidental halibut retention in the sablefish fishery N. of Pt. Chehalis,
			WA. Discussed a regulatory framework to provide a process for setting
			incidental halibut harvest levels.
			<u>EA 2 for:</u>
			• For the non-treaty commercial fishery, set a halibut sub-quota for the
			salmon troll fishery that is distinct from the directed commercial fishery
			sub-quota. The salmon troll fishery would be permitted to retain halibut
			taken incidentally in that fishery, beginning May 1 until the sub-quota is
			estimated to have been achieved. The directed commercial fishery would
			no longer have access to the salmon troll fishery sub-quota in July.
			• For the Washington South Coast sport fishery, revise the season guidance
			to remove the 1,000 lb nearshore halibut set-aside. Nearshore fishing for
			halibut would be permitted during the all-depth season. If the all-depth
			season closes with halibut remaining in its quota, nearshore fishing would
			also be permitted after the all-depth season.
			• For the Washington South Coast sport fishery, eliminate the closed "hot
			spot."
	2000		EA for:
			• For Washington sport fishery, changed the boundary line between the
			Puget Sound and North Coast sport fishery subareas.
			• Court-ordered change to allocation between treaty and non-treaty
			fisheries.
			<i>NOTE:</i> The following were actions mentioned in the EA as
			"inconsequential" and, therefore, were not analyzed.
			• For the Washington South Coast subarea sport fishery, revise the management structure to allow the opening of the closed "hot spot"
			inseason, effective via announcement on the halibut hotline.
			 For the Oregon North Central and South Central subarea sport fisheries,
			<i>revise the sport fishery structure to combine the sub-quotas and season</i>
			for the inside 30-fathom fisheries from these two sub-areas.
	1999		NOTE: draft EA, 11/2/98, in GFAR, but final dated 1/99 not in GFAR
	1/77		EA for:
			• For Oregon sport fisheries south of Cape Falcon, revise the sport season
			structure so that the nearshore fisheries (inside the 30-fathom depth
			contour) open on May 1 and continue until their subquotas are taken, or
			September 30, whichever occurs first.
			• For OR/CA sport fisheries, move the boundary of the southernmost
			OR/CA subarea from the OR/CA border north to Humbug Mountain, OR,
			and increase the subarea quota allocation from 2.6 % to 3.0 % of the
			OR/CA recreational allocation.
			• For sport fisheries from the Columbia River south, set the daily
			possession and bag limit for halibut sport fisheries from Leadbetter Point,
			Washington to the Oregon - California border at the first Pacific halibut
			caught that is 32 inches or longer in length.
			• For commercial fisheries, confirm the commercial season catch division
			by clarifying catch sharing language within the commercial portion of the
			CSP.
			NOTE: The following were actions mentioned in the EA as
			"inconsequential" and, therefore, were not analyzed

CE [fishery year]	EA [fishery year]	Memo to file [fishery year]	Notes
			 For the Washington south coast subarea sport fishery, modify the season structuring intent to specify a goal of maximizing the season length while "maintaining a quality fishing experience." Allow the nearshore fishery (east of 124°40'00" W. long. and north of 47°00'00" N. lat.) to fish 7 days a week whenever the halibut season is open. For the Washington south coast subarea sport fishery, modify the boundaries and reduce the size of a sport fishing closed "hot spot" within the subarea to better reflect the location and size of this zone of halibut concentration.
	1998		<u>EA for</u>: first implemented CSP changes that set an incidental halibut allowance for participants in the primary sablefish fishery when the Area 2A TAC exceeds 900,000 lb.
	1995		<i>long-term CSP implemented (60 FR 14651, March 20, 1995)</i> EA for: allocations between non-treaty commercial & sport fisheries

* Information in this table earlier than 2000 is not comprehensive.

NMFS PROPOSED CHANGES TO FEDERAL REGULATIONS AND 2015 PACIFIC HALIBUT CATCH SHARING PLAN FOR AREA 2A

NMFS submitted proposed changes to the 2015 Pacific halibut Catch Sharing Plan and codified regulations at the September 2014 Council meeting. NMFS is submitting those same changes for final action.

The proposed changes to the catch sharing plan are as follows:

- 1. Amend language for the directed commercial fishery to allow earlier transfer of unused quota to the salmon troll fishery. Current language refers to the "fall salmon troll fisheries". However, salmon regulations do not have a defined "fall" fishery. The goal of this change is to allow flexibility for inseason transfer of the unused portion of the directed commercial halibut allocation.
- 2. Update all references to Northwest Region and Northwest Administrator to West Coast Region and West Coast Administrator due to the recent merger and name change for the Region.

The proposed changes to the codified regulations at 50 CFR 300.63 are as follows:

1. Update all references to Northwest Region and Administrator to West Coast Region and West Coast Administrator due to recent merger and name change for the Region.

Finally, NMFS received a request from the California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) to add California Department of Fish and Wildlife to the definition of "authorized officer" in the International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) regulations to allow CDFW staff to enforce Pacific halibut regulations. This request was forwarded to the IPHC and will be included in the 2015 regulation changes but does not require changes to the CSP or to Federal Regulations because the CSP and Federal Regulations rely on the IPHC regulation definition of "authorized officer".

REPORT ON THE 2014 PACIFIC HALIBUT FISHERIES IN AREA 2A (10/24/2014)

The 2014 Area 2A total allowable catch (TAC) of 960,000 lbs. set by the International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) was allocated as follows:

Treaty Tribes	336,000 lbs. (35%)
Non-Tribal Total	624,000 lbs. (65%)
Non-Tribal Commercial	197,808 lbs.
Washington Sport	214,110 lbs.
Oregon Sport	191,568 lbs.
California Sport	6,240 lbs.

All weights in this report are net weight (gutted, head-off, and without ice and slime.) The structure of each fishery and the resulting harvests are described below. Refer to the table at the end of this report for the catches by the tribal, commercial, and recreational fisheries.

NON-TRIBAL COMMERCIAL FISHERIES

A quota of 197,808 lbs. (31.7% of the non-tribal share) was allocated to two fishery components: 1) a directed longline fishery targeting on halibut south of Point Chehalis, WA; and 2) an incidental catch fishery during the salmon troll fisheries off Washington, Oregon, and California. An additional 14,274 lbs. were allocated to an incidental catch fishery in the sablefish primary fishery for vessels using longline gear north of Point Chehalis, WA. This allowance for the sablefish primary fishery is only available in years when the overall Area 2A TAC exceeds 900,000 lbs. and is taken from the portion of the Washington sport allocation that is above 214,110, as long as the amount is atleast 10,000 lbs.

Incidental halibut catch in the salmon troll fishery

A quota of 29,671 lbs. of Pacific halibut (15% of the non-tribal commercial fishery allocation) was allocated to the non-tribal commercial salmon troll fishery in Area 2A as incidental catch during salmon troll fisheries.

The final catch ratio established by the Council was one halibut (minimum 32 inches) per four Chinook landed by a salmon troller, except that one halibut could be landed without meeting the ratio requirement, and no more than 12 halibut could be landed per open period. Fishing with salmon troll gear is prohibited within the Salmon Troll Yelloweye Rockfish Conservation Area (YRCA) off the northern Washington Coast. Additionally, the "C-shaped" North Coast Recreational YRCA off Washington is designated as an area to be avoided (a voluntary closure) by salmon trollers.

- Halibut retention was permitted in the salmon troll fisheries on April 1, 2014, with the following ratio: 1 halibut per each 4 Chinook, except that 1 halibut may be landed without meeting the ratio requirement, and no more than 12 halibut may be possessed or landed per trip.
- Beginning May 30, the ratio was changed to 1 halibut per trip.
- Beginning July 25, the ratio was changed to 1 halibut per each 4 Chinook, except that 1 halibut may be landed without meeting the ratio requirement, and no more than 3 halibut may be possessed or landed per trip.

- Beginning August 8, the ratio was changed to 1 halibut per each 4 Chinook, except 1 halibut may be landed without meeting the ratio requirement, and no more than 7 halibut may be possessed or landed per trip.
- Beginning August 22, the total trip limit amount was changed to a total of 3 halibut per trip, the ratio remained 1 halibut per each 4 Chinook.
- In August, 4,000 lbs from the directed commercial fishery were added to the incidental quota resulting in an adjusted allocation of 33,671 lbs
- The fishery closed on September 11, 2014, with an estimated total season catch of 33,349 lbs.

Directed fishery targeting on halibut

A quota of 168,137 lbs. (85% of the non-tribal commercial fishery allocation) was allocated to the directed longline fishery targeting on halibut in southern Washington, Oregon, and California. The fishery was confined to the area south of Subarea 2A-1 (south of Point Chehalis, WA; 46°53.30' N. lat.). In addition, there are closed areas along the coast defined by depth contours. Between the U.S./Canada border and 40°10' N. lat. the western boundary is defined by a line approximating the 100 fm depth contour. The eastern boundary is defined as follows: Between 46°16' N. lat. and 43°00' N. lat., the boundary is the line approximating the 30 fm depth contour. Between 42°00' N. lat. and 42°00' N. lat. the boundary is the line approximating the 20 fm depth contour. And between 42°00' N. lat. and 40°10' N. lat. the boundary is the 20 fm depth contour. One-day fishing periods of 10 hours in duration were scheduled every other week by the IPHC starting June 25, 2014. A 32 inch minimum size limit with the head on was in effect for all openings. Vessel landing limits per fishing period based on vessel length were imposed by IPHC during all openings as shown in the following table. Vessels choosing to operate in this fishery could not land halibut as incidental catch in the salmon troll fishery, nor operate in the recreational fishery.

Vessel Class/Size	June 26 Opening	July 9 Opening
A 0 - 25 ft.	755 lbs	200 lbs
B 26 - 30 ft.	945 lbs	210 lbs
C 31 - 35 ft.	1,510 lbs	353 lbs
D 36 - 40 ft.	4,165 lbs	925 lbs
E 41 - 45 ft.	4,480 lbs	995 lbs
F 46 - 50 ft.	5,365 lbs	1,190 lbs
G 51 - 55 ft.	5,985 lbs	1,330 lbs
H 56+ ft.	9,000 lbs	2,000 lbs

2014 fishing period limits (dressed weight, head-off without ice and slime in pounds) by vessel size.

- The June 26 and July 9 directed commercial open periods resulted in a catch of about 164,000 lbs, leaving approximately 4,000 lbs.
- The 4,000 lbs remaining was made available to the salmon troll fishery because it was not enough quota for another directed commercial fishing period.

Incidental halibut catch in the sablefish primary longline fishery north of Point Chehalis

A quota of 14,274 lbs was allocated to the limited entry sablefish primary fishery in Area 2A as an incidental catch during longline sablefish operations north of Point Chehalis, WA. The sablefish primary season is open from April 1 to October 31, although incidental halibut retention was not permitted until April 8. Vessels with a groundfish limited entry permit endorsed for both longline gear and with a sablefish tier are permitted to retain up to 75 lbs (dressed weight) of halibut per 1,000 lbs (dressed weight) of sablefish and up to 2 additional halibut in excess of the landing limit ratio. The fishery is confined to an area seaward of a boundary line approximating the 100-fm depth contour. Fishing is also prohibited in the North Coast Commercial YRCA, an area off the northern Washington coast. In addition, the "C-shaped" North Coast Recreational YRCA off Washington is designated as an area to be avoided (a voluntary closure) by commercial longline sablefish fishermen.

• Through September 20, 2014, this fishery is estimated to have taken 9,949 lbs.

SPORT FISHERIES (Non-tribal)

426,192 lbs were allocated between sport fisheries in Washington (36.6% of non-tribal share), Oregon (30.7% of the non-tribal share), and California (1.0% of the non-tribal share). The allocations were further subdivided as quotas among seven geographic subareas as described below. Unless otherwise noted the daily bag limit in all subareas was one halibut of any size, per person, per day.

Washington Inside Waters Subarea (Puget Sound and Straits of Juan de Fuca).

This area was allocated 57,393 lbs. (23.5% of the first 130,845 lbs allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 32% of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 and 224,110 lbs.). Due to inability to monitor the catch in this area inseason, a fixed season was established preseason based on projected catch per day and number of days to achieve the sub-quota. The fishing season in eastern Puget Sound (east of Low Point or 123°49.50' W. long.) was open May 17 (Saturday); May 22-25 (Thursday through Saturday); May 29-31 (Thursday through Saturday); and Saturday, June 7. The fishing season in western Puget Sound (west of low Point) was open May 22-25 (Thursday through Sunday); May 29-31 (Thursday through Saturday); and Saturday, June 7.

• The estimates for total catch in this area are not yet available.

<u>Northern Washington Coastal Waters Subarea</u> (landings in Neah Bay and La Push). The coastal area off Cape Flattery to Queets River was allocated 108,030 lbs. (62.2% of the first 130,845

Ibs allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 32% of the Washington sport allocation between 130,945 lbs and 224,110 lbs.). The fishery was open for four days (May 15, 17, 22, and 24). The "C-shaped" North Coast Recreational YRCA, southwest of Cape Flattery, was closed to sport halibut fishing.

• The estimated total catch for this area is 112,002 lbs., which is 3,972 lbs. over the quota.

Washington South Coast Subarea (landings in Westport)

The area from the Queets River to Leadbetter Point was allocated 42,739 lbs (12.3% of the first 130,845 lbs allocated to the Washington sport fishery and 32% of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 and 224,110 lbs). This subarea operates with a primary fishery and a nearshore fishery. The primary fishery was open May 4, 6, 11, 13, 18, and closed after the 18th. The nearshore fishery was open everyday between May 4 and 21.

The nearshore fishery occurred in waters between the Queets River and 47°25.00' N. lat. south to 46°58.00' N. lat., and east of 124°30.00' W. long. The south coast subarea quota was allocated as follows: 2,000 lbs to the nearshore fishery and the remaining 40,739 lbs to the primary fishery.

• The estimated total catch for this area is 45,903 lbs, which is 3,164 lbs over the quota.

<u>Columbia River Subarea</u> (Leadbetter Point to Cape Falcon)

This sport fishery subarea was allocated 11,895 lbs, consisting of 2.0% of the first 130,845 lbs allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 4.0% of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 lbs and 224,110 lbs, minus 14,274 lbs, (which is the amount allocated to incidental take in the sablefish primary fishery), and an equal amount from the Oregon sport allocation. The 2014 fishery included a new nearshore fishery in this subarea.

- The early fishery was open May 1 to July 27 with an estimated catch of 8,290 lbs.
- Catch during the early season resulted in underage of 274 lbs, which was added to the late season quota, for a revised late season quota of 2,415 lbs.
- The late season fishery was open August 1-September 30
- Through September 30 the estimated late season total catch is 807 lbs.
- The nearshore fishery was open May 5-September 30 the estimated catch is 143 lbs.

Oregon Central Coast Subarea (Cape Falcon to Humbug Mountain).

This sport fishery subarea was allocated 185,621 lbs (Oregon sport fishery allocation minus the Oregon contribution to the Columbia River subarea).

Three seasons were set for this subarea: 1) a restricted depth (inside 40-fm) fishery, open July 1-October 5, 7 days a week; 2) a fixed Spring season in all depths that was open on May 8-10, 22-24, May 26-June 1, June 5-7, June 12-14, and; 3) a Summer season in all depths that was open on August 1-2 and August 15-16.

- The inside 40-fathom fishery opened July 1 and remains open until October 31, as of October 5, the estimated catch is 15,741 lbs., which is 6,533 lbs under the quota of 22,274 lbs.
- The fixed Spring all-depth season resulted in an estimated catch of 106,783 lbs.
- The Summer all-depth fishery resulted in an estimated catch of 45,542 lbs.

Southern Oregon (Humbug Mountain to the OR/CA Border)

This sport fishery was allocated 3,712 lbs. (2.0% of the Oregon Central Coast quota). This area had a pre-set season of 7 days per week from May 1 to October 31.

- This season is scheduled to remain open through October 31.
- Catch through October 5 is estimated to be 6,108 lbs.
- Current catch estimate is over this subarea allocation, however due to underages in other Oregon subareas leftover pounds are available to cover this overage.

California (Off the California Coast)

This sport fishery was allocated 6,240 lbs. (1% of the Area 2A non-tribal share).

- This season was open May 1-July 31, seven days per week, and is scheduled to be open September 1 through October 31, 7 days per week.
- This fishery is ongoing, however catch estimates through July are 27,699 lbs.

TRIBAL FISHERIES

336,000 lbs (35% of the Area 2A TAC) was allocated to tribal fisheries. The tribes estimated that 28,500 lbs would be used for ceremonial and subsistence (C&S) fisheries and the remaining 307,500 lbs were allocated to the commercial fishery. The 2014 management plan was based on a court-order, to use the 2000 season plan, updated to reflect the current allocation and management measures. It contains provisions for both unrestricted fisheries with no landing limits and restricted fisheries with limits as well as a late season or mop-up fishery that can be set up to have no landing limits or with limits, toward the end of the season.

The unrestricted fishery was open March 11-13 (48 hours). The unrestricted fishery landed 227, 905 lbs in 349 landings.

The restricted fishery had two openers. The first was open March 20-21 for 30 hours, with a 500 lbs/vessel/day limit. This open period resulted in catch of 58,442 lbs in 222 landings. The second (late season) fishery was open on May 8 for 10 hours with a landings limit of 400 lbs/vessel/day. This open period resulted in catch of 22,571 lbs in 78 landings.

The C&S fishery will continue through December 31 and tribal estimates of catch will be reported by the tribes in January 2015.

Fishery	Dates Held	Pounds Landed	# of Landings
Unrestricted	March 11-13 (48 hr.)	227,905 lbs	349 landings
Restricted, 500 lbs/vessel/day	March 20-21 (30 hrs)	58,442 lbs	259 landings
Late Season (Mop Up)	May 8 (10 hrs)	22,571 lbs	78 landings
Total	-	308,919 lbs	649 landings

2014 Area 2A TAC and Catc	(Preliminary data as of 10/23/2014)					
		Inseason	_			
		Revised			% of Quota	
	Quota	Quota	Catch		Taken	
TRIBAL INDIAN	336,000		308,919		91.9	
Commercial	307,500		308,919		100.5	
Ceremonial and Subsistence	28,500			%	0.0	
NON-TRIBAL	624,000		572,735		91.8	
COMMERCIAL	197,808		194,479		98.3	
Troll	29,671	33,671	33,349		99.0	
Sablefish incidental	14,274		9,949	*	69.7	
Directed	168,137		151,181		89.9	
SPORT	417,573		369,017		88.4	
WA Sport	214,110		157,905		73.7	
OR Sport	191,568		174,174		90.9	
CA Sport	6,240		27,699	%	443.9	
WA Inside Waters	57,393			*	0.0	
WA North Coast	108,030		112,002		103.7	
WA South Coast	42,739		45,903		107.4	
Columbia River	11,895		9,239		77.7	
Early Season	8,564		8,289		96.8	
Late Season	2,141	2,416	807		33.4	
Nearshore	1,190	2,110	143		12.0	
OR Central Coast	195 601		169.066		90.5	
Inside 40 fathoms	185,621 22,274		168,066 15,741	%	90.3 70.7	
Spring (May-July)	113,229		106,783	70	94.3	
Summer (August- October)	46,405		45,542		94.3	
Southern Oregon	3,712		6,108		164.5	
California	6,240		27,699	%	443.9	
	0,240		21,099	70	443.9	
TOTAL	960,000		881,654		91.8	
* Complete data not available	200,000				210	
% This fishery is ongoing						

OREGON DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE REPORT ON PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE PACIFIC HALIBUT CATCH SHARING PLAN FOR THE 2015 FISHERY

The Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife (ODFW) solicited public comment on the Pacific Fishery Management Council (PFMC) approved proposals for changes to the Pacific Halibut Catch Sharing Plan (CSP) for fisheries in 2015. ODFW hosted a series of public meetings in Astoria (Oct. 6), Newport (Oct. 7), Brookings (Oct. 8), and Coos Bay (Oct. 9) and used an online survey to gather public input on the proposals. The Newport public meeting was also webcast, so that anglers who were unable to attend in person, could still hear the discussions and weigh in. Approximately 60 individuals attended the public meetings, and 183 took the online survey. This year, we also conferred with our Sport Advisory Committee¹ between the public meetings and survey and writing of this report.

Proposed Changes to the Catch Sharing Plan

Allocations

	Status Quo	Status Quo	Status Quo	Status Quo A	Status Quo	Status Quo	Status Quo	Status Quo	Status Quo	Status Quo	Status Quo	Status Quo Alt 1	Alt 1	Alt 2			Alt 3		Alt 4		Alt 5							
			Opti	on A	Ор	tion B																						
						Portion of		Portion of		Portion of		Portion of																
			2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC																
			≤1 M. Ib	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. Ib	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. lb	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. Ib	> 1 M. lb	<mark>≤ 1</mark> M. lb	> 1 M. lb																
WA Sport:	36.60%	36.60%	36.60%	36.60%	36.60%	18.5-25.9%	35.93%	35.60%	35.60%	35.27%	35.27%	34.93%																
OR Sport:	30.70%	30.70%	30.70%	30.70%	30.70%	15.5-21.7%	30.03%	29.70%	29.70%	29.37%	29.37%	29.03%																
CA Sport:	1.00%	3.00%	3.00%	4.00%	3.00%	30-50%	3.00%	4.00%	4.00%	5.00%	5.00%	6.00%																
Commercial:	31.70%	29.70%	29.70%	28.70%	29.70%	16-22.4%	31.03%	30.70%	30.70%	30.37%	30.37%	30.03%																

Increase allocation to the California Sport Fishery

This item generated the most discussion during the public meetings. The overwhelming majority supported shifting allocation to California to support their fishery, ONLY IF management measures were implemented to ensure that California stays within its given quota. The general consensus was that if allocation had to be shifted, it should come from all other sectors equally, rather than just one sector. Attendees felt that was the most equitable, and may be the least disruptive to the individual sectors (i.e. the decreases would be small enough that further restrictions, fewer open days, would not be expected). Many attendees expressed concern over reducing the allocations to already restricted sectors so that quota could be increased to a sector that exceeds its allocation, and has few restrictions.

ODFW recommends Alternative 3, increasing the California sport allocation by two percent, for a total California sport allocation of three percent when the Area 2A total allowable catch

¹ The Sport Advisory Committee (SAC) is a group of 13 individuals who represent private anglers, charter operators, and associated businesses. ODFW and SAC work together on issues dealing with the management of Oregon recreational groundfish and halibut fisheries. They also serve as a conduit for information between ODFW and the public.

(TAC) is less than 1 million pounds, by reducing the three major non-treaty group (commercial, Washington Sport, and Oregon sport) allocations equally. However, this recommendation is dependent on the implementation of management measures that are intended to not exceed the allocation.

	Status Quo	Alternative 1	Alternative 2	
Columbia River	equal to WA contribution	75% of WA contribution	50% of WA contribution	
Central Oregon	N/A	96%	96%	
Spring All-Depth	61%	63%	63%	
Summer All-Depth	25%	25%	25%	
Nearshore	12%	12%	12%	
Southern Oregon	2%	4%	4%	

Modify Oregon Sport Allocations

shaded cells are percentages of the Central Oregon Allocation

ODFW recommends Alternative 1, reducing the Oregon contribution to the Columbia River Subarea to a level equivalent to 75 percent of the Washington contribution, and increase the allocation to the Southern Oregon Subarea to four percent of the Oregon sport allocation minus any contribution to the Columbia River Subarea.

In recent years, there has been little catch or effort in the Columbia River Subarea after mid-July, leaving 2,500 to 3,500 pounds un-harvested annually. At the same time catch and effort in the Oregon portion of the former South of Humbug Subarea (now the Southern Oregon Subarea) began increasing. In 2014 the South of Humbug Subarea was separated creating the Southern Oregon Subarea (Humbug Mountain to the OR/CA Border) and the California Subarea, with the South of Humbug allocation going to the California Subarea. To accommodate the new subarea in Oregon, two percent of the Central Coast spring all-depth allocation was set-aside for the Southern Oregon Subarea. The small allocation to the Southern Oregon Subarea was seen as a first step, to get the season framework in place.

Input received during the public process indicated that many anglers were in favor of adjusting the Oregon sport allocations, for the best utilization of the overall Oregon sport allocation by the most anglers. Lowering the Oregon contribution to the Columbia River Subarea and modifying the allocation to the other subareas should allow that opportunity to more fully utilize the Oregon Sport allocation. The additional quota for the Southern Oregon Subarea will then partially come from the quota returned from the Columbia River, and partially from the overall Central Coast quota, instead of solely from the Central Coast spring all-depth quota (i.e. everyone contributes a little bit).

Additionally, under this year's Area 2A TAC, and how the Columbia River Subarea seasons progressed, the decrease in allocation would likely not have changed the seasons' lengths or

management decisions. However, the increase to the Southern Oregon Subarea would have allowed for a longer season, regardless of leftovers from other subareas that allowed it to continue this year.

Management Measures

Columbia River and Central Oregon Coast Subareas

Allow additional species onboard on all-depth halibut days

Status quo: only Pacific cod and sablefish are allowed.

<u>Alternative 1</u>: Revise the bottomfish restrictions such that all groundfish except rockfish and lingcod would be allowed when halibut are onboard.

<u>Alternative 2</u>: Revise the bottomfish restrictions such that other flatfish, in addition to Pacific cod and sablefish, would be allowed when halibut are onboard.

ODFW recommends Alternative 2, allow retention of other flatfish species when halibut are onboard. Current rules prohibit retention of groundfish species except for Pacific cod and Sablefish during all-depth halibut days for the Central Coast and Columbia River Subareas. The purpose of the rule is to reduce yelloweye rockfish discard mortality from the all-depth halibut fisheries. If halibut anglers were permitted to retain groundfish associated with deep reef habitats (e.g., lingcod and shelf rockfish species), some might intentionally target deep reefs in order to catch these groundfish species during their halibut trip, which would consequently increase yelloweye rockfish discard mortality.

Since the Oregon recreational fisheries currently catch at or near the entire harvest guideline for yelloweye rockfish each year, any additional mortality of yelloweye rockfish from the halibut fisheries would have to come at the expense of greater restrictions or closures elsewhere to the recreational halibut and groundfish fisheries. As such, ODFW has been extremely precautionary regarding take of non-halibut species during all-depth halibut days, limiting take to only species that are not associated with deep reef habitat (i.e., tuna, salmon, sablefish, and Pacific cod).

However, the current rule, which restricts take of all groundfish except sablefish and Pacific cod during all-depth fisheries, also excludes halibut anglers from retaining bycatch of groundfish species that have healthy populations and are not associated with deep reef habitat (e.g., flatfish species). Since the purpose of this rule is to dissuade targeting of deep reefs, modifying the current rule to allow flatfish species which are not associated with deep reef habitats should increase harvest opportunities, with little risk of increasing yelloweye rockfish discard mortality.

Columbia River Subarea

At the public meetings, ODFW did not hear from anyone that participates in the Columbia River Subarea. Additionally, the online survey results were not definitive though tended more towards neutral or being somewhat in favor of the proposed changes.

Nearshore Allocation

Status Quo: 10 percent up to 1,500 pounds of the subarea allocation reserved for a nearshore fishery.

Alternative 1: Reduce the set-aside for the nearshore fishery to 500 pounds.

ODFW recommends Alternative 1, reducing the nearshore fishery set-aside from 10 percent to 500 pounds. In 2014, there were five halibut totaling less than 150 pounds landed in the nearshore fishery. Reducing the set-aside should allow for current effort and harvest levels, and some growth, without leaving pounds un-harvested that would otherwise be available to the all-depth season.

All Depth Seasons Allocation

Status Quo: the spring all-depth season is allocated 80 percent and the summer all-depth season 20 percent of the subarea allocation.

<u>Alternative 1</u>: combine the spring and summer allocations into one continuous all-depth season

ODFW recommends alternative 1, combining the spring and summer allocations into one all-depth season. Since 2008, there has been little effort or catch after mid-July in the Columbia River Subarea. Managing as one continuous season will prevent closing the spring season early, and then leaving poundage un-harvested from the summer season. Managing to one season beginning in May should ensure that quota is available during the peak halibut fishing months, and continue uninterrupted. It should also allow for more complete utilization of the subarea allocation.

Nearshore Fishery Open Days of the Week

<u>Status quo</u>: the nearshore fishery is open on days not open for the all-depth fishery, currently Monday-Wednesday

<u>Alternative 1</u>: Increase the days of the week open to Monday –Friday, which includes overlap on Thursday and Friday with the all-depth fishery.

ODFW recommends keeping the status quo days open. There is concern about complication of regulations, angler confusion, and enforcement issues if the nearshore and all-depth fisheries are open on the same days. ODFW appreciates the intent of allowing for more opportunity for the nearshore fishery. However there is not a demonstrated need for this action and ODFW wonders whether the increased opportunity is worth the added levels of complexity for anglers, enforcement, and inseason tracking.

Regardless of the decision the Council makes, **ODFW recommends that the regulations (days of the week open) be the same for anglers fishing out of/landing into both states**. Having different regulations in Washington and Oregon will add another layer of potential angler confusion and enforcement issues.

Central Coast Subarea

All-depth Seasons

<u>Status Quo:</u> Separate spring and summer all-depth seasons and quota

- <u>Alternative 1</u>: Create one combined all-depth season, open 2 days per week (Friday and Saturday) every other week, beginning the first Friday in May, until the quota is attained.
- <u>Alternative 2</u>: the same as Alternative 1, except the openings are on the weeks opposite the large morning negative tides (greater than -1.0 feet).

ODFW recommends maintaining the status quo season structure; separate spring and summer all-depth seasons and quota. During the public meetings, ODFW did not receive strong support for either of the alternatives. The online survey results were strongly for maintaining status quo. The survey results for the two alternatives did not show anglers being strongly for or against either alternative.

The Central Oregon Coast Subarea all-depth fishery is currently broken into a spring and a summer season. During the August public meeting process, a proposal was received to combine the spring and summer quotas into one all-depth quota that would open the first Friday in May and run Friday and Saturday every other week until the entire all-depth quota is attained. A minor change to that proposal was also suggested, rather than beginning the season on the first Friday in May, beginning it on the first Friday in May that avoids coincidence of open days with large negative tides.

As the halibut fishery developed, season lengths became shorter, with few halibut fishing opportunities later in the summer (i.e., August). The all-depth season was separated into Spring and Summer seasons to ensure quota and open days were available later in the summer (August). Anglers requested the summer season due to generally better weather conditions later in the summer and because school is out and more families take vacations in August than in May. The intended goal of the alternatives is to continue to spread the halibut opportunities out, as well as provide some consistency for planning. By reducing the number of days open in the early part of the season, it is thought that the quota will extend longer into July, or later.

During 2013 and 2014, during spring all-depth openings, approximately 25 percent of the total effort occurred on Thursdays, 32 percent on Fridays, and 43 percent on Saturdays. Eliminating Thursdays as open days will shift some of that effort to Friday and/or Saturday, but some of that effort will not occur. The reduction in effort (boat or angler trips) each opening is intended to allow for more openings spread out through the season.

The albacore tuna sport fishery off of Oregon has exploded in popularity since 2007. Tuna often become available off of Oregon sometime in July, and anglers turn their attention to tuna. Additionally in good salmon years, such as 2014, anglers also turn their attention to coho salmon fishing in July. Therefore some anglers have expressed the desire to have halibut opportunities prior to salmon and tuna. However, prior to this year (a very good salmon year and a decent tuna year), ODFW had been hearing that many anglers had wanted more quota moved to the summer all-depth season to allow for more fishing in the late summer, which was not raised this year.

Since there was not strong support to make changes to the season structure, ODFW recommends keeping the status quo seasons and quotas.

Southern Oregon Subarea

Modify the opening date

<u>Status Quo</u>: May 1 <u>Alternative 1</u>: June 1 <u>Alternative 2</u>: July 1

ODFW recommends maintaining the current May 1 opening. The Southern Oregon Subarea became a separate area with its own allocation (~3,700 pounds) in 2014. During the initial round of public input, prior to discussions about increasing the allocation to this subarea, there was some discussion about moving the start date to later in the year.

The Southern Oregon Subarea season currently opens May 1 until October 31, or until the quota is attained. If effort and catches are high early in the season, which is highly dependent on salmon opportunities and local current conditions, the quota could be caught by mid-summer. The Southern Oregon Subarea is somewhat opposite of the other Oregon subareas in that salmon opportunities are more available in the late spring and early summer, with little in the late summer. Changing the starting date was intended to ensure a greater chance of having halibut fishing opportunities later in the summer (August), when salmon fishing dies off. This year, the allocation was reached in mid-August, however due to unused allocation in other Oregon subareas, was allowed to remain open. Through September, the total harvest in this subarea was 6,108 pounds. Little effort or catch is anticipated during the month of October.

Above, ODFW recommends increasing the allocation to the Southern Oregon Subarea from two to four percent of the Oregon sport allocation minus what is contributed to the Columbia River Subarea. Under this year's Area 2A TAC, that would result in the Southern Oregon Subarea allocation being approximately 7,500 pounds. Based on how this season progressed, and assuming the increase in allocation to this subarea, many anglers who provided input favored keeping the current May 1 season start date. The survey results were neutral on the status quo and both alternatives. Therefore, ODFW is recommending keeping the status quo start date of May 1.

Proposed Language Modifications for the CSP are as follows:

2015-2014 PACIFIC HALIBUT CATCH SHARING PLAN FOR AREA 2A

(a) FRAMEWORK

This Plan constitutes a framework that shall be applied to the annual Area 2A total allowable catch (TAC) approved by the International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) each January. The framework shall be implemented in both IPHC regulations and domestic regulations (implemented by NMFS) as published in the *Federal Register*.

(b) ALLOCATIONS

This Plan allocates 35 percent of the Area 2A TAC to U.S. treaty Indian tribes in the State of Washington in subarea 2A-1, and 65 percent to non-Indian fisheries in Area 2A. The allocation to non-Indian fisheries is divided into four shares, with the Washington sport fishery (north of the Columbia River) receiving <u>35.93</u> <u>36.6</u> percent, the Oregon sport fishery receiving <u>30.03</u> <u>30.7</u> percent, the California sport fishery receiving <u>3.0</u> <u>1.0</u> percent, and the commercial fishery receiving <u>allo3</u> <u>31.7</u> percent. Allocations within the non-Indian commercial and sport fisheries are described in sections (e) and (f) of this Plan. These allocations may be changed if new information becomes available that indicates a change is necessary and/or the Pacific Fishery Management Council takes action to reconsider its allocation recommendations. Such changes will be made after appropriate rulemaking is completed and published in the *Federal Register*.

(e) NON-INDIAN COMMERCIAL FISHERIES

The non-Indian commercial fishery is allocated <u>31.03</u> 31.7 percent of the non-Indian share of the Area 2A TAC for a directed halibut fishery and an incidental catch fishery during the salmon troll fishery. The non-Indian commercial allocation is approximately <u>20.2</u> 20.6 percent of the Area 2A TAC. Incidental catch of halibut in the primary directed sablefish fishery north of Point Chehalis, WA will be authorized if the Washington sport allocation exceeds 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) as described in section (e)(3) of this Plan. The structuring and management of these three fisheries is as follows.

(f) SPORT FISHERIES

The non-Indian sport fisheries are allocated <u>68.9</u> <u>68.3</u> percent of the non-Indian share, which is approximately <u>44.8</u> <u>44.4</u> percent of the Area 2A TAC. The allocation is further divided as subquotas among seven geographic subareas.

(iv) Columbia River subarea.

This sport fishery subarea is allocated 2.0 percent of the first 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 4.0 percent of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) and 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) (except as provided in section (e)(3) of this Plan). This subarea is also allocated an amount equal to <u>75 percent</u> <u>of</u> the contribution from the Washington sport allocation from the Oregon sport allocation. This subarea is defined as waters south of Leadbetter Point, WA (46°38.17' N. lat.) and north of Cape Falcon, OR (45°46.00' N. lat.). The Columbia River subarea seasons are as follows:

- A. A nearshore fishery is allocated <u>10 percent or 1,500</u> <u>500</u> pounds of the Columbia River subarea allocation, <u>whichever is less</u>, to allow incidental halibut retention on groundfish trips in the area shoreward of the boundary line approximating the 30 fathom (55 m) depth contour extending from Leadbetter Point, WA (46°38.17' N. lat., 124°15.88' W. long.) to the Washington-Oregon border (46°16.00' N. lat., 124°15.88' W. long.) and from there, connecting to the boundary line approximating the 40 fathom (73 m) depth contour in Oregon. Coordinates will be specifically defined at 50 CFR 660.71 through 660.74. The nearshore fishery will be open Monday through Wednesday following the opening of the carly season all-depth fishery, until the nearshore allocation is taken or September 30, whichever is earlier. Taking, retaining, possessing or landing halibut on groundfish trips is only allowed in the nearshore area on days not open to all-depth Pacific halibut fisheries. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit.
- **B.** The remaining Columbia River subarea allocation will be allocated such that 80 percent is reserved for an early season all-depth fishery beginning in May and 20 percent reserved for a late season all-depth fishery beginning in August. The early season all-depth fishery will open on the first Thursday in May or May 1 if it is a Friday, Saturday or Sunday, 4 days per week, Thursday through Sunday until the early season portion of the subarea allocation is taken. The fishery will reopen for the late season all-depth fishery on the first Thursday in August and continue 4 days per week, Thursday-Sunday until the remainder of the subarea quota has been taken, or until September 30, whichever is earlier. The early and late seasons will run continuously, unless closed due to quota attainment. Any remaining early season all depth quota will automatically be available to the late season all-depth fishery. Subsequent to the closure, if there is insufficient quota remaining in the Columbia River subarea for another fishing day, then any remaining quota may be transferred inseason to another Washington and/or Oregon subarea by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. Any remaining quota would be transferred to each state in proportion to its contribution. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit. No groundfish may be taken and retained, possessed or landed, except sablefish, and Pacific cod, and other flatfish species when allowed by groundfish regulations, if halibut are on board the vessel.

(v) Oregon central coast subarea.

This subarea extends from Cape Falcon (45°46.00' N. lat.) to Humbug Mountain, Oregon (42°40.50' N. lat.) and is allocated the Oregon sport allocation minus any amount of pounds needed to contribute to the Oregon portion of the Columbia River subarea quota. If the overall 2A TAC is 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater, the structuring objectives for this subarea are to provide two periods of fishing opportunity in Spring and in Summer in productive deeper water areas along the coast, and provide a period of fishing opportunity in the summer for nearshore waters. If the overall 2A TAC is less than 700.000 pounds (317.5 mt), the structuring objectives for this subarea are to provide a period of fishing opportunity beginning in Spring in productive deeper water areas along the coast, and provide a period of fishing opportunity in nearshore waters. Any poundage remaining unharvested in the Spring all-depth subquota will be added to either the Summer all-depth sub-quota or the nearshore subquota based on need, determined via joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS and ODFW. If the 2A TAC exceeds 700,000 pounds, any poundage that is not needed to extend the inside 40-fathom (73 m) fishery through October 31 will be added to the Summer all-depth season if it can be used, and any poundage remaining unharvested from the Summer all-depth fishery will be added to the inside 40-fathom (73 m) fishery subquota, if it can be used. If inseason it is determined via joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS and ODFW, that the combined all-depth and inside 40-fathom (73 m) fisheries will not harvest the entire quota to the subarea, quota may be transferred inseason to another subarea south of Leadbetter Point, WA by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, unless otherwise specified, with no size limit. During days open to all-depth halibut fishing, no groundfish may be taken and retained, possessed or landed, except sablefish, and Pacific cod and other flatfish species when allowed by groundfish regulations, if halibut are on board the vessel.

Recreational fishing for groundfish and halibut is prohibited within the Stonewall Bank YRCA. The Stonewall Bank YRCA is an area off central Oregon, near Stonewall Bank, and is defined by straight lines connecting latitude and longitude coordinates. Coordinates for the Stonewall Bank YRCA are specified in groundfish regulations at 50 CFR 660.70 (f) and will be described annually in federal halibut regulations published in the *Federal Register*.

ODFW will sponsor a public input process shortly after the IPHC annual meeting to develop recommendations to NMFS on the open dates for each season each year. The three seasons for this subarea are as follows.

A. The first season (nearshore fishery) opens July 1, 7 days per week, only in waters inside the 40-fathom (73 m) curve. The fishery continues until the subquota is taken, or until October 31, whichever is earlier and is allocated 12 percent of the subarea quota if the 2A TAC is above 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater or 25 percent of the subarea quota if the 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt). Any overage in the all-depth fisheries would not affect achievement of allocation set aside for the inside 40-fathom (73 m) curve fishery.

B. The second season (Spring fishery) is an all-depth fishery with two potential openings and is allocated 63 percent of the subarea quota if the TAC is 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater, or 75 percent of the subarea quota if the subarea if the 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt). Two percent of the Central **Oregon Coast spring all-depth fishery allocation is allocated to the Southern Oregon Subarea under either scenario.** Fixed season dates will be established preseason for the first Spring opening and will not be modified inseason except if the combined Oregon all-depth Spring and Summer season total quotas are estimated to be achieved. Recent year catch rates will be used as a guideline for estimating the catch rate for the Spring fishery each year. The number of fixed season days established will be based on the projected catch per day with the intent of not exceeding the subarea subquota for this season. The first opening will be structured for 2 days per week (Friday and Saturday) if the season is for 4 or fewer fishing days. The fishery will be structured for 3 days per week (Thursday through Saturday) if the season is for 5 or more fishing days. The fixed season dates will occur in consecutive weeks starting the second Thursday in May (if the season is 5 or more fishing days) or second Friday in May (if the season is 4 or fewer fishing days), with possible exceptions to avoid adverse tidal conditions. If, following the "fixed" dates, quota for this season remains unharvested, a second opening will be held. If it is determined appropriate through joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS and ODFW, fishing may be allowed on one or more additional days. Notice of the opening(s) will be announced by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. The fishery will be open every other week on Thursday through Saturday except that week(s) may be skipped to avoid adverse tidal conditions. The potential open Thursdays through Saturdays will be identified preseason. The fishery will continue until there is insufficient quota for an additional day of fishing or July 31, whichever is earlier if the 2A TAC is 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater. If the 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) the fishery will continue until there is insufficient quota for an additional day of fishing or October 31, whichever is earlier.

C. The last season (summer fishery) is an all-depth fishery that begins on the first Friday in August and is allocated 25 percent of the subarea quota if the 2A TAC is 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) or greater. If the 2A TAC is less than 700,000 pounds (317.5 mt) then 0 percent of the subarea quota will be allocated to this season. The fishery will be structured to be open every other week on Friday and Saturday except that week(s) may be skipped to avoid adverse tidal conditions. The fishery will continue until there is insufficient quota remaining to reopen for another fishing day or October 31, whichever is earlier. The potential open Fridays and Saturdays will be identified preseason. If after the first scheduled open period, the remaining Cape Falcon to Humbug Mountain entire season quota (combined all-depth and inside 40-fathom (73 m) quotas) is 60,000 lb (27.2 mt) or more, the fishery will re-open on every Friday and Saturday (versus every other Friday and Saturday), if determined to be appropriate through joint consultation
between IPHC, NMFS, and ODFW. The inseason action will be announced by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. If after the Labor Day weekend, the remaining Cape Falcon to Humbug Mountain entire season quota (combined all-depth and inside 40-fathom (73 m) quotas) is 30,000 lb (13.6 mt) or more and the fishery is not already open every Friday and Saturday, the fishery will re-open on every Friday and Saturday (versus every other Friday and Saturday), if determined to be appropriate through joint consultation between IPHC, NMFS, and ODFW. After the Labor Day weekend, the IPHC, NMFS, and ODFW will consult to determine whether increasing the Oregon Central Coast bag limit to two fish is warranted with the intent that the quota for the subarea is taken by September 30. If the quota is not taken by September 30, the season will remain open, maintaining the bag limit in effect at that time, through October 31 or quota attainment, whichever is earlier. The inseason action will be announced by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline.

(vi) Southern Oregon Subarea

This sport fishery is allocated **2.0** <u>4.0</u> percent of the Oregon Central Coast Subarea spring all-depth sport allocation minus any amount of pounds needed to contribute to the Oregon portion of the Columbia River subarea quota. This area is defined as the area south of Humbug Mountain, OR (42° 40.50' N. lat.) to the Oregon/California Border (42° 00.00' N. lat.). This fishery will open May 1, seven days per week until the subquota is taken or October 31, whichever is earlier. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person with no size limit.

(vii) California subarea

This sport fishery subarea is allocated <u>3.0</u> 1.0 percent of the non-Indian allocation.-This area is defined as the area south of the Oregon/California Border (42° 00.00' N. lat.), including all California waters. The structuring objective for this subarea is to provide anglers the opportunity to fish in a fixed season that is open from May 1 through July 31 and September 1 through October 31. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit. Due to inability to monitor the catch in this area inseason, a fixed season will be established preseason by NMFS based on projected seasonal catch; no inseason adjustments will be made, and estimates of actual catch will be made post season.



State of California – Natural Resources Agency DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE Director's Office 1416 Ninth Street, 12th Floor Sacramento, CA 95814 www.wildlife.ca.gov EDMUND G. BROWN JR., Governor CHARLTON H. BONHAM, Director

> Agenda Item G.1.b Supplemental CDFW Report November 2014



November 13, 2014

Dr. Bruce Leaman Executive Director International Pacific Halibut Commission 2320 W. Commodore Way, Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98199-1287

Dear Dr. Leaman:

REQUEST FOR DISCARD MORTALITY DATA ON PACIFIC HALIBUT

Thank you for your letter dated October 27, 2014 which follows up on a 2012 request to the California Department of Fish and Wildlife (Department) to develop and implement a data collection program to estimate discard mortality of Pacific halibut in the California recreational fishery.

The Department has a comprehensive data collection program for the state's marine recreational fisheries known as the California Recreational Fisheries Survey (CRFS). Staff observe and estimate the total number of both retained and discarded finfish, and document the weight of retained fish when possible. Discarded fish that are reported by anglers as returned dead are also documented. Unlike retained fish, no information on the size of discarded fish is collected.

Using CFRS data from 2008 to 2013, the Department estimated the weight of Pacific halibut discarded alive and fish discarded dead (Table 1), presuming that the average weight of a discarded fish is the same as fish retained in the fishery. Consequently, it is likely these discard mortality estimates are overestimates, as recreational anglers could be expected to choose to discard smaller fish and retain larger fish, given the daily bag limit of one fish per person, with no minimum size or slot limit.

In producing these estimates, a mortality rate of 100 percent was applied to fish reported to the Department as discarded dead. For fish that were reported as being released alive, a seven percent mortality rate was applied. This rate was established by the Pacific Fishery Management Council's Groundfish Management Team as a presumed rate of discard mortality for flatfish¹. Application of this rate to discarded fish

¹ PFMC (Pacific Fishery Management Council) and NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service). 2009. Proposed Acceptable Biological Catch and Optimum Yield Specifications and Management Measures for the 2009-2010 Pacific Coast Groundfish Fishery Final Environmental Impact Statement Including Regulatory Impact Review and Initial Regulatory Flexibility Analysis. Pacific Fishery Management Council, Portland, OR. January 2009, Table 4-56.

Dr. Bruce Leaman, Executive Director International Pacific Halibut Commission November 13, 2014 Page 2 of 3

is also similar to methods used to estimate discard mortality by the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife.

The results of this analysis suggest that on average, there are 128 net pounds of discard mortality each year in California's recreational Pacific halibut fishery.

Table 1. Estimated number of fish and weight of recreationally caught Pacific halibut discards, and estimated total discard mortality (net pounds) in California from 2008-2013. Data from CRFS.

		Discarded Al	ive	Discarde	d Dead	Total	
Year	Estimated Number of Fish	Estimated Net Pounds	Estimated Discard Mortality (7 percent of net pounds)	Estimated Number of Fish	Estimated Net Pounds (100 percent of net pounds)	Discard Mortality (net pounds)	
2008	133	1,559	109	4	59	168	
2009	226	3,040	213	0	0	213	
2010	63	865	61	0	0	61	
2011	24	293	21	0	0	21	
2012	157	2,315	162	0	0	162	
2013	120	2,095	147	0	0	147	
Average	121	1,694	118.6	0.67	9.8	128	

The Department expects that estimated discard mortality amounts will remain similar in the future, unless there are significant changes in catch levels or management of the directed recreational fishery for halibut.

For more information, please contact Marci Yaremko, State/Federal Fisheries Program Manager, Marine Region, at (858) 442-3004.

Sincerely,

Charlton H. Bonham Director

ec: Dorothy Lowman, Chair Pacific Fishery Management Council Dmlowman01@comcast.net

> Phil Anderson, Director Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife Philip.anderson@dfw.wa.gov

Dr. Bruce Leaman, Executive Director International Pacific Halibut Commission November 13, 2014 Page 3 of 3

> Curt Melcher, Interim Director, Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife <u>Curt.melcher@state.or.us</u>

Steve Kaimmer International Pacific Halibut Commission <u>SteveK@iphc.int</u>

Craig Shuman, Manager Marine Region (Region 7) California Department of Fish and Wildlife Craig.Shuman@wildlife.ca.gov

Marci Yaremko, Program Manager State/Federal Managed Species Program Manager California Department of Fish and Wildlife Marci.Yaremko@wildlife.ca.gov

Don McIsaac Executive Director Pacific Fishery Management Council Donald.mcisaac@noaa.gov

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT ON PACIFIC HALIBUT MANAGEMENT MEASURES AND CATCH TRACKING FOR 2015

Following the Pacific Fishery Management Council's (Council) discussion in September and recognizing the recommendation of the GAP (<u>http://www.pcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/K1b_Sup_GAP_Rpt_SEPT2014BB.pdf</u>) that California provide timely monitoring and reporting of progress in-season, and to manage the fishery in a manner that the California quota is not exceeded, the California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) has examined how best to implement active monitoring and management for California's Pacific halibut sport fishery in 2015 to ensure catches remain within the state's allocation. Rather than establishing a fixed season during the Catch Sharing Plan (CSP) preseason process as has been done previously, CDFW recommends implementing an inseason monitoring approach similar to that used in coastal fisheries in both Oregon and Washington. This approach is preferred over the method employed for the Washington Inner Waters (i.e., the Puget Sound methodology) as recommended by the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife.

CDFW believes the inseason monitoring approach described below will be effective in ensuring catches are actively tracked during the season to allow for timely and responsive management; i.e., closure of the fishery when attainment of the 2015 California sport allocation is projected.

Beginning in 2015, CDFW will implement a weekly inseason monitoring process similar to the one CDFW uses to actively track fishery impacts on yelloweye rockfish (http://www.dfg.ca.gov/marine/groundfishcentral/tracking.asp). This tracking/monitoring process uses sample data from the CDFW recreational sampling program, catch estimates from prior months and years generated from the sampling program, and the relationship between field observations (sample data) and final catch estimates.

California Recreational Fishery Survey Program (CRFS)

CDFW's California recreational fishery survey program (CRFS) began collecting recreational catch information in 2004. CRFS provides a comprehensive approach to recreational fishery data collection throughout the state, and the information is used to estimate total marine recreational catch and effort in California. It is a coordinated sampling survey designed to gather information for all finfish species, including Pacific halibut, from anglers in all modes of recreational fishing. Anglers are intercepted by CRFS samplers on the water or onshore to collect fishery data. Field staff record the number, lengths, and weights (when possible) of fish observed in the catch (type A fish), along with the angler's demographic and fishing activity information. In addition, field staff record the number and condition of "type B1" fish which are kept fish reported by the angler but can't be directly examined by the sampler due to condition or other circumstances (e.g., filleted). Location of fishing activity is also recorded by samplers onboard vessels or when interviewing anglers at the dock.

Pacific halibut are primarily encountered in three recreational fishing modes (Figure 1). The primary Private/Rental boat mode (PR1), which consists of public launch ramps and docks where at least 90 percent of the fishing effort and catch of important management species by private and rental boats is known to occur in California. Each PR1 site is generally sampled seven days per month, with assignments stratified into weekend and weekday samples and spread throughout the month to maintain a minimum sample rate of 20 percent per half-month period. This coverage rate equates to at least 56 PR1 samples per month (Table 1) in the area between Point Arena and the Oregon-California border where Pacific Halibut are contacted. During May through October 2014, there were 335 total PR1 samples (Table 1), in which almost 12,500 anglers were interviewed and their catch sampled.

The Party/Charter (PC) mode of the CRFS program is comprised of the Commercial Passenger Fishing Vessels (CPFVs). Catch information is collected by CRFS field staff during onboard trips or dockside visits. Up to five percent of CPFV trips are sampled onboard per month while dockside coverage is generally between 20 and 30 percent of all trips. Each PC site is checked several times a week. During May through October 2014, CRFS monitored CPFV activity on 370 days in the area north of Point Arena (Table 1) and sampled more than 650 CPFV trips. In addition, CPFV operators are required to submit logbook records to CDFW each month, documenting the number of anglers who fished on the trip and the target species.

CRFS sampling also occurs at less active private boat launch facilities (e.g., small launch ramps, hoists, beach tractors) that have historically contributed less than 10 percent of the private/rental boat catch of important management species in California. Designated as secondary Private/Rental boat mode (PR2), these sites are randomly sampled a few days a month; however, landings of Pacific Halibut have been relatively rare in this mode (Figure 1).

Effort and Catch Estimates for Pacific Halibut

Determining Pacific halibut fishing effort and catch is a multi-step process that varies slightly by mode of fishing. The first step involves determining total angler effort by trip type. While CRFS does not have a specific Pacific halibut trip type, field samplers record if an angler targeted Pacific halibut either as a primary or secondary target. Most trips where Pacific halibut are targeted fall into the general "bottomfish" category, although a small proportion are categorized as "salmon" trips. A Pacific halibut catch-per-unit of effort (CPUE) for type A and type B1 fish is then calculated for each trip type based on CRFS sample data.

The CPUE information for each of trip type is multiplied by the estimated total effort of each trip type within each mode to produce an estimate of total catch each month by mode (**Figure 1**). Total weight is then calculated using average weights of Pacific Halibut sampled by CRFS field staff.

Since 2011, effort estimates for the PC mode have been derived from mandatory CPFV logbook records. Effort data (target species, number of anglers, and days fished) is provided by operators and submitted to CDFW each month. Logbook submission is checked against a field survey of vessel activity to estimate compliance, and an under-reporting adjustment made if necessary.

For the PR modes, field counts of sampled boats or trailers are used to estimate total effort. The monthly estimate is generated by expanding the total number of boats sampled during assigned days to total days available by strata per month. The daily counts are also expanded to cover missed boats that were not sampled due to high activity at the site or trailers remaining in the parking lot at the end of the sample day.



Figure 1. Recreational estimated catch (net pounds) of Pacific halibut in California by mode (PR1, PR2, and PC) from 2008-2013. Data from RecFIN and CDFW.

Table 1. Number of CRFS sample days for PC and PR1 modes by month between OR-CA border and PointArena during May through Oct 2014.

Mode	Major port area	Sample Site	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Total
PC	Klamath Zone	Crescent City	11	13	14	10	12	8	68
PC	Klamath Zone	Trinidad	12	12	12	13	9	closed	58
PC	Klamath Zone	Eureka	14	14	18	18	16	11	91
PC	Fort Bragg	Shelter Cove	8	8	8	9	8	8	49
PC	Fort Bragg	Fort Bragg	14	20	26	22	14	8	104
		Total	59	67	78	72	59	35	370
Mode	Major port area	Sample Site	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Total
PR1	Klamath Zone	Crescent City docks	7	7	7	7	7	7	42
PR1	Klamath Zone	Crescent City launch	7	7	7	7	7	7	42
PR1	Klamath Zone	Trinidad docks	7	7	7	7	7	7	42
PR1	Klamath Zone	Trinidad hoist	7	7	7	7	7	7	42
PR1	Klamath Zone	Eureka launch	7	7	7	7	7	7	42
PR1	Klamath Zone	Field's Landing launch	7	7	7	7	7	7	42
PR1	Fort Bragg	Shelter Cove tractor	7	7	7	7	7	7	42
PR1	Fort Bragg	Fort Bragg launch	7	7	7	7	7	7	42
-		Total	56	56	56	56	56	56	336

Monthly Estimate Production

The CRFS program produces monthly estimates of Pacific halibut taken in California's recreational fishery that become available approximately six weeks after the end of a fishing month. The basic formula to produce estimates involves using the Pacific Halibut CPUE for each trip type and multiplying it by the total estimated effort by trip type within each mode. As described above, CPUE and effort data come directly from the field survey for the PR1+PR2 modes. For the PC mode, CPUE data comes from the field survey while total effort data comes from the logbook data.

Relationship Between Sampled Pacific Halibut and Monthly Estimates

In order to provide weekly preliminary estimates of catch, CDFW proposes to use a regression to determine approximately how many pounds of estimated catch are equivalent to one sampled fish. CDFW examined the number of sampled fish (A+B1) in each month/year against the corresponding catch estimate for each month/year (Table 2). There is a very strong correlation (Figure 2) between the number of fish observed/reported (A+B1 fish) and the resulting monthly catch estimate (r-squared = 0.88). The strength of this relationship suggests that tallies of observed samples in the field alone can be used to adequately predict what the catch estimates will be by using this relationship.

The regression analysis indicates that each sampled Pacific halibut in the field equates to 103.4 pounds of estimated catch – independent of month or year. CDFW proposes that beginning in 2015, it will use this regression relationship to monitor catches inseason on a weekly basis, generate a preliminary estimate of the total cumulative catch, and compare that relative to the California quota.

Table 2a-b. Numbers of sampled (A+B1) fish (a) and total catch estimates (b; net pounds) for recreationally caught Pacific halibut in California by month and year from 2008-2014 for PR and PC modes. Data from CRFS; 2014 data are preliminary and incomplete.

	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014
May	17	17	22	8	27	18	45
June	25	123	16	31	44	34	21
July	57	111	70	13	39	56	198
August	74	114	81	51	128	176	0
September	35	46	17	21	79	23	44
October	0	1	0	10	11	13	NA
Yearly Total	208	412	206	134	328	320	308

(b)

	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014
May	1,384	638	2,608	2,716	1,523	1,282	4,795
June	1,977	11,652	2,513	3,154	4,119	5,419	2,779
July	3,326	11,548	10,347	1,347	5,369	12,446	20,124
August	5,743	11,758	10,918	5,170	12,306	19,179	0
September	1,611	4,862	2,202	2,663	3,270	2,554	3,293
October	0	149	0	801	856	2,374	NA
Yearly Total	14,040	40,607	28,587	15,852	27,442	43,254	30,991



Figure 2. Regression of sampled (sampler examined, A, and angler reported kept, B1) Pacific halibut and monthly catch estimates from 2008-2014 for PR and PC modes. Data from CRFS; 2014 data are preliminary and incomplete.

Inseason Monitoring, Reporting and Coordination with NMFS and Other Agencies

Each week, CDFW staff will tally observations of sampler examined (A fish) and angler reported kept fish (B1) received on Tuesday or Wednesday from the prior week and multiply this number by 103.4 pounds to generate a preliminary projected estimate of total catch for that prior week. This preliminary estimate will be provided weekly by CDFW Pacific halibut staff to NMFS and the IPHC.

Meanwhile, the CRFS program generates monthly estimates of catch for all species approximately six weeks after a month has ended, incorporating effort information from all modes using methods described above. Once a Pacific halibut monthly estimate is determined, this value will replace the weekly projected preliminary estimates. For example, if during the first five weeks of the season that opens May 1, CRFS samples 30 fish during field sampling activities, the preliminary projected total catch estimate for these five weeks would be 3,102 lbs (30 fish * 103.4 pounds per fish). However, in mid-July when the monthly Pacific halibut catch estimate for May becomes available from CRFS, that value will replace the inseason estimate calculated above for this month, in lieu of the prior corresponding cumulative projected estimate of 3,103 pounds. Any significant differences between catch estimates and weekly projections will also be investigated and reported.

Inseason action to close the fishery will be taken based on the weekly projections, added to any available monthly CRFS estimates. While production of final monthly catch estimates does involve that six-week lag time, the weekly projections will be used to estimate catch for any weeks for which monthly CRFS estimates are not yet available, allowing for very timely estimation of cumulative catch during the season (i.e., with one week lag time rather than six weeks). This method of catch tracking and estimation involves use of the best available science as it becomes available during the season, combining both the final monthly CRFS estimates with the weekly projections. This near real-time information will allow for CDFW, NMFS, and IPHC to coordinate on projection and determination of a closure date during the season.

Closure Process

As weekly catch tracking progresses through the open season, and as the cumulative estimated catch approaches the California quota, CDFW in consultation with NMFS and IPHC, will project the date upon which the allocation will be attained, similar to the method used to project closure dates in other subareas. This projection will also consider expected weather, constituent input on expected effort, and available information on past participation for the specific time of the year as necessary. NMFS will act to close the California sport fishery through inseason action via the fishing hotline, with as much advance notice as possible, although this can be done in as little as 24 hours' notice. CDFW will also post weekly catch estimates to its website in a manner similar to ODFW and similar to the catch reporting CDFW currently utilizes for yelloweye, and will post closure notification information once a date has been established.

Once the fishery has been closed via the hotline for the remainder of the open season, it may not be reopened even if monthly CRFS estimates become available indicating that catches were lower than projected.

Expected Fishing Season Length in the California Subarea

The actual length of the 2015 season will be dependent on three factors: 1) the decision on a California allocation; 2) the determination of the area 2A TAC, and 3) the rate at which A+B1 fish are intercepted by the CDFW recreational sampling program during the season as described above. Using the metric that each sampled fish equates to 103.4 pounds of estimated catch, looking at the average number of fish sampled in the two highest years for each month might generate a reasonable projection of fishery performance in 2015, given the continued trend of increased catches in recent years.

As an example, for the month of May in the 2008-2014 time period, 27 and 45 fish were the A+B1 totals observed for the month in the two highest years (see Table 2a - years 2012 and 2014) – this average is 36 fish, which results in a projection of 3,722 pounds for the month of May (i.e., 36 is multiplied by 103.4 pounds). Monthly projected estimated catches using this methodology are provided in Table 3. Dividing the monthly projected estimates by the number of days in the month may be used to project potential catches on a weekly time basis as depicted in Table 4, which also would allow for selection of season dates once the California allocation is determined.

Table 3. Projected catch (net pounds) of Pacific halibut in California using the highest two-year average number of
sampled fish by month from 2008-2014. Data from CRFS; 2014 data are preliminary and incomplete.

	Average Sampled Fish in Highest Two Years (from Table 2a)	Projected Catch (net pounds)
May	36	3,723
June	84	8,636
July	155	15,980
August	152	15,721
September	63	6,464
October	12	1,241
	Yearly Total	51,767

Table 4. Projected weekly catch (net pounds) and projected cumulative catch through the Pacific halibut season using an average of the two highest numbers of sampled fish by month from 2008-2014, and assuming an open season from May 1 through October 31. Based on data from CRFS; 2014 data are preliminary and incomplete.

Week	Weekly	Cumulative
	Projected	Projected
	Catch (net	Catch (net
	pounds)	pounds)
May 1-7	841	841
May 8-14	841	1,682
May 15-21	841	2,522
May 22-28	841	3,363
May 29-June 4	1,512	4,875
June 5-11	2,015	6,890
June 12-18	2,015	8,905
June 19-25	2,015	10,920
June 26-July 2	2,470	13,391
July 3-9	3,608	16,999
July 10-16	3,608	20,608
July 17-23	3,608	24,216
July 24-30	3,608	27,824
July 31-Aug 6	3,558	31,383
Aug 7-13	3,550	34,933
Aug 14-20	3,550	38,483
Aug 21-27	3,550	42,033
Aug 28-Sept 3	2,675	44,708
Sept 4-10	1,508	46,216
Sept 11-17	1,508	47,724

Sept 18-24	1,508	49,233
Sept 25-Oct 1	1,333	50,566
Oct 2-8	280	50,846
Oct 9-15	280	51,126
Oct 16-22	280	51,406
Oct 23-29	280	51,687
Oct 30-31	80	51,767

California notes that this recommended approach of taking the highest two years for each month within the broader time series (2008 through 2014) results in projecting higher anticipated catches than simply taking the most recent two-year average (see Table 2b). Using the average of the top two monthly values should help provide a buffer in the projections and account for shifts in angler effort. Although the projections are based on catch levels previously witnessed in the fishery, variability across both months and years might be expected considering the variability in monthly estimates from prior years.

Based on the above projected catch estimates, a season structure can be designed to stay within any allocation amount. For example, if the California allocation is approximately 18,000 pounds, the expected season could be between one and three months, depending on the months chosen. CDFW has provided several possible season structure scenarios (Table 5) using the same Area 2A TAC and allocation Alternative combinations used in the Supplemental on page 24 NMFS Report (http://www.pcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/G1b Sup NMFS Rpt1 NOV2014BB.pdf).

TAC/Alternative	Allocation	May	June	July	August	September	October	Total Projected Catch
960k and SQ	6,240	3,723					1,241	4,965
720k and Alt 1	14,040	3,723				6,464	1,241	11,429
960k and Alt 1, 2, 3	18,720				15,721		1,241	16,963
960k and Alt 4	24,960			15,980		6,464	1,241	23,685
960k and Alt 5	31,200		8,636	15,980		6,464		31,081
1,480k and Alt 2b	50,000	3,723	8,636	15,980	15,721	6,464		50,526

Table 5. Hypothetical season structure scenarios under different Area 2A TAC amounts and allocation Alternatives using estimated monthly catches for California's recreational Pacific halibut fishery.

Following the determination of the 2015 Area 2A TAC, CDFW will conduct additional outreach with California constituents to recommend 2015 open fishing season dates to NMFS, from within the preliminary range identified of a 15-consecutive days to the full May through October season. A key topic of discussion will be whether the industry prefers to close the month of August as it did in 2014, or if other season structures are preferred once the California allocation amount is definitively known. Based on this input CDFW will formulate a recommendation to NMFS on the desired 2015 season structure in time for inclusion in the Final Rule.

Use of Buffers and Maximum Limits

California notes that pots of fish allocated under the CSP should not be viewed as "owned" by any one state. The CSP affords opportunities to buffer overages in one fishery subarea against underages in other subareas through use of rolling over unused quota from one subarea to another, in order to ensure the full

Area 2A TAC is utilized. Given the interest in ensuring that no fish are stranded and left unutilized, California is looking forward to exploring rollover/roll back or buffering alternatives using similar approaches in the future. For the 2015 season, given the range of allocation alternatives available, and noting that catch projections for California's sport fishery in 2015 described above do not exceed 75,000 pounds, California would support Maximum Limit B, which would establish a maximum limit of 75,000 pounds be allocated to the California sport fishery in 2015, acknowledging that in future years, California would instead support use of rollovers or rollbacks to other sectors or areas as the preferred mechanism to avoid stranding fish, rather than any maximum limit.

Draft Catch Sharing Plan Language

(vii) California subarea.

This sport fishery subarea is allocated 1.0-[insert new value] percent of the non-Indian allocation [when the Area 2A TAC is less than one million pounds, and (insert value) percent of the non-Indian allocation when the Area 2A TAC is greater than one million pounds]. This area is defined as the area south of the Oregon/California Border (42° 00.00' N. lat.), including all California waters. The structuring objective for this subarea is to provide anglers the opportunity to fish in a fixed season that is open from May 1through July 31 and September 1 through October 31. The fishery will be structured to provide recreational fishing opportunity seven days per week, from May 1 until the date determined inseason when the quota is projected to be taken, or until October 31, whichever is earlier. Additional closed periods during this season, such as closed weeks or months and including a later opening date, may be established preseason by NMFS based on the subarea quota and projected catch. Based on the subarea quota, and considering stakeholder input, the California Department of Fish and Wildlife will provide recommendations to NMFS each year as soon as possible following the determination of the Area 2A TAC on the opening date and other closure dates, such as closed weeks or months, that would apply during the fishing season that year. Closure of the fishery or other inseason adjustments may be made by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit. Due to inability to monitor the catch in this area inseason, a fixed season will be established preseason by NMFS based on projected seasonal catch; no inseason adjustments will be made, and estimates of actual catch will be made post season.

THE ENFORCEMENT CONSULTANTS REPORT ON PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE 2015 CATCH SHARING PLAN AND REGULATIONS

The Enforcement Consultants (EC) has reviewed the documents associated with Agenda Item G.1, Pacific Halibut Regulations and has the following comments.

Regarding the Nearshore Fishery within the Columbia River Subarea, the EC reiterates our previous September statement:

Washington and Oregon share the Columbia River Subarea with recreational anglers fishing both sides of the state line and landing at ports in both states. Many of the regulations are aligned between states allowing for consistent enforcement.

Currently, Oregon and Washington allow retention of Pacific Halibut during recreational nearshore bottomfish fisheries during days open to the nearshore fishery. Both states also have all depth directed Pacific Halibut fisheries four days a week during which only sablefish, Pacific Cod, and most other offshore pelagic species are allowed to be retained while Pacific Halibut are onboard. This management scheme has been suitable for enforcement of regulations both at sea and dockside.

Presently, nearshore regulations allow for retention of Pacific Halibut from Monday through Wednesday. A proposed change in the WDFW report would expand retention of Pacific Halibut during the nearshore fishery to Monday through Friday creating two days of overlap between nearshore and all depth fisheries.

An option under WDFW Supplemental Report #3 offers that the nearshore fishery allow Pacific Halibut retention Monday through Friday, including overlap on Thursday and Friday, for only the month of June.

Recommendation:

The EC recommends the Status Quo, where the nearshore fishery is open on days not open for the all-depth fishery, currently Monday through Wednesday.

Per the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife option, allowing for retention of Pacific Halibut Monday through Friday, creating the Thursday and Friday overlap, only during the month of June, complicates regulations and in turn affects the ability to consistently enforce regulations both at sea and dockside.

Additionally, the EC recommends uniform regulations between Washington and Oregon, relating to the days of the week open to retention, as inconsistency could further complicate enforcement and angler understanding/compliance.

PFMC 11/16/14

2015 PACIFIC HALIBUT CATCH SHARING PLAN AND REGULATIONS

The Groundfish Advisory Subpanel (GAP) heard from Sarah Williams, Lynn Mattes, Heather Reed, and Deb Wilson-Vandenberg.

The GAP reviewed the current situation regarding Halibut management in area 2A and has the following concerns and recommendations:

First, we note that the International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) has the ultimate authority to manage Halibut in the North Pacific. Annually IPHC apportions harvest to the various fishing areas/sectors in a manner consistent with past policy. Area 2A (Washington, Oregon, and California) has the least Halibut biomass in the North Pacific (2-3 percent of the total). In recent years, 2A has been allocated halibut at the higher end of the acceptable range of TAC. It is of vital importance that all states and tribes adhere to the historical 2A management standards. If not, the overall 2A harvest allocation could be jeopardized. A substantial loss of quota would severely impact all of our fisheries.

Second, 2A Halibut harvest management has been delegated from IPHC to the Pacific Council by a Catch Sharing Plan (CSP) that has been in place for over 20 years. All subareas in 2A, with the exception of Puget Sound and California, are managed in real time, in-season, to stay within our overall allocation. The Puget Sound recreational fishery has been managed by season length based on previous years' average daily catches. Their season structure has been shortened from around 80 days down to the current 8 days over the past decade in order to maintain compliance with their sub-area quota. With the exception of California, all other fisheries in 2A are managed in-season, and some are experiencing season lengths measured in very few days rather than the weeks or months that had been the case in years past.

The GAP is very concerned that continued state overages with respect to the allocation assigned by the CSP will jeopardize harvest levels throughout 2A, and that could result in serious economic loss to all 2A halibut fisheries. Washington and Oregon harvest sectors are willing to sacrifice enough quota pounds to accommodate a reasonable quota for California but only on the condition that the California fishery be managed to stay within its allocation.

The GAP wishes to note that the duration of the halibut catch sharing plan is for one year, and subject to revision in the future.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

1) Allocate 4 percentage points of the total non-Tribal allocation of the 2A TAC to California. This would be a modified Alternative 4. The percentage for greater than 1 million pounds is eliminated. The resulting percentages would be:

WA Sport 35.6 OR Sport 29.7 CA Sport

4.0

Commercial30.7Total100

This California percentage is funded equally from each of the other three sectors (Oregon recreational, Washington recreational, and commercial). This amount reflects recent landings in California.

2) Manage the California sector by using the in-season monitoring plan outlined in supplemental CDFW Report 2. This action would include the authority of California Department of Fish and Wildlife/National Marine Fisheries Service to close the season when the prescribed quota is reached.

The GAP also heard from both Washington and Oregon Halibut managers. The GAP supports the changes proposed for their in-state fisheries. (Supplemental WDFW Report 3, ODFW Report).

PFMC 11/16/14

Agenda Item G.1.b Supplemental IPHC Report November 2014

COMMISSIONERS: ROBERT ALVERSON SEATTLE, WA TED ASSU CAMPBELL RIVER, B.C. JAMES BALSIGER JUNEAU, AN DAVID BOYES COURTENAY, B.C. DORALD LANE HOMER, AK PAUL RYALL MANCOUVER, B.C.

INTERNATIONAL PACIFIC HALIBUT COMMISSION

DIRECTOR BRUCE M. LEAMAN

2320 W. COM/JODORE WY, STE 300 SEATTLE, WA 98199-1207

TELEPHONE:

(200) 634-1633

FAX:

(206) 632-2953

ESTABLISHED BY A CONVENTION BETWEEN CANADA

AND THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Council Staff Note: This letter was also sent to the Oregon and Washington Departments of Fish and Wildlife

October 27, 2014

RECEIVED

Mr. Phil Anderson, Director Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife 600 Capitol Way N. Olympia, WA 98501

OCT 29:00

PFMC

Dear Mr. Anderson:

Since 2012, the Commission or domestic parties have adopted management measures that involve size restrictions on some or all recreational catches in different areas. The Commission's consideration of the initial size restrictive regulations highlighted the issue of the mortality of fish which must be discarded by regulation, or which are discarded because the angler wishes to continue fishing in search of a larger-sized fish for retention. The latter is a common occurrence during recreational fishing for halibut. The former is similar to the effect of regulations in the commercial halibut fishery, wherein there is a minimum legal size limit for retention.

ĩ.

For the fish discarded in the commercial fishery, the IPHC has a process to estimate and account for the resulting mortality. Similarly, the IPHC staff will begin to estimate the mortalities in the recreational fisheries and will start using these estimates in this year's stock assessment.

In 2012, we requested that all agencies develop data collection plans which would permit the estimation of discard mortality in their recreational fisheries for Pacific halibut. We are following up on this request to inquire if the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife has collected data on quantities and sizes of halibut discarded in the sport fisheries or has estimated the mortality from discards in these fisheries. If so, Steve Kaimmer (SteveK@iphc.int) is the IPHC staff person to receive these data. The information is needed by early November to incorporate into this year's stock assessment. In lieu of receiving these estimates from agencies, we will base our estimate on a percentage mortality applied to the sport catch in each region.

Sincerely.

Bruce M. Deaman, Ph.D. Executive Director

Cc: IPHC Commissioners Ms. Michelle Culver (WDFW) Ms. Heather Reed (WDFW) Dr. Don McIsaac (PFMC)

NATIONAL MARINE FISHERIES SERVICE REPORT ON PACIFIC HALIBUT CATCH SHARING PLAN CHANGES FOR 2015

Appendix C. Tables of Seasons, restrictions, and catches for 2A by subarea from 2003-2013	29
Appendix B. Excerpts from South of Humbug Workgroup Reports	27
Appendix A. All TAC alternatives applied to all allocation alternatives.	25
2. California Recreational Management Measures	21
Socioeconomic Impacts	14
Biological effects of the Alternatives	12
Impacts of the Alternatives	12
Total Allowable Catch/Allocation Alternative Scenarios	10
Non-Treaty Allocation Alternatives	8
1. Non-treaty allocation changes	8
Commercial Fisheries	4
South of Humbug Mountain, Oregon and off the California Coast	3
Oregon	3
Washington	2
Recreational Fisheries	2
Baseline Summary of Commercial and Recreational Halibut Fisheries	2
Table of Contents Purpose of the document	2
Table of Contents	

Purpose of the document

The purpose of this document is to: (1) assess the impacts of the non-tribal allocation alternatives using a range of Total Allowable Catch (TAC) scenarios; and (2) examine possible season structure alternatives using an estimated catch per day and catch per week methods for the California recreational fishery. Unless otherwise stated, all weights in this reports are net weight.

Baseline Summary of Commercial and Recreational Halibut Fisheries

The following section provides a brief summary of each state's recreational fishery including catch, quota, and numbers of open days. Information for the area south of Humbug Mountain Oregon and off the California coast is combined in this section because this subarea was allocated quota and managed as a subarea prior to 2014. To find catch data for California only see Section 2 below. This section also provides information on the directed non-treaty commercial fishery including catch, quota, days open, number of licenses and number of participants. To see more detailed information on the Pacific halibut fishery and the subareas see the final environmental assessment (EA) (Agenda Item G.1.b, NMFS Report 2).

Recreational Fisheries

Recreational halibut fisheries are managed through state and subarea specific Plan allocations.

Washington

Sport fishing for halibut in Washington is divided into four subareas for management and catch allocation purposes: WA Inside Waters (Puget Sound) subarea, WA North Coast subarea, WA South Coast subarea, and Columbia River subarea (which is shared with Oregon and discussed in a separate section below). The WA Inside Waters Subarea includes all waters east of the Sekiu River mouth and includes Puget Sound, most of the Strait of Juan De Fuca, the San Juan Islands area, Hood Canal and Admiralty Inlet. From 2003-2009 the Puget Sound fishery was open 49-65 days in each area and from 2010-2013 it has been open 8-17 days in each area. The WA North Coast Subarea is the area west of the Sekiu River mouth and north of the Queets River. Between 2003-2013 this area was open between 4-20 days, except in 2008 and 2009 when the nearshore fishery was open for several months. The WA South Coast Subarea lies to the south of Queets River and north of Leadbetter Point, WA. Between 2003-2013 this area has been open between 18-36 days including the nearshore fishery which is typically open more days than the primary (non-nearshore) fishery. To see dates for each Washington subarea as well as quota and catch see Appendix C.

Columbia River

The Columbia River subarea lies between Leadbetter Point and Cape Falcon, Oregon, and is shared with Oregon. The allocations for this subarea are derived from both the Washington and Oregon sport allocations. This subarea was broken out from the southern Washington subarea in 1995 and includes the area from Leadbetter Point, WA, to Cape Falcon, OR. Between 2003-2013 this area was open between 36 and 153 days, with the most recent years between 40-60 days. To see the specific dates, catch, and quota for this area see Appendix C.

Oregon

Sport fishing for halibut in Oregon is divided into three subareas for management and catch allocation purposes: Columbia River subarea (which is shared with Washington and described above), Central Coast subarea, and the Southern Oregon subarea that was created for the 2014 fishery. Prior to 2014, halibut fishing off Southern Oregon was managed as part of the South of Humbug subarea, described in the next section. Between 1995 and 2003, the major Oregon sport fishery management area was broken into north (Cape Falcon to Siuslaw River) and south (Siuslaw River to California border) subareas. Since 2004, there has been one Oregon-only subarea, the Central Coast, from Cape Falcon to Humbug Mountain. This subarea is divided into a nearshore, spring and summer fishery. The nearshore fishery was previously open 7 days per week from May through October. However, the length of the season has been decreasing in the last several years due to increased effort and the presence of halibut in the area with the nearshore fishery transitioning from being an incidental fishery to a more targeted fishery. Between 2004 (the year the North and South Central areas were combined) -2013, the central coast was open 11-60 days for the all depth (non-nearshore fishery) with the most recent years around 20 days. For the same period, the nearshore fishery was open between 38-184 days. To see the specific dates, catch, and quota for this area see Appendix C.

South of Humbug Mountain, Oregon and off the California Coast

The sport fishery for Pacific halibut in the area south of Humbug Mountain, Oregon and in California was previously a non-target fishery with incidental catches of Pacific halibut primarily occurring in the Shelter Cove area during groundfish fisheries. In the last several years the fishery has transitioned to a more targeted fishery with landings also occurring with salmon and more of the catch occurring in the area north of Shelter Cove. A separate California recreational allocation was originally established in 1990 based on an expectation of incidental catch, which was about 2.6 percent of the Oregon/California (OR/CA) sport allocation. The SOH management area, used through 2013, was established in 1999 and 0.4% of the OR/CA sport allocation was shifted to the SOH area to account for the addition of southern OR; this provided SOH with 3.0% of the whole CA/OR sport allocation until 2013.

Unlike the other sub-areas (except Puget Sound), the South of Humbug Mt. subarea has had fixed season lengths (May 1-Oct 31, prior to 2004 through Sept 30), regardless of harvest (1999-2013 2A Catch Sharing Plans). Harvests in the South of Humbug Mt. subarea received minimal attention prior to 2011, although catches started to increase in 2008. However, that changed in 2011, and fishery managers became aware of potentially substantial landings in California waters, as well as increased landings in the Oregon portion. In response, the Council created a South of Humbug Workgroup and Policy Committee to analyze the fishery and recommend any changes necessary to reduce catches in the area. Based on the advice of both groups the Council recommended several changes to the recreational fishery in the South of Humbug area beginning in 2014 in order to begin to reduce catches in the area. The Council recommendation split the existing subarea, which includes portions of both southern Oregon and northern California, into two state-specific subareas. This change allowed each state to use the most effective available management tools to attempt to keep the catch within their respective quotas. The existing Oregon/California sport fishery allocation of 31.7 percent of the non-tribal allocation was split into a 1 percent California sport fishery allocation and a 30.7 percent Oregon sport fishery allocation. The new California subarea was open to fishing from May-July and SeptemberOctober, with the month of August closed as a quota management measure. The State of Oregon monitored and managed the Southern Oregon subarea in season to avoid exceeding the quota. Due to the set season this area has been open 184 days every year between 2004-2013. To see the specific dates, catch, and quota for this area see Appendix C.

Commercial Fisheries

The commercial fishery allocations in the Plan have been divided into two components since 1995: a directed commercial fishery (e.g., the traditional longline fishery) and an incidental halibut catch in the salmon troll fishery. The directed commercial fishery is restricted to the area south of Point Chehalis, WA. An allocation for incidental halibut retention in the commercial sablefish primary fishery comes from the Washington sport allocation, and is only available in years when the TAC is above 900,000 lb. Between 2004-2014 only the 2010 and 2011 Area 2A TACs were below that minimum. Between 2004-2013 the directed commercial fishery has been open 1-4 days, incidental halibut retention in the salmon troll fishery has been allowed between 47-199 days, and incidental halibut retention in the sablefish primary fishery has been allowed 176-184 days. To see the specific dates, catch, and quota for these fisheries see Appendix C.

Overall 2A Quota and Catch

Finally, the following three tables present the 2A TAC, resulting subarea allocations and catch for 2004-2014 and the overall 2A TAC and catch 2004-2013.

Table 1. 2004-2013 catch and quota by subarea, all weights are in net weight.

	Catch by su	ıbarea 2004-2013									
	20	2004		2005		2006		2007		2008	
	Quota	Catch	Quota	Catch	Quota	Catch	Quota	Catch	Quota	Catch	
TRIBAL INDIAN	543,000	558,000	490,500	489,000	508,000	509,000	494,000	468,400	427,000	426,879	
Commercial	523,600	520,000	452,500	453,000	472,000	476,000	461,000	468,400	397,000	426,879	
Ceremonial and Subsistence	19,400	38,000	38,000	36,000	36,000	33,000	33,000		30,000		
NON-TRIBAL	937,000	980,853	839,500	822,834	872,000	772,049	846,000	795,659	793,000	759,836	
COMMERCIAL	367,029	357,000	336,121	346,000	346,424	335,000	338,182	294,500	321,381	272,236	
Troll	44,554	43,000	39,918	42,000	41,464	34,000	40,227	24,000	37,707	16,685	
Directed	252,475	246,000	226,203	236,000	234,960	236,000	227,955	224,500	213,674	220,590	
Sablefish Incidental	70,000	68,000	70,000	68,000	70,000	65,000	70,000	46,000	70,000	34,961	
SPORT	584,212	623,853	517,126	476,834	546,746	437,049	528,196	501,159	490,381	487,600	
WA Sport	272,942	236,629	237,257	225,896	249,152	227,664	239,636	211,070	220,238	230,554	
OR/CA Sport	297,029	372,463	266,122	235,907	276,424	187,666	268,182	269,805	251,381	239,147	
WA Inside Waters	76,220	49,577	64,800	62,370	68,607	63,375	65,562	45,415	59,354	83,304	
WA North Coast	126,857	124,229	115,437	108,149	119,244	105,805	116,199	114,489	109,991	106,852	
WA South Coast	61,565	62,823	50,146	55,377	53,952	58,484	50,907	51,166	44,700	40,398	
Columbia River	14,241	14,761	13,747	15,031	21,170	21,719	20,378	20,284	18,762	17,899	
Early Season		n/a		n/a		n/a		n/a		n/a	
Late Season		n/a	_	n/a	_	n/a	_	n/a	_	n/a	
OR Central Coast	282,178	186,209	266,122	235,071	254,310	183,689	246,727	264,378	231,271	225,107	
Inside 40 fathoms	22,574	2,028	20,101	5,540	20,345	8,419	19,738	8,652	18,502	11,833	
Spring (May-June)	194,703	145,541	173,372	165,238	175,474	109,410	170,242	133,090	159,577	119,656	
Summer (August-October)	64,901	38,640	57,791	64,293	58,491	65,860	56,747	122,636	53,192	93,618	
OR S. of Humbug/CA	8,911	45	7,984	836	8,293	3,977	8,045	5,427	7,541	14,040	
TOTAL	1.480.000	1,538,853	1,330,000	1.311.834	1,380.000	1.281.049	1,340,000	1.264.059	1.220.000	1,186,715	

	2009		20	2010		2011		012	20)13
	Quota	Catch	Quota	Catch	Quota	Catch	Quota	Catch	Quota	Catch
TRIBAL INDIAN	332,500	333,814	283,500	276,390	318,500	354,216	346,150	387,261	346,500	342,003
Commercial	303,500	303,386	253,072	251,090	293,200	328,916	321,650	355,061	314,300	313,503
Ceremonial and Subsistence	29,000	30,428	30,428	25,300	25,300	25,300	24,500	32,200	32,200	28,500
NON-TRIBAL	617,500	696,093	526,500	565,146	591,500	594,071	642,850	677,199	643,500	717,841
COMMERCIAL	195,748	194,525	166,900	161,187	187,506	193,883	203,783	219,265	225,400	215,388
Troll	29,362	11,310	25,035	28,627	28,126	25,753	30,568	35,255	30,600	30,388
Directed	166,385	177,800	141,865	132,560	159,380	168,130	21,173	179,000	21,410	173,000
Sablefish Incidental	11,895	5,415	0	0	0	0	173,216	5,010	173,390	12,000
SPORT	425,593	501,568	373,036	403,959	419,412	400,188	419,412	457,934	429,995	502,453
WA Sport	214,110	265,924	192,699	209,612	216,489	194,697	214,110	225,331	214,110	245,292
OR/CA Sport	195,748	222,906	166,901	183,536	187,506	194,213	203,783	222,059	203,990	250,693
WA Inside Waters	57,393	114,050	50,542	71,801	58,155	45,856	57,393	77,385	57,393	95,351
WA North Coast	108,030	102,782	101,179	95,014	108,792	103,741	108,030	105,479	108,030	107,856
WA South Coast	42,739	39,595	35,887	34,554	43,500	45,100	42,739	42,467	42,740	42,085
Columbia River	15,735	12,738	13,436	10,811	15,418	11,278	11,895	10,544	11,895	6,468
Early Season	11,014	11,266	9,405	8,552	10,793	8,782	9,516	6,499	9,516	4,725
Late Season	4,720	1,472	4,031	2,259	4,625	2,496	2,379	4,045	2,379	1,743
OR Central Coast	180,088	182,960	153,548	155,567	187,506	170,010	203,783	191,535	191,979	194,484
Inside 40 fathoms	14,407	8,227	12,284	12,927	13,800	24,451	23,014	37,413	23,038	22,248
Spring (May-June)	124,261	122,403	105,948	112,500	115,578	114,752	120,821	111,269	120,947	145,167
Summer (August-October)	41,420	52,330	36,316	30,140	43,126	30,807	47,945	42,853	47,995	27,069
OR S. of Humbug/CA	5,872	36,704	5,007	25,401	5,625	24,203	6,056	30,524	6,063	56,209
TOTAL	950,000	1,029,907	810,000	841,536	910,000	948,287	989,000	1,064,460	990,000	1,059,84

	2A TAC	Total catch	Percent of Quota Taken
2004	1,480,000	1,538,853	103.98%
2005	1,330,000	1,311,834	98.63%
2006	1,380,000	1,281,049	92.83%
2007	1,340,000	1,264,059	94.33%
2008	1,220,000	1,186,715	97.27%
2009	950,000	1,029,907	108.41%
2010	810,000	841,536	103.89%
2011	910,000	948,287	104.21%
2012	989,000	1,064,460	107.63%
2013	990,000	1,059,844	107.05%

Table 2. 2A TAC, total catch for all areas and fisheries, and percent of quota taken, 2004-2013.

1. Non-treaty allocation changes

Non-Treaty Allocation Alternatives

The Council approved a range of non-treaty allocation changes for public review at the September 2014 meeting. The approved range included changes to the commercial allocations and changes to the Washington, Oregon, and California recreational allocations. The allocation alternatives are shown in Table 1, are described below, and can also be found at http://www.pcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/Full_Blog_2015CSP_changes.pdf

Table 3. Council approved range of non-treaty allocations changes. These alternatives came from two reports presented at the September 2014 Council meeting. The Tri-state report was a joint Washington, Oregon, and California report. The GAP report is from the Groundfish Advisory Panel.

			Alt 2 (TriState)		Alt 3 (GAP)		Alt 4 (GAP)		Alt 5 (GAP)			
	Status Quo	Alt 1 (TriState)										
			Opti	on A	Ор	tion B						
						Portion of		Portion of		Portion of		Portion of
			2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC
			≤1 M. Ib	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. lb	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. lb	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. lb	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. lb	> 1 M. lb
WA Sport:	36.60%	36.60%	36.60%	36.60%	36.60%	18.5-25.9%	35.93%	35.60%	35.60%	35.27%	35.27%	34.93%
OR Sport:	30.70%	30.70%	30.70%	30.70%	30.70%	15.5-21.7%	30.03%	29.70%	29.70%	29.37%	29.37%	29.03%
CA Sport:	1.00%	3.00%	3.00%	4.00%	3.00%	30-50%	3.00%	4.00%	4.00%	5.00%	5.00%	6.00%
Commercial:	31.70%	29.70%	29.70%	28.70%	29.70%	16-22.4%	31.03%	30.70%	30.70%	30.37%	30.37%	30.03%

Status Quo: The non-treaty allocation is apportioned according to the 2014 CSP: Washington sport (36.60%), Oregon sport (30.70%), California sport (1.00%), and commercial (31.70%).

Alternative 1: Maintain allocations as described in the CSP (Status Quo), except increase the California sport allocation by two percent, for a total California sport allocation of three percent, by reducing the non-treaty commercial fishery share.

Alternative 2, Option A: Same allocations as described in Alternative 1 when the 2A TAC is one million pounds or less. When the 2A TAC is above one million pounds, the California sport allocation would increase by an additional one percent, for a total California sport allocation of four percent, by reducing the non-treaty commercial fishery share.

Alternative 2, Option B: Same allocations as described in Alternative 1 when the 2A TAC is one million pounds or less. When the 2A TAC is greater than one million pounds, the first one million pounds of the 2A TAC shall be distributed according to the Alternative 1 allocations. For the portion of the 2A TAC that exceeds one million pounds, the California sport allocation would increase to 30-50 percent of the non-treaty share, and allocation percentages for the non-treaty commercial and recreational (Washington and Oregon) would be reduced to remain proportional to the status quo non-treaty shares.

Alternative 3: Increase the California sport allocation by two percent, for a total California sport allocation of three percent, when the 2A TAC is less than one million pounds by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations (i.e., Washington sport, Oregon sport, and commercial). When the 2A TAC is greater than one million pounds, the first one million pounds of the 2A TAC shall be distributed according to the Alternative 3 allocations. For the portion of the 2A TAC that exceeds one million pounds, the California sport allocation would increase to four percent of the non-treaty share by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations.

Alternative 4: Increase the California sport share by three percent, for a total allocation of four percent, when the 2A TAC is less than one million pounds by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations. When the 2A TAC is greater than one million pounds, the first one million pounds of the 2A TAC shall be distributed according to the Alternative 4 allocations. For the portion of the 2A TAC that exceeds one million pounds, the California sport allocation would increase to five percent of the non-treaty share by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations.

Alternative 5: Increase the California sport share by four percent, for a total allocation of five percent, when the 2A TAC is less than one million pounds by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations. When the 2A TAC is greater than one million pounds, the first one million pounds of the 2A TAC shall be distributed according to the Alternative 5 allocations. For the portion of the 2A TAC that exceeds one million pounds, the California sport allocation would increase to six percent of the non-treaty share by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations.

Maximum limits on the California Sport Allocation

In addition to allocation changes, the Council approved two options for maximum limits on the California sport allocation.

Status Quo: No maximum limit on the California sport allocation.

Maximum Limit A: Include a maximum limit on the California sport allocation of 75,000 pounds, in an effort to not strand pounds. This limit may be combined with Alternatives 1, 2A, or 2B described in the table above. Any amount above 75,000 pounds would remain in the non-treaty commercial fishery share.

Maximum Limit B: Include a maximum limit on the California sport allocation of 50,000 pounds, in an effort to not strand pounds. This limit may be combined with Alternatives 3 - 5 described in the table above. Any amount above 50,000 pounds would remain in the Washington sport, Oregon sport, and commercial fisheries in proportion to their respective shares under the Alternative.

Allocation Alternative Comparison

Because all the alternatives, except status quo, increase the California Sport allocation a first step to examining the alternatives is to see where the increase to the California Sport allocation comes from. For Alternatives 1, 2A, and 2B, with TACs less than 1 million lbs., the increase to the California sport allocation comes from a decrease to only the commercial allocation, meaning

there are no changes to the Washington and Oregon sport allocations. At TACs over 1 million Alternative 2A increases the California allocation by reducing only the commercial allocation. Alternative 2B, with a TAC over 1 million lbs., allocates the portion of the TAC under 1 million lbs. using Alternative 1 allocations, and allocates the portion of the TAC over 1 million lbs. by reducing the commercial, Washington, and Oregon allocations.

Under Alternatives 3-5, increases to the California sport allocation come equally from the commercial, Washington and Oregon sport allocations. Similar to alternative 2B, alternatives 3-5 allocate the portion of the 2A TAC above and below 1 million lbs. with different percentages, dividing the increase to the California sport allocation equally among the remaining non-treaty allocations (commercial, Washington and Oregon sport). Under Alternative 3 with a TAC under 1 million lbs. the commercial, Washington and Oregon sport allocations are decreased by 0.67%, for the portion above 1 million lbs. the allocations are decreased by 1%. Under Alternative 4 with a TAC under 1 million lbs. the commercial, Washington and Oregon sport allocations are decreased by 1.33%. Under Alternative 5 with a TAC under 1 million lbs. the commercial, Washington and Oregon sport allocations are decreased by 1.33%. Under Alternative 5 with a TAC under 1 million lbs. the portion above 1 million lbs. the allocations are decreased by 1.33%. Under Alternative 5 with a TAC under 1 million lbs. the portion above 1 million lbs. the allocations are decreased by 1.33%. Under Alternative 5 with a TAC under 1 million lbs. the portion above 1 million lbs. the allocations are decreased by 1.67%. To see how the fishery allocations that would result from these allocation changes see Appendix A which shows each allocation alternative applied to the 2014 Status Quo TAC.

Total Allowable Catch/Allocation Alternative Scenarios

In order to show the allocations that result from the allocation alternatives above, they must be applied to hypothetical TAC level to show the resulting allocations to the commercial fishery and the state recreational allocations. We decided to apply the various allocation alternatives to three different TAC levels to explore how the alternatives would affect the fishery and subarea allocations. Each combination of allocation alternative and hypothetical TAC level is referred to as a "scenario."

Three TAC levels were used in this analysis to illustrate how the allocation alternatives might work given a low, medium, and high TAC. The TAC levels used to develop these scenarios are 1) 720,000 lbs., the 2014 International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) "Blue Line¹", which was chosen as a low end TAC level and is below any TAC approved in the last 10 years 2) 960,000 lbs., 2014 TAC, which is the status quo TAC with status quo allocations and represents a mid-range TAC and is also similar to approved over the last five years, 3) 1,480,000 lbs, the 2004 TAC, which is the highest TAC approved between 2004-2014. A TAC of 1,283,333 is included in the tables in Appendix A, but is not further discussed in this document because the resulting allocations were too similar to the 1.48 million TAC to be useful for analysis.

Allocation alternatives were then applied to the three TAC levels to show the resulting subarea allocation scenarios. Four allocation alternatives, in addition to status quo, were chosen to help illustrate a range of subarea allocations and possible impacts in the body of this report. We used

¹ "Blue Line" is the estimate of harvest available when the IPHC target harvest rates are applied to the current estimate of exploitable biomass. In recent years IPHC has adopted a harvest rate for Area 2A that is higher than the IPHC's target harvest rate for Area 2A (for 2014 the target harvest rate TAC would have been 720,000 lbs however IPHC adopted 960,000 lbs)

only a few of the allocation alternatives in this analysis in order to explore the extremes of the allocations and their impacts. This examination however is not the best tool to examine the tradeoffs between the allocation alternatives, focusing on the number of days each fishery may be open. For this, the reader should examine Appendix A and the section on recreational impacts below which describe each allocation alternative.

To see the results of applying all of the alternatives to the three TAC levels described above, see Appendix A. While the Council's final motion for the use of the 50,000 lbs. max was specified to allocation alternatives 3-5, this report applies the 50,000 lbs. max on the California sport allocation to Alternative 2b because when applied to the highest TAC this result in the highest California allocation.

We applied the Status Quo and Alternative 1 allocations to the 720,000 lbs. TAC. Status Quo applied to this TAC results in the smallest California allocation of all the scenarios, therefore setting the low end of the range. Alternative 1 increases the California sport allocation by reducing only the commercial allocation. This alternative does not decrease the Washington and Oregon sport allocations. The resulting California allocation was below either of the alternative maximum limits so we did not need to apply a maximum limit. This scenario shows the lowest California allocation when considering the action alternatives.

The Status Quo TAC scenario uses the 2014 TAC and the 2014 Plan allocations. This scenario has the lowest California allocation even though the overall TAC is higher than the 720,000 lbs. TAC/Allocation alternative 1 scenario. This happens because no changes are made to the subarea allocations, meaning the California allocation is not increased. The Washington sport allocation under this alternative has been reduced by 14,274 lbs. to allocate that amount to incidental halibut retention in the sablefish primary fishery consistent with the Plan.

The allocation alternatives applied to the 1,480,000 lbs. TAC include status quo, Alternative 2B, with the California sport allocation receiving 30 percent of the TAC above 1 million lbs., with a 50,000 lbs. maximum, and Alternative 2b with the California sport allocation receiving 50 percent of the TAC above 1 million lbs., with no maximum. Allocation Alternative 2b with the maximum is analyzed because it results in a California sport allocation of 50,000 lbs., which is higher than any catch in the area to date. We examined this scenario to show how high the TAC and allocation would need to be to accommodate the most recent California catch in 2013 of 43,254 lbs. The Washington sport allocation under this alternative has been reduced by 70,000 lbs. to allocate that amount to incidental halibut retention in the sablefish primary fishery consistent with the Plan. Alternative 2b with a 50% allocation to California of TAC above 1 million pounds, without any cap on the California allocation, would result in the highest California allocation possible under the range of TACs chosen for this analysis and the Council's alternatives.

Table 4. Estimated subarea allocation under a range of 2A TAC scenarios with allocation alternatives applied and status quo allocations under each TAC scenario.

	720K (SQ allocation)	720K (Alt 1 allocation)		960K* (SQ allocation)		1.48M ^{1/} (SQ allocation)	$1.48M^{1/}$ (Alt 2b, CA 30% > 1 mill, 50k max) ^{2/}	1.48M (Alt 2b, CA 50% > 1 mill, no max)
WA Sport	171,288	171,288		214,110		282,092	271,803	225,620
OR Sport	143,676	143,676		191,568		295,334	286,626	247,910
CA sport	4,680	14,040		6,240		9,620	50,000	175,500
Commercial	148,356	138,996		197,808		304,954	282,941	242,970
1/ The Wasing	ton allocations under	960K and 1.48K have	e bee	n reduced, per Plan p	rovisi	ons to allocate 70,000) lbs to the sablefish p	rimary fishery
2/ Under this a	Iternative a 50,000 lb	maximum was applie	d to t	he California allocatio	on. T	he pounds in excess	of 50,000 lbs were dis	tributed to the

2/ Under this alternative a 50,000 lb maximum was applied to the California allocation. The pounds in excess Commercial fishery only, according to the Tristate report rules for the 50,000 lbs max.

Impacts of the Alternatives

This section describes potential impacts from the range of subarea allocation alternatives described above. There are two purposes for examining the range of alternatives, first is to determine the biological and physical impacts from changes in fishing behavior and areas fished based on changes in allocations. The scenarios described above provide a range of potential change within which we can reasonably determine the biological and physical impacts of the alternatives. The second purpose to examining a range of alternatives in this report is to help the Council decide what, if any, allocation changes it wants to recommend. This purpose is best served by looking across all the allocation alternatives under each TAC scenario and examining the tradeoffs between fisheries and subareas from reducing the Washington, Oregon, or commercial allocations in order to increase the California allocation, focusing on the number of days each fishery may be expected to be open. The full allocation tables applied to each TAC can be found in Appendix A, catch tables for each subarea showing yearly catch estimates can be found in Appendix C. Additionally, the Council approved several sub options that allocate the pounds differently above and below a TAC of 1 million lbs., and finally maximum caps of 50,000 lbs. and 75,000 lbs. were approved as optional features to the allocation alternatives, all of which is presented in Appendix A.

In order to show how each fishery may be affected by allocation changes, this report shows participation (number trips and vessels) and days open in each fishery over the recent past. This information should than be compared to the allocations in Appendix A. Typically, when considering allocations we must consider where the increase in one area comes from, what is the impact to the area that is having a decreased allocation, present participation in and dependence on the fishery, including alternative fisheries, and historical fishing practices in and historical dependence on the fishery.

Biological effects of the Alternatives

For the 2014 fishery, NMFS completed an EA and Biological Opinion (BiOp) on the continuing implementation of the Plan. Similar to this document, the EA analyzed a range of TACs and resulting Plan allocations. Because the range analyzed in the EA is not substantially different from the range analyzed in this report, the conclusions regarding the biological impacts of the Plan are the same for the range in this report and are summarized from the EA for halibut, listed species, and overfished species.

Pacific Halibut

There are no expected effects to the Pacific halibut population beyond the expected effects of the continuing implementation of the Plan, from any of the allocation alternatives. Currently the directed commercial fishery is limited to retaining halibut that are greater than 32 inches, while there is no size limit in the recreational fishery. Therefore, depending on the allocation changes the 2A catch may consist of smaller fish than status quo if the commercial allocation is reduced and smaller fish are caught from an increase to the California recreational fishery. This change is not expected to have an impact on the coastwide Pacific halibut population, but could result in local effects such as a reduction in the numbers of smaller fish off California. Overall, no effects at the population level are expected because under all the alternatives Pacific halibut will continue to be managed consistent with the overall 2A TAC, which is updated each year with the most recent stock assessment information. Further, while the allocation alternatives are a change from status quo, they all retain the inseason management procedures, which help keep the catch of halibut within the subarea allocations and the overall 2A TAC.

Overfished Species

On September 21, 2004 (69 FR 56550), NMFS published a proposed rule to implement the Pacific coast groundfish harvest specifications and management measures for 2005-2006. This rule implemented large depth-based closures along the coast to protect rockfish called Rockfish Conservation Areas (RCA). Different RCAs apply to the commercial and recreational groundfish fisheries and are also used by halibut fisheries. The commercial halibut fishery must comply with the commercial RCA used in the groundfish conservation Areas (YRCA) used in the recreational groundfish fisheries in each state. However, the recreational halibut fishery does not use the groundfish recreational RCA that runs along the coast because state regulations allow halibut fishing within the boundaries of the groundfish recreational RCA. Finally, the taking and retaining of canary and yelloweye rockfish² is prohibited in the recreational halibut fishery coastwide.

None of the alternatives are expected to have much, if any, effect on groundfish species, including yelloweye and canary rockfish, because in addition to prohibiting retention of these species and complying with closed areas, bycatch of these species in halibut fisheries is managed consistent with the groundfish FMP, rebuilding plans for the overfished species, and the species specific Annual Catch Limit (ACL). Depending on how the allocations are modified there may be a transfer of impacts by area. For example, allocation alternatives 2b-5 reduce the Oregon and Washington allocations in order to increase the California allocation, which could result in less overfished species impacts in Washington and Oregon due to a reduced number of fishing days. This may also increase the overfished species impacts in California. However, while the impacts may move geographically, any impacts on groundfish would be taken into account through the groundfish management process and would be within the parameters of the applicable rebuilding plans and ACLs for the rockfish species impacted.

The biggest impact to overfished species comes from changes to the 2A TAC. The TAC has the largest impact because this would result in the largest changes to the number of fishing days and

² Beginning in 2015, there will be a one fish sub-bag limit for canary rockfish in the Oregon recreational fishery, in areas open for groundfish. The alternatives proposed for the Plan will not have any additional impacts to overfished species.

therefore changes to the chance for interaction between the halibut fishery and these species. None of the changes in the allocation alternatives are expected to result in changes to the fishery such that the rebuilding of these species would be effected. The RCA and YRCAs would continue to protect rockfish along the coast, including canary and yelloweye and other overfished groundfish species, from halibut fisheries interception in depths where they commonly occur. Salmon trollers would continue to be allowed to retain halibut in the RCA in the area north of $40^{\circ}10^{\circ}$ N.lat.

Listed Species

Because none of the allocation alternatives are significantly different from the status quo fishery in terms of impacts to listed species, there are no expected effects on listed species, above what is expected from the continuing implementation of the Plan. The effects of the continuing implementation of the Plan were analyzed in a BiOp, which concluded that the status quo fishery is not expected to have a significant effect on marine mammals, sea turtles, and salmon, but may negatively impact Puget sound rockfish, Puget Sound and lower Columbia River Chinook, and green sturgeon since these are bycatch in the fishery. Further, none of the allocation alternatives would result in changes to the commercial fishery that would alter anticipated effects on seabirds. NMFS is currently working with USFWS to analyze the effects of the halibut fishery on seabirds. Seabirds may be impacted by longline gear, however, no seabird interactions have been reported in halibut fisheries.

Socioeconomic Impacts

Determining socioeconomic impacts from any of the allocation alternatives is a difficult task because at a coastwide level the largest driver of economic impacts is the IPHC TAC decision, which is not a NMFS or Council decision. Therefore, rather than examine coastwide revenue this report presents information on the number of trips and number of days certain fisheries may be open under different allocation alternatives. This section shows how participation may change across the allocation alternatives by presenting the number of trips and number of open days for the Washington and Oregon recreational Pacific halibut fisheries and presents the number of days and number of vessels participating for the directed commercial, incidental salmon and incidental sablefish fisheries, to examine how these might be effected by the allocation changes. The current California state recreational sampling and estimation program does not have a specific Pacific halibut angler trip type. Effort information on Pacific halibut is included in the estimates for other trip types (e.g., salmon, bottomfish), but at this time there is no reasonable way to determine how many trips taken in the recreational fishery are targeting Pacific halibut. Due to this limitation, California recreational Pacific halibut angler trip data was unavailable for this report.

Commercial Fishery Impacts

The commercial fishery is allocated 31.7 percent of the non-Indian share of the 2A TAC and is divided between the directed halibut fishery (85%) and an incidental catch fishery during the salmon troll fishery (15%). The allocation to the sablefish primary fishery, which consists of vessels with a groundfish limited entry permit with a sablefish endorsement, comes from the Washington sport allocation that is in excess of 214,110, as long as 10,000 lbs. is available, with a maximum of 70,000 lbs.

To discuss the impacts of the allocation alternatives to the commercial fisheries we take the allocation alternatives and compare them to the previous TACs and fishery participation from

2008-2013. At the low end of the range, the commercial allocation is 138,996 pounds, which is lower than any allocation that has been implemented since 2004. Under the Alternative 1 allocations, the low end of the range increases the California allocation by reducing only the commercial allocation and by 2 percent. Between 2008-2013 the directed commercial fishery has been open for 1-4 days, each opening being 10-hours, with most years resulting in two openers. In order to stay within its allocation the commercial fishery is managed with vessel landing limits based on vessel size, which would continue under all the allocation alternatives. Table 5 below shows the 2A TAC from 2004-2012, the resulting commercial allocation, and number of vessels participating in each commercial fishery. There does not appear to be a direct relationship between the 2A TAC and the number of vessels that participate each year.

Because each open period is 10 hours the number of boats per opener is also the number of trips per open period because vessels generally do not make more than one trip per opener. Under 2010 TAC of 810,000 lbs. the directed commercial fishery was open only one 10-hour period with 70 boats participating. At the low end of the range in Table 4, the commercial allocation is lower than the 2010 TAC. Therefore, under the 720,000 lbs. TAC and the Alternative 1 allocations it is anticipated the commercial fishery would have one 10 hour open period with a decrease in the number of vessels participating and decreased boat limits. Reduced boat limits, maximum pounds per landing per vessel based on vessel size, would have to be reduced relative to status quo to stay within the reduced commercial allocation. Similarly, incidental landing limits for the salmon troll and sablefish fisheries would have to be reduced compared to status quo in order to stay within each fishery allocation under a low TAC and reduced commercial allocation. At the high end of the allocation range the commercial allocation is decreased. However, the commercial allocation is still higher than the commercial allocation because of the increase in the TAC, therefore it is unlikely to change to the participation in the commercial fishery from status quo, outside of what has occurred between 2008-2013, because the allocation would be similar to.

Table 5. Number of vessels participating in each directed commercial opener by year. Some
vessels participated in more than one opener therefore the total represents the total number of
trips.

	2A TAC	Opening 1, No. vessels	Opening 2, No. vessels	Opening 3, No. vessels	Opening 4, No. vessels	Total
2008	1,220,000	64	76	25	48	213
2009	950,000	82	62			144
2010	810,000	70				70
2011	910,000	71	57			128
2012	989,000	87	40			127
2013	990,000	55	47			102

Incidental halibut retention in the salmon troll fishery has been allowed between 47 days in 2010 when the 2A TAC was 810,000 lbs. with 89 vessels participating and 199 days when the TAC was between 950,000 lbs. when 41 vessels participated and 1,380,000 lbs. when 92 vessels participated. Incidental halibut retention in the salmon troll fishery is managed through inseason action, with actions taken to extend the season when quota is available. The two lowest years of participation in 2008 and 2009 are likely due to poor salmon years rather than halibut. There

does not appear to be a direct relationship between the 2A TAC and the number of vessels that participate each year.

Incidental retention in the sablefish fishery has been allowed between 176 days in 2005 when the 2A TAC was 1,330,000 lbs. with 27 vessels participating and 184 days every other year between 2004-2012 when the TAC has been between 950,000 lbs. with 14 vessel participating and 1,480,000 lbs. with 30 vessels participating. The landing ratio of halibut to sablefish is determined before the sablefish primary fishery begins and is designed to allow halibut retention for the primary season from May 1-October 31, this is why the number of open days has been consistently high between 2004-2012. Over this time in order to stay within the allocation the ratio has been adjusted. Recent years participation has been lower than in the years when the TAC was over 1 million pounds between 2004-2008, some of the decrease in participation is likely due to the lower of the ratio making it less worth it to retain the halibut caught in this fishery.

Table 6. 2A TAC, commercial allocation, number of unique vessels participating in the directed commercial, incidental salmon troll and incidental sablefish primary fishery by year, from 2004-2012. Data from IPHC Annual Reports 2003-2012.

	2A TAC	Commercial Allocation ^{2/}]	Directed Comm	Number Open Days	Salmon Incidental	Number Open Days	Sablefish Incidnetal	Number Open Days
2004	1,480,000	367,029		94	4	160	90	30	184
2005	1,330,000	336,121		83	4	169	99	27	176
2006	1,380,000	346,424		89	3	92	199	27	184
2007	1,340,000	338,182		88	4	99	199	26	184
2008	1,220,000	321,381		96	4	35	199	24	184
2009	950,000	207,642		89	2	41	199	14	184
2010	810,000	166,900		70	1	89	47	n/a	n/a
2011	910,000	187,506		76	2	84	166	n/a	n/a
2012	989,000	203,783		88	2	103	64	10	184

1/ The allocation for incidental halibut retention in the sablefish primary fishery comes fro the Washington sport allocation

2/ Includes allocation to the Sablefish Primary fishery that comes from the Washington Sport allocation

Recreational fishery impacts

To discuss the impacts of the allocation alternatives to the recreational fisheries we take the allocation alternatives and compare them to the TACs and fishery participation from 2008-2013. There are two parts to this discussion, first we discuss the range of subarea allocations from the TAC scenarios, and second we discuss the policy choice in front of the Council in determining which years to consider when establishing the California allocation.

First, we discuss the range of subarea allocations resulting from the TAC scenarios. As stated above in the commercial fishery impacts section, the 720,000 lbs. TAC is lower than any TAC implemented since 2004. The biggest impact under this TAC scenario is to the commercial allocation because the increase in the California allocation comes from a decrease to the commercial allocation. The biggest differences between all three TAC scenarios are due to changes in the TAC except for the difference under the 1.48 million TAC scenario. The TAC

does not drive the differences under this scenario because this scenario is over 1 million pounds and therefore the allocation alternatives and the optional features that allow the California allocation to increase to 50% of the 2A TAC over 1 million pounds are what drive the difference. At the upper end of the range under the 1.48 million TAC, any reductions to the commercial, Washington and Oregon sport allocations are compensated by the increase in TAC and therefore the resulting subarea allocations are greater than status quo. This would likely result in fisheries that have increased season length and increased participation over status quo, but this increase would be due to the increased in the TAC. Further, given the current understanding of the stock and the results of the most recent stock assessment it is unlikely that the 2A TAC will be as high as 1,480,000 lbs. in the next several years; therefore comparing the upper end of range to status quo does not help illustrate the trade-offs between any of the allocation alternatives. Therefore, it is most helpful to focus on the low end of the range and discuss the impacts of the allocation alternatives with a TAC that is lower than status quo.

Table 7. Washington and Oregon Pacific halibut recreational trips, number of days open from 2008-2013.

Puget Sou	und - All Area	as ^{1/}			
Year	2A TAC	Puget Sound Allocation	No. Days ^{2/}	Halibut	Halibut- Bottomfish
2008	1,220,000	59,534	90	21,464	3,679
2009	950,000	57,393	72	25,517	5,758
2010	810,000	50,542	22	13,382	7,190
2011	910,000	58,155	22	12,232	6,008
2012	989,000	57,393	26	20,719	3,407
2013	990,000	57,393	14	23,988	4,468

1/ The Puget Sound Sampling Program is different than the Ocean Sampling Program. On the coast halibut trips with bottomfish are categorized as a halibut trip -- in PS they are separate trip types. Charter boats are not sampled in the PS (there are very few charter halibut trips). Salmon trips with halibut onboard are not included in this summary for either Puget Sound or the coast.

2/ Number of days includes Eastern and Western areas as a total, days when both areas were open were counted as one day.

	Washingto	on Halibut Trips	: Coastwide-				
	washingte			All Alcus			
		WA Sport		No. Days			
Year	2A TAC	Allocation ^{2/}	No. Days	no NS ^{1/}	Charter	Private	Total
2008	1,220,000	220,238	236	96	3464	5122	8586
2009	950,000	214,110	86	54	3512	4894	8406
2010	810,000	192,699	161	16	3090	4459	7550
2011	910,000	216,489	100	16	3348	5716	9065
2012	989,000	214,110	41	12	2922	6443	9365
2013	990,000	214,110	19	5	2803	6230	9033
1/ Numbe	er of days op	en without the	open days f	or the near	shore fish	ery, which	was

Table 8. Washington Halibut trips coastwide from 2008-2013, with the 2A TAC, Washington Sport allocations, number of days, and trips divided among charter and private angler.

often open 7 days per week. 2/ The Washington Sport allocation is redcued to allocate pounds to the sablefish primary fishery per Plan provisions

Table 9. Oregon Halibut trips coastwide from 2008-2013, with 2A TAC, Oregon sport allocation, number of days, and trips divided among charter and private anglers.

		OD Croat					
		OR Sport		No. Days no			
Year	2A TAC	Allocation ^{2/}	No. Days	NS ^{1/}	Charter	Private	Total
2008	1,220,000	251,381	151	43	17,781	5,668	23,449
2009	950,000	195,748	101	21	18,365	5,367	23,732
2010	810,000	166,907	80	11	17,300	3,596	20,896
2011	910,000	187,506	149	17	18,574	4,310	22,884
2012	989,000	203,783	128	21	20,770	6,898	27,668
2013	990,000	203,990	40	18	22,608	4,316	26,924

1/ Number of days open without the open days for the nearshore fishery, which was often open 7 days per week.

2/ The Oregon allocation include the allocation to the South of Humbug Mountain area and includes the allocation to Califoria because it was managed with one allocation through 2013.
To begin, it is helpful to examine the number of trips and number of days in the tables above under status quo allocations in 2010 (the closest TAC to 720,000 lbs.) to show the number of open days and trips under the lowest recent TAC. In 2010, the Washington coastal non-nearshore fisheries were open 16 days, however, since this time the number of open days has been decreasing, with a low of 5 days in 2013, even though the TAC has been increasing. The decreasing number of days could be due to a number of factors including increased participation to good weather. The changes in private angler trips primarily drive the increase in the number of trips between 2008-2013. The Puget Sound subarea was open 22 days in 2010, but has been decreasing since this time as WDFW has shortened the season to try to keep the catch in this area within its quota. The Puget Sound subarea operates on a fixed season that is determined before the fishery begins.

In 2010, the Oregon all depth central coast subarea was open 11 days with a TAC of 720,000. Since this time the number of open days and the number of trips has increased with the increase in the TAC. However, there is only a 1 day difference between a 17 day season in 2011 under a TAC of 910,000 lbs. and an 18 day season in 2013 with a 990,000 lbs. This is largely due to unfavorable weather in the summer in 2012 for ocean fishing. 2013 had much better weather and the nearshore fishery was open 3 days per week, rather than the 7 days per week it had previously been open. Instead of slowing down the pace of the nearshore fishery, it resulted in a derby mentality. One 3 day open period caught more than most years prior to 2010. The change to the nearshore fishery in 2013, combined with the poor weather during the summer of 2012 is likely the two main drivers of the number of angler trips.

Prior to 2014, the fishery in California was open 7 days a week from May 1 through October 31. In 2014, under a new season structure, the fishery in California was open May 1- July 31 and September 1-October 31. Since 2008 there has been increasing interest in targeting Pacific halibut. 2008 and 2009 were years where salmon and groundfish were lower than in previous years therefore fishermen could have been looking for additional opportunities and started fishing for Pacific halibut. The interest has since continued.

Under the 720,000 lbs., TAC scenarios the impacts to the Washington and Oregon fisheries would largely be driven by changes in the TAC because the increase to the California allocation comes from only the commercial allocation when using Allocation alternative 1. If however, a low TAC was combined with allocation alternatives 3-5, which take the increase in the California allocation from the Washington, Oregon and commercial allocation, changes to the fisheries, may be expected due to the lower allocations. Under allocation alternative 5, which results in the highest California allocation under the 720,000 lbs. TAC, the Washington sport allocation is 165,064 lbs. which is a 4% decrease from status quo allocations under a 720,000 lbs. TAC, but results in a California allocation that is 23,400 lbs. which is close to the 2010 and 2012 California catches of 23,935 lbs. and 25,394 lbs. Under the same Alternative 5 allocations, the Oregon and commercial allocations are reduced by 4% and 5% respectively, from status quo allocations under the 720,000 lbs. TAC (see Appendix A for allocations under each TAC scenario). This level of reduction combined with a low TAC, is anticipated to reduce the number of open days for the Washington and Oregon sport fisheries and the commercial fisheries over what would be expected under status quo allocations. Because the halibut effort is different by management area the reductions in allocations could close or significantly reduce the season in one area, this would likely result in effort shift to other areas. There is a high level of complexity

in determining the impacts from the allocation changes because many factors affect the success of each fishery. Further, each state and each subarea within each state operates slightly differently so the impacts are complicated when we examine the changes at the state level. Meaning it is difficult to predict how each fishery would operate under a reduced quota. However, as stated above, the reductions in the Washington and Oregon sport allocations are less than 2 percent under allocation alternatives 1, 2A, 3, 4, and 5. Therefore, it is not anticipated that any of these alternatives would alone reduce any of the other subareas such that fisheries would not be allowed. It is only when you combine an increase in the California allocation with a low TAC that other fisheries may not occur or would be further shortened.

Second, we examine the factors that should be considered in deciding the California sport allocation. When setting allocations the Council may wish to consider present participation in and dependence on the fishery, including alternative fisheries and historical fishing practices in and historical dependence on the fishery. In recent years, the California fishery has transitioned from an incidental fishery to a directed sport fishery. Halibut were previously caught primarily with groundfish species but are now also landed with salmon.

Comparing the 2008-2013 California catch to the status quo TAC under the allocation alternatives, we see that Alternatives 4 and 5 are closest to the catches in 2009, 2010, and 2012, and that Alternatives 1-3 are closest to catches in 2008 and 2011. None of the allocation alternatives would accommodate the catches in 2013. Alternatives 4 and 5 increase the California sport allocation by equaling reducing the Washington and Oregon sport allocations and the commercial allocation, because the TAC is under 1 million pounds.

Table 10. Camorina catch 2008-2012 in het weight.									
	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013			
Catch	13,303	34,847	23,935	13,636	25,394	43,254			

Tuoto III Status quo IIIo Wai status quo ana un anocation aterinari est											
		960,000 (2014 Status Quo)									
	Status Quo Alt 1 Alt 2 Alt 3 Alt 4										
WA Sport	228,384	228,384	228,384	224,203	222,144	220,085					
OR Sport	191,568	187,387	185,328	183,269							
CA sport	6,240	18,720	18,720	18,720	24,960	31,200					
Commercial	197,808	185,328	185,328	193,627	191,568	189,509					

Table 11. Status quo TAC with status quo and all allocation alternatives.

Table 10 California catch 2008-2012 in net weight

Overall Socioeconomic Impacts

Because the TAC has the biggest economic impact it is expected that at lower allocations, income and harvest opportunities would be slightly reduced compared to the higher end of the range. Effects on cost of participating in the fishery including, cost to fishery participants of materials, fuel, etc. could be slightly different from the low end of the range compared to the high end. At higher allocations, it would be marginally more costly to participate because more fishing days would be allowed, increasing operating costs. Costs would be marginally less at lower allocations. Effects on management and enforcement are not substantially different from status quo because Plan changes and the range of allocations would not require change from

Status Quo in enforcement or management. The current range includes adding inseason adjustment ability to the California sport fishery and while this is new the California subarea, an inseason changes would be conducted consistent with the Plan inseason provisions that are currently in use.

2. California Recreational Management Measures

In addition to changes to the non-treaty fisheries allocations the Council also approved for public review several options for changes to the California recreational season structure, inseason adjustments provisions, and provided guidance to NMFS for calculating a projected catch per day and number of day methodology, similar to what is done for the Puget Sound Area in Washington. The change to the inseason provision is to modify the California Plan section to remove language stating there will be no inseason action in this area and replace it with language that would allow inseason action to occur in this area if necessary. The remaining portions of the motion are discussed below.

The motion for the season structure alternatives and the calculation of the catch per day methodology was as follows:

- 1) Revise the season length so that the fishery is open for one month during the May 1 through October 31 time period. Selection of the month would occur under final action.
- 2) Revise the season length so that the season is open for a 15 consecutive day period during the May 1 through October 31 time period. Selection of the 15 consecutive day period would occur under final action.
- 3) In establishing the CA sport fixed season, recommend NMFS use a formula similar to the Puget Sound area, which is to calculate a projected catch per day and number of days to achieve the subarea quota.

To examine season days this report took the reported Pacific halibut catch data from 2008-2013 and calculated both weekly and daily catches by year and month.

Table 12. Reported catch by year and month of Facilie nanout in Camornia.									
									Avg
									Monthly
							Cumulative		Catch
							Monthly Catch	% Total	(net
	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	(net pounds)	Catch	pounds)
May	1,150	510	2,362	501	1,523	1,282	7,329	4.69%	1,221
June	1,977	10,600	890	3,154	4,119	5,419	26,159	16.72%	4,360
July	3,062	8,019	8,911	1,347	5,369	12,446	39,155	25.03%	6,526
Aug	5,503	11,315	9,570	5,170	12,306	19,179	63,043	40.30%	10,507
Sept	1,611	4,403	2,202	2,663	3,270	2,554	16,702	10.68%	2,784
Oct	0	0	0	801	856	2,374	4,030	2.58%	672
Total	13,303	34,847	23,936	13,637	27,442	43,254	156,418		22,223

Table 12. Reported catch by year and month of Pacific halibut in California.

To examine the first part of season structure motion Table 12 shows the reported catch (in net pounds) for each month from 2008-2013 in California, 2014 data is not included because it is not final at this time. This table also provides the cumulative monthly catch, which demonstrates

what percentage of the total catch across all years was landed in each month. The percent total catch shows of the total pounds landed between 2008-2013, what portion of those landings were made in each month, and finally the table shows average monthly catch from 2008-2013.

To examine the second portion of the motion for weekly catches Table 2 takes the monthly catches from Table 1 and divides each months catch by 4 to get a resulting weekly catch by year and by month, and also provides an average weekly catch estimate.

 Table 13. Estimate of weekly catch in net weight, by month of Pacific halibut in California (monthly catch divided by four).

 California

	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	Average Weekly
May	288	128	591	125	381	321	305
June	494	2650	223	789	1030	1355	1090
July	766	2005	2228	337	1342	3112	1631
Aug	1376	2829	2393	1293	3077	4795	2627
Sept	1611	1101	551	666	818	639	897
Oct	0	0	0	200	214	594	168

To examine catch per day estimates two methods are used in this report to provide daily catch estimates. The first in Table 14 below simply takes the monthly catches from Table 1 and divides each monthly catch by the number of days in each month to show an estimated daily catch and an average daily catch.

Table 14. Estimate of daily catch, in net pound, by month of Pacific halibut in California (monthly catch divided by number of days per month).

2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	Average Daily Catch
37	16	76	16	49	41	39
66	353	30	105	137	181	145
99	259	287	43	173	401	211
						339
						93
						22
	37	37 16 66 353 99 259 178 365 54 147	37 16 76 66 353 30 99 259 287 178 365 309 54 147 73	37 16 76 16 66 353 30 105 99 259 287 43 178 365 309 167 54 147 73 89	37 16 76 16 49 66 353 30 105 137 99 259 287 43 173 178 365 309 167 397 54 147 73 89 109	37 16 76 16 49 41 66 353 30 105 137 181 99 259 287 43 173 401 178 365 309 167 397 619 54 147 73 89 109 85

These tables can then be used to design a season structure that is projected to result in catches within the allocation, if allocation changes are made. Under a status quo allocation of 6,240 lbs., several season options are available, however, all options would be shorter than the current season structure of May-July and September-October. Using the status quo TAC, the allocation alternatives result in a California allocation from 14,040 to 23,400 lbs. There are ways a 15 or 30 day season could be designed using the catch per month, week, and day above. For example, using an allocation of 14,040 lbs. the Council could recommend a season that would be open for

three weeks in June and the month of August, this season would be estimated to catch 13,742 lbs. just under the low end of the range. At the higher allocations under a status quo TAC the California allocation of 23,400 could be accommodated with an open season May through October. This season is expected to catch an average of 22,223 lbs.

In addition to the simple methods described above Table 15 uses a slightly modified Puget Sound methodology to calculate a catch per day amount. The original methodology is described in Ad Hoc South of Humbug Pacific Halibut Workgroup Report (<u>http://www.pcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/F1b_ATT1_SHPHW_SEP2012BB.pdf</u>).

Data Sources

NMFS used the harvest data from 2011-2013 reported by CDFW in the South of Humbug Pacific Halibut Workgroup Preliminary Management Measure Analyses (Agenda Item D.2.b, Workgroup Report, September 2013).

Average weight was estimated to be about 20 pounds, based on the CDFW reported weight in RecFIN and anecdotal information from California charter fishing operations and anglers.

Methods

NMFS used a slightly modified Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW's) methodology to calculate the season length for the Puget Sound recreational halibut fishery as follows:

- 1. Divide subarea quota by average weight to approximate the number of fish available
- 2. Review past seasons to calculate the average number of fish caught per day in each of the last three years
- 3. Divide the approximate number of fish available by the average catch per day for the past three years to estimate the number of days available for the next season

This method is slightly different from the information presented in the WDFW report because we use 2011-2013 rather than the 2012-2014 data as is used in the WDFW report. Further, we adjusted our method slightly to use a three-year average catch per day based on the number of fishing days from 2011-2013, rather than the highest catch per day for the past five years. This is consistent with the number of years and average catch method used in the WDFW report at this Council meeting.

Results

We applied the revised method to the three TAC alternatives described above (720,000 lbs., 960,000 lbs,1,480,000 lbs., and all of the allocation alternatives under the 960,000 lbs. status quo TAC) to estimate the season length. The following are the preliminary results of those calculations.

TAC/Alternative	CA allocation	Number of Fish	Number of Days
720k and Alt 1	14,040	702	92
960k and SQ	6,240	312	41
960K Alt 1, Alt 2, Alt 3	18,720	936	123
960K Alt 4	24,960	1,248	163
960K Alt 5	31,200	1,560	204
1,480k and Alt 2b	50,000	2,500	327

With a 960,000 lbs., TAC Alternatives 1-3 result in the same California allocation and are therefore listed in the same row. Through the 2013 fishery, the California sport fishery has been open 194 days. In 2014 the month of August was closed resulting in a season that was 153 days. Only the highest two alternatives result in open number of days that is greater than the most recent fishery.

Conclusion

These results show that in order to have a season projected to stay within the allocation closest to the recent catch around 20,000 lbs., the season would have to be reduced to between 123-163 days under an increased California allocation. Under the status quo TAC with status quo allocations, the season would have to be reduced to 41 days. Further, previous work by the South of Humbug Workgroup showing possible season structures is presented in Appendix B. This information may help the Council decide on any season structure changes to the California sport fishery.

Appendix A. All TAC alternatives applied to all allocation alternatives.

This appendix provide each TAC scenario with each allocation alternative and the optional maximums when appropriate.

	Status Quo	Alt 1 (TriState)		Alt 2	(TriState)		Alt 3	(GAP)	Alt 4	(GAP)	Alt 5	(GAP)
			Opti	on A	Ор	tion B						
						Portion of		Portion of		Portion of		Portion of
			2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC	2A TAC
			≤1 M. Ib	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. lb	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. lb	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. lb	> 1 M. lb	≤ 1 M. lb	> 1 M. lb
WA Sport:	36.60%	36.60%	36.60%	36.60%	36.60%	18.5-25.9%	35.93%	35.60%	35.60%	35.27%	35.27%	34.93%
OR Sport:	30.70%	30.70%	30.70%	30.70%	30.70%	15.5-21.7%	30.03%	29.70%	29.70%	29.37%	29.37%	29.03%
CA Sport:	1.00%	3.00%	3.00%	4.00%	3.00%	30-50%	3.00%	4.00%	4.00%	5.00%	5.00%	6.00%
Commercial:	31.70%	29.70%	29.70%	28.70%	29.70%	16-22.4%	31.03%	30.70%	30.70%	30.37%	30.37%	30.03%

Council approved range of non-treaty allocations changes.

TAC Alternative 1: 720,000 lbs, this is the 2014 IPHC Blue Line amount. The Blue Line represents the 2A TAC as calculated by the IPHC applying the current apportionment methodology to each IPHC area.

		720,000	(2014 Blue	Line)					
	Alt 1	Alt 1 Alt 2 Alt 3 Alt 4 A							
WA Sport	171,288	171,288	168,152	166,608	165,064				
OR Sport	143,676	143,676	140,540	138,996	137,452				
CA sport	14,040	14,040	14,040	18,720	23,400				
Commercial	138,996	138,996	145,220	143,676	142,132				

TAC Alternative 2: Status Quo, 2014 TAC and resulting fishery allocations.

		960,000	(2014 State	us Quo)				
	Alt 1 Alt 2 Alt 3 Alt 4							
WA Sport	228,384	228,384	224,203	222,144	220,085			
OR Sport	191,568	191,568	187,387	185,328	183,269			
CA sport	18,720	18,720	18,720	24,960	31,200			
Commercial	185,328	185,328	193,627	191,568	189,509			

TAC Alternative 3: 1,283,333 lbs, this is the average of the 2A TACs from 2004-2009.

					Alt 2b	Alt 2b	Alt 2b			
				Alt 2b	(CA 50%,	(CA 50%,	(CA 50%,			
	Status Quo	Alt 1	Alt 2a	(CA 30%)	50k max)	75k max)	no max)	Alt 3	Alt 4	Alt 5
WA Sport	305,305	305,305	305,305	285,599	295,126	271,971	271,971	299,108	296,356	293,584
OR Sport	256,089	256,089	256,089	239,514	247,618	228,096	228,096	249,892	247,140	244,369
CA sport	8,342	25,025	33,367	74,750	50,000	75,000	111,583	26,867	35,208	43,550
Commercial	264,431	247,747	239,406	234,303	241,423	259,100	222,517	258,234	255,481	252,710

TAC Alternative 4: 1,480,000 lbs, this is the 2004 2A TAC which is the highest 2A TAC between 2004-2014.

				Alt 2b	Alt 2b	Alt 2b	Alt 2b	Alt 2b					Alt 5
				(CA 30%, no	(CA 30%,	(CA 30%,	(CA 50%, no	(CA 50%,	Alt 2b (CA			Alt 5	(50k
	Status Quo	Alt 1	Alt 2a	max)	50k max)	75k max)	max)	50k max)	50%, 75k max)	Alt 3	Alt 4	(no max)	max)
WA Sport	352,092	352,092	352,092	318,708	341,803	318,708	295,620	342,808	295,620	344,617	341,442	338,237	338,695
OR Sport	295,334	295,334	295,334	267,254	286,626	267,254	247,910	287,694	247,910	287,859	284,684	281,479	281,865
CA sport	9,620	28,860	38,480	113,100	50,000	75,000	175,500	50,000	75,000	31,980	41,600	51,220	50,000
Commercial	304,954	285,714	276,094	262,938	282,941	301,038	242,970	281,499	343,470	297,479	294,304	291,099	291,473

Appendix B. Excerpts from South of Humbug Workgroup Reports.

Ca	llifornia			
Month	Alt. 3a. May-July & Sept-Oct	Alt. 3b. May- July 15 & Sept-Oct	Alt. 3c. May- June & Aug- Sept	Alt. 3d. May- June & Sept-Oct
May	1,195	1,195	1,195	1,195
June	4,107	4,107	4,107	4,107
July	5,178	2,589		
Aug			8,616	
Sept	2,797	2,797	2,797	2,797
Oct	329	329		329
Total	13,607	11,018	16,716	8,429

Monthly predicted catch amount (net lbs) for CA (black cells = closed, gray = partially open month)

As with other analysis conducted in other sections of this report, no attempt was made to account for possible shifts or changes in angler behavior. The analysis makes no attempt to account for shifts in angler effort due to potential closed time periods, but it is very likely some level of shift would occur. While there are no data to estimate such a shift, the very potential for it makes it reasonable to state that the reductions noted are overestimates.

Alternative 5. Examine the potential for harvest reduction of other time and area closures off California

The Council requested that the Workgroup also consider any other alternatives deemed appropriate in reducing predicted catch amounts. With that in mind, the Workgroup investigated additional modifications to the season structure with the goal of reducing predicted catch amounts to recent years' allocation amounts.

Using the methodology and assumptions presented in Alternative 3, three additional season structure scenario alternatives (5a-c, below) were developed to evaluate open month combinations that would result in predicted catch amounts that are similar to the recent average subarea catch set aside (approximately 6,000 net pounds). Those seasons would be:

- Alternative 5a.—Open May and September-October
- Alternative 5b.—Open July and October
- Alternative 5c.—Open May-June and October

Table 7. Monthly and total catch (in pounds net weight) for Alternatives 5a-c, resulting in predicted catch amounts that are similar to the last few years' SOH subarea set aside. (Black cells indicate closed months).

	California		
Month	Alt. 5a.	Alt. 5b.	Alt. 5c.
Wonth	May & Sept-Oct	July & Oct	May-June & Oct
May	1,195		1,195
June			4,107
July		5,178	
Aug			
Sept	2,797		
Oct	329	329	329
Total	4,321	5,507	5,632

For the California portion of the South of Humbug Mountain Subarea, similar to the subarea as a whole, only season structure alternatives 5a-c result in catches below the current subarea allocation.

Appendix C. Tables of Seasons, restrictions, and catches for 2A by subarea from 2003-2013

Washington Inside Waters

Seasons, 1	restrictions, and catches of h	alibut in W	ashington In	side waters.		
YEAR	SEASON	BAG LIMIT	SIZE LIMIT	DAYS OPEN	QUOTA (lb)	ACTUAL CATCH (lb)
2003	Eastern Region: 5/8 - 7/18 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	52	63,278	68,300
	Western Region: 5/22 - 8/1 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	52		
2004	Eastern Region: 5/6 - 7/14 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	50	76,220	49,577
	Western Region: 5/27 - 8/14 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	58		
2005	Eastern Region: 4/14 – 6/20 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	50	64,800	62,370
	Western Region: 5/26 – 7/31 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	49		
2006	Eastern Region: 4/9 – 6/18 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	51	68,607	63,376
	Western Region: 5/25 – 8/5 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	53		
2007	Eastern Region: 4/9 – 6/16 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	49	65,562	45,415
	Western Region: 5/24 – 8/3 (Thur - Mon)	1	none	52		
2008	Eastern Region: 4/10 – 6/13 (Thur-Mon)	1	none	65	59,354	83,304

	Western Region: 5/22 – 7/21 (Thur-Mon)	1	none	61		
2009	Eastern Region: 4/23 – 6/5 (Thur-Mon)	1	none	54	57,393	114,050
	Western Region: 5/21-7/3 (Thur-Mon)	1	none	44	-	
2010	Eastern Region: 5/1-22 (Thur-Sat)	1	none	13	50,542	71,801
	5/28-30 (Fri-Sun)					
	Western Region: 5/28-30 (Fri-Sun) 6/3-6/19 (Thur-Sat)	1	none	12		
2011	Eastern Region: 5/5-5/29 (Thur-Sat)	1	none	12	58,155	45,856
	Western Region: 5/26-6/18 (Thur-Sat)	1	none	13		
2012	5/29 (Sun) Eastern Region: 5/3-5/19 (Thu-Sat)	1	none	17	57,393	77,385
	524-5/28 (Thu-Mon) 5/31-6/2 (Thu-Sat)					
	Western Region: 5/24-5/28 (Thu-Mon) 5/31-6/23 (Thu-Sat)	1	none	17		
2013	Eastern Region: 5/2-5/4 & 5/16-5/18 (Thu-Sat) 5/23-5/26 (Thu-Sun)	1	none	12	57,393	95,351
	5/30-5/31 (Thu-Fri)					
	Western Region: 5/23-5/26 (Thu-Sun) 5/30-6/1 (Thu-Sat)	1	none	8		
	6/8 (Sat)					

Washington North Coast

Seasons, restrictions, and catches of halibut in the Washington North Coast area.

YEAR	SEASON	BAG LIMIT	SIZE LIMIT	DAYS OPEN	QUOTA (lb)	ACTUAL CATCH (lb)
2003	5/1 - 5/17 (Tue - Sat)	1	none	20	113,915	109,738
	5/23 - 5/24					
	6/18 - 6/21					
	8/9					
2004	5/11 - 5/20 (Tue - Sat)	1	none	14	126,857	124,229
	5/29					
	6/15 - 6/19					
2005	5/10 - 5/18 (Tue - Sat)	1	none	9	115,437	108,149
	6/16, 6/18					
2006	5/1 – 5/17 (Sun-Thurs),	1	none	13	53,952	58,484
	5/1 – 5/17 (inshore)			<u>17</u>		
				17		
2007	5/1 – 5/8 (Sun-Thurs),	1	none	6	116,199	114,489
2007		1	none		110,177	111,109
	5/1 – 5/8 (inshore)			<u>6</u>		
				6		
2008	5/1 – 6/17 (Sun, Thurs)	1	none	48	109,991	106,852
	6/23 – 8/30 (nearshore)			70		
2009	5/3-5/12 (Sun, Tue)	1	none	43	108,030	102,782
2009		1	none	+J	100,050	102,702
	5/17-6/28(Sun)					
	Nearshore: 5/7-6/27 (Thur-Sat), 7/2-9/27					
	(Thur-Sun)					
		l				

2010	5-13-5/22 (Thu-Sat)	1	none	9	101,179	95,014
	6/3, 6/5. 6/19					
2011	5/12-21 (Thu-Sat)	1	none	10	108,792	103,741
	6/2,4,16,30					
2012	5/10, 12, 17, 19, 31, 6/2, 14	1	none	7	108,030	105,479
2013	5/9, 11, 16, 18	1	none	4	108,030	107,856

Washington South Coast

Seasons,	restrictions, and catches of halibut in	n the Wash	ington Soutl	n Coast sub	oarea.	
YEAR	SEASON	BAG LIMIT	SIZE LIMIT	DAYS OPEN	QUOTA (lb)	ACTUAL CATCH (lb)
2003	5/1 - 6/26 (Sun-Thurs), 6/27 - 9/30	1	none	41 97	48,623	
	5/1 - 9/30 (inshore)			<u>153</u>	available amt.	
• • • • •	Total			153	48,623	43,253
2004	5/2 - 7/3 (Sun-Thurs), 5/2 - 7/3 (inshore) Total	1	none	45 <u>63</u> 63	61,565 <u>available amt.</u> 61,565	62,823
2005	5/1 – 5/30 (Sun-Thurs), 5/1 – 5/30, 7/15-9/30 (inshore) Total	1	none	30 <u>108</u> 108	50,146 <u>available amt.</u> (57,034) ^{3/}	55,546
2006	5/1 – 5/17 (Sun-Thurs), 5/1 – 5/17 (inshore) Total	1	none	13 <u>17</u> 17	53,952 <u>available amt.</u> 53,952	58,483

2007	5/1 – 5/8 (Sun-Thurs),	1	none	6	50,907	
	5/1 – 5/8 (inshore)			<u>6</u>	<u>available amt.</u>	
	Total			6	50,907	51,166
2008	5/1 – 6/17 (Sun, Thurs)	1	none	48	40,230	40,239
	6/23 – 8/30 (nearshore)			70	4,470	158
	Total				44,700	40,397
2009	5/3-5/12 (Sun, Tue)	1	none	43	42,739	39,595
	5/17-6/28(Sun)					
	Nearshore: 5/7-6/27 (Thur-Sat), 7/2-9/27 (Thur-Sun)					
2010	5/2-5/23 (Sun & Tue)	1	none	158	35,887	34,554
	5/3-9/30 (Nearshore, 7 days a week)					
2011	5/1-5/17 (Sun & Tue)	1	none	96	46,129	45,100
	5/3-7/31 (Nearshore, 7 days a week)					
2012	5/6, 8, 13, 15, 20	1	none	36	42,739	42,467
	5/6-6/8 (Nearshore, 7 days a week)					
2013	5/5, 7, 12, 14, 19	1	none	18	42,740	42,085
	5/5-5/19 (Nearshore, 7 days a week)					

Columbia River

Seasons, r	Seasons, restrictions, and catches of halibut in the Columbia River subarea.								
YEAR	SEASON	BAG	SIZE	DAYS		ACTUAL			
YEAK	SEASON	LIMIT	LIMIT	OPEN	QUOTA (lb)	CATCH (lb)			
2003	5/1 - 9/30	1	32" 1/	153	11,923	10,008			
2004	5/1 - 7/25	1	32" 1/	86	14,241	14,761			
2005	5/1 - 6/12, 9/15-30	1	none	59	13,747	15,031			

2006	5/1 – 5/27 (7 days/wk), 8/4 – 9/3 (Fri-Sun)	1	none	42	21,170	21,720
2007	5/1 – 5/26 (7 days/wk) 8/3 – 8/12, 8/24 - 8/26, 9/1 (Fri-Sun)	1	none	36	20,378	20,601
2008	5/1 – 6/1 (7 days/wk) 8/1, 2, 22, 23, 29	1	None	37	18,762	17,899
2009	5/1-5/29 (Fri-Sun) 8/7-9/27 (Fri-Sun)	1	None	37	15,735	12,738
2010	5/1-6/25 (Thu-Sat) 8/6-9/26 (Fri-Sun)	1	None	48	13,436	10,811
2011	5/5-6/4 (Thu-Sat) 8/5-9/30 (Fri-Sun)	1	None	40	15,418	11,278
2012	5/3-7/14 (Thu-Sat) 8/3-9/30 (Fri-Sun)	1	None	60	11,895	10,544
2013	5/3-7/28 (Fri-Sun) 8/2-9/30 (Fri-Sun)	1	None	52	11,895	10,152
1/ First ha	libut taken of 32" or greater	in length			1	<u> </u>

Oregon Central Coast

Oregon spo	Oregon sport seasons, days open, and catch.									
YEAR	SEASON	BAG LIMIT	SIZE LIMIT (inches)	TOTAL DAYS OPEN	QUOTA ^{1/} (lb)	ACTUAL CATCH (lb)				
2003										
North Central Coast	5/1 - 10/31 (7days/wk) ^{⊥/} 5/8-10, 5/15-17, 6/19-21 8/1-2, 8/8-9	1	32 ^{2/} 32 ^{2/}	184 9	19,797 156,835	1,110 88,385				
	8/22-10/18 (Fri-Sat)	1	32 ^{2/}	22	57,660	60,751				
South Central Coast					(125,815) ^{4/}					
	5/8-10, 5/15-17, 6/19-21 ^{3/}	1	32 ^{2/}	9	<u>14,609</u>	<u>14,904</u>				
	Total				248,901	165,150				

Oregon sp	ort seasons, days open, and cat	ch.				
2004	5/1 - 10/31 (7days/wk) ^{5/}	$1(2)^{18/}$	32 ^{2/}	184	22,574	2,022
Central Coast	5/13-15, 5/20-22, 5/27-29, 6/10-12, 6/25-26, 7/10, 7/24					
	8/6-7, 8/20-21, 9/3-4, 9/17- 18 (Fri-Sat), 9/24-26, 10/1- 3, 10/8-10, 10/15-17, 10/22- 24, 10/29-31 (Fri-Sun)	1	32 ^{2/}	16	194,703	186,209
	Total					
		1(2) ^{6/}	32 ^{2/}	26	<u>(73,395)^{7/}</u>	<u>38,144</u>
					282,178	226,375
2005	5/1 - 10/17 (7days/wk) ^{5/}	1	none	170	(10,101) ^{9/}	5,540
Central Coast	5/12-14, 5/19-21, 6/2-4, 6/9-11, 6/30-7/2, 7/14-16, 7/28-30 (Thu-Sat) 8/5-7, 8/12-14, 8/19-21, 8/26-28, 9/2-4, 9/9-11, 9/16-18, 9/23-25, 9/30-10/2, 10/7-9, 10/14-16, 10/21-23, 10/28-30 (Fri-Sun) [/]	1	none	21	(165,239) ^{<u>10</u>/}	165,239
	Total	1	none	39	<u>(69,924)</u> ^{&/}	64,293
					(245,264) ^{<u>8</u>/}	235,071

Oregon spo	ort seasons, days open, and cat	ch.				
2006	5/1 – 9/21 (7days/wk) ^{5/}	1	none	144	$(10,345)^{11/}$	8,419
Central Coast	5/11-13, 5/18-20, 5/25-27, 6/1-3, 6/8-10, 6/22-24, 7/6-8 (Thu-Sat) 8/4-6, 8/18-20, 9/1-3, (every other week Fri-Sun),	1	none	21	(183,690) ^{11/}	183,690
	9/8-10,9/15-17(Fri-Sun) ^{24/} Total	1(2) ^{12/}	none	15	<u>(60,275)^{11/}</u>	<u>65,859</u>
					254,310	257,968
2007	$5/1 - 9/20 (7 days/wk)^{5/2}$	1	none	143	19,738	8,600
Central Coast	5/10-12, 5/17-19, 5/24-26, 5/31-6/2, 6/7-9, 6/21-23, 7/5-7, 7/19-21 (Thu-Sat)					
		1	none	24	(133,090) ^{13/}	133,090
	8/3-5 (every other week Fri- Sun), 8/10-12, 8/17-19, 8/24-26, 8/31-9/2, 9/7-9, 9/14-16 (Fri-Sun) ^{26/}					
		$1(2)^{14/2}$	none	21	<u>(93,899)^{13/}</u>	<u>122,636</u>
	Total				246,727	264,326

Oregon sport seasons, days open, and catch.							
2008	5/1 – 9/28 (7 days/wk) ^{-5/}	1	None	151	18,502	11,610	
Central Coast	5/8-10, 15-17, 22-23, 29-31, 6/12-14, 26-28, 7/10-12, 24- 26	1	None	23	159,557	119,656 ^{28/}	
	8/1-3, 8-10. 15-17, 22-24, 29-31			15	93,113 ^{16/}	93,619	
	9/13, 14, 20, 21	1		4			
	9/27	2 ^{15/}		1			
	Total	1					
					231,271	224,885	
2009	5/1-8/9 (7 days/week) ^{5/}	1	None	101	14,407	8,227	
	5/14-16, 21-23. 28-30, 6/4- 6. 18-20, 7/2-4			18	124,261	122,403	
	8/7-9			3	43,278 ^{17/}	52,330	
2010	5/1-7/17 (7 days/week) ^{5/}			78	12,284	12,927	
	5/13-15, 20-22, 6/3-5			9	105,948	112,500	
	8/6-7			2	28,765 ^{18/}	30,140	

Oregon sp	Oregon sport seasons, days open, and catch.							
2011	5/1-7/6, 8/13-10/31 (7 days/week) ^{5/}		147	26,945 ^{19/}	24,451			
	5/12-14, 26-28, 6/2-4, 9-11, 23-25		15	115,578	114,752			
	8/5-6		2	41,843 ^{19/}	30,807			
2012	5/1-6/22 (7 days a week), 9/24-10/31 ^{5/}		122	37,800	37,413			
	5/10-12, 17-19, 24-26, 5/31- 6/2, 14-16, 29-30		17	120,821 ^{20/}	111,269			
	8/3-4, 17-18		4	47,639	42,853			
2013	5/2-7-26 (Thu-Sat) ^{5/}		38	23,038	22,248			
	5/9-11, 16-18, 5/30-6/1, 6- 8, 20-22		16	120,947	145,167			
	8/2-3		2	24,565 ^{21/}	27,069			

This season applies to the area inside 30 fathoms.

 $\frac{1}{2}/{3}$

First halibut taken of 32" or greater in length Beginning in 2000, the inside-30-fathom fishery was combined for the North Central and South Central Coast subareas. Catch and number of open days reported under North Central subarea.

- 4/ The balance of halibut remaining from the May all-depth fishery in the North Central and South Central subareas, 68,155 lbs, was added to the August all-depth fishery quota of 57,660 lbs to get a revised quota of 125,815 lbs.
- <u>5/</u> <u>6/</u> 7 This season applies to the area inside 40 fathoms.

The bag limit changed from 1 fish to 2 fish per person on 9/22/04.

7 The balance of halibut remaining from the Spring all-depth fishery, 8,494 lb, was added to the Summer all-depth fishery quota of 64,901 lb to get a revised quota of 73,395 lb.
8/ The balance of halibut remaining from the Spring all-depth fishery, 8,133 lb, plus 10,000 lb from the inside 40-fm fishery, was added to the Summer all-depth fishery quota of 57,791 lb, and then the inside 40-fm fishery the Chapter and the Summer all-depth fishery for the Summer all-depth fishery quota of 57,791 lb, and then the inside the Summer all-depth fishery quota of 57,791 lb, and then the summer all-depth fishery quota of 57,791 lb, and the summer all-depth fishery quota of 57,791 lb, and then the su 6,000 lb was transferred to the Columbia River subarea to get a revised Summer all-depth fishery quota of 69,924 lb. Because 6,000 lb was transferred to the Columbia River subarea, the Central Coast subarea quota is reduced from 251,264 lb to 245,264 lb.
9/ 10,000 lb of halibut quota was transferred from the original 20,101 lb inside 40-fm fishery quota to the Summer all-depth fishery quota to get a revised quota of 10,101 lb.
10/ 8,133 lb of halibut quota was transferred from the original 173,372 lb Spring all-depth fishery quota to the Summer all-depth fishery quota to get a revised quota of 165,239 lb.

- 11/ The Spring all-depth fishery overage of 8,216 lb was deducted from the amount available to the Summer alldepth fishery, revising the initial quota available to 50,275 lb. On 9/6/06, 10,000 lb was transferred from the inside 40-fm fishery to the Summer all-depth fishery bringing the revised inside 40-fm quota to 10,345 lb and the revised Summer all-depth quota to 60,275 lb.
- 12/ Beginning 9/8/06, the Summer all-depth fishery opened every Friday-Sunday with a two-fish bag limit because the remaining quota for the combined all-depth and inside 40-fm fishery was 31,267 lb (i.e., greater than 30,000 lb after September 3, as stated in the Plan and regulations).
- 13/ The Spring all-depth fishery was under its quota of 170,242 lb by 37,152 lb. The initial Summer all-depth season quota of 56,747 lb was revised by the 37,152 lb remaining from the Spring fishery. As a result, 93,899
- 14/ Beginning 8/10/07, the Summer all-depth fishery opened every Friday-Sunday because the remaining quota for the combined all-depth and inside 40-fm fishery was 94,707 lb (i.e., greater than 60,000 lb after August 5, as stated in the Plan and regulations). Beginning 9/14/07, the Summer all-depth fishery was changed from a onefish to a two-fish bag limit with the intent that the subarea quota be taken by September 30, in accordance with the CSP and regulations.

- 15/ Beginning 9/13/08 the fishery operated under a 2 fish bag limit because the remaining quota was greater than 60,000 after August 5, as stated in the CSP and regulations.
 16/ The remaining quota of 39,921 was added to the pounds available to the Summer all-depth fishery.
 17/ The initial Summer all-depth season quota of 41,420 lb was revised by the 1,858 lb remaining from the Spring fishery. As a result, 43,278 lb was initially available to the Summer all-depth fishery.
- The original summer quota of 35,316lb was reduced to 28,756lb due to a 6,552 overage in the Spring fishery. 18/19/ The initial Summer all-depth season quota of 43,126 lbs was revised by the 826 lbs underage from the Spring fishery and the 2,108 lbs overage from the early part of the Nearshore fishery. As a result, 41,843 lbs was initially available to the Summer all-depth fishery. The Summer all-depth fishery was open August 5-6 (Friday-Saturday) and resulted in an estimated catch of 30,807 lbs. The fishery was closed on August 7. The remaining 11,037 lbs were added to the nearshore fishery quota resulting in a revised nearshore quote of 24,837 lbs. (the initial 13,800 lbs. plus the 11,037 from the Summer all-depth rollover). The nearshore fishery is still open at the
- briefing book deadline and is expected to remain open until October 31. 20/ The spring all depth underage was allocated 5,000 lbs to the inside 40-fathom fishery and 4,552 to the summer all depth fishery. However, because the final inside 40-fathom fishery landed 4,858 lbs over the revised quota this amount was taken from the summer all depth.
- 21/The nearshore fishery closed with a 790 lb underage which was added to the summer quota, the Spring fishery closed with a 24,220 overage which was subtracted from the Summer quota, leaving 24,565 lb available to the Summer fishery.

South of Humbug, Oregon, and California sport seasons, days open, and catch.								
YEAR	SEASON	BAG LIMIT	SIZE LIMIT (inches)	TOTAL DAYS OPEN	QUOTA (lb)	ACTUAL CATCH (lb)		
2003	5/1 - 9/30 (7 days/wk)	1	32	153	7,860			
2004	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk.)	1	32	184	8,911	45		
2005	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	7,984	836		
2006	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	8,293	3,977		
2007	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	8,045	5,427		
2008	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	7,541	14,040		
2009	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	5,872	36,704		
2010	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	5,007	25,401		
2011	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	5,625	24,203		
2012	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	6,056	30,254		
2013	5/1 - 10/31 (7 days/wk)	1	None	184	6,063	50,229		

South of Humbug Mountain, OR and off California

Non-tribal commercial fishery

Non-triba	Non-tribal commercial fishery catch statistics (dressed weight in pounds).							
Year Fishery Quota Catch Days Open								
2004	Directed	252,475	246,000	4				
	Incidental – Salmon	44,554	42,798	90				
	Incidental – Sable	70,000	67,837	184				
2005	Directed	226,203	236,000	4				
	Incidental – Salmon	39,918	42,110	99				
	Incidental – Sable	70,000	68,013	176				
2006	Directed	234,960	236,000	3				
	Incidental – Salmon	41,464	34,375	199				
	Incidental – Sable	70,000	64,624	184				
2007	Directed	227,955	224,515	4				
	Incidental – Salmon	43,667	23,446	199				
	Incidental – Sable	70,000	45,780	184				
2008	Directed	213,238	22,590	4				
	Incidental – Salmon	37,707	18,960	199				
	Incidental - Sablefish	70,000	39,728	184				
2009	Directed	166,385	177,800	2				
	Incidental – Salmon	29,362	11,310	199				
	Incidental - Sablefish	11,895	5,415	184				
2010	Directed	141,865	132,560	1				
	Incidental – Salmon	25,035	28,627	47				
	Incidental - Sablefish	n/a	n/a	n/a				
2011	Directed	159,380	168,130	2				
	Incidental – Salmon	28,126	25,753	166				
	Incidental - Sablefish	n/a	n/a	n/a				
2012	Directed	173,216	179,000	2				
	Incidental – Salmon	30,568	35,255	64				
	Incidental - Sablefish	21,173	5,010	184				
2013	Directed	173,390	173,000	2				
	Incidental – Salmon	30,600	30,388	102				
	Incidental - Sablefish	21,410	12,000	184				

SALMON ADVISORY SUBPANEL REPORT ON 2015 PACIFIC HALIBUT CATCH SHARING PLAN AND REGULATIONS

The Salmon Advisory Subpanel (SAS), after considerable deliberation, recommends the adoption of a modification of Alternative 4 of Agenda Item G.1.a, Attachment 3, which allocates a straight 4 percent of the non-tribal 2A Pacific halibut total allowable catch (TAC) to the California recreational fishery regardless of the size of the overall TAC. This recommendation is based on the understanding the California Department of Fish and Wildlife will work in conjunction with the National Marine Fisheries Service to monitor catch inseason and take appropriate regulatory action to keep catch within the quota (Agenda Item G.1.b, Supplemental CDFW Report 2).

We recommend that 2.3 percent of the Oregon sport Pacific halibut allocation go to the Columbia River subarea, as recommended in Agenda Item G.1.b, Supplemental WDFW Report 3.

We recommend that the Council revise bottom fish restrictions such that other flatfish in addition to Pacific cod and sablefish would be allowed to be retained when Pacific halibut are onboard a recreational vessel during the all-depth Pacific halibut days (Alternative 2 for Columbia River and Central Oregon Coast Subareas in Agenda Item G.1.b, ODFW Report).

We recommend the following three provisions for the Columbia River Subarea as presented in Agenda Item G.1.b, Supplemental WDFW Report:

- Reduce the Columbia River nearshore subarea set-aside from 1,500 pounds to 500 pounds.
- Do not change the opening date and manage the fishery as one season.
- Increase to the number of days open per week to Monday thru Friday only in the month of June (Agenda Item G.1.a, Supplemental WDFW Report 3). This would include two days of overlap between the nearshore and all-depth fisheries.

The SAS also recommends the changes recommended in Agenda Item G.1.b, NMFS Report 3 including the modification which would allow earlier transfer of unused quota from the directed commercial fishery to the incidental salmon troll fishery.

PFMC 11/16/14

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE REPORT ON PACIFIC HALIBUT CATCH SHARING PLAN CHANGES

The Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW) is submitting this additional report on halibut issues to introduce two options for the Columbia River alternatives, which we believe fit within the analyzed range of alternatives, and make a correction to the results in Attachment 1 of WDFW Report 2, which describes how our Puget Sound season-setting methodology may be applied to the California recreational halibut fishery. On this latter topic, WDFW would like to acknowledge a significant error on our part in estimating the average number of fish caught per day in the California halibut fishery—we had originally estimated 195 fish per day; however, this number should be 34 fish per day.

Columbia River – Increase Nearshore Days of the Week

WDFW had proposed that the number of days that the nearshore area would be open be increased to include Thursday and Friday; these days would overlap with the scheduled all-depth fishery. WDFW has heard from Columbia River charter constituents that they need increased fishing opportunity to attract customers to take halibut trips. As noted in Agenda Item G.1.b, ODFW Report, the Columbia River subarea has had little catch or effort after mid-July and has left 2,500-3,500 pounds of halibut quota un-harvested each year. Maximizing sportfishing opportunity to achieve their quota is the primary objective of the subarea, but Washington charters have expressed difficulty attracting anglers to take halibut trips when other species, such as lingcod and rockfish, cannot be retained with halibut onboard. By allowing a slight increase in nearshore opportunity, which would allow anglers to retain groundfish caught in the nearshore area with a halibut onboard, provides additional incentive for anglers to take halibut trips.

WDFW understands the concerns expressed by the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife (ODFW) about potential increased catches of yelloweye rockfish associated with lingcod areas off Oregon and agrees with ODFW on the desire to have consistent regulations throughout the subarea. In recognition of this, WDFW would like to offer an option that would limit the increased nearshore opportunity to the month of June only. As the range of alternatives spanned from status quo (i.e., open Monday-Wednesday) to open every Thursday and Friday, we believe that limiting the addition of Thursday and Friday to the month of June only fits within the range considered.

While this option may not fully achieve the objective, it is a positive step that we would recommend for the 2015 halibut season.

Columbia River – Modify Oregon Sport Allocations

As described in our WDFW Report, in general, we believe that contributions from states that share management areas should be done equitably. However, we also recognize that, in this particular case, the Columbia River subarea has fallen short of achieving its quota for several years and Oregon has a need in other areas for additional halibut—partly in response to Oregon having given up a portion of its Central Coast subarea quota to the newly created Southern Oregon subarea. As such, WDFW can support ODFW's recommendation to reduce its contribution to the Columbia River subarea to around 75% of Washington's contribution, but we would rather this be expressed as a standalone allocation of Oregon's sport quota, rather than as a percentage of Washington's contribution. In the future, as halibut abundance and fisheries' needs change, WDFW would like to retain the flexibility to potentially shift the Washington sport quota around among our subareas (as ODFW is proposing to do with this action) without necessarily impacting the Oregon contribution to the Columbia River.

Using the current 2A TAC of 960,000 pounds, 75% of Washington's contribution to the Columbia River subarea equates to about 2.3% of Oregon's sport quota. Given the uncertainty in future TAC levels, and the way the Catch Sharing Plan is structured, we understand that ODFW may choose to revise this percentage and/or may want to have varying allocations under different TAC levels. However, WDFW recommends that the approach we have described be used in the 2015 Catch Sharing Plan to express Oregon's contribution to the Columbia River subarea.

Application of Puget Sound Season-Setting Methodology to the California Fishery

As noted above, WDFW inadvertently miscalculated an average catch per day for the California sport fishery and have a revised estimate of 34 fish per day, which is the most recent two-year average (2013 and 2014). We note there was a significant increase in effort (and resulting catch) from 2012 to 2013 that appears to have continued in 2014; therefore, we would propose using a two-year average catch per day (rather than a three-year average). The corrected results and conclusions—again, using an average weight of 20 pounds and the status quo 2A TAC of 960,000 pounds—are in the table below.

	Alternative 3	Alternative 4	Alternative 5
CA Sport Quota (Ibs)	18,720	24,960	31,200
Quota (estimated number of fish)	936	1,248	1,560
Estimated Season Length	28 days	37 days	46 days
Example Potential Season Dates for 2015	May 1-June 30	May 1-July 19	May 1-July 31 and Sept 1-11

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE REPORT ON PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE CATCH SHARING PLAN AND 2015 ANNUAL REGULATIONS

The Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW) met with recreational halibut anglers on October 6, 2014. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss proposed changes to the Pacific Fishery Management Council's (PFMC) Catch Sharing Plan (CSP) for 2015, and refine the proposals adopted for public review at the September PFMC meeting.

We recommend the following changes to the Pacific halibut CSP for 2015, section (f) SPORT FISHERIES. These changes are consistent with those adopted by the Council for public review.

Columbia River Subarea (Washington and Oregon):

For this subarea implement the following changes:

1. Reduce the nearshore set aside from 1,500 pounds to 500 pounds.

<u>Rationale:</u> The amount of halibut caught in the nearshore fishery has been very low in 2014. This change would maintain the nearshore set aside at an amount that would accommodate recent catches in the nearshore area on days when the all-depth fishery is closed.

2. Retain the current opening date and manage the fishery to one season (i.e., remove the season structure that splits the subarea quota between the early (80 percent) and late seasons (20 percent).

<u>Rationale:</u> Since 2008, fishing effort has significantly declined during the late season off Washington and Oregon. Managing to one season will ensure the quota is available during the peak of halibut fishing effort and allow the all-depth fishery to continue uninterrupted.

3. Increase the number of days that the nearshore area is open from Monday through Wednesday to Monday through Friday. This would include two days of overlap (Thursday and Friday) between the nearshore and all-depth fisheries.

<u>Rationale:</u> Currently, on days that the nearshore is open (Monday through Wednesday); anglers may retain all groundfish, including lingcod, with halibut onboard. On all-depth days (Thursday through Sunday), anglers may not retain any groundfish, except Pacific cod and sablefish, with halibut onboard regardless of area fished (i.e., nearshore or offshore). Initially, the nearshore fishery was developed to allow anglers targeting bottomfish to retain an incidentally caught halibut when fishing in the nearshore area. We view the addition of two more nearshore days per week as a small first step to providing increased fishing opportunities in a conservative manner. Extending the nearshore fishery to Monday through Friday adds two weekdays, which typically have less fishing effort than weekend days, and would allow us to see if there are issues with anglers understanding regulations or enforcement issues are a problem.

Regarding concerns about yelloweye rockfish bycatch, we note that we will monitor the fishery inseason and track changes in yelloweye encounters on trips with halibut onboard.

A draft of how these changes, if adopted, may be incorporated into the CSP language is included at the end of the report.

Regarding changes to the Columbia River subarea proposed by Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife (ODFW), we provide the following thoughts for consideration:

Allocations

In general, WDFW supports maintaining an equal contribution to the Columbia River subarea and providing recreational fishing opportunities to achieve but not exceed the subarea quota. The coordinated management approach for the Columbia River area reflects the overlap between residents of Washington and Oregon that fish out of each state's ports between Cape Falcon, Oregon and Leadbetter Point, Washington. We have heard that anglers from either state may prefer to fish for halibut out of Ilwaco simply because it is somewhat closer to the halibut fishing grounds than ports in northern Oregon, saving anglers both time and money. We also recognize the importance for states to have the flexibility to adjust their subarea allocations to maximize fishing opportunity and address shifts in fishing effort that occur over time.

ODFW's Alternative 1 would reduce the contribution amount to 75 percent of Washington's contribution, which would reduce the overall subarea allocation by approximately 1,500 pounds. Alternative 2 would reduce Oregon's contribution to 50 percent of Washington's contribution and reduce the overall subarea allocation by approximately 3,000 pounds.

Table 1 summarizes catch from 2012 to2014 under the two allocation alternatives. During this time period, the Columbia River subarea allocation was the same and Washington and Oregon contributed equally to the allocation. Catch under Alternative 1 suggests that the Columbia River halibut seasons would potentially be unaffected if future catch and effort remained similar to recent years. If the Columbia River allocation under Alternative 2 was in place this year, the season would have likely closed early to avoid catch exceeding the subarea allocation.

		Status Quo (SQ)	Alternative 1 (75%)	Alternative 2 (50%)
			Difference in SQ	Difference in SQ
Year	2A TAC	Total Catch	Catch to Allocation	Catch to Allocation
2014	960,000	9,052	1,355	-132
2013	990,000	6,468	3,939	2,453
2012	989,000	7,958	2,449	963

Table 1. Columbia River allocation alternatives and recreational halibut catch 2012-2014

However, catch and effort can be variable, particularly in the Columbia River subarea, where fishing effort targeting halibut can be affected by other fishing opportunities such as salmon, albacore tuna, and sturgeon. In the future, more recreational fishing effort could be focused on halibut fishing depending on the abundance and fishing opportunity offered for other recreational species in the Columbia River and other areas. In fact, Columbia River fishermen based in Washington have been working with WDFW to increase angler interest in the recreational halibut fishery in this area. As changes to the CSP are made, such as increasing the days of the week that the fishery is open, more anglers may choose to fish in the Columbia River subarea.

This variability is important to consider as either of the proposed allocation alternatives could result in shorter seasons if angler effort were to increase from status quo.

Another important consideration is the impact of the allocation alternatives if the 2A Total Allowable Catch (TAC) is lower than what it has been in recent years. Table 2 looks at the Columbia River subarea allocation alternatives under the status quo 2A TAC of 960,000 pounds and two lower TAC scenarios including the 2014 "Blue Line" TAC (720,000 pounds) considered at the 2014 International Pacific Halibut Commission Annual Meeting and one between 960,000 pounds and 720,000 pounds. The analysis uses the 2014 total catch as a proxy to evaluate the Columbia River allocation alternatives under a range of 2A TACs. It is fair to say that the Columbia River halibut fishery would be restricted under the lowest 2A TAC, even under status quo allocation contributions. However, Columbia River halibut seasons will be additionally restricted under both allocation alternatives when the 2A TAC is lower.

Table 2. Columbia River allocation alternatives under a range of 2A TAC scenarios and 2014 halibut catch

	Status Quo (SQ)		Alternativ	/e 1 (75%)	Alternative 2 (50%)	
	Total	2014 Total	Total	Difference	Total	Difference
2A TAC	Allocation	Catch	Allocation	in SQ Catch	Allocation	in SQ Catch
960,000	11,895	9,052	10,407	1,355	8,921	-132
810,000	10,182	9,052	8,909	-143	7,637	-1,416
720,000	8,469	9,052	7,411	-1,641	6,353	-2,700

The allocation changes proposed for the Columbia River should be considered cumulatively with other allocation changes being considered at this meeting. If a portion of the Area 2A non-treaty sport allocation is shifted to the California sport allocation, changes to the Columbia River subarea allocation will be further reduced from the allocation alternatives proposed here.

(f) (1) (iv) <u>Columbia River subarea</u>.

This sport fishery subarea is allocated 2.0 percent of the first 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) allocated to the Washington sport fishery, and 4.0 percent of the Washington sport allocation between 130,845 lb (59.4 mt) and 224,110 lb (101.7 mt) (except as provided in section (e)(3) of this Plan). This subarea is also allocated an amount equal to the contribution from the Washington sport allocation from the Oregon sport allocation. This subarea is defined as waters south of Leadbetter Point, WA (46°38.17' N. lat.) and north of Cape Falcon, OR (45°46.00' N. lat.). The management objective for this subarea is to provide a quality recreational fishing opportunity that achieves but not exceeds the subarea allocation. The Columbia River subarea seasons are as follows:

- a. A nearshore fishery is allocated 10 percent or 1,500 500 pounds of the Columbia River subarea allocation, whichever is less, to allow incidental halibut retention on groundfish trips in the area shoreward of the boundary line approximating the 30 fathom (55 m) depth contour extending from Leadbetter Point, WA (46°38.17' N. lat., 124°15.88' W. long.) to the Washington-Oregon border (46°16.00' N. lat., 124°15.88' W. long.) and from there, connecting to the boundary line approximating the 40 fathom (73 m) depth contour in Oregon. Coordinates will be specifically defined at 50 CFR 660.71 through 660.74. The nearshore fishery will be open Monday through Wednesday Friday following the opening of the early season-all-depth fishery, until the nearshore allocation is taken or September 30, whichever is earlier. Taking, retaining, possessing or landing halibut on groundfish trips is only allowed in the nearshore area Monday through Friday on days not open to all depth Pacific halibut fisheries. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit.
- b. The remaining Columbia River subarea allocation will be allocated such that 80 percent is reserved for an early season to the all-depth fishery beginning in May and 20 percent reserved for a late season all depth fishery beginning in August. The early season alldepth fishery will open on the first Thursday in May or May 1 if it is a Friday, Saturday or Sunday, 4 days per week, Thursday through Sunday until the early season portion of the subarea allocation is taken. The fishery will reopen for the late season all-depth fishery on the first Thursday in August and continue 4 days per week, Thursday Sunday until the remainder of the subarea quota has been taken, or until September 30, whichever is earlier. The early and late seasons will run continuously, unless closed due to quota attainment. Any remaining early season all depth quota will automatically be available to the late season all-depth fishery. Subsequent to the closure, if there is insufficient quota remaining in the Columbia River subarea for another fishing day, then any remaining quota may be transferred inseason to another Washington and/or Oregon subarea by NMFS via an update to the recreational halibut hotline. Any remaining quota would be transferred to each state in proportion to its contribution. The daily bag limit is one halibut per person, with no size limit. No groundfish may be taken and retained, possessed or landed, except sablefish and Pacific cod when allowed by groundfish regulations, if halibut are on board the vessel.

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE REPORT ON PACIFIC HALIBUT CATCH SHARING PLAN CHANGES

The Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW) can appreciate the difficult position that the California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) has been in for the past seven years. From a conservation perspective, having a significant amount of halibut being caught in their recreational fishery without sufficient quota to cover their catch must be concerning; on the other hand, trying to gain a foothold with a new fishery to access quota for a resource that is fully subscribed, is challenging at best. While we have not necessarily been in this situation in recent years, we would hope that, if we were to find ourselves in a similar predicament, CDFW and the Pacific Fishery Management Council as a whole would be open to considering reallocation despite the painful discussions that may entail.

In considering a reallocation of halibut among the non-tribal fisheries in Area 2A, we believe there are at least four separate issues to address: 1) what an appropriate allocation amount for the California recreational fishery may be; 2) where additional quota for the California recreational fishery would come from; 3) what season structure would be reasonable to achieve, but not greatly exceed, the new allocation; and 4) what structure changes need to be made in the Catch Sharing Plan to provide management flexibility.

On the allocation amount for the California recreational fishery, we believe there are many factors to consider, including conservation of the stock, availability, and fairness. On conservation, while there have been Pacific halibut in the northern California area in recent years, this area has only been included in the annual survey for two years—2013 and 2014—and while there may be more halibut in the area than are actually harvested, we do not have any idea how those halibut contribute to the coastwide stock or the portion of the stock in Area 2A.

We have been fortunate in that, up until now, the overall Area 2A harvest has been relatively close to the total allowable catch (TAC) despite the catch overages that have occurred in some fisheries, as other fisheries have underachieved their quotas. It is our understanding that is one of the reasons that the International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) has approved a TAC for Area 2A that has been higher than what the survey results and traditional apportionment method would provide. However, our overall management performance may not be viewed as favorably by IPHC in the future if the 2A harvest levels exceed the TAC, which will likely happen in 2014.

With regard to the California recreational fishery season dates, we understand the difficulties associated with inseason quota-monitoring on a "real-time" basis, and support continuing to manage the fishery under a fixed season. At the September meeting, there was a question about how we manage WDFW's recreational halibut fishery in Puget Sound and whether that has been

successful. Figure 1 demonstrates the performance of the Puget Sound halibut fishery. While catch has exceeded the quota—by a considerable amount in a couple of years—we believe it is important to note how the season length was subsequently reduced in response.



Figure 1. Puget Sound recreational halibut fishery quotas, catches, and seasons, 2000-2014.

To be clear, we are not saying that CDFW needs to have a perfect season structure upfront, but that we would expect them to recommend management action for subsequent seasons in response to their fishery's performance. As we have witnessed in Washington's recreational halibut fisheries, predicting effort preseason is challenging as there are other factors to consider, including the availability of other recreational fishing opportunities, tides, and weather; however, by reducing the season length at the outset, we have at least placed a limit on the amount of halibut that could reasonably be caught in that timeframe.

As we mentioned in September, we thought it would be helpful to use a method similar to how we set our recreational halibut seasons for Puget Sound, which has evolved over the years through trial and error, as a reasonable approach to estimate a practical season length for the California recreational halibut fishery under various allocation alternatives. We have done a couple of preliminary calculations as examples for the Council; a detailed description of our methodology and results are in Attachment 1 of this report.

In brief, using CDFW reported catches and average weights, the estimated season length of the California recreational halibut fishery is substantially shorter than the status quo. The status quo season is five months long, seven days per week, for a total of about 150 days. If one assumes

that a significant portion of those days has less effort (e.g., weekdays early in the week and perhaps the fall months), we would guess there were approximately 65 "meaningful" fishing days with relatively high effort in the status quo season. For comparison, if the 2A TAC remained the same in 2015 (960,000 pounds) and the California allocation were increased to four percent of the non-treaty share (to be just under 25,000 pounds)—using the same assumptions for "meaningful" fishing days—the California recreational halibut fishery would likely achieve its quota in less than two weeks.

Finally, WDFW agrees with the Groundfish Advisory Subpanel that reallocation alternatives need to be considered in conjunction with the ability to take management action to ensure quotas are not exceeded. While CDFW suggested requesting their Fish and Wildlife Commission delegate the authority to their Director to take action via emergency rule to close the recreational halibut fishery upon quota attainment, they were also realistic regarding the likelihood of that happening and of it being exercised inseason if their quota remains lower than they feel they deserve. Therefore, we believe the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) should have the flexibility to set seasons and take inseason action for the California recreational halibut fishery. This regulatory mechanism is in place for all other halibut fisheries coastwide and NMFS can implement its actions quickly by updating its hotline.

APPLICATION OF THE METHODOLOGY USED TO CALCULATE THE PUGET SOUND RECREATIONAL HALIBUT FISHERY SEASON LENGTH TO THE CALIFORNIA RECREATIONAL HALIBUT FISHERY

In support of the California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) continuing to manage its recreational halibut fishery under a fixed season, rather than a real-time quota-managed fishery, in September 2014, the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW) suggested consideration of our Puget Sound season-setting methodology as a reasonable approach. The following is a description of our data sources and assumptions, methodology, and resulting season lengths for the California recreational halibut fishery with the 2A status quo TAC level under two different allocation alternatives.

Data Sources

WDFW used the harvest data from 2008-2013 reported by CDFW in the South of Humbug Pacific Halibut Workgroup Preliminary Management Measure Analyses (Agenda Item D.2.b, Workgroup Report, September 2013) and 2014 catch information (through July) as reported by CDFW at the September 2014 Council meeting. Catches for September and October 2013 were used as a proxy to project catches for those same months in 2014.

Average weight was estimated to be about 20 pounds, based on the CDFW reported weight in RecFIN and anecdotal information from California charter fishing operations and anglers.

Methods

WDFW's methodology to calculate the season length for the Puget Sound recreational halibut fishery is:

- 1. Divide subarea quota by average weight to approximate the number of fish available
- 2. Review past seasons to calculate the average number of fish caught per day in each of the last five years
- 3. Divide the approximate number of fish available by the highest catch per day for the past five years to estimate the number of days available for the next season

As mentioned in our report, the Puget Sound season length calculation has evolved over time. It has become increasingly conservative in the past few years as other recreational fishing opportunities have been severely constrained or closed.

While effort may increase in the California recreational halibut fishery in the future, particularly if the season is compressed, we thought it may be premature to apply such a stringent method from the outset. Therefore, for this calculation, we adjusted our method slightly to use a three-

year average catch per day based on the number of fishing days from 2012-2014, rather than the highest catch per day for the past five years.

Results

We applied the revised method described above to estimate the season length to two allocation alternatives (3 and 4) using the status quo 2A TAC of 960,000 pounds. The following are the preliminary results of those calculations.

Average Weight: 20 pounds 3-Year Average Catch per Day: 195 fish

<u>Alternative 3</u> California Sport Quota: 18,720 pounds

Dividing the quota by the average weight produces an estimated total of 936 fish in the subarea quota. Dividing the total fish by the average catch per day results in an estimated season length of 4.8 days.

<u>Alternative 4</u> California Sport Quota: 24,960 pounds

Dividing the quota by the average weight produces an estimated total of 1,248 fish in the subarea quota. Dividing the total fish by the average catch per day results in an estimated season length of 6.4 days.

Conclusions

As a final step—again, assuming there are approximately three to four "meaningful" fishing days per week —the following are examples of potential seasons for these alternatives. They are meant as examples only; they are not actual season proposals.

Alternative 3 Example Season: May 1-8, 2015

Alternative 4 Example Season: May 1-14, 2015

As mentioned in the report, there are many factors to consider when setting seasons, such as other scheduled fishing opportunities and community events. As such, CDFW may want to consider changing its traditional opening date of May 1st to something else and reducing the days of the week to stretch the season across as many weeks as possible.

------ Forwarded message -----From: Cookiemn58@GMail.com <<u>cookiemn58@gmail.com</u>> Date: Mon, Oct 13, 2014 at 2:26 PM Subject: 2015 Halibut Regs To: pfmc.comments@noaa.gov

Please support Option 4 below.

Alternative 4: Increase the California sport share by three percent, for a total allocation of four percent, when the 2A TAC is less than one million pounds by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations. When the 2A TAC is greater than one million pounds, the first one million pounds of the 2A TAC shall be distributed according to the Alternative 4 allocations. For the portion of the 2A TAC that exceeds one million pounds, the California sport allocation would increase to five percent of the non-treaty share by reducing the three major non-treaty group allocations.

Thank you,

Michael Lublin

From: Steve Haines <<u>redrider62@yahoo.com</u>> Date: Mon, Oct 13, 2014 at 2:31 PM Subject: To: "<u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>" <<u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>>

In studying G1 concerning Pacific Halibut and the fishery, we are instead casting our vote for alternative 4. Thank you

Steve Haines... Recreational fishermen...<u>707-445-0613</u>... area code 95503

From: <<u>dwoolz@sbcglobal.net</u>> Date: Mon, Oct 13, 2014 at 2:04 PM Subject: 2015 Proposed Changes for Halibut Fisheries in Area 2A To: "<u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>" <<u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>>

Gentleman,

My name is Dick Woolsey and I am a long time resident and angular of the North coast of California. In response to new information indicating a higher abundance of Pacific halibut and greater fishery interest in this area then when the CSP was originally adopted, I feel that Northern California should receive a higher allocation than has been given to us in the past. Therefore, I support Alternative 4which increases our halibut quota to 4%. I hope you will consider and adopt this alternative.

Sincerely, Dick Woolsey

From: Tom peters <<u>tpete@reninet.com</u>> Date: Mon, Oct 13, 2014 at 4:59 PM Subject: pacific halibut allocations To: pfmc.comments@noaa.gov

I am writing to support Alternative 5 for the California Sport Halibut season in 2015. There are 4 reasons I support this Alternative.

- 1. The Survey data easily support that harvest level in California.
- 2. A robust halibut fishery provides a critical alternative for the charter and sports fleet when salmon is closed.
- 3. Halibut is the only accessible fishery for small boats out of Eureka, the major halibut port in the area, when salmon season is closed.
- 4. There are no other competing fisheries in this area. It is a "sport fishing" area only.

I also support a 50,000 pound cap of halibut harvest for California. This should allow a full May 1 to Oct. 31 season. This limit will no doubt be approached in those years with a shorter salmon season. We do not know from year to year what the salmon season will be. We do know it will be variable.

The charter boats and the sport fleet have only 2 alternatives out of Eureka. One is bottom fish but the fleet must travel almost 20 miles to the south and confront possible afternoon NW winds getting home.

The second is halibut. The fishery ranges up and down but much fishing is done straight out or slightly north of Humboldt Bay, within 5 or 6 miles. This allows smaller boats a shot and makes for a much safer trip home when the wind starts to blow (and it always blows!).

The trawl fishery historically landed as much as 2 million pounds of halibut into Eureka. Now there is almost NO pressure from that fleet. There is NO native directed halibut fishery in this area. The only harvest of halibut in California is by the sport fleet.

Since surveys have brought to light the fact that there is a substantial number of halibut in Northern California, it seems only fair that a reasonable harvest of those fish be allowed. Doing so will not affect the harvest in other areas as they will never get a chance to catch these fish anyway.

For these reasons I ask you to support ALTERNATIVE 5 with a 50,000 pound cap for the 2015 California Pacific Halibut season.

Thank you. Tom Peters 221 Dollison St. Eureka, CA 95501 707-445-1666 tpete@reninet.com
----- Forwarded message ------From: Aaron Martin <<u>yurokfish@gmail.com</u>> Date: Thu, Oct 16, 2014 at 10:39 AM Subject: California Halibut Allocation To: <u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>

Hello PFMC Council:

Thank you for working to manage our West Coast fisheries. I know it can be a difficult and complicated task and I certainly appreciate all of your efforts. I am writing in regards to Pacific halibut management and catch share allocations for the 2015 season. I appreciate the effort that went into creating 5 alternatives this season, which appears to be an effort to create a more fair and efficient catch share allocation for all stakeholders.

Please support Alternative 5. It is the only fair alternative that supports what the science has said for our area. Please make the right choice.

Thank you

Aaron Martin 343 Chartin Rd Blue Lake, CA 95525

------ Forwarded message ------From: John Martin <jmartin@lassencollege.edu> Date: Thu, Oct 16, 2014 at 8:25 AM Subject: Northern California Halibut Allocation To: "pfmc.comments@noaa.gov" <pfmc.comments@noaa.gov>

PFMC Board Members,

Please consider supporting alternative 5 which would raise California's allocation to 5%. One of the reasons you should support this alternative is from what I read on your own web site is the science supports it. Your own surveys show that northern California supports a much larger percent of the biomass than anyone believed prior to those surveys.

So by continuing to keep California's allocation at or near its current low allocation you are in effect requiring the overfishing of other areas, allocations that by your own science should be in northern California are shifted to other areas where science does not support those numbers. This shift is not only causing what I believe to be overfishing, it is economically unfair and penalizes the small fishing communities of northern California.

Please consider Alterative #5 lets use the science and try to be fair.

Sincerely, John Martin Susanville, CA

------ Forwarded message ------From: Bert Colbert <<u>bert.colbert@gmail.com</u>> Date: Mon, Oct 13, 2014 at 7:14 PM Subject: 2015 Area 2A halibut fisheries To: <u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>

Dear PFMC Members,

I ask that you consider the catch data from the Northern California and Southern Oregon long line study that was done last Fall in making your decision for the upcoming 2015 season. It was shown that we have a large biomass of Pacific Halibut here and can sustain the meager amount we are catching in relation to minuscule catch quote we are allotted by the IPHC. We need to encourage the recreational "fishing tourism" that comes to the North Coast. The fishable days are limited by ocean conditions that keep many boats near shore or in port for probably 1/3 of the season (total days from May 15 to October 31, minus bad weather days)

I ask that you lift the ban that was imposed for the month of August. This was proposed and offered by the sport fisherman (HASA) and commercial charter boats to appease the notion that we are "over fishing" this resource. Unfortunately, the data from the long line study became available after we already supported this option. Now that it is evident that we have a healthy Pacific Halibut population, there is no need for the closure and the season should resort back to what it was prior.

Sincerely,

Bert Colbert 1759 Old Arcata Rd. Bayside, CA. 95524 (707) 496-3626

----- Forwarded message -----From: **Seth Naman** <<u>swnaman@gmail.com</u>> Date: Thu, Oct 16, 2014 at 2:10 PM Subject: 2015 Area 2A halibut fisheries To: pfmc.comments@noaa.gov

PFMC,

I am writing in regards to Pacific halibut management and catch share allocations for the 2015 season and to urge you to support Alternative 5. As you know, the 2013 IPHC survey off the California coast revealed that there is over 100,000 pounds of exploitable biomass in California waters. Key metrics (such as size at age) are also very favorable off of the California Coast. The data is clear: the fishery has been resilient to past effort and can clearly support continued harvest at intensities similar to the past.

California brings a significant volume contribution to the table and enables other stakeholders to have larger allocations. Its only fair that California has access to 1/3 of the fish off of our coast,

rather than other stakeholders having more fish to catch in areas that cannot support it. Metrics (such as size at age) in other areas are not nearly as favorable as California, which suggests that using California volume to support fishing in other areas is not sustainable and clearly not a good management practice. The IPHC survey in 2013 is the best available science and concluded there is/was 100,000 pounds of exploitable biomass off of California. Alternative 5 would allocate 31,000 pounds (less than 1/3 of the available 100,000lb biomass) to California and represents the most efficient and fair alternative available.

There is only one Alternative that effectively manages the fishery, is consistent with the Magnuson Stevens Act, comports with the catch share policy from NMFS, and relies on the best available science. That is Alternative 5. As representatives on the Council and stewards of our resources, is it up to you make the correct decision to best manage our fisheries. The best available science is very clear that Alternative 5 makes the most sense. Please support Alternative 5.

Thank you,

Seth Naman PO Box 141 Blue Lake, CA 95525 <u>swnaman@gmail.com</u>

------ Forwarded message ------From: Marc Schmidt <<u>coastlinecharters@gmail.com</u>> Date: Thu, Oct 16, 2014 at 3:50 PM Subject: Pacific Halibut alternative public comment To: <u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>

Council members,

First off, thank you for your time and consideration to our fisheries issues as it applies to CA sport anglers. I am writing in support of Alternative 5 and status quo limit for Pacific Halibut (PH) regulations for 2015. As a charter boat owner/operator in Eureka, CA, your decisions will greatly affect my livelihood. Your science based and common sense vote is appreciated by CA sport anglers, businesses, and their families.

The facts have been reiterated time and time again and everyone agrees CA sport anglers are getting an unequitable and arbitrary share of allocation. Even the presented alternatives still fall short of what is if fair and equitable and are not based on the best available science as required by the MSA. The best available science shows we have 14% of the available PH biomass off our coast and we only receive less than 1% of the quota. Even if we get the 5% allocation in Alternative 5 we still are providing the 2A area with fish that are artificially floating seasons to our north. I understand the inter and intra season migrations of these fish but I feel that fishing seasons based on fish from a much different location of the 2A area will reduce biomass in the northern portion faster than can be supported in the long term. As one of very few people that

really have an on the water feel of the population in our area, I know you will see even more fish available from our area from the 2014 survey results. Please make a sound science based decision and vote for Alternative 5 with the status quo limit for 2015 and then you can see next year how the decision was a good one.

Thanks you for your consideration,

Marc Schmidt Coastline Charters Eureka, CA

------ Forwarded message ------From: John Lanz <jrlanz@att.net> Date: Thu, Oct 16, 2014 at 3:53 PM Subject: Halibut season California 2015 To: pfmc.comments@noaa.gov

PFMC Council:

Thank you for working to manage our West Coast fisheries. I know it can be a difficult and complicated task and I certainly appreciate all of your efforts. I am writing in regards to Pacific halibut management and catch share allocations for the 2015 season. I appreciate the effort that went into creating 5 alternatives this season, which appears to be an effort to create a more fair and efficient catch share allocation for all stakeholders. As you know, the 2013 IPHC survey off the California coast revealed that there is over 100,000 pounds of exploitable biomass in California waters. Key metrics (such as size at age) are also very favorable off of the California Coast. This data suggests that there are a number of fish available off of California, and it also suggests that the general fitness of individual fish has not diminished despite the volume being harvested in past years. The data is clear: the fishery has been resilient to past effort and can clearly support continued harvest at intensities similar to the past. The IPHC survey completed in 2013 clearly supports this.

While I appreciate the effort to develop additional alternatives to work towards a more fair and efficient allocation, the five alternatives fail to create a fair or efficient allocation for California. Alternative 5 would provide California with the highest allocation (5%), but this is merely 1/3 of the available biomass off of our coast. California brings a significant volume contribution to the table and enables other stakeholders to have larger allocations. Its only fair that California has access to 1/3 of the fish off of our coast, rather than other stakeholders having more fish to catch in areas that cannot support it. Metrics (such as size at age) in other areas are not nearly as favorable as California, which suggests that using California volume to support fishing in other areas is not sustainable and clearly not a good management practice. The IPHC survey in 2013 is the best available science and concluded there is/was 100,000 pounds of exploitable biomass off of California. Alternative 5 would allocate 31,000 pounds (less than 1/3 of the available 100,000# biomass) to California and represents the most efficient and fair alternative available.

There is only one Alternative that effectively manages the fishery, is consistent with the Magnuson Stevens Act, comports with the catch share policy from NMFS, and relies on the best available science. That Alternative is Alternative 5. Please support Alternative 5. As representatives on the Council and stewards of our resources, is it up to you make the correct decision to best manage our fisheries. The best available science is very clear about which alternative makes the most sense. I hope you make the right choice.

John Lanz 790 Eucalyptus Rd. McKinleyville Ca. 95519

------ Forwarded message ------From: <<u>rbtrtdnlfr@netscape.net</u>> Date: Thu, Oct 16, 2014 at 11:15 AM Subject: Pacific Halibut 2015 To: <u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>

Hello PFMC Council:

Thank you for working to manage our West Coast fisheries. I know it can be a difficult and complicated task and I certainly appreciate all of your efforts. I am writing in regards to Pacific halibut management and catch share allocations for the 2015 season. I appreciate the effort that went into creating 5 alternatives this season, which appears to be an effort to create a more fair and efficient catch share allocation for all stakeholders. As you know, the 2013 IPHC survey off the California coast revealed that there is over 100,000 pounds of exploitable biomass in California waters. Key metrics (such as size at age) are also very favorable off of the California Coast. This data suggests that there are a number of fish available off of California, and it also suggests that the general fitness of individual fish has not diminished despite the volume being harvested in past years. The data is clear: the fishery has been resilient to past effort and can clearly support continued harvest at intensities similar to the past. The IPHC survey completed in 2013 clearly supports this.

While I appreciate the effort to develop additional alternatives to work towards a more fair and efficient allocation, the five alternatives fail to create a fair or efficient allocation for California. Alternative 5 would provide California with the highest allocation (5%), but this is merely 1/3 of the available biomass off of our coast. California brings a significant volume contribution to the table and enables other stakeholders to have larger allocations. Its only fair that California has access to 1/3 of the fish off of our coast, rather than other stakeholders having more fish to catch in areas that cannot support it. Metrics (such as size at age) in other areas are not nearly as favorable as California, which suggests that using California volume to support fishing in other areas is not sustainable and clearly not a good management practice. The IPHC survey in 2013 is the best available science and concluded there is/was 100,000 pounds of exploitable biomass off of California and represents the most efficient and fair alternative available.

There is only one Alternative that effectively manages the fishery, is consistent with the Magnuson Stevens Act, comports with the catch share policy from NMFS, and relies on the best available science. That Alternative is Alternative 5. Please support Alternative 5. As representatives on the Council and stewards of our resources, is it up to you make the correct decision to best manage our fisheries. The best available science is very clear about which alternative makes the most sense. I hope you make the right choice.

Thank you,

Daniel Free 320 Fernwood Lane Kneeland, CA 95549

------ Forwarded message ------From: Matt Goldsworthy <<u>goldsworthy.matthew@gmail.com</u>> Date: Thu, Oct 16, 2014 at 10:24 AM Subject: Pacific Halibut 2015 To: <u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>

Hello PFMC Council:

Thank you for working to manage our West Coast fisheries. I know it can be a difficult and complicated task and I certainly appreciate all of your efforts. I am writing in regards to Pacific halibut management and catch share allocations for the 2015 season. I appreciate the effort that went into creating 5 alternatives this season, which appears to be an effort to create a more fair and efficient catch share allocation for all stakeholders. As you know, the 2013 IPHC survey off the California coast revealed that there is over 100,000 pounds of exploitable biomass in California waters. Key metrics (such as size at age) are also very favorable off of the California Coast. This data suggests that there are a number of fish available off of California, and it also suggests that the general fitness of individual fish has not diminished despite the volume being harvested in past years. The data is clear: the fishery has been resilient to past effort and can clearly support continued harvest at intensities similar to the past. The IPHC survey completed in 2013 clearly supports this.

While I appreciate the effort to develop additional alternatives to work towards a more fair and efficient allocation, the five alternatives fail to create a fair or efficient allocation for California. Alternative 5 would provide California with the highest allocation (5%), but this is merely 1/3 of the available biomass off of our coast. California brings a significant volume contribution to the table and enables other stakeholders to have larger allocations. Its only fair that California has access to 1/3 of the fish off of our coast, rather than other stakeholders having more fish to catch in areas that cannot support it. Metrics (such as size at age) in other areas are not nearly as favorable as California, which suggests that using California volume to support fishing in other areas is not sustainable and clearly not a good management practice. The IPHC survey in 2013 is the best available science and concluded there is/was 100,000 pounds of exploitable biomass off of California. Alternative 5 would allocate 31,000 pounds (less than 1/3 of the

available 100,000# biomass) to California and represents the most efficient and fair alternative available.

There is only one Alternative that effectively manages the fishery, is consistent with the Magnuson Stevens Act, comports with the catch share policy from NMFS, and relies on the best available science. That Alternative is Alternative 5. Please support Alternative 5. As representatives on the Council and stewards of our resources, is it up to you make the correct decision to best manage our fisheries. The best available science is very clear about which alternative makes the most sense. I hope you make the right choice.

Thank you, Matt Goldsworthy 1358 School Road McKinleyville, CA 95519

------ Forwarded message ------From: Bob Pagliuco <<u>sheggyboy@aol.com</u>> Date: Fri, Oct 17, 2014 at 7:08 AM Subject: Pacific Halibut 2015 To: <u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>

Hello PFMC Council:

I am writing in regards to Pacific halibut management and catch share allocations for the 2015 season. I appreciate the effort that went into creating 5 alternatives this season, which appears to be an effort to create a more fair and efficient catch share allocation for all stakeholders. The IPHC survey in 2013 is the best available science we have and concluded there was 100,000 pounds of exploitable biomass off of California in 2013. Although the 2014 survey results have not been analyzed, I am guessing CA's numbers have either stayed the same or have increased. Alternative 5 would allocate 31,000 pounds (less than 1/3 of the available 100,000# biomass in 2013) to California and represents the most efficient and fair alternative available. I support alternative 5 and hope you will too.

Thanks, Bob Pagliuco ------ Forwarded message ------From: Jim Yarnall <jimyarnall@gmail.com> Date: Thu, Oct 16, 2014 at 7:30 PM Subject: Agenda Item G.1 Pacific Halibut To: "pfmc.comments@noaa.gov" <pfmc.comments@noaa.gov>

October 16, 2014

Madame Chair and Council Members,

I am a recreational angler from Eureka, CA who fishes for Pacific halibut in northern California. I am advocating that you increase California's share of the 2A quota by supporting Alternative 5 or at least Alternative 4 for the 2015 season.

The IPHC 2013 survey data clearly demonstrate that California waters support a significant halibut population contributing 100,000# to the 2A allocation. While not perfect, the survey represents the "best available science" for resource allocation. If you aren't going to use the best science, then you are simply allocating the 2A quota based upon politics and past practices. This does not meet the letter or intent of the Magnuson Stevens Act calling for the fair and equitable resource distribution.

Alternative 5 or 4 is a step in the correct direction while we await the survey data from 2014. I recommend that you implement Alternative 5 or at least 4 and revisit this resource allocation issue in 2015. Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely, Jim Yarnall 6308 Eggert Road Eureka, CA 95503 707-443-2496

------ Forwarded message ------From: Tom Giusti <tgiust@icloud.com> Date: Mon, Oct 13, 2014 at 5:51 PM Subject: Halibut To: "pfmc.comments@noaa.gov" <pfmc.comments@noaa.gov>

Agenda Item G.1, I vote on supporting Alternative 4, which will increase our halibut quota to 4%. I am submitting public Agenda ItemG.1, and vote to supporting Alternative 4, which will increase our halibut quota to 4%.

Tom Giusti Eureka, CA ------ Forwarded message ------From: mike beck <<u>unclemikefishon@gmail.com</u>> Date: Wed, Oct 15, 2014 at 9:19 AM Subject: Halibut To: <u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>

Dear sirs, with the news of the biomass and our location, ocean conditions etc. Please increase our lot to 4% and eliminate any closures on halibut. Thank you, Mike Beck, Humboldt co. Ca.

------ Forwarded message ------From: Dan Cox <<u>crabby2@suddenlink.net</u>> Date: Thu, Oct 16, 2014 at 7:24 PM Subject: Halibut To: "pfmc.comments@noaa.gov" <pfmc.comments@noaa.gov>

Sent from my iPhone. I've lived in trinidad for 62 years fished commercial crab and salmon for 45 yrs know this ocean better than most , never seen as many halibut and lings in all my life !! For u to take august was crazy the amount of halibut calif is givin is an insult to our state period! Makes me mad as he'll ! Somebody stand up and fight for what's right for once! Give us in calif a fair share thanks Dan cox fv express trinidad calif

------ Forwarded message ------From: Trever Parker <<u>taparker76@gmail.com</u>> Date: Fri, Oct 17, 2014 at 3:00 PM Subject: Pacific halibut allocation for northern CA To: <u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u> Cc: <u>caroline.mcknight@wildlife.ca.gov</u>

To whom it may concern,

Halibut fishing is extremely important to me and the greater sport fishing community of northern California. Because halibut often take more time and effort to catch, being able to fish for halibut allows me substantial time on the water while only catching a few fish. This has a substantial benefit to my own quality of life and provides a great economic benefit to the area, with relatively little impact on the resource. I addition, the scientific survey by the IPHC in 2013 showed there was 720,000 lbs for exploitable biomass, of which northern California contributes 13.8% of this amount, or approximately 100,000 lbs. Therefore, I would like to express my support and preference for Alternative 5 for the 2015 allocation.

Though I prefer Alternative 5, I would also be willing to support the Alternative 4 allocation combined with more appropriate harvest management to meet the Alternative 4 allocation, provided future allocations continue to be refined in the coming years. Implementing harvest management to meet the Alternative 4 allocation, based on the 2008-2014 average harvest rate, would slightly reduce the duration of a 2015 closure, and accordingly reduce the socio-economic impacts on northern California recreational sportfishers and businesses. In terms of any necessary closure, I would support the shortest duration possible, even if that means it is within

or near the peak of the season. This is because the number of available days to be on the water is very important to me; weather often keeps small sportfishing boats off the water, particularly for halibut.

I support a reasonable balance between fishing opportunities and regulations to provide a longterm sustainable Pacific Halibut fishery for northern California. Historic allocations have been unreasonably low, emphasized by the 2013 IPHC Research Survey and other recent information. Likewise, regulatory management has made some progress lowering harvest towards PFMC allocations, yet based on recent data showing higher California production, there still remains substantial distance from a fair and equitable Pacific Halibut allocation in California. Many of the revised Alternatives developed for consideration at the November 2014 PFMC meeting make good progress towards a more fair and equitable harvest for California as required by the Magnuson Stevens Act.

In conclusion, I appreciate the more equitable Alternatives being considered by the PFMC in November, and I support and prefer Alternative 5. I would be willing to support the Alternative 4 allocation with commensurate harvest management to meet that allocation as an interim step in the development of a more fair, equitable and science-based distribution of Pacific Halibut harvest and management in the future.

Sincerely, Trever Parker Arcata, CA

------ Forwarded message ------From: Jeff Mostovoy <<u>jjmostovoy@icloud.com</u>> Date: Fri, Oct 17, 2014 at 10:11 PM Subject: PMFC Halibut Allocation (2015) To: pfmc.comments@noaa.gov

10/16/14 PMFC Halibut Allocation (2015)

Dear PMFC,

I recently sent an email to the PMFC in regards to California's pacific halibut allocations for 2015. After researching and reviewing all of the alternatives, it seems to me that alternative 5, although not in any way reasonable, is the only one that makes sense at this time.

I want to emphasize that this alternative only gives California 5% (one third based on the 2013 harvest survey data). This means that Oregon and Washington are receiving two thirds of our halibut from California waters. We have already noticed the negative effects on charter boats, hotels, restaurants, and more by the August closure. It has to be noted that politics should not guide the decisions of California's fishing industry. Scientifically sound data should be the backbone of your decisions.

Every year, more and more restrictions on our fishing privileges are implemented. I am only advocating for fairness and for the PFMC to give California the largest allocation possible from the evidence of scientific research that has been conducted.

Jeffery J. Mostovoy

------ Forwarded message ------From: Lonnie Dollarhide <<u>flatwater3@yahoo.com</u>> Date: Mon, Oct 13, 2014 at 4:25 PM Subject: Pacific Halibut To: "<u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>" <<u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>>

My name is Lonnie Dollarhide, I'm an ocean sports fishermen out of Eureka CA. and a member of the Humboldt Area Salt Water Anglers. I'm a Pacific Halibut angler. I feel we are getting cheated on our allocation for next year. We deserve more poundage , example , Brookings Oregon meet their allocation and were given more poundage to finish off the 2014 season. Were in a catch share program but their is no sharing with CA. I just find it so unfair the sports guys in Oregon and Washington get way more poundage than Ca. This is a hard one for all involved, thanks.

------ Forwarded message ------From: Tim <<u>reelsteel@humboldt1.com</u>> Date: Sun, Oct 19, 2014 at 7:01 PM Subject: Pacific Halibut To: <u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>

My name is Tim Klassen. My wife Sherry and I own Reel Steel Sportfishing, a Eureka Ca based fishing charter business. Pacific Halibut fishing is an important part of our business. It is important for us to have a full fishing season. I support the proposal that gives us the most fishing days. I hope that California can have an appropriate allocation based on the best available science. I hope that California's allocation can be increased without having to "take" fish from other sectors. Tim Klassen Reel Steel Sportfishing <u>707-499-4925</u>

------ Forwarded message ------From: **plapotre@plarchitect.com** <plapotre@plarchitect.com> Date: Fri, Oct 17, 2014 at 8:45 AM Subject: Halibut allocation 2015 To: "Kelly.Ames@noaa.gov" <Kelly.Ames@noaa.gov>

Dear Mrs. Ames I write in support of Alternative #5 for Area 2A.

I am a sport fisherman out of Eureka and I have witnessed a very healthy Pacific Halibut fishery ever since I started fishing for them. I am not very well versed on the history of the fishery and how it relates to Oregon quotas but I am aware of Oregon's over harvesting. Her on the North Coast this has not been the case. For us to be put in the same bag with Oregon is penalizing us for doing things right while others don't.

I realize that Alternative #5 may not be PFMC preferred alternate and that Alternative #4 may be more achievable as a selection. I want you to know that I will respect the rules regardless of the decision and Alternative #4 will be acceptable to me as long as we move in the direction of developing ways to come up with a dependable counting system that would reflect the true population in our area.

In any event I am in full support of the HASA representatives decisions and appreciate their and you time on this matter.

Thank you,

Philippe Lapotre - Architect PLA

2725 Myrtle Avenue, Suite "C" Eureka, CA. 95501 Ph: (707) 442-8867 Fax: (707) 442-8867

plapotre@plarchitect.com www.plarchitect.com "Print Only When Necessary"



Created to enhance and protect an economically viable Washington salmon troll fishery.

Pacific Fishery Management Council 7700 NE Ambassador Place, Suite 101 Portland, Oregon 97220-1384

re: Agenda Item G.1 Halibut Catch Share Plan

Dear Chairwoman Lowman and members of the Council,

The Coastal Trollers Association represents commercial salmon trollers in the North of Cape Falcon salmon catch area. We are writing in support of the status quo option for the allocation of Pacific Halibut in the Catch Share Plan as detailed in the PFMC Blog, September, 2014. We also support the intent of the season dates and inseason action alternatives but believe the language can more clearly state that the objective of the regulation is to manage the California recreational halibut fishery within the Catch Share Plan quotas as opposed to implying the fishery may have up to 15 or 30 days with inseason adjustments.

California Department of Fish and Wildlife has failed, and failed miserably, to manage the sport halibut fishery within the CSP. The solution CDFW proposes is reallocation of halibut quota from other users, not to regulate within the current allocation. The PFMC should not even contemplate approval of any reallocation under these circumstances. The Council should consider the lesson other fisheries would take from a reallocation of halibut under these circumstances: break the law, overfish, and the Council will give you some one else's fish if you promise to never break the law again. Our members rely on the Council making rational, lawful decisions for conservation of our fishery. Re-allocation of halibut would severely erode our confidence in this Council's decisions and make our participation into a constant battle for allocation of resources rather than the search of common solutions to achieving conservation needs of the resource. CTA only supports the status quo alternative.

Agenda Item K.1.b ,Supplemental CDFW Report, September 2014 states that CDFW heard from the public that there is a high expectation that the IPHC survey data would lead to an increased allocation of 2A halibut to California. The Council should consider the detail on the interpretation of this survey that do not support the California public testimony, including the following issues.

There is only one data point for one year. Basing a decision on one data point is not science. Increasing the harvest of halibut in Northern California based on one year assessment is reckless.

The survey results have potential bias based on the conversion of CPUE to biomass used by IPHC. Surveys in other areas have been conducted during or after a commercial longline season. In northern California, there is no directed longline fisheries effort because of the area restrictions of the RCA. A high CPUE on an unfished stock can not be compared one to one with CPUE data from fished stocks. IPHC does not consider this in "Southern expansion of the Area 2A setline survey" by Raymond A. Webster, Claude Dykstra, and Tom Kong, 2013 RARA.

The CDFW report states that the public believes the increased percentage of halibut grounds, calculated by IPHC as 16% for Northern California, justifies an increase in quota for California. It is important to know how the survey data integrate with other data on halibut distribution when IPHC calculates biomass. The IPHC includes commercial setline CPUE with corrections for gear type, weight at age and age. IPHC also uses the average weight-length relationship, maturity schedule, aging bias and imprecision reflecting difficulties reading age from otoliths, and in the Bering Sea, NMFS trawl survey data. IPHC remarks that the strength of the estimate of biomass is the length of the time series of the data. For the newly surveyed area, there is no long time series of data nor commercial setline data to back up the survey.

The setline survey in Northern California had high variability. There were 4 sets with zero fish as well as sets with over 50 pounds and up to 109 pounds per skate. In subareas where there are commercial longline data, the survey data can be smoothed geographically as well as temporally (early to late season). Northern California lacks this data. California trollers do not appear to be landing many halibut in the incidental landing category. The sablefish longliners report very little halibut encounters (pers comm with Dan Platt of GAP). Dungeness crabbers report very little bycatch of halibut (pres comm Dave Bitts of the SAS) where as in the Salish Sea treaty crab fishers report surprising numbers of halibut in crab traps (testimony of unidentified Lummi tribal member at IPHC annual meeting). Basing an allocation decision on a single year of highly distributed survey sets where there were no additional data is not a safe, conservative plan and our association can only support status quo.

CTA has sent representatives to International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) meetings to ask for the greatest possible quota for area 2A. Due to a strong, united voice from all 2A halibut stakeholders, the IPHC has granted area 2A quota in excess of the IPHC staff conservation recommendations. The alternatives in Agenda item G.1 threaten to disrupt the unity required to convince the IPHC that the halibut resource is valued and well cared for in 2A. CTA can not go to bat for the quota knowing that the PFMC may continue to reallocate away from the commercial sector.

The IPHC has seen a similar situation of the sport charter boat sector overfishing its quota in areas 2C and 3A. In this case the IPHC recommended the Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADFG) and NPFMC institute regulations to ensure the sector stay within its Guideline Harvest Level (GHL). (IPHC Blue Book staff recommendations, 2007) ADFG and NPFMC have taken regulatory action and the 2C and 3A sport fisheries are staying within their conservation guidelines (IPHC Annual Report, 2012)

Our organization obviously can not speak for the IPHC commissioners, never the less, the IPHC has been clear and consistent in their desire to see all users stay within its conservation recommendations. IPHC annually endorses the 2A CSP based the understanding that appropriate conservation measures should be implemented in order to keep area 2A within the IPHC set quota. While loss of this endorsement would not automatically affect PFMC fisheries, one can envision be seen and set of the lower 2A quotas follow the loss of

endorsement. Our organization urges PFMC to not even flirt with this potential outcome and instead insist Northern California stay within the current CSP.

Yellow Eye and Canary Rockfish are closely associated with halibut. Fisheries impacts on halibut need to have matching impacts on these two rockfish species. There is no mention of where the yellow eye and canary quota will come from as halibut are re-allocated. The Council needs to explain to itself and to stakeholders what the bycatch impacts of re-allocation are. Right now, it looks like the estimation of sport catch of yellow eye and canary rockfish in Northern California could be below actual harvest/mortality because of the halibut overfishing. Because of the connection to rockfish that is not fully analyzed in the CSP alternatives, our organization recommends the Council stay with the status quo alternative.

CTA notes that the Monterrey Bay Aquarium Seafood Watch Guide recently upgraded many Pacific Rockfish species as "Best Choice" due mainly to the good management practices of the PFMC and the resulting recovery of many rockfish species. With the public eye on the Council, rewarding the mis-management of Pacific Halibut by CDFW would look out of character and arbitrary and capricious.

In conclusion, PFMC should not reward CDFW mis-managing Pacific Halibut but rather should insist that CDFW manage the fishery consistent with the conservation principles all other fisheries are held to. None of the Fisheries Management Plans allow overfishing. Indeed with Annual Catch Limits arduously developed for all Council managed species, no one overfishes on the Pacific Coast. Re-allocating Pacific Halibut to the California sport fishery to cover up CDFW mis-management and overfishing is wrong, sets an untenable president for other Council managed fisheries, and would unreasonably transfer the conservation burden to the consuming public who do not fish. Our organization strongly urges the Council to stay with the status quo for the Pacific Halibut Catch Share Plan.

Sincerely,

Jeremy Brown, President Coastal Trollers Association

P.O. Box 2434, Auburn, WA 98071 www. coastaltrollersassociation.com



Humboldt Area Saltwater Anglers Inc.

P.O. Box 6191, Eureka, CA 95502 Email: <u>hasa6191@gmail.com</u> FEIN #61-1575751

October 19, 2014

Pacific Fishery Management Council Dorothy Lowman, Chair 7700NE Ambassador Place, Suite 101 Portland, Oregon 97220-1384

RE: Pacific Halibut Alternatives for 2015

Dear Chair Lowman and Council Members:

The Humboldt Area Saltwater Anglers, Inc. (HASA) previously submitted public comment on August 11, 2014 and September 3, 2014 on the 2015 Pacific halibut allocation alternatives (Alternatives). We have reviewed the updated Alternatives, and based on our prior comments and subsequent input from HASA membership, HASA provides the following supplemental comments pertinent to the 2015 Alternatives:

- 1. Consistent with our mission statement, HASA supports a reasonable balance between fishing opportunities and regulations to provide a long-term sustainable Pacific halibut fishery for our membership. Historic allocations to California have been unreasonably low, emphasized by the 2013 IPHC Research Survey and other recent information. Regulatory management has made some progress lowering harvest towards PFMC allocations; however, albeit only one year of data, the 2013 IPHC Survey shows higher California production, and we anticipate similar results from the 2014 IPHC Survey. Therefore, there still remains substantial distance from a fair and equitable Pacific halibut allocation to California. Many of the revised Alternatives developed for consideration at the November 2014 PFMC meeting make good progress towards a more fair and equitable harvest for California as required by the Magnuson Stevens Act.
- 2. HASA supports continued refinement of a) Pacific halibut allocation to California, and b) regulation to meet that allocation, provided that the allocation is fair and equitable. As future IPHC Research Surveys and other scientific data better informs Pacific halibut productivity in California, we expect the allocation to continue evolving towards a more fair and equitable distribution of harvest.
- 3. While we would obviously prefer Alternative 5 for the 2015 allocation, we are willing to support the Alternative 4 allocation combined with more appropriate harvest management to meet the Alternative 4 allocation, provided future allocations continue to be refined in the coming years. As we mentioned in our September 2014 comments, the 2014 closure through the entirety of August has caused substantial socio-economic impacts to our recreational sport fishing community and the businesses they support. Implementing harvest management to meet the Alternative 4 allocation, based on the 2008-2014 average harvest rate, would slightly reduce the duration of a 2015 closure, and accordingly reduce the socio-economic impacts on our recreational sportfishers and local businesses.

In summary, HASA appreciates the more equitable Alternatives being considered by the PFMC in November. While we would prefer Alternative 5, we would be willing to support the Alternative 4 allocation with commensurate harvest management to meet that allocation as part of an evolution towards a more fair and equitable distribution of Pacific Halibut harvest. HASA would also like to continue working with CDFW and PFMC in 2014/2015 as more equitable, longer-term, science-based solutions are developed for Pacific halibut allocation and harvest management.

We appreciate the opportunity for providing public input on this very important matter, and do not hesitate to contact me at (707) 845-4106 if you would like any additional information.

Sincerely,

Cliff Hart

Cliff Hart, President Humboldt Area Saltwater Anglers, Inc.

Westport Charterboat Association Puget Sound Anglers Olympic Anglers Guide Services Ilwaco Charter Association Excel Fishing Charters Columbia Pacific Anglers Association

October 29, 2014

Pacific Fishery Management Council 7700 NE Ambassador Place, Suite 101 Portland, OR 97220-1384 Ms. Dorothy Lowman, Chair

Re: Agenda Item G.1, Pacific Halibut Management

Dear Ms. Lowman and Council members,

We, the undersigned, representing all sectors of the Washington recreational Halibut fishery, are writing to share our concern regarding management of the California recreational subarea. For many years now our respective groups have been strictly managed to stay within the allocation that we have been assigned by the Pacific Council in accord with the Halibut Catch Sharing plan. Our seasons have shrunk from many weeks, and even months, to as few as 4 days in both the North Coast and South Coast regions. The Puget Sound fishery has been reduced to 8 days this year.

For years, virtually all of Halibut area 2A has been managed to stay within the boundaries of our quota. One benefit of this stringent in-season management in Washington and Oregon has been a quota that is up to 25% larger than the Scientific data in 2A dictates. The International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) has rewarded strong managerial compliance with favorable consideration of our area's social, economic and cultural needs.

We are concerned that inaction by the California Department of Fish & Wildlife (CDFW) in staying within their assigned quota will ultimately lead to a reduction in the quota for all of 2A. In addition, should the quota substantially decline, that could trigger Tribal / non-tribal sharing issues. We all lose under those scenarios.

The solution to this problem is to bring California into compliance with current management practice beginning in 2015. Our view of the solution is as follows:

<u>First</u>, allocate California a reasonable percentage of the non-Tribal share of the Halibut in 2A. The non-Tribal allocation is 65% of the total. California was allocated 1% in 2014. That could be raised to 3 or 4% for 2015. Based on the 2014 2A TAC, that would provide 20-25,000 for a

recreational quota. That would certainly be reasonable considering the constraints we are all living with.

<u>Second</u>, provide the new percentage equally from the other 3 non-Tribal sectors. This spreads the pain over a large number of groups who have already participated in declines in fishing time in recent years.

<u>Third</u>, in our view, transferring quota to California must be contingent on CDFW complying to the catch sharing plan. CDFW has testified that it has no authority to manage in-season. If they can't manage in real time to close a fishery when a quota is reached then a season length should be set into regulation that gives strong assurance that the quota won't be exceeded. NOAA fisheries should have the authority to close the season when the pre-season set duration is reached. The State of Washington manages Puget Sound by a similar method and with a few exceptions has stayed within its quota. Season duration can be reduced or expanded in following years if post-season estimates show catches significantly more or less than the quota.

Finally, we are not willing to transfer Halibut quota to California that will be exceeded as it was in 2014 and previous years while at the same time paying for that with real-time managed fish. Additionally, we are not willing to lose quota in 2A overall due to a loss of trust by IPHC to manage properly.

We urge you to deal with this at the upcoming November Council meeting.

Respectfully Yours,

Westport Charterboat Association POB 654 Westport, WA 98595 Steve Westrick, President

Ilwaco Charter Association P.O. Box 268 Ilwaco, WA 98624 Butch Smith, President

Excel Fishing Charters P.O. Box 181 Neah Bay, WA 98357 Tom Burlingame, Owner Neah Bay Halibut representative Puget Sound Anglers 24707 Florence Acres Road Monroe, WA 98272 Ron Garner, President Kevin Lanier, Coastal Vice President

> Columbia Pacific Anglers Association 2515 Kauffman Avenue Vancouver, WA 98660 Steve Watrous, President

Olympic Anglers Guide Services 212338 Highway 101 Port Angeles, WA 98363 Gary Grahn, Owner Lapush Halibut representative ------ Forwarded message ------From: Alan Pazar <<u>alpazar@gmail.com</u>> Date: Tue, Nov 4, 2014 at 7:49 AM Subject: 2014 Pacific Halibut CSP To: <u>pfmc.comments@noaa.gov</u>

Alan Pazar 89487 Highway 101 N Florence, OR 97439

Re: 2014 Pacific Halibut Catch Sharing Plan

PFMC:

Thank you for the opportunity to comment. I support *Alternative 3*. This spreads the burden somewhat equally among existing user groups and allows the N. California sport share to increase a reasonable amount. As stated in the October 23, 2014 mailing from ODFW: "*The CSP can be updated or modify (sic) annually through the Pacific Fishery Management Council (Council) two meeting process.*" This allows the PFMC to re-visit the allocation issue and make changes as necessary. As a second position, I would support *Alternative 4* if *Alternative 3* were to be eliminated from discussion.

I am a long-term commercial halibut fisherman in Area 2-A participating annually in the nontreaty directed commercial fishery for over 25 years. I also operate the *Pacific Surveyor*, the research vessel that has conducted the IPHC stock assessment survey for the past four years, including the work done off N. California for 2013 and 2014.

Thank you, Alan Pazar



 Robert Armitage
 Joe Caito
 James Burns
 Tommy Ancona
 Dusty Dillion
 Kevin Michel

 Chairman
 Vice Chairman
 Commissioner
 Commissioner
 Commissioner
 Secretary/Treasurer

 RECEIVED
 Asst. Manager

September 11, 2014

SEP 2 2 1014

Dorothy Lowman, Chair Pacific Fishery Management Council 7700 NE Ambassador Place, Suite 101 Portland, Oregon 97220-1384

PFMC

Re: Pacific Halibut Management in the California North Coast Region

The second s

Dear Chair Lowman

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on management of Pacific halibut in the northern California region. I am offering comments to the Pacific Fisheries Management Council (PFMC) on behalf of the Noyo Harbor District. We are commenting because of the extremely important role fisheries play for North Coast California economies and because of the importance of access to near shore ocean fisheries for our quality of life.

Local anglers, California Sea Grant, and Humboldt State University have provided data that shows our Pacific halibut have some of the best size at age of any West Coast stock. The International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) also carried out studies in the same region in 2013 and they had similar findings.

The August 2014 closure of the North Coast we are currently enduring is scientifically unjustified and not based on sound the best available science. Our 6,000 pound quota was set at a time of low abundance and we need an increased allocation to reflect this new scientific information.

We ask that the PFMC extend the 2015 season from May 10 to October 1. We will be making similar request to the IPHC, because such access will not significantly impact fish available to more northern fisheries. Therefore, we should be able to continue to fish at current levels until reallocation of our catch share is formally revisited.

We look forward to working with you collaboratively to achieve wise and sustainable management of Pacific halibut.

Sincerely

Kevin Michel Noyo Harbor District Secretary

Jere Kleinbach

Manager

Fri Oct 31 RECEIVED PFMC NOV 4 2014 Re CSP I catch halis PFMQ idental to salmon, in Onegon. I would like to be able to retain halibot over the entire Troil Season please don't shorten the halisot window for me any more Than it is

Dave Crane Flv Lany Boy



Humboldt Area Saltwater Anglers



Public comment on 2015 Pacific halibut Catch Sharing Plan and Regulations

Summary of HASA Comments already submitted to PFMC

- Consistent with our mission statement, we support PFMC progress towards more balance in:
 - A fairer allocation for California sportfishers
 - Improved regulation of California inseason harvest
- While we would prefer Alternative 5, we are willing to support Alternative 4 provided that continued progress be made in 2016 and beyond to improve a reasonable balance between allocation and harvest regulation

Comments on Season dates and Inseason Action

- Support approach proposed by CDFW commensurate with OR and WA regulatory approach
- Will work with our constituents in the next month to provide input to CDFW on priorities and corresponding season dates

Example of gaming results for different season structure options



Preliminary results of economic studies of August 2014 Block Closure

- Local Businesses (Humboldt State University)
- Recreational and charter fishers (Ecotrust)

Local business survey underway



Business Type	Estimated Revenue Lost Due to Halibut Closure	Estimated Revenue Lost Due to Halibut Closure
lodging	0	
lodging	0	1 st quartile = \$0 Median = \$0 3 rd quartile = \$500
lodging	0	
lodging	\$1,000	
lodging	\$10,000	
traveler services	\$3,000	All quartiles = \$3,000
tackle and sporting goods	\$3,000	1 st quartile = \$5,250
tackle and sporting goods	\$7,500	Median = \$7,500
tackle and sporting goods	\$200,000	3 rd quartile = \$103,750

Scaled Up Estimates:

- Low: \$290,250
- Median: \$328,500

Miki Takada, Humboldt State University, 2014

Recreational fishers

224

• Surveyed Anglers who would have primarily pursued Pacific Halibut

4.3

 Average number of forgone August Pacific Halibut trips per Angler

\$278.95

• Average expenditure per angler per trip

\$269,000

Total estimated forgone recreational trip expenditures over 963 August 2014 trips



"There is something really special about the experience of halibut fishing; I always enjoy drifting out in the ocean with the engine off listening to and seeing all that is out there even if I don't catch anything."

Taylor Hesselgrave, Ecotrust, 2014

Charter boats

Charter business revenues in 2014 compared with revenue made in 2013 were:

"As a charter boat operator **I didn't receive** income that is important to be made in the summer season to make it through the winter when there is no fishing season open."



4 1 2 Higher 2 4 The Same 7 Lower 7

July 2014 vs July 2013

August 2014 vs. August 2013

Taylor Hesselgrave, Ecotrust, 2014

Summary

- Support improved allocation and harvest regulation, provided both are fairer and will continue to improve in future
- Recommend Alternative 4 or 5 Allocation for 2015
- Increased harvest regulation in 2015 per CDFW proposal
- Actual 2015 season to be proposed after:
 - CSP adoption by PFMC,
 - TAC allocation from IPHC, and
 - Input from California sportfishers based on experience with 2014 closure approach